TITLE 12: TRADE, COMMERCE AND
BANKING

CHAPTER 1: [RESERVED]
CHAPTER 2: CONSUMER PROTECTION

PART 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS
12.2.1.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General, Consumer Protection Division, Post Office
Drawer 1508, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1508.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.1.2 SCOPE:

Attorneys general.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.1.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-1 NMSA 1978 et seq.; New Mexico
Pyramid Promotional Schemes Act, Section 57-13-11 NMSA 1978; New Mexico False
Advertising Act, Section 57-15-7 NMSA 1978; New Mexico Indian Arts and Crafts Act,
Section 30-33-11 NMSA 1978; and New Mexico Charitable Organizations and
Solicitations Act, Subsection C of Section 57-22-9 NMSA 1978.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.1.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.1.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

Re-promulgated and reformatted in NMAC format effective as of May 1, 1998, unless a
later date is cited at the end of a section or paragraph.



[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

[ Compi | eThéwords ar paeagraph, above, are no longer applicable. Later dates
are now cited only at the end of sections, in the history notes appearing in brackets.]

12.2.1.6 OBJECTIVE:

These rules govern the procedures for rule-making by the attorney general and shall be
construed to secure a just and speedy determination of every proceeding. The purpose
is to promote uniformity with respect to rule-making and this part shall be liberally
construed to carry out that purpose.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.1.7 DEFINITIONS:

The following words when used in this part, except as otherwise required by the context,
shall have the following meaning:

A. "Attorney general” means the office of the attorney general or any division
therein.

B. "Rule" includes the whole or any part of every regulation of general or particular
application adopted by the attorney general to implement, interpret or prescribe law
enforced or administered by the attorney general, if the adoption or issuance of such
rules is specifically authorized by the law giving the attorney general jurisdiction over
such matters.

C. "Rule-making" means any process for the promulgation, adoption, amendment or
repeal of a rule.

D. "Proceeding" means any division process in connection with rule-making.

E. "Action" includes the whole or part of every rule or failure to act upon a proposed
rule.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.1.8 RULE-MAKING REQUIREMENTS:

In addition to other rule-making requirements imposed by law, the attorney general
shall:

A. make available all required or suggested forms, together with proper instructions
pertaining thereto; and make available for public inspection all rules formulated, adopted
or used by the attorney general in the discharge of his functions; and



B. provide a reasonable manner at a reasonable cost for interested persons to
obtain copies of items described in Paragraph 8.1.1 of this section [now Subsection A of
12.2.1.8 NMAC].

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.1.9 RULE-MAKING PREREQUISITES:

A. Prior to the adoption, amendment or repeal of any rule, the attorney general
shall, within the time specified by law, or if no time is specified, then at least 30 days
prior to its proposed action:

(2) publish notice of the proposed action in the state register; and

(2) notify any person specified by law, and, in addition, any person or group
filing a written request for notice of proposed action which may affect that person or
group, notification being by mail or otherwise to the last address specified by the person
or group. The notice shall:

(a) give the time and place of any public hearing or state the manner in which
data, views or arguments may be submitted to the attorney general by any interested
person;

(b) either state the express terms or adequately describe the substance of the
proposed action or adequately state the subjects and issues involved; and

(c) include any additional matter required by any law, together with specific
reference to the statutory authority under which the rule is proposed;

(3) afford all interested persons reasonable opportunity to submit data, views
or arguments orally or in writing. If the attorney general finds that oral presentation is
unnecessary or impracticable, he may require data, views or arguments to be submitted
in writing.

(4)  All written documents shall be submitted to the attorney general no later
than 30 days after the conclusion of any hearing. Where oral presentation is
unnecessary or impracticable, written documents shall be submitted no later than 30
days after publication of a notice of a proposed rule in the state register. The attorney
general shall consider fully all written and oral submissions respecting the proposed
rule. Upon adoption of a rule contested at hearing or otherwise, the attorney general
shall issue a concise statement of his principal reasons for adoption of the rule together
with the reasons for any rejections. All persons heard or represented at any hearing or
who submit any writing to be considered in connection with the proposed rule, shall
promptly be given a copy of the decision by mail or otherwise.



B. Emergency procedures: If the attorney general finds that immediate adoption,
amendment or suspension of a rule is necessary for the preservation of the public
peace, health, safety or general welfare, or if the attorney general for good cause finds
that observance of the requirements of notice and public hearing would be contrary to
the public interest, the attorney general may dispense with such requirements and
adopt, amend or suspend the rule as an emerge
a brief statement of the reasons for his finding shall be incorporated in the emergency
rule, amendment or suspension filed under 10.1 of this Part [now Subsection A of
Section 12.2.1.10 NMAC].

C. Upon adoption of an emergency rule, amendment or suspension, notice of the
adopted emergency rule, amendment or suspension shall be published in the state
register and all interested persons shall be afforded reasonable opportunity to submit
data, views or arguments orally or in writing as required in this part for proposed rules.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.1.10 RULES; PUBLICATION AND REVISION:
A. The attorney general:

(1)  shall compile and publish all effective rules adopted by the attorney
general. Compilations shall be supplemented or revised as often as necessary and at
least once every two years;

(2)  shall publish an annual bulletin setting forth the text of all rules filed during
the previous year, excluding rules in effect upon the adoption of this procedure; and

3) may omit from the bulletin or compilation any rule, the publication of which
would be unduly cumbersome, expensive or otherwise inexpedient, if the rule, in printed
or processed form, is made available on application to the adopting agency and if the
bulletin or compilation contains a notice stating the general subject matter of the omitted
rule and stating how a copy thereof may be obtained.

B. Bulletins and compilations shall be made available upon request to state
agencies, institutions and political subdivisions free of charge and to other persons at
prices fixed by the attorney general to cover mailing and publication costs.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.1.11 PETITIONS FOR ADOPTION; AMENDMENT OR REPEAL OF RULES:
Any interested person may petition the attorney general requesting the promulgation,
amendment or repeal of a rule and may accompany his petition with data, views and

arguments he or she thinks pertinent. Within sixty days after the submission of a
petition, the attorney general shall either deny the petition in writing stating the reasons



for the denial or shall initiate rule-making proceedings in accordance with Section 9 of
this Part [now 12.2.1.9 NMAC].

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.1.12 JUDICIAL REVIEW BY DECLARATORY JUDGMENT; GRANTING
RELIEF NOT OTHERWISE PROVIDED FOR:

Unless otherwise provided by law, the validity or applicability of a rule may be
determined in an action for declaratory judgment in any district court which has
jurisdiction.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.1.13 AMENDMENT AND REPEAL.:

The provisions of this part may be amended, repealed or superseded by another act of
the legislature or the attorney general only by direct reference to the section or sections
of this part being amended, repealed or superseded.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.1.14 SEVERABILITY:

If any part or application of any part of these procedures is held invalid, the remainder
and application thereof shall not be affected.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.1.15 SIGNATURE:
Original Adoption and Promulgation
Tom Udall

Attorney General

Date: 1/17/92

Readoption and Repromulgation
Tom Udall

Attorney General

Date: 4/9/98



Tom Udall

Attorney General

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

PART 2: GAME PROMOTION REQUIREMENTS
12.2.21 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General, Consumer Protection Division, Post Office
Drawer 1508, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1508.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.2.2 SCOPE:

Promoters of games.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.2.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-1 NMSA 1978 et seq. and New Mexico
False Advertising Act, Section 57-15-1 NMSA 1978 et seq.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.2.4 DURATION:
Permanent.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.25 EFFECTIVE DATE:

Re-promulgated and reformatted in NMAC format effective as of May 1, 1998 unless a
later date is cited at the end of a section or paragraph.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

[ Compi | eThéwordsar paegraph, above, are no longer applicable. Later dates
are now cited only at the end of sections, in the history notes appearing in brackets.]

12.2.2.6 OBJECTIVE:



The purpose of these game regulations is to describe certain practices in the game
promotion industry which are unfair and deceptive trade practices under the Unfair
Practices Act, or which constitute false advertising under the False Advertising Act.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.2.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. As used in these regulations, "game promotion” shall mean any promotional
enterprise whose entrants are sought on the basis of representations that prizes or
awards will be made to a certain number of entrants based upon chance or on the
ent r ant ddshosekprinhaty purpase in so doing is the direct or indirect promotion
of a product, service or business entity, or the generation of money through the
collection of entry fees or other consideration. Game promotions shall encompass,
without limitation, such terms as "contest”, "giveaway", "sweepstakes", "drawing" or
"game".

B. As used in these regulations, "consideration” means anything of pecuniary value,
and includes any business advantage to the sponsor, user or promoter of the game
promotion.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.2.8 STATEMENT OF BASIS:

A. The consumer protection division of the attorney general has received a
substantial number of complaints on game promotions, which led that office to consider
the extent to which such promotions pose a problem to consumers in New Mexico. As a
result of an investigation conducted by that office, it was determined that much
promotional material was potentially deceptive with respect to not only what was stated
in the literature, but what was omitted. Confusion and misleading information was
especially prevalent in the areas of the consideration required to enter a game
promotion, odds of winning and the nature of prizes to be awarded. Solicitation of
consumer comment on an Albuguerque television program also resulted in a large
response, and a strong expression of opinion by New Mexico consumers that the game
promotion industry should be strictly regulated.

B. Proposed game promotion regulations were issued in draft form on June 1, 1977,
in accordance with procedures filed with the state records center by the attorney
general pertaining to issuance of regulations under the New Mexico Unfair Practices
Act, False Advertising Act and Pyramid Sales Act (see 1 NMAC 2.3) [now 12.2.3
NMAC]. Notice was published in 12 newspapers across the state, pursuant to the
procedures mentioned above, announcing the fact that regulations had been proposed,
describing the regulations briefly and stating that a public hearing would be held on July
1, 1977 at the Bataan Memorial Building in Santa Fe. The testimony submitted at the
hearing was that the regulations were ambiguous, and, unless clarified, might result in



enforcement which was too restrictive and prohibitive. Testimony was received that a
more effective regulatory approach would be to require a wide range of disclosures, with
written substantiation of the disclosed information.

C. The game promotion regulations were re-drafted in accordance with the
approach suggested at the hearing. The basic features of the revised regulations are
the disclosure and substantiation requirements. In addition, a game promotion designed
solely to sell a product or service at a discount was found to be an unfair and deceptive
trade practice. The revised regulations were disseminated to interested parties, and all
comments received were incorporated into the final draft, which is promulgated herewith
pursuant of the Unfair Practices Act and of the False Advertising Act.

D. Itis not the intention of these regulations to authorize any lottery prohibited by
the New Mexico statute relating to gambling, Section 44-5-1 NMSA 1978 et seq., or to
prohibit any otherwise lawful game promotion except to the extent that it may be false or
misleading.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.2.9 ADVERTISING:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any person to engage in any advertising or
oral, written or graphic representation in conjunction with any game promotion, which
may, tends to or does deceive or mislead any person concerning the number of
participants, odds of winning any prize, amount of consideration required to enter,
nature of the prize or any other aspect of the game promotion.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.2.10 PROMOTIONS:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any person to sponsor, use or promote in
any manner any game promotion, whether involving skill or chance, which requires
consideration in order to participate, unless the following disclosures are clearly and
conspicuously made in each and every representation made in connection with the
game promotion, including all advertising and promotional literature:

A. the number of prizes to be awarded in each category or denomination, and a
complete description of all prizes, including the exact monetary amount of cash prizes. If
a prize is to be shared in the event of multiple winners, that fact should be disclosed, as
well as the method by which the allocation will be made, and the approximate amount of
the reduced share;

B. the odds of winning each stated prize. This information should be based on
statistics on actual numbers of participants in prior similar game promotions, if available;



or upon a reasonable estimate of anticipated participation in the promotion. If the
promotion has multiple stages, the odds of reaching each stage should be disclosed,;

C. the total amount of consideration necessary in order to be eligible for the first
prize in each category or denomination. If the promotion has multiple stages, each
involving separate consideration, the amounts involved should be totaled to reflect the
full consideration which would be required by a participant were he successful at each
stage;

D. the manner in which winners in each category or denomination shall be selected;

E. the complete name and address of the sponsor, user or promoter. Where there is
a national sponsor, user or promoter as well as local retail outlets through which the
game promotion is operated, only the name and address of the national sponsor, user
or promoter need be stated in national advertisements or representations, although the
local retail outlets should be described or identified if possible. Both the national and
local sponsors must be identified in local advertising;

F. the geographic area covered,
G. the opening date and scheduled termination date;

H. the scheduled announcement date of the winners and the date and manner of
award of prizes;

I. with respect to radio, television and outdoor billboard advertising, only the
information required by Subparagraphs 10.1.5, 10.1.6 and 10.1.7 [now Subsections E, F
and G of 12.2.2.10 NMAC] need be disclosed in the body of the advertisement, as long
as the advertisement also contains a specific reference to a publication or other source
where further detailed information concerning the game promotion can be obtained;

J. for purposes of Paragraph ten [now 12.2.2.10 NMAC] only, game promotions
shall not include athletic competition or other sports events, pari-mutuel betting, booths
at fairs or competition whose entrants are judged on the results of their skilled efforts at
raising animals, training dogs, growing flowers, baking cakes, creating arts and crafts or
other endeavors.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.2.11 EXEMPTIONS:

Persons may receive an exemption from some or all of the requirements of Paragraph
ten [now 12.2.2.10 NMAC] through application to the office of the attorney general.

Exemptions will be granted only in limited cases, and only if the lack of specific
disclosures will not result in a false, misleading or deceptive game promotion.



[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.2.12 DISCLOSURE:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive act or practice to represent that a person is a "winner"
or has been "selected" or is otherwise being involved in a select group for receipt of a
prize or an opportunity or that a person is entering a "contest”, "sweepstakes", "drawing"
or other competitive enterprise from which a winner or select group of winners will
receive a prize or opportunity when, in fact, the contest is no more than the sale of a
product or service at a discounted price and, to that end, most if not all of the entrants
receive prizes which have value, if at all, only when applied towards the purchase of
said product or service.

B. A sponsor, user or promoter of any game promotion shall maintain written
documentation in support of each and every disclosure requirement stated in these
regulations. Sponsors, users or promoters shall, upon written demand from the attorney
general 6s office, provide that office with su
disclosure.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.2.13 SEVERABILITY:

If any portion of these regulations is held invalid, the remainder of the regulations and
applications thereof shall remain unaffected.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.2.14 SIGNATURE:
Original Adoption and Promulgation
Toney Anaya

Attorney General

Date: 9/18/77

Readoption and Repromulgation
Tom Udall

Attorney General

Date: 4/9/98



Tom Udall
Attorney General

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

PART 3: REQUIREMENTS FOR THE PROMOTION AND ADVERTISING OF
SUBDIVIDED LAND, TIME SHARE INTERESTS, CONDOMINIUMS AND
MEMBERSHI P CAMPGROUNDS | SSUED PURSUANT
UNFAIR PRACTICES ACT AND FALSE ADVERTISING ACT

12.2.3.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General, Consumer Protection Division, Post Office
Drawer 1508, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1508.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.3.2 SCOPE:

Promoters and sellers of subdivided land, time-share interests, condominiums and
membership campgrounds.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.3.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-1 NMSA 1978 et seq. and New Mexico
False Advertising Act, Section 57-15-1 NMSA 1978 et seq. This rule-making proceeding
has been conducted in conformity with the Administrative Procedures Act, Section 12-8-
1 NMSA 1978 et seq., and the rule-making procedures adopted in 1 NMAC 3.3.10 [now
1.24.10 NMAC] and 1 NMAC 2.1 [now 12.2.1 NMAC].

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.34 DURATION:

Permanent.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.3.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

Re-promulgated and reformatted in NMAC format effective as of May 1, 1998 unless a
later date is cited at the end of a section or paragraph.



[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

[ Compi | eThéwords ar paeagraph, above, are no longer applicable. Later dates
are now cited only at the end of sections, in the history notes appearing in brackets.]

12.2.3.6 OBJECTIVE:

All promoters of any and all products, interests or services are always subject to the
general proscriptions of the New Mexico Unfair Trade Practices Act and False
Advertising Act. These regulations merely address those same general prohibitions
against unfair or deceptive practices in the context of the specific issues raised by time-
share and related promotions. The specificity of these regulations is designed to assist
the industry in knowing precisely what practices have caused substantial concern and
merit particularized guidelines. The scope of these regulations is thus rationally based.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.3.7 DEFINITIONS:
The following words when used in these regulations shall have the following meaning:

A. "Time share" means a right to occupy a unit or any of several units during five or
more separated time periods over a period of at least five years, including renewal
options, whether or not coupled with an estate or interest in a condominium or a
specified portion thereof, or any other estate or interest in land.

B. "Membership campground” means any enterprise that has as one of its purposes
camping or outdoor recreation, including the use of camping sites, which solicits
memberships paid for by a fee or periodic payments, and which provides camping
facilities primarily for the use of contractual members. "Membership campground" does
not include:

(1) a mobile home park as defined by Section 47-10-2 NMSA 1978;

(2)  camping or recreational trailer parks which are open to the general public
and which provide camping sites only for a per use fee; or

(3) any enterprise that is tax exempt under Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954, as amended. "Membership" in this context means the
contractual right or license to use campground facilities for more than 14 days in a year.

C. "Subdivided land" constitutes an area of land in New Mexico that has been
divided into five or more parcels within three years for the purpose of sale or lease.

D. "Condominium" means real estate, portions of which are designated for separate
ownership and the remainder of which is designated for common ownership solely by



the owner of those portions. Real estate is not a condominium unless the undivided
interest in the common elements are vested in the unit owners.

E. "Game promotion" or "promotional” means any advertising or publicity of an
enterprise on the basis of representations that prizes, awards or gifts will be given to a
certain number of entrants without any regard for therecipie nt 6 s ski Il Il , and ba
on chance, for the primary purpose of the direct or indirect promotion of the sale of
subdivided land, condominiums, time-share interests or membership in campground
organizations. Game promotions shall include, without limitation, such activities as a
"sweepstakes", "giveaway", "contest", "drawing", "lotto" or "game".

F. A "giveaway" means that all recipients of the game promotion are guaranteed
receipt of the gift or gifts described in a promotional piece.

G. "Sweepstakes" means that there is an element of chance involved to receive a
gift described in the promotional piece, and that there will be winners and losers. A
program or promotion is not a sweepstakes unless the sweepstakes is offered in
addition to the items given to all recipients of promotional pieces.

H. "Promotional pieces" or "promotional materials" includes, but is not limited to,
brochures, pamphlets, letters, envelopes, advertisements or other materials
disseminated in connection with the sale of subdivided land, condominiums, time-share
interests or memberships in campgrounds. This includes mail solicitations, advertising
copy, testimonials and endorsements, telephone solicitations and offers of
accommodations, meals or entertainment at no cost or at reduced cost, in whatever
form.

l. "Property interest” means a time-share interest, a campground membership or
any ownership interest in subdivided land or a condominium.

J. "Vacation certificates" means lodging certificates which include complimentary or
discounted transportation, meals or other material benefits in addition to the mere use of
accommodations and motel, hotel or campground facilities.

K. "Verifiable retail value" means either

(1) the price charged by a national or local retail outlet for an identical or
substantially similar item; or

(2) an amount equal to no more than three times the cost paid by the seller or
promoter for the item.

L. "Premium gift" means the gift which the majority of promotion recipients who
claim their gifts will receive. It is usually the gift offered which is of the lowest value.



M. "Promoter" means any organization which authorizes or disseminates
promotional material.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.3.8 STATEMENT OF BASIS:

A.The attorney gener alboussweepstakesand giveawayoncer ned

promotions conducted in the course of the sale of subdivided land, condominiums, time-

share interests and campground member shi ps.

office has received numerous telephone calls and letters concerning the promotion of
time-shares. Indeed, the complaints and questions have come in daily. They have
reflected consumer dissatisfaction in a number of areas. For example, consumers have
not received complete disclosure of the nature of promotions; to claim an offered gift,
consumers have had to attend sales presentations of which they were not advised,
including some where high-pressure sales tactics were reportedly employed;
consumers have not understood the real odds of winning various gifts; the conditions
placed on receiving gifts have not been adequately disclosed; consumers have reported
that promised gifts were not available, or that gifts that were available did not have the
characteristics described in the original promotional mailing or phone solicitation. It is
precisely such concerns that these regulations address.

B. These regulations do not expressly or impliedly authorize any lottery prohibited
by statute, including but not limited to Section 30-19-1 NMSA 1978. Neither do these
regulations prohibit any otherwise lawful sweepstakes and giveaway promotions, except
to the extent they are deceptive or misleading. These regulations do not supersede
those set forth in 1 NMAC 2.2 [now 12.2.2 NMAC] entitled "Game Promotion
Regulations Issued Pursuant to New Mexico Unfair Practices Act and False Advertising
Act". Rather, these regulations supplement those regulations; these set forth additional
requirements to apply specifically to promotional sales of subdivided land,
condominiums, time-share interests and campground memberships in New Mexico. The
regulations apply so long as the promotion occurs in New Mexico, even if the property
itself is located outside of New Mexico.

C. Advertising of subdivided land is governed by Section 47-6-18 NMSA 1978 of the
New Mexico Subdivision Act, Section 47-6-1 NMSA 1978 et seq. The regulations
promulgated here apply to subdivided land only when game promotions are used in
connection with the sale of that land, and these regulations do not supersede the New
Mexico Subdivision Act.

D. Before promulgating these regulations, three public hearings were held: on May
23, 1985 in Ruidoso; on June 10, 1985, in Santa Fe; and on June 11, 1985, in
Albuquergue. All comments received at the hearings were considered in the revision of
the regulations finally adopted. Consumers had already effectively spoken to this office
and expressed their concern through their daily complaints and inquiries.
Representatives of developers and advertisers who produce and disseminate

S



promotional materials testified at the hearings to address their concerns. This office also
solicited written comments on the regulations. The comments received reflected the
interests of the American land development association, particular developers involved
in the development of time-shares in New Mexico and the game promotion industry. All
comments were considered.

E. Preamble to the regulations.

(1) The attorney general has concluded that regulation of the promotion and
sale of subdivided land, condominium, time-share and campground memberships in
New Mexico is in the best interest of the health, safety and general welfare of the
citizens of New Mexico. Revisions have been made to the proposed regulations to
reflect the input received from all concerned. The revised final regulations particularly
reflect direct mail standards developed by the American land development association,
the |l and devel opment industrydéds own professio

(2)  The revisions should make the regulations both more acceptable to the
industry regulated and more readily enforceable by the office of the attorney general
while preserving the primary focus of protecting consumers from unfair or deceptive
acts or practices. Since these final regulations do not differ significantly from those that
were proposed, and indeed since the vast majority of changes adopted conform to
industry concerns, it was not necessary to issue these regulations in any revised
proposed form or to hold any additional hearings.

(3)  The following responds to a number of the particular comments received
during the rule-making proceeding:

(a) This office has authority to promulgate these regulations pursuant to the
New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, at Section 57-12-13 NMSA 1978, and the False
Advertising Act, at Section 57-15-7 NMSA 1978. The fact that these regulations apply
only to the promotion and sale of subdivided land, condominium, time share and
campground interests does not mean these regulations are not authorized or that they
unfairly and unlawfully discriminate against one particular industry. The attorney general
is not required, as some commentors suggested, to regulate all promotional materials of
every kind rather than limit the regulations, as done here, to the particular promotions
targeted. These regulations address the specific concerns consumers have raised.
They are drawn narrowly, to address the problems noted, and are not intended to be
any broader than necessary. All promoters of any and all products, interests or services
are always subject to the general proscriptions of the New Mexico Unfair Trade
Practices Act and False Advertising Act. These regulations merely address those same
general prohibitions against unfair or deceptive practices in the context of the specific
issues raised by time-share and related promotions. The specificity of these regulations
is designed to assist the industry in knowing precisely what practices have caused
substantial concern and merit particularized guidelines. The scope of these regulations
is thus rationally based.



(b) The need for these regulations has been emphasized repeatedly in the
steady flow of complaints and inquiries
consumers. Some opponents of the regulations have argued, however, that consumers
who have been confused or misled by sweepstakes promotions have not been
sophisticated enough to protect themselves and that regulations should not be adopted
to protect them. We disagree. Consumer protection law is not designed only to protect
the sophisticated and the educated. To the contrary, consumer protection law is geared
to the entire general public. Indeed, it should provide special protections for the less
educated and most vulnerable members of society. These regulations are designed to
help provide that protection without imposing unreasonable burdens on the industry.

(c) Regulations such as these to address unfair trade practices and false
advertising in the promotion and sale of property interests are not novel. Many of these
provisions simply conform with requirements in many other states. The fact that these
requirements are adopted by regulation, and not enacted by the legislature, also does
not render them unlawful. The test is whether the regulations pursue the general
prohibition against unfair and deceptive acts or practices. So long as they do, these
regulations are authorized and appropriate. Contrary to some industry critics, other
industry representatives expressed interest in the establishment of these specific
standards in New Mexico for promotional materials since similar standards are in effect
in other states. For example, industry representatives concurred that these regulations
should help protect the industry from violators who adversely affect the industry as a
whole. Furthermore, the American land development association, a nationwide
representative organization of land developers, recognized the similarity of these
regulations with standards the industry has imposed on itself. These regulations should
not, therefore, prove burdensome.

(d) This office recognizes the importance of tourism in New Mexico. These
regul ations are by no means intended to
economy. To the contrary, these regulations should help enhance state tourism by
providing important protections and safeguards to visitors. These protections should
help ensure favorable impressions and encourage visitors to suggest that other
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potential tourists visit New Mexico as wel

by any unfair or misleading practices, and that is all these regulations are designed to
prohibit.

(e) Specific changes made since the regulations were proposed include a
change in the definition of the term "sweepstakes". The change makes the definition
more acceptable to the industry by providing even more specific terminology, consistent
with the federal trade commi ssi on evifiadlee f i
retail value" has also been changed to conform to industry standards, as well as to the

feder al trade commi ssionbé6s definition of

(f) These final regulations do not apply to radio and television advertising, as
was initially proposed. Upon considering the comments tendered, it was decided that
the time constraints of those media make such regulation impractical. These regulations
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do apply, however, to telephone solicitations, with a more limited standard for
compliance consistent with the opportunities available in telephone conversations.

(9) A definition for "vacation certificates" has been added to the regulations,
since substantial deception in utilizing this particular form of promotion has been
brought to this officebs attention since the
standards concerning vacation certificates, consistent with these regulations other
provisions, have likewise been added to the regulations.

(h) A definition for "premium gift" has also been added. The "premium gift" is
the gift which the majority of promotion recipients receive. It is the gift which creates the
most controversy, in terms of its value and availability.

(i) The definition of "promoter" has been changed to be more specific by
including any organization which either authorizes or disseminates the promotional
material. Wording of specific regulations in 9.1.2.1.f [now Subparagraph (f) of Paragraph
(1) of Subsection B of Section 12.2.3.9 NMAC] has also been clarified, giving examples
of specified industry practices, such as characterizing time share weeks during seasons
of the year as "high", "medium", and "low", "red", "white" and "blue", or "floating".

() The proposed requirement to disclose affirmatively that which is obvious -
i.e., that consumers must bear the cost of travel to the site - has been eliminated. A
clarification instead has been made to disclose conditions of eligibility for purchase of
the property interest promoted.

(k) The regulations have been clarified so that all conditions or terms of sale
of the property interest promoted do not have to be included on the game promotion
piece itself; only the conditions of eligibility for purchase must be disclosed. Subject to
applicable federal and state laws, promotions may request information regarding age,
income level and marital status.

() Words such as "awards", "prizes", and "gifts" may not be used if the
person must supply anything, other than his time to visit the property, in order to claim
the award, prize or gift. Likewise, a recipient of a promotion shall not be described as a
"winner" or a "finalist" and promotional pieces may not notify persons that they have
won a "prize" unless the matters "won" or "prizes" to be received are given without
condition. Conditions attached to the receipt of anything of value offered in a
promotional piece must be prominently disclosed. This should help leave no reasonable
probability that the offer will be misunderstood.

(m) The required disclosure of the time required to attend any sales
presentation has been changed to allow for "a reasonable estimate of the least amount
of time" required to attend such sales presentation. This responds to concerns seeking
to provide reasonable time estimates, since individual circumstances may vary.



(n) Promotional material need not include the telephone number of the
sponsor of the promoter, developer, broker or owner. The identity of the promoter and
sponsor should continue to be disclosed, however, to respond to consumer inquiries
and to assist this officeds ability to enforec

(o) Words and graphics which create a likelihood of confusion and
misunderstanding that the promotion is connected with a government agency cannot be
used. The final regulation addresses this general standard more flexibly than the
proposed rule, which was geared to particular words and phrases.

(p) The manner in which winners are selected must be disclosed. The
regulations do not intend, however, to prevent the use of preselection of winners by
computer. They merely require disclosure of the particular method used.

(q) The definition of "verifiable retail value" and the obligations of the promoter
or seller to substantiate this value have been revised to reflect the input of the industry
and the practice of other states.

(r) A separate section has been included concerning the statements of the
odds of winning various "prizes". The regulations do not require that odds and values be
stated on the front of the promotional piece, as the proposed regulation did, to conform
with other state practices. The final regulations do encourage that format, though, and
the suggested examples noted provide for this placement. The most important part of
the requirement - namely, that odds and values be clearly and conspicuously disclosed
- remains intact.

(s) The regulations impose special requirements for the so-called "premium”
gifts that almost everyone wins. If gifts are not on hand, then they must be shipped
within 30 days.

(t) The regulations have not changed the requirement to disclose whether a
promotion is part of a national sweepstakes, and to state, where applicable, that all gifts
will not be given at all locations. This follows an existing requirement in 1 NMAC 2.2
[now 12.2.2 NMAC] and could be confusing to consumers if not disclosed.

(u) The proposed requirement that the number of gifts be disclosed has been
eliminated as duplicative of stating the odds. The proposal to require that the names of
winners of previous gifts may not be used on a future promotional piece without their
consent has been revised to require @mescl osur
mi ght be so used if he or she wins. This enha
disclosure to consumers of all relevant terms and conditions.

(v) These regulations do not require submission of promotional material to the
attorney general for prior review. Such promotional material certainly may be submitted,
and promoters are encouraged to do so. Commenters suggested, however, that if
promoters were required first to submit their



then that office should be required to respond with approval or disapproval in a certain
number of days, and that no response should be deemed to constitute approval. Those
comments are not persuasive. Given limited resources, this office cannot review and
respond to all promotions, and should not be required to do so. This office nevertheless
has a valid state interest in receiving promotions before they are distributed to allow it to
decide whether to seek injunctive relief. This office thus could have properly required
prior submissions of promotions without binding itself to any time limits on when to
respond. To avoid, however, even the potential appearance of imposing unfair burdens,
the office has decided instead to encourage voluntary submissions of promotions before
they are distributed, rather than to require such submissions.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.3.9 REGULATIONS:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any person to engage in a game promotion
in connection with the sale or lease of subdivided land, condominiums, time-share
interests or campground memberships unless the game promotion is in compliance with
the following regulations:

A. General regulations.

(1) Claims or representations contained in any promotional material shall be
accurate.

(2)  Promotional materials shall state fully and clearly all factual material so as
neither to misrepresent the facts nor to create misleading impressions.

B. Specific regulations.
(2) No promotional materials shall:
(a) misrepresent a fact or create a false or misleading impression;
(b) make a prediction of specific or immediate increases in the price or value
of the property interest promoted, unless it is registered as a security with the securities

division of the New Mexico department of regulation and licensing;

(c) contain a statement concerning future price increases by the seller of the
property interest promoted which are nonspecific or not bona fide;

(d) describe any improvement to the property interest promoted that is not
required to be completed or that is uncompleted unless the improvement is
conspicuously labeled as, for example, "NEED NOT BE COMPLETED", "PROPOSED"
or "UNDER CONSTRUCTION";



(e) misrepresent the size, nature, extent of development, qualities or
characteristics of the offered accommodations or facilities;

(f) misrepresent the amount or period of time or nature of the period of time
during which the accommodations or facilities will be available to any purchaser. (For
example, time-share weeks are commonly characterized with colors or other adjectives,
such as "red", "white" and "blue”, or "high", "medium" and "low." Prospective purchasers
should know whether they have purchased the use of a specific week or a "floating

week" during a specific period.);

(g) misrepresent the nature or extent of any services incident to the property
interest being promoted,;

(h) make any misleading or deceptive representation with respect to the
contents of any disclosure statement, the contract or any other statement of the
purchaser d6s r i ghitserobligationsyvor | eges, benef

(i) misrepresent the conditions under which a purchaser may exchange the
right to use accommodations or facilities in one location for the right to use
accommodations or facilities in another location. For example, if a consumer purchases
a "red "or "high" week at the resort visited, but it will not be honored as a "red" or "high"
week for exchange purposes, that fact should be disclosed.

(2)  All promotional materials shall clearly and conspicuously disclose any and
all conditions on or eligibility requirements for:

(a) the receipt of anything of value offered in connection with the promotion;
(b) and the sale or lease of the property being promoted.

(c) This does not mean that each and every term of sale must be included on
a game promotion piece; only conditions of eligibility for purchase must be disclosed.
Subject to applicable federal and state law, promotions may request information
regarding age, income level and marital status. For example, the piece may contain a
statement similar to the following: The recipient named in this letter is eligible to receive
a gift in these sweepstakes. However, (resort name) is designed to be of particular
interest to credit-worthy single persons or married couples between the ages of 21 and
60 who have an individual or combined income of at least $20,000. We request that if
you are married, husband and wife must be present. Both must also attend a sales
presentation of at least one hour to claim the gift.

3) Offers of anything of value at no cost or reduced cost made in connection
with a promotion shall not be described as "awards", "prizes", "gifts" or by words of
similar meaning if the recipient must purchase anything or give, or promise to give, any
sum or other consideration, other than visiting the property to claim the gifts, in



exchange for the item. The word "sweepstakes" should not be used if the offer is in fact
a "giveaway".

(4)  Recipients of any promotion offer shall not be described as "winners" or
"finalists" or notified that they have "won a prize" unless either:

(a) the prizes that have been won are to be given to the recipients without
condition (i.e., there are no eligibility requirements, sales tours or other requirements to
receive the gifts or prizes); or

(b) any conditions attached to the receipt of anything of value offered in such
a promotional piece are clearly and conspicuously disclosed in the offer and leave no
reasonable possibility that the offer will be misunderstood.

(5)  All promotional materials must specifically and affirmatively disclose in
boldface type that the purpose of the promotion is the sale of interests in subdivided
land, condominiums, time-shares or membership campgrounds. If the recipient of the
promotional material must attend any sales presentation, this fact must be prominently
stated in boldface type, together with a reasonable estimate of the least amount of time
required to attend the sales presentation. (For example: YOU MUST ATTEND A SALES
PRESENTATION OF AT LEAST ONE HOUR BEFORE YOU WILL RECEIVE YOUR
GIFT.)

(6) It is unlawful to make offers of anything of value in connection with a
promotion unless contemporaneously, with the offer, all expenses the recipient must
pay, excluding the cost of travel to the area being promoted, are disclosed to the
recipient in the offer.

(7) In the case of vacation certificates, all conditions of the vacation must be
clearly and conspicuously disclosed in the promotional piece, including any required
deposits, points of departure if outside of New Mexico, the nature of the accommodation
and all items and conditions of the trip. For example, if two persons must take the trip,
but free airfare is provided for only one person, this should be clearly disclosed.
Vacation certificates must be redeemable within a reasonable period of time, which
should be disclosed, and they must not include unduly burdensome or unreasonable
procedures which must be followed in order to take the trip.

(8) Complete rules and procedures for any contest or drawing advertised in
connection with a promotion shall be included clearly and conspicuously in promotional
materials.

(9)  Allwritten promotional materials shall contain the name and address of
the entity conducting the promotion, and of the sponsor, developer, broker or owner, as
applicable, on whose behalf the promotional material is distributed.



(10) Promotional materials shall not employ any term that creates confusion,
misunderstanding or a reasonable impression that the promotion is connected with a
government agency.

(11) Promotional pieces shall not include any words or graphics which simulate
a notary "seal" or which otherwise tend to mislead the recipient as to the legal
significance of the document.

(12) The manner in which winners are selected must be accurately disclosed.
The following are examples of such disclosures:

(a) The prize which you receive has been randomly pre-selected by
computer. You must match your number to numbers on the official gift list at the resort
to determine the particular gift you will receive.

(b) Every person visiting the resort will receive the set of luggage. In addition,
your number will be placed in a container at the resort. When there are 1,000 numbers
in the container, an independent accounting firm will draw three numbers, the holders of
which will receive the car, the $500 and the TV set, in that order.

(13) Itis unlawful to represent that a promotion is a "survey" or a "research
project” if it is not, and if the primary purpose of the promotion is to lease or sell a
property interest.

(14) Promotional material shall not describe any gift to be given in terms which
are confusing or misleading. The verifiable retail value must be clearly disclosed in
arabic numbers following a dollar sign. In disclosing the verifiable retail value of any gift,
the promoter or seller must be able to substantiate it at the time the alleged value is
asserted. Such substantiation may be provided with the following:

(a) the name and address of the retail outlet at which the product or a
substantially similar product is or has been sold, the price at which the product was
advertised or sold and the dates on which the product was advertised or sold at that
place or places; or

(b) proof that the value stated is no more than three times the price paid for
the item by the promoting entity or developer.

(15) The odds of receiving each gift must be clearly and conspicuously
disclosed.

(a) An example of stating the odds clearly for any gift other than a premium
gift is as follows: "Your chances of winning the (gift) are one in
100,000."




(b) An example of stating odds clearly for a premium gift is as follows: "Out of
100,000 persons who respond to this mailing, 99,997 persons will receive the (premium

gift)."

(16) Offered gifts must be delivered on site when the recipient appears and
establishes his/her eligibility for the gift. If the gift is of a kind not capable of immediate
delivery (e.g., a vacation, automobile, etc.), then the recipient must be given specific
documentation to enable him to claim the gift. Promoters and owners shall have an
adequate supply of premium gifts on site and if an item cannot be supplied to an eligible
recipient, it must be shipped within 30
cost or burden to the recipient.

(17) The geographic area covered by the promotional mailing must be clearly
and conspicuously stated in the promotional piece. If the promotion is part of a national
sweepstakes, it must be clearly and conspicuously stated that the described prizes may
be awarded to people outside of the geographical area within which that particular
promotional piece is distributed, with a corresponding explanation that every gift may
not be given away at every location.

(18) Names of winners of previous gifts may not be used on a future promotion
unless disclosure of future use is made known to the recipient on the original
promotional piece, or unless the recipient provides written consent for such disclosure.
Every promotional piece must also include an explanation of the procedure by which the
consumer may receive a list of names and addresses of major gift recipients who have
consented to have their names made available to recipients of promotional pieces.

(19) The date upon which the promotion begins and the date upon which it
terminates must be clearly stated.

(20) Promotional pieces shall not represent that there is a limited time in which
to accept the terms of the offer, or that a gift is only available on the day the recipient
visits the resort, if such is not the case.

(21) Promotional pieces shall disclose that the supplier reserves the right to
substitute gifts of greater or equal value or to give rain checks if such is the case.

(22) No offer shall be made of items commonly given recipients if there is
reason to know that the items are not or will not be readily available at the time and
place the recipient is to receive them.

(23) Items shall not be represented by way of description, name, pricing,
narrative copy or graphic depiction so as to mislead or deceive the recipient as to the
true nature, size or kind of an item.

(24) Promotional pieces shall not use any type size, style, location, color,
layout, headline or illustration which renders misleading any material fact of the offer,

days



including but not limited to using excessively small size type and/or an inconspicuous
location for eligibility conditions, odds or value.

(25) Telephone solicitations which involve game promotions need not disclose
all information described herein but they must disclose at least the following information:

(a) that the purpose of the solicitation is the sale of a time-share, subdivided
land, condominium or membership campground interest;

(b) that to claim an offered gift, the listener must visit the resort and hear a
sales presentation, including a reasonable estimate of the least amount of time that the
sales presentation will take;

(c) the principal conditions attached to claiming the gift;

(d) the verifiable retail value of any gift promoted and the odds of receiving
each such gift offered if the promotion is a sweepstakes, as set forth in paragraph
9.1.2.15 above [now Paragraph (15) of Subsection B of 12.2.3.9 NMAC].

(26) All promotional material may be submitted to the attorney general for
review before distribution in this state. The attorney general may comment on the legal
sufficiency of the material or take such other action as he deems appropriate. The
attorney general és failure to respond shall n
exemption or waiver of any statutory or other enforcement authority by the attorney
general. No person shall use or refer to any correspondence to or received from the
attorney general in any promotional piece or in any sales presentation. It shall be an
unfair or deceptive trade practice to state directly or indirectly that the attorney general
or the state of New Mexico has approved, sanctioned, authorized or given any favorable
opinion concerning the legality of any game promotion.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.3.10 SIGNATURE:
Original Adoption and Promulgation
Paul Bardacke

Attorney General

Date: 9/3/85

Readoption and Repromulgation

Tom Udall



Attorney General

Date: 4/9/98

Tom Udall

Attorney General

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

PART 4: REQUIREMENTS FOR THE ADVERTISING AND SALE OF
MOTOR VEHICLES

12.2.4.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General, Consumer Protection Division, Post Office
Drawer 1508, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1508.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.4.2 SCOPE:

Motor vehicle dealers.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.4.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-1 NMSA 1978 et seq., and New
Mexico False Advertising Act, Section 57-15-1 NMSA 1978 et seq.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.4 DURATION:
Permanent.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.45 EFFECTIVE DATE:

Re-promulgated and reformatted in NMAC format effective as of May 1, 1998 unless a
later date is cited at the end of a section or paragraph.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]



[ Compi | eThéwordsar paemgraph, above, are no longer applicable. Later dates
are now cited only at the end of sections, in the history notes appearing in brackets.]

12.2.4.6 OBJECTIVE:

A. The purpose of these regulations is to accomplish two principal objectives. The
first is to deter unfair and deceptive practices that result in economic harm to
consumers. The second is to provide clear legal standards for motor vehicle advertising
to facilitate dealer compliance and fair competition and to make evaluation of particular
practices easier.

B. The attorney general 6s office has |l ong bee

deceptive practices in connection with the advertising and sale of motor vehicles. The
attorney general s consumer protwrittdni on di vi
consumer complaints and telephone calls alleging such practices. Indeed, the division

receives such complaints virtually every day. The consumer protection division has also
received a substantial number of telephonic and written complaints from motor vehicle

S i

deal ers concerning other dealersdé6 use of dece

competition.

C.The complaints that have come to the atten

have involved a large number of specific unfair or deceptive practices. These practices
can be grouped into a number of more general categories. These include, but are not
limited to: advertising vehicles for sale at prices lower than the actual prices at which the
dealers will sell the vehicles; advertising fictitious discounts or trade-in allowances;
failing to make required disclosure concerning credit terms; misrepresenting or failing to
disclose material information concerning the age, condition and/or prior usage of motor
vehicles. It is precisely such concerns that these regulations address.

D.The experience of the attorney general 0s
and sale of motor vehicles is a particularly appropriate area for the promulgation of
regulations. The sheer number of complaints, the number of dealers about whom
consumers have complained and the fact that a significant number of complaints have
been received from dealers concerning the use of unfair methods of competition in the
industry all lead to the conclusion that regulations are necessary to ensure that
advertising and sales practices are not unfair or deceptive, that such practices conform
to legitimate consumer expectations and that all dealers are placed on an equal
competitive footing. The attorney general has therefore concluded that regulation of the
advertising and sale of motor vehicles is in the best interest of the health, safety and
general welfare of the citizens of New Mexico.

E. These regulations provide a basis for evaluating motor vehicle advertising. They
reflect provisions of New Mexico law, but do not necessarily cover every possible
deceptive advertising practice. Therefore, it is not intended that literal compliance with
these regulations be an absolute protection against liability for deceptive advertising.
Dealers must review their advertising in light of the purpose of the regulations.

(0]



F. Before promulgating these regulations, notice of the proposed action was
published pursuant to AG 92-3-1.3(A) [now 12.2.1.9 NMAC], and a public hearing was
held on July 9, 1992 in Santa Fe. All comments received during the hearings were
considered in the revision of the regulations finally promulgated. Consumers had
already effectively spoken to this office and expressed their concerns through their
written complaints and telephone calls. Representatives of the motor vehicle industry
and the advertising industry testified at the hearings. This office also solicited written
comments on the regulations. The comments received reflect the views of the New
Mexico automotive dealers association representing the interests of new vehicle dealers
and the independent automobile dealers association representing the interests of used
vehicle dealers. All comments received were considered.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.7 DEFINITIONS:
All vehicles may be classified as one of the following:
A. "Used" shall mean
(1) avehicle that has previously been sold to a retail buyer who has taken
possession of the vehicle and the vehicle has been driven a total of at least two hundred
(200) miles by one or more retail buyers; or
2) a vehicle for which the manufactureros
manufacturerds statement of origin has been s
unless the certificate or statement has subsequently been returned, uncancelled, to the

dealer or a substitute certificate or statement has been issued to the dealer.

B. "Demonstrator” shall mean a vehicle which is not used but which has been
placed in demonstration or courtesy service regardless of the miles it has been driven.

C. "New" means a vehicle which is neither used nor a demonstrator.

D. "Rebate" means a reduction in price of a vehicle created, at least in part, by a
payment of money by a third party either to the dealer or the purchaser of the vehicle.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.8 VEHICLE CATEGORIES:
A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to describe a vehicle as new

when it is either used or a demonstrator or to describe a vehicle as a demonstrator
when it is used.



B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for dealers to use any phrase containing
the word "new" to describe a vehicle which is not new.

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use any description which
would lead a reasonable person to believe that

(2) a vehicle is new if the vehicle is not new or
(2) that a vehicle is a demonstrator if the vehicle is used.

D. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to represent expressly or
by implication in an advertisement for a used vehicle or a demonstrator that the dealer
obtained the vehicle from the manufacturer unless the advertisement clearly and
conspicuously discloses the fact that the vehicle is used or a demonstrator. Examples of
implied representations that a dealer obtained a vehicle from the manufacturer include
but are not limited to the following:

(1)  "program car";

(2) "factory program car";

(3) “factory auction car";

(4)  "special purchase car";

(5)  "special factory purchase".
[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.9 SPOT DELIVERIES:
It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any dealer to advertise or otherwise
represent a vehicle as new if the vehicle has been delivered to a retail buyer who signed
a contract obligating the buyer to pay the purchase price of the vehicle in exchange for
the vehicle and the vehicle has been driven a total of at least two hundred (200) miles
by one or more retail buyers; provided, however, that this section shall not be construed
to prohibit a dealer from titling a vehicle that has been spot delivered as a new vehicle
or providing new vehicle financing or warranty coverage for a vehicle that was
previously spot delivered, if the vehicle is otherwise eligible for a new vehicle, financing
or warranty coverage.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.4.10 DISCOUNTS:



A. Manufacturers are required by federal law to label new automobiles with a
suggested retail price. See 15 USC 1232. Automobiles as defined by federal law include
passenger cars and station wagons. Federal law does not require similar labeling for
other vehicles.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to advertise a discount price or price
savings for a new motor vehicle unless the discount or savings claim is made in
reference to a reference price that is objectively verifiable using data not solely subject
to the deal erdés control, such as the mmanufact
price, and:

(1) the claim is not deceptive;

(2) the dollar amount of the reference price meets any applicable requirement
such as Section 15 [now 12.2.4.15 NMAC]; and

(3) the resulting price meets the requirements of these regulations.

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to raise any price of a
vehicle to increase or create any discount, savings or rebate for the period of a sale and
then decrease the price after the sale.

D. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use a reference price as
the basis for a discount price or price savings claim unless the dealer clearly and
conspicuously discloses:

(1) the source of the reference price, such
price or invoice price; and

(2)  the amount of the reference price.
E. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use a reference price
greater than the manufacturero6s suggested ret

savings claim unless the dealer clearly and conspicuously discloses that:

(1) the reference price is greater than the
price; and

(2) the amount by which the reference price
suggested retail price.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.4.11 "OVER INVOICE/UNDER INVOICE" DISCOUNT CLAIMS:



It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use the term "invoice" or

“invoice price"i n advertising unless the term is used
or distributords tot al theadvedisementclparhiaade on a veh
conspicuously includes one or both of the following disclosures:

A. "the invoice may not represent actual dealer cost"; or

B.the factory invoice refers to the manufact
price".

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.12 BELOW MARKET FINANCE CHARGE:

A. If dealer participation in "buying down" an interest rate may affect the final price
of the vehicle, it is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to fail to clearly and
conspicuously disclose that fact in any advertisement offering the interest rate.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise below market
financing rates unless the advertisement clearly and conspicuously discloses all the
terms which must be met in order to qualify for that advertised rate. Examples are large
down payments, hidden finance charges, unusual terms of the loan or higher selling
prices.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.13 HIDDEN DISCLOSURES:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to obscure or make
misleading any material fact in any advertisement or sales presentation by the use of
layout, headlines, illustrations, footnotes, style, sound, length of time, lighting, color or
type size of an advertisement or any portion of an advertisement.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use any disclosure or
disclaimer in an advertisement unless the disclosure or disclaimer is clear and
conspicuous and in close proximity to the terms it modifies.

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use television
advertisements with disclosures that are in such fine print or appear on the screen so
briefly that they cannot be easily read.

D. Comment. Each advertisement shall be evaluated for its overall impression. The
public should not have to weigh each word, hunt for the hidden meaning of each
statement or search for inconspicuous disclaimers. Dealers shall not advertise by
placing important disclosures in small print, inconspicuously buried at the bottom of the
advertisement.



[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.14  "FREE GIFTS":

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to represent that another
product or service is being offered "free" or at no cost with the sale if a product or
service usually is sold at a price arrived at through bargaining, rather than at a fixed
price. FTC Guidelines at 16 CFR 251.1(g).

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use the word "free" or
words of like meaning and import when describing a gift or other item to be given to a
customer who purchases a product or service if the selling price of the product or
service is increased as a result of the "free" item or if the product or service can be
purchased for a lesser price without the "free" item.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.15 TRADE-INS:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use a guaranteed trade-in
amount or range of amounts in any advertising.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use a multiple, such as
"double", or other type of increased trade-in allowance in any advertising.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.16 REBATES:

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise rebates if the
dealer raises the price of the vehicle prior to a sale in order to compensate for the
allowance of the rebate.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise the existence of
a rebate or a price that takes into account a rebate unless the advertisement discloses
the existence, amount and source of the rebate.

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise any rebate
unless the dealer maintains sufficient documentation to demonstrate that the sale prices
of vehicles sold in connection with such promotions have not been increased to
compensate for the rebate and the dealer makes such documentation available for
inspection and copying by t hritenseguesbdunmngy gener a
normal business hours.

D. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise as a rebate any
price reduction which is not a rebate.



[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.17  ON APPROVED CREDIT:
It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise a specified finance
rate and then have a customer sign a contract with a higher finance rate, unless the
advertisement discloses the information specified in Section 18 [now 12.2.4.18 NMAC]
for the loan program under which the low rate is offered and:

A. the customer declines to participate in the program advertised; or

B. the customer is not financially eligible for that loan program; or

C. the transaction is not eligible for the loan program.
[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.18 CREDIT ADVERTISING:

A. The Truth in Lending Act and accompanying regulations govern credit
advertising. The following are triggering terms that require certain disclosures to be

made in the advertisement:

(1) the amount or percentage of any down payment (expressed as either a
percentage or dollar amount);

(2)  the number of payments;

(3) the amount of any payment (expressed either as a percentage or dollar
amount);

(4) the amount of any finance charge; and
(5) the period of repayment (the total time required to repay).

B. If any one of the triggering terms appeatr, it is an unfair or deceptive trade
practice to fail to clearly and conspicuously disclose in the advertisement:

(1) the amount or percentage of the down payment;
(2) the terms of repayment; and
3) the annual percentage rate. If the annual percentage rate may be

increased after consummation of the credit transaction, such as an adjustable rate loan,
that fact must be disclosed.



C. If an advertisement mentions the amount of any payment, expressed as a dollar
amount, that payment must be based on a sales price no less than the price required to
be used under Section 21 [now 12.2.4.21 NMAC].

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.19 LEASE ADVERTISING:

A. The Truth in Lending Act and accompanying regulations regulate consumer
leases because they represent an alternative to buying on credit. Also, unless certain
information is provided, a consumer might easily confuse leasing with purchasing on
credit.

B. If an advertisement promoting a "consumer lease" contains any of the following
triggering terms, then five specific disclosures must also be included in the
advertisement and it is an unfair or deceptive trade practice to fail to make all five
disclosures. The triggering terms are:

(1) the amount of any payment;
(2)  the number of required payments; and

(3) astatement that any or no down payment or other payment, is required at
the beginning of the lease.

C. If any triggering term is used in a consumer lease advertisement, then it is an
unfair or deceptive trade practice to fail to clearly and conspicuously make all five of the
following disclosures in that advertisement:

(1) astatement that the transaction advertised is a lease;

(2) the total amount of any payment (such as security deposit or capitalized
cost reduction) required at the beginning of the lease, or a statement that no such
payment is required;

(3) the number, amounts, due dates or periods of scheduled payments, and
the total number of such payments under the lease;

(4) a statement of whether the customer has the option to purchase the
leased property and at what time and price (the method of determining the price may be
substituted for disclosure of the price); and

(5) a statement of the amount or method of determining the amount or any
liabilities the lease imposes upon the customer at the end of the term, and, if the
customer has such liability, a statement that the customer shall be liable for any



difference between the estimated value of the leased property and its realized value at
the end of the lease term.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.420 ADVERTISED PRICES AVAILABLE TO ALL:

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to sell a vehicle to a
customer for more than the advertised price of the vehicle.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to sell a vehicle at a price
above the advertised price of the vehicle regardless of whether the advertised price has
been actually communicated to the purchaser prior to the sale; provided that this
provision does not prevent dealers from requiring customers to present a coupon or
copy of the advertisement to obtain the advertised price if the advertisement clearly and
conspicuously discloses that a coupon or copy of the advertisement must be presented.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.21 DEALER PRICE ADVERTISING:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise the price of a
new motor vehicle unless the advertised price is the full cash price for which the dealer
will sell the vehicle. The only charges that may be excluded from the advertised price
are:

(2) federal and state taxes;
(2) license fees;
3) vehicle registration; and

(4) dealer transfer service fees, if the advertisement clearly and
conspicuously discloses, in close proximity to the advertised price, the amount of any
such fee and that the fee is a dealer imposed fee; provided, however, that it is an unfair
or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to fail to disclose in writing to a buyer purchasing
a vehicle on which no security interest is retained that the buyer may register the vehicle
on his own without paying a dealer transfer service fee.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use any qualification
when advertising the price of a vehicle such as "with trade", "with acceptable trade",
"with dealer-arranged financing"” or "with down payment."

C. If a price advertisement for a vehicle discloses a rebate, cash back, discount
savings claim or other incentive, it is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to



fail to disclose in the advertisement the full cash price of the vehicle as well as the price
of the vehicle after deducting the incentive.

D. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to fail to include the price of
standard or optional equipment with which all cars sold by the dealer are minimally
equipped in the advertised price of the vehicle; provided, however, that the cost of
additional options or services requested by the purchaser may be added at the time of
sale to the purchase price.

E. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use an illustration of a
motor vehicle in an advertisement unless the illustration is that of the motor vehicle
advertised. If an illustration of the advertised vehicle is not available, then the dealer
must clearly and conspicuously disclose that the illustration is not the vehicle being
advertised.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.22  ADVERTISED VEHICLE AVAILABILITY:

A. When a dealer advertises a specific type of vehicle for sale that is not readily
available, it is an unfair or deceptive trade
availability.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advise prospective
customers that an advertised vehicle is available when the vehicle is not available for
sale, or that an advertised vehicle is not available for sale when the vehicle is available
for sale.

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise a particular
vehicle or type of vehicle for sale at a special price, unless the advertisement discloses
the number or stock numbers of the vehicles in stock for sale at that price.
[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.23 NO DOWN PAYMENT:
It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to advertise that no down payment
is required in connection with the purchase of a vehicle when a down payment or trade-
in is in fact required. If only a trade-in is required a dealer may advertise that fact.
[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
122424 CONTRACT ADDI TI ONS WI THOUT CUSTOMERG6S K

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to negotiate the terms of a
sale and then add the cost of such items as extended warranty, credit life, dealer



preparation, wundercoating, etc., to the contr
consent.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use "documentary fee" or
other similar term for any charges other than those actually required by law for
processing of documents.

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to negotiate the terms of a
sale and then add the cost of "comptroller inventory adjustment", "floor plan, handling,
overhead and advertising”, or any other charges, however denominated, that represent
additional dealer profit, are part of the overhead expenses of running a dealership, are
necessary incidents of the sale of a vehicle, do not represent payment for a bona fide
product or service or are fictitious.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.25 EXTENDED WARRANTIES:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to misrepresent or fail to accurately
disclose the terms or conditions of an extended service contract.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.26 USE OF INITIALS OR ABBREVIATIONS:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to use initials or abbreviations in
an advertisement of a motor vehicle, including the window sticker and supplementary
sticker, unless all such initials or abbreviations are clearly defined in the advertisement
or window sticker; provided, however, that abbreviations may be used for such options
and features as air conditioning, power steering and power brakes in classified and
similar advertisements if such abbreviations are commonly understood by consumers.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.427  SUPPLEMENTAL STICKER PRICES:

A. When a dealer is selling a vehicle for which a federal Monroney window sticker is
required pursuant to 15 USC 1232, it is an unfair or deceptive trade practice to charge
or attempt to charge a customer more than the
unl ess the dealerds asking price ououslguppl emen
disclosed on a supplemental sticker adjacent to the Monroney sticker.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to misrepresent the reasons
for additional charges listed on a supplemental sticker.



C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to list on a supplemental
sticker a charge which:

Q) the dealer did not incur;
(2) is otherwise accounted for on the Monroney sticker; or
3) is otherwise reimbursed.

D. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer to represent, by a sticker or
other means, that options have been added to a vehicle before they have been added.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.428 LEMON VEHICLES:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for a dealer or manufacturer to sell a vehicle
knowing that it has been returned to a dealer or manufacturer under the terms of the
Motor Vehicle Quality Assurance Act, Section 57-16A-1 NMSA 1978 et seq., or any
similar law of any other state unless prior to sale the dealer clearly and conspicuously
discloses in writing to any prospective purchaser that the vehicle was returned to the
manufacturer due to one or more defects under the New Mexico Lemon Law or the
Lemon Law of another state and the nature of the defects if known.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.29 SELF-REGULATION PROGRAMS:

A. The attorney general may refer any complaint alleging a violation of these
regulations by a dealer participating in an approved self-regulation program to the
program. Not more than forty-five (45) days of receiving a complaint by referral from the
attorney general, the program shall provide the attorney general with a written report
describing the substance of the complaint and
complaint.

B. At a minimum, an approved self-regulation program shall include:

(1) substantive standards determined by the attorney general to be identical
to or more stringent than the standards set forth in these regulations; and

(2) an enforcement procedure that the attorney general determines to be fair
and impartial, responsive to complaints and likely to enforce compliance with the
programbs substantive standards.



C. Not less than every twelve (12) months, or more frequently if requested by the
attorney general, the program shall submit a written report to the attorney general
containing the following information:

(1)  copies of all complaints received by the program;

(2)  the number of complaints against each dealer;

(3) the disposition of each complaint;

(4)  the number of complaints received by type of complaint; and

(5) any other information or documents the attorney general may request.

D. All records of the program shall be available for inspection and copying by the
attorney general upon request during normal business hours.

E. All proceedings of the program concerning consumer complaints shall be open to
the public.

F. All consumer complaints, complaint resolutions regardless of the source of the
complaint and decisions of the program shall be available for inspection and copying by
the public upon reasonable notice during normal business hours.

G. The attorney general may withdraw approval of a program at any time upon a
finding by the attorney general that the program has failed to comply with the
requirements of these regulations or that the program, while complying, has failed to
effectively and meaningfully regulate the practices of the dealers participating in the
program.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.30 SEVERABILITY:

If any part of these regulations is held invalid, the remainder and the application thereof
shall not be affected.

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.4.31 SIGNATURE:
Original Adoption and Promulgation
Tom Udall

Attorney General



Date: 5/12/93

Readoption and Repromulgation

Tom Udall

Attorney General

Date: 4/9/98

Tom Udall

Attorney General

[5-1-98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

PART 5: REQUIREMENTS FOR ENVIRONMENTAL MARKETING CLAIMS
12.25.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General, Consumer Protection Division, Post Office
Drawer 1508, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1508

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.5.2 SCOPE:

Marketers and advertisers.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.25.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-1 NMSA 1978 et seq. and New Mexico
False Advertising Act, Section 57-15-1 NMSA 1978 et seq.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.254 DURATION:
Permanent.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.5.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:



Re-promulgated and reformatted in NMAC format effective as of May 1, 1998 unless a
later date is cited at the end of a section or paragraph.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

[ Compi | eThéwords ar paeagraph, above, are no longer applicable. Later dates
are now cited only at the end of sections, in the history notes appearing in brackets.]

12.2.5.6 OBJECTIVE:

A. These regulations are intended to accomplish two principal objectives. The first is
to deter unfair and deceptive practices that result in economic harm to consumers. The
second is to encourage fair competition by providing clear legal standards for
environmental marketing claims to facilitate compliance with and enforcement of the
law.

B. In recent years consumers have increasingly made purchasing decisions based
upon their perception of the environmental attributes and benefits of various products
and packaging. Similarly, persons marketing products and packaging have increasingly
made reference to the environmental attributes and benefits of their products and
packaging in advertising and sales presentations.

C. Unlike some other kinds of advertising, environmental marketing claims are
difficult, if not impossible, for consumers to evaluate on their own. Scientific testing is
normally required to determine whether an environmental marketing claim is true.
Consumers are not in a position to make independent evaluations of such claims.
Regulations are needed to ensure that advertising and sales practices are not unfair or
deceptive, that such practices conform to legitimate consumer expectations and that all
marketers and advertisers are placed on an equal competitive footing. The attorney
general has therefore concluded that regulation of environmental marketing claims is in
the public interest and will promote the health, safety and general welfare of the citizens
of New Mexico.

D. These regulations provide a basis for evaluating environmental marketing claims.
They reflect provisions of New Mexico law, but do not necessarily cover every possible
deceptive marketing practice. Therefore, it is not intended that literal compliance with
these regulations be an absolute protection against liability for deceptive environmental
marketing claims. Marketers and advertisers must review their environmental marketing
claims in light of the purpose of the regulations.

E. The federal trade commission has promulgated Guides for the Use of
Environmental Marketing Claims. See, 16 C.F.R. 260. These guides apply to such
claims in or affecting commerce. To the extent possible, these regulations follow the
feder al trade commi ssionds gui deecsdrdotivdtiat out of
interpretation of the Unfair Practices Act be
and to reduce the burden on business by avoiding conflicting regulatory requirements.



F. Before promulgating these regulations, notice of the proposed action was
published on January 15, 1994 in the New Mexico Register, Volume V, No. 1, pursuant
to AG 92-3-1.3(A) [now 12.2.1.9 NMAC], and a public hearing was held on March 2,
1994 in Santa Fe. All comments received during the hearing were considered in the
revision of the regulations finally promulgated. Representatives of the New Mexico
grocers association, the general services department of the state of New Mexico, New
Mexico PIRG, the New Mexico environment department and the owner of a diaper
service testified at the hearing. This office also solicited written comments on the
regulations. Twelve written comments were received reflecting the views of a variety of
business interests, government agencies and New Mexico PIRG. All comments
received were considered.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. As used in these regulations, the term "environmental marketing claim" means
any representation about the environmental attributes of a product or a package made
in connection with the advertising, marketing, offer for sale or sale of such product or
package.

B. As used in these regulations, the term "prior reasonable basis" means such
competent and reliable evidence as would satisfy a reasonable and prudent
businessperson, acting in good faith, that the environmental marketing claim is true. In
general, environmental marketing claims must be supported by competent and reliable
scientific evidence, and the prior reasonable basis for an environmental marketing claim
must be based on such evidence. For any test, analysis, research, study or other
evidence to be "competent and reliable" for the purposes of these regulations, it must
be conducted and evaluated in an objective manner by persons qualified to do so, using
procedures generally accepted in the profession to yield accurate and reliable results.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.8 FALSE AND MISLEADING CLAIMS PROHIBITED:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any person to make an environmental
marketing claim that is false or misleading.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.9 PRIOR REASONABLE BASIS REQUIRED:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any person to make an environmental
marketing claim unless prior to making the claim:



A. the person has and relies upon a prior reasonable basis from which to conclude
that the claim is true; and

B. the person possesses documents that evidence the prior reasonable basis for
the claim.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.10 RECORD-KEEPING REQUIREMENTS:

A. Any person who makes an environmental marketing claim must retain any and all
documents evidencing the prior reasonable basis for the claim for a period of at least
two years after the last date on which the claim is made. It is an unfair or deceptive
trade practice for any person who makes an environmental marketing claim to fail to
retain any and all documents evidencing the prior reasonable basis for the claim for a
period of not less than two years after the last date on which the claim is made.

B. Any person who makes an environmental marketing claim must provide the
attorney general with any and all documents evidencing the prior reasonable basis for
such claim upon ten days written notice. It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice to fail
to provide the attorney general with any and all documents evidencing the prior
reasonable basis for an environmental marketing claim upon ten days written notice.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.11  QUALIFICATIONS AND DISCLOSURES:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any person to obscure or make
misleading any material fact in any environmental marketing claim by the use of layout,
headlines, illustrations, footnotes, style, sound, length of time, lighting, color or type
size.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any person to use any disclosure or
disclaimer in an environmental marketing claim unless the disclosure or disclaimer is
clear and conspicuous and in close proximity to the terms it modifies.

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any person to make a televised
environmental marketing claim with disclosures that are in such fine print or appear on
the screen so briefly that they cannot be easily read.

D. Comment: To be effective, any qualifications and disclosures must be sufficiently
clear and prominent to prevent deception. Clarity of language, relative type size and
proximity to the claim being qualified and an absence of contrary claims that could
undercut effectiveness will maximize the likelihood that the qualifications and
disclosures are appropriately clear and prominent.



[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.12 DISTINCTION BETWEEN BENEFITS OF PRODUCT AND PACKAGE:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice to make an environmental marketing claim in a

way that fails to make clear whether the environmental attribute or benefit being

asserted refers to the product, the productos
the product or packaging.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.13 OVERSTATEMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice to make an environmental marketing claims in
a manner that overstates the environmental attribute or benefit, expressly or by
implication. Marketers must avoid implications of significant environmental benefits if the
benefits are in fact negligible.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.14 COMPARATIVE CLAIMS:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice to make an environmental marketing claim that
includes a comparative statement unless:

A. the claim is presented in a manner that makes the basis for the comparison
sufficiently clear to avoid consumer deception; and

B. the marketer is able to substantiate the comparison.
[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.15 GENERAL ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFIT CLAIMS:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to misrepresent directly or by implication
that a product or package offers a general environmental benefit.

B. Comment: Unqualified general claims of environmental benefit are difficult to
interpret and, depending on their context, may have a wide range of meanings to
consumers. Such claims may convey that a product or package has specific and far-
reaching environmental benefits when it does not. Every express and material implied
claim that a general assertion conveys to reasonable consumers about an objective
guality must be substantiated. Unless this substantiation duty can be met, broad
environmental claims must either be avoided or qualified, as necessary, to prevent
deception about the specific nature of the environmental benefit being asserted.



[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.16 DEGRADABLE, BIODEGRADABLE AND PHOTODEGRADABLE:

It is an unfair or deceptive act or practice to misrepresent, directly or by implication, that
a product or package is degradable, biodegradable or photodegradable. An unqualified
claim that a product or package is degradable, biodegradable or photodegradable must
be substantiated by competent and reliable scientific evidence that the entire product or
package will completely break down and return to nature, i.e., decompose into elements
found in nature, within a reasonably short period of time after customary disposal.
Claims of degradability, biodegradability or photodegradability must be qualified to the
extent necessary to avoid consumer deception about:

A.t he productds or packageds ability to degr
customarily disposed; and

B. the rate and extent of degradation.
[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.25.17 COMPOSTABLE:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to misrepresent, directly or by
implication, that a product or package is compostable.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to make an unqualified claim that a
product or package is compostable unless the claim is substantiated by competent and
reliable scientific evidence that all the materials in the product or package will break
down into, or otherwise become part of, usable compost (e.g., soil-conditioning material,
mulch) in a safe and timely manner in an appropriate composting program or facility, or
in a home compost pile or device.

C. Claims of compostability must be qualified to the extent necessary to avoid
consumer deception. An unqualified claim may be deceptive if:

(1)  municipal composting facilities are not available to a substantial majority of
consumers or communities where the product is sold;

(2) the claim misleads consumers about the environmental benefit provided
when the product or package is disposed of in a landfill; or

(3)  consumers misunderstand the claim to mean that the product or package
can be safely composted in their home compost pile or device, when in fact it cannot.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]



12.2.5.18 RECYCLABLE:

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to misrepresent, directly or by
implication, that a product or package is recyclable. A product or package should not be
marketed as recyclable unless it can be collected, separated or otherwise recovered
from the solid waste stream for use in the form of raw materials in the manufacture or
assembly of a new product or package.

B. Unqualified claims of recyclability may be made only if the entire product or
package, excluding minor incidental components, is recyclable. For products or
packages that are made of both recyclable and non-recyclable components, the
recyclable claim must be adequately qualified to avoid consumer deception about which
portions or components of the product or package are recyclable. Claims of recyclability
must be qualified to the extent necessary to avoid consumer deception about any
limited availability of recycling programs or collection sites. If an incidental component
significantly limits the ability to recycle the product or package, the claim would be
deceptive. A product or package that is made of recyclable material, but because of its
shape, size or some other attribute, is not accepted in recycling programs should not be
marketed as recyclable. Qualification may be necessary to avoid consumer deception
about the limited availability of recycling programs and collection sites if recycling
collection sites are not available to a substantial majority of consumers or communities.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.19 RECYCLED CONTENT:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to make a recycled content claim unless
the materials for which the claim is made have been recovered or otherwise diverted
from the solid waste stream, either during the manufacturing process (pre-consumer) or
after consumer use (post-consumer). To the extent that the source of recycled content
includes pre-consumer material, the manufacturer or advertiser must have
substantiation for concluding that the pre-consumer material would otherwise have
entered the solid waste stream. In asserting a recycled content claim, distinctions may
be made between pre-consumer and post-consumer materials. Where such distinctions
are asserted, any express or implied claim about the specific pre-consumer or post-
consumer content of a product or package must be substantiated.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to misrepresent, directly or by
implication, that a product or package is made of recycled material. Unqualified claims
of recycled content may be made only if the entire product or package, excluding minor
incidental components, is made from recycled material. For products or packages that
are only partially made of recycled material, a recycled claim must be adequately
qualified to avoid consumer deception about amount, by weight, of recycled content in
the finished product or package.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]



12.2.5.20 SOURCE REDUCTION:
It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice to misrepresent, directly or by implication, that
a product or package has been reduced or is lower in weight, volume or toxicity. Source
reduction claims must be qualified to the extent necessary to avoid consumer deception
about the amount of the source reduction and the basis for any comparison asserted.
[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.21 REFILLABLE:

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to misrepresent, directly or by
implication, that a package is refillable. An unqualified refillable claim should not be
asserted unless a system is provided for:

(1)  the collection and return of the package for refill; or

(2)  the later refill of the package by consumers with product subsequently
sold in another package.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice to market a package with an unqualified
refillable claim if it is up to consumers to find new ways to refill the package.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.5.22 OZONE SAFE AND OZONE FRIENDLY:

It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice to misrepresent, directly or by implication, that
a product is safe for or "friendly" to the ozone layer. A direct or implicit claim that a
product does not harm the ozone layer is deceptive if the product contains an ozone-
depleting substance.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.5.23  SEVERABILITY:

If any part of these regulations is held invalid, the remainder and the application thereof
shall not be affected.

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.5.24  SIGNATURE:
Original Adoption and Promulgation

Tom Udall



Attorney General

Date: 11/1/94

Readoption and Repromulgation
Tom Udall

Attorney General

Date: 4/9/98

Tom Udall

Attorney General

[5/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

Pre-NMAC Regulatory Filing History. The material in this part is derived from that
previously filed with the State Records Center and Archives under:

AG 94-1, Regulations for Environmental Marketing Claims Issued Pursuant to the Unfair
Practices Act and False Advertising Act, filed 11/2/94.

History of Repealed Material: [RESERVED]
PART 6: REQUIREMENTS FOR REPAIR OF VEHICLES
12.2.6.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General, Consumer Protection Division, Post Office
Drawer 1508, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.2 SCOPE:

Automotive repair shops and automotive repair facilities.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-1 NMSA 1978 et seq.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]



12.2.6.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

January 1, 1998, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section or paragraph.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

[ Compi | eThéwords ar paegraph, above, are no longer applicable. Later dates
are now cited only at the end of sections, in the history notes appearing in brackets.]

12.2.6.6 OBJECTIVE:
The purpose is to accomplish three principal objectives:
A. to deter unfair business practices within the automotive industry;

B. to provide clear legal standards for the automotive repair industry in order to
facilitate industry compliance, clearly establish a set of rights and responsibilities for
both consumers and automotive repair facilities and make evaluation of existing
practices easier; and

C. to make sure the genuine public interest is served in the encouragement of
industry self-regulation when available government resources are too few to permit
substantial government oversight of the industry.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. As used in these regulations, the terms "automotive repair shop" and "repair
facility" are interchangeable and mean any business or operation engaged in
automotive repair or automotive service (including, but not limited to, tune-up, oil
change, window tinting, collision repair or refinishing and installation of new or used
automotive parts and/or accessories).

B. As used in these regulations, "automobile” shall mean every vehicle which is self-
propelled and subject to registration under the Motor Vehicle Code.

C. As used in these regulations, "diagnostic" or "trouble shooting fee" shall mean a
fee charged for the purpose of determining the nature, extent and source of the need for
repair.



D. As used in these regulations, "sublet" shall mean work performed by a business
or person other than the automotive repair shop charging the customer for the work
unless the other business is owned by or in common ownership with the shop.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.8 STATEMENT OF BASIS:

A. The attorney general has long been concerned about unfair and deceptive
practices in the automotive repair industry.
division has received numerous complaints and telephone calls alleging unfair and
deceptive trade practices in the automotive repair industry.

B. The complaints include, but are not limited to, the absence of a warranty on
completed repairs, price gouging, automotive part misrepresentation, failure to give
written estimates, failure to adhere to estimates, failure to disclose labor rates,
unauthorized repairs and the imposition of liens for unauthorized repairs. The consumer
protection division has also received requests and complaints from industry members
regarding the necessity of a statement clearly defining their rights and responsibilities.

C. These regulations provide some basic rules in a complicated industry. They are
not exhaustive and do not cover every practice and procedure involved in automotive
repair. Therefore, it is not intended that literal compliance with these regulations be an
absolute protection against liability for practices and procedures surrounding automotive
repair.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.9 WARRANTIES, RATES AND RETURNS:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for an automotive repair shop to fail to
post the major provisions of its warranty policy in a prominent and conspicuous location
within the repair facility and to fail to provide any person who has purchased automotive
repair services with a written warranty or statement that there is no warranty, if such is
the case.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for an automotive repair facility to fail to
make available to all customers upon request the details of its warranty and return
policies.

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive practice for an automotive repair facility to fail to post
the current method by which labor charges are calculated, including any dollar figures
used, at a prominent and conspicuous location within the facility or on the customer
invoice or estimate.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]



12.2.6.10 ESTIMATES, INVOICE AND PAYMENT:

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for an automotive repair facility to fail to
give an estimate of repairs that exceed one hundred dollars ($100). A written estimate
from an insurance company or independent appraisal firm shall be deemed to meet this
requirement in lieu of the repair facility estimate. For calculation of the dollar amount,
fees for related repairs diagnosed at the same time shall be aggregated. A diagnostic
fee is not subject to this section as long as the disclosure required by Section 11.1 [now
Section 12.2.6.11 NMAC] is made at the time an estimate would have been required.
The estimate shall be written. If the customer is not present at the time the estimate is
finalized, the repair facility may obtain oral approval from the customer or proceed,
based upon full disclosure of the content of the written estimate. If oral approval is
obtained, the repair facility shall provide the customer with a copy of the written estimate
no later than the time the customer picks up his or her vehicle. The estimate shall
document who authorized the repairs, the phone numbers at which they were
contacted, exactly what repairs were authorized and the time, date and name of the
person obtaining the authorization. If the repairs exceed the estimate by the greater of
ten percent or fifty dollars ($50), the shop must obtain a new authorization for any
repairs beyond 110 percent or ($50) of the original estimate. If the additional repairs are
authorized and paid for by an insurance company, no customer authorization is
necessary. If the consumer does not desire an estimate, the consumer may choose to
sign a waiver relieving the facility of these responsibilities and requirements when he or
she initially leaves the automobile for repair. However, a consumer must be made fully
aware of the consequences of his or her waiver, which shall include a brief explanation
of the privileges he or she has waived.

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for an automotive repair facility to solicit,
collect or require payment for repair charges in excess of those permitted by Section
10.1 [now Subsection A of 12.2.6.10 NMAC].

C. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for an automotive repair facility to fail to
provide the customer with an invoice stating in detail all repairs completed and,
pursuant to Section 12.1 [now Subsection A of Section 12.2.6.12 NMAC], all parts and
materialusedinthe r epair or service of the customer ds
itemization is required if the charge for parts and materials is ($50) or less. Furthermore,
if any repair is sublet, the sublet repairs shall be marked "sublet"on t he cust omer 05
invoice.

D. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for an automobile repair shop to assert
or i mpose or attempt to assert or i mpose a me
those permitted by Section 10.1 [now Subsection A of 12.2.6.10 NMAC].
[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.6.11 FEES:



It is an unfair or deceptive trade practice for an automotive repair facility to fail to
disclose the basis for calculating a trouble shooting or diagnostic fee.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.12 PARTS:

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for an automotive repair facility or
insurance company to fail to disclose (if known) whether particular parts used in the
repair of the customerds automobile were used
facility or insurance company fails to disclose such information regarding the condition
of the parts used in the repair or service, it will be assumed that the parts installed were
new, and they shall be warranted as such.

B. All repair facilities shall keep the parts for customer inspection. Customers may
retain the parts if they so desire, unless the specific manufacturer requires that the part
be returned or if the part is hazardous to the environment. If the customer desires
removed parts that involve a core, the customer will be responsible for the core charge.
A repair facility shall not be required to keep parts if disposal or special handling is
required by law. A repair facility shall not be required to keep parts after a vehicle has
been released to the customer.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.13 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE:

A procedure or requirement is in substantial compliance with these regulations if, taking
all relevant circumstances into account, the purpose of the procedure or requirement in
the regulations is met, regardless of whether or not the technical requirements of the
regulations are met.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.2.6.14  SELF-REGULATION PROGRAMS:

A. The attorney general may refer to an approved self-regulation program any
complaint alleging a violation of these regulations by an automotive repair shop
participating in the program. Not more than forty-five (45) days of receiving a complaint
by referral from the attorney general, the program shall provide the attorney general
withawr i tten report describing the substance of
disposition of the complaint.

B. At a minimum, an approved self-regulation program shall include:

Q) substantive standards determined by the attorney general to be in
substantial compliance with the standards set forth in these regulations; and



(2)  an enforcement procedure that the attorney general determines to be fair
and impartial, responsive to complaints and likely to enforce compliance with the
programds substantive standards.

C. Not less than every twelve (12) months, or more frequently if required by the
attorney general, the program shall submit a written report to the attorney general
containing the following information:

(1) copies of all complaints received by the program; and

(2)  the number of complaints against each auto repair facility; and

(3) the disposition of each complaint; and

(4)  the number of complaints received by type of complaint; and

(5) any other information or documents requested by the attorney general.

D. All records of the program shall be available for inspection and copying by the
attorney general upon request during normal business hours.

E. All proceedings of the program concerning consumer complaints shall be open to
the public.

F. The attorney general may withdraw approval of a program at any time upon a
finding by the attorney general that the program has failed to comply with the
requirements of these regulations, or the program, while complying, has failed to
effectively and meaningfully regulate the practices of the automotive repair shops
participating in the program.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.6.15 ENFORCEMENT:

A violation of these regulations is a violation of the Unfair Practices Act.
[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.2.6.16  SEVERABILITY:

If any portion of these regulations is held invalid, the remainder of the regulations and
applications thereof shall remain unaffected.

[1/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

Date:




Tom Udall

Attorney General

PART 7: COMPARATIVE PRICE ADVERTISEMENTS AND SAVINGS
CLAIMS FOR THE NATIVE AMERICAN JEWELRY AND ARTS AND
CRAFTS RETAIL INDUSTRY

12.2.7.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General, Consumer Protection Division, Post Office
Drawer 1508, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1508.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.1 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.1, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.2 SCOPE:

Native American jewelry and arts and crafts retail industry.
[7/15/98; 12.2.7.2 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.2, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-13 NMSA 1978 (1967); New Mexico
and False Advertising Act, Section 57-15-7 NMSA 1978 (1967).

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.3 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.3, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.4 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.4, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

July 15, 1998, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[7/15/98; 12.2.7.5 NMAC - Rn & A, 1 NMAC 2.7.5, 02/14/08]

12.2.7.6 OBJECTIVE:



These regulations provide a foundation for comparative price advertisements for the
Native American jewelry and arts and crafts retail industry. Although these regulations
reflect New Mexico law and federal trade commission regulations (16 C.F.R. Ch. 1, Part
233 (Guides Against Deceptive Pricing), they should not be presumed to constitute a
guard against deceptive pricing practices entirely. The principal objective of these
regulations is to deter unfair, deceptive and misleading price comparison advertising
within the industry.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.6 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.6, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. "Advertisement” means any statement, offer, sales presentation or
representation, whether oral or written, regardless of medium or form, concerning or
related to any good offered for sale or lease, including, but not limited to, any statement
or representation contained on any label, tag or sign, or in any catalog or other printed
material, or whether through any electronic transmission or medium, including, but not
limited to, television, radio, facsimile or electronic data transmission over a modem or
electronic mail, the purpose of which is to promote, describe or characterize the good in
order to induce the public to buy or lease it, or otherwise to give consideration to the
offer for the good.

B. "Clearly and conspicuously” means that the statement, representation or term
being disclosed is reasonably understandable, is in such size, color contrast or
audibility, is so placed and represented as to be readily noticeable, is in close proximity
to the information it modifies, and, where applicable, is of a sufficient duration as to be
reasonably understandable.

C. "Comparable good" means a good that is substantially identical in composition,
style, design, model, kind, variety, service or performance characteristics to the good to
which it is compared in any advertisement.

D. "Good" means any item or article of jewelry, including, but not limited to,
necklaces, earrings, bracelets, pendants, broaches, rings and pins. "Good" means also
any Native American or southwestern style art or craft object or article, including, but not
limited to, kachinas, fetishes, pottery and drums, whether or not the object or article is
"Indian handmade" or "Indian crafted", as defined by New Mexico Indian Arts and Crafts
Sales Act, Section 30-33-4 NMSA 1978.

E. "List price" means a price given to a retailer by a manufacturer, supplier or other
non-retail distributor as a suggested retail price for the good and includes the term
"manufacturerds suggested retail price

F. "Native American jewelry and arts and crafts" means such goods meeting the
criteria of of the Indian Arts and Crafts Sales Act, Section 30-33-4 NMSA 1978, for
"Indian handmade" and "Indian crafted" and all other jewelry and arts and crafts which,



although they do not qualify as "Indian handmade” or "Indian crafted"”, are made or
manufactured to appear to be in the Native American style.

G. "Price comparison” means an express or implied comparison in any
advertisement (whether or not expressed wholly or in part in dollars, cents, fractions or
percentages) of a sellerdés current price for
not the price is actually stated in the advertisement.

H. "Reasonably substantial period of time" means 90 consecutive days.

I. "Reference price" means the price or other description of value of a good to
which a seller compares its current price in an advertisement.

J. "Regular price” means the price at which a seller offered the good for a
reasonably substantial period of time in the recent, regular course of its business,
openly, actively and in good faith, with an intent to sell such good or product at that
price.

K. "Seller" means any person who offers to sell, or sells, and in doing so
disseminates advertisements for any good (as defined in Subsection D of 12.2.7.7
NMAC)i n New Mexi co, whether or not the sale of
primary business. "Seller" may include any officer, agent, employee, sales person or
representative of the seller, and any advertising agency employed by a seller.

L. "Tradearea"means the geographic area where a se|

M. "Wholesale" means the sale of goods to a retail merchant who intends to resell
the merchandise to the public at a higher retail price.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.7 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.7, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.8 IDENTIFICATION OF BASIS FOR PRICE COMPARISON REQUIRED:

A. Except as provided in this rule, it is an unfair and deceptive trade practice to
mark, label or otherwise advertise Native American jewelry or arts and crafts at any
price other than the actual, good faith retail price at which the seller offers and intends
to sell the goods to the public.

B. Except as provided in Subsection B of 12.2.7.9 NMAC, it is an unfair and
deceptive practice for a seller to advertise using a price comparison or claim of savings
as to any good offered for sale unless the seller clearly and conspicuously discloses the
basis or source of the price comparison or savings claim.

(1) Comment: It is a prevalent advertising practice in the retail Native
American jewelry and arts and crafts industry
price to anot h erpo8esof emphasiziag tife bargain tb lee had.uThe



attorney general has received numerous inquiries and complaints from consumers,
artists and retailers regarding misleading and deceptive advertising in the form of the
perpetual sales, fictitious reference prices, fictitious discounts and the absence of a
bona fide reference price.

(2) Comment: Often consumers rely upon advertising which contains an
implied or express comparison between prices or the offer of a price reduction to make
purchasing decisions. Consumers can be misled or deceived as to the existence or
amount of a bargain when such advertisements utilize a fictitious reference or former
price, or imply a "regular” price that has been established only to create the illusion of a
bargain. Sellers have also complained about such advertising practices as an unfair
method of competition.

3) Comment: The Unfair Practices Act prohibits deceptive representations in
connection with the sale or lease of goods or services, the making of false or misleading
statements of fact concerning the price of goods and the existence of or amounts of
price reductions. Under the act, it is also unlawful to fail to state a material fact if such
failure deceives or tends to deceive the public. Regulations are needed to ensure that
price comparison advertising and other savings claims are not unfair, deceptive or
misleading. The attorney general has determined that regulation of price comparison
advertisements and other savings claims in the affected industry is in the interest of the
citizens of New Mexico.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.8 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.8, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.9 COMPARI SON TO SELLERG6S OWN FORMER PRI CE

A. ltis an unfair and deceptive practice for a seller to advertise using a comparison
bet ween the sellerbés current price and the se
good was offered to the public openly and honestly, in good faith, with intent to sell at
the former price, for a reasonably substantial period of time which immediately
preceded the effective date of the price reduction.

B. A seller may advertise using a price comparison or claim a savings without the
required disclosure(s), as described in Subsection B of 12.2.7.8 NMAC, only if the price
comparison or savings claim is clearly based
"regular,” "regularly,” "formerly," "originally," "was" or words of similar meaning may be
used by the seller to refer and identify a comparison to his or her former price.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.9 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.9, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.10 COMPARI SON TO SELLER®6S FUTURE PRI CES:
It is an unfair and deceptive practice for a seller to advertise an introductory offer or to

compare its current price for a good with the price at which the good will be offered in
the future, unless both of the following requirements are met:



A. the future price takes effect within a reasonable time not to exceed 30 days after
the introductory offer of price comparison is first published; and

B. after the end of the introductory sale, the advertised future price of the good
becomes the sellerbés regular and customary pr

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.10 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.10, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.11 USE OF LIST PRICE OR SIMILAR COMPARISONS:

It is an unfair and deceptive practice for a seller to advertise using a price comparison or

to claim a savings, expressed or implied, from a list price or term of similar meaning,
including the manufacturerds sugllgengt ed retail
requirements is met:

A. the list price does not exceed the highest price at which a substantial number of
sales of the same or substantially comparable
trade area,; or

B. the list price is the price at which the seller offered the good for at least 90
consecutive days in the regular course of its business, openly, actively and in good
faith, with an intent to sell the good at that price; the 90-day period must precede
immediately the start of any advertised price comparison; or

C. the list price does not exceed the highest price at which the good is offered by a
reasonabl e number of merchants in the sellero
the regular course of business; the 90 day period must precede immediately the start of
any advertised price comparison; or

D.the | ist price does not exceed t-hppe sell ero
regularly used by the seller in the actual sale of such good or service of an identical
class orkind,intheseller 6s recent, regul ar course of busi:
[7/15/98; 12.2.7.11 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.11, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.12 COMPARI SON TO COMPETI TOR6S PRI CE:
It is an unfair and deceptive practice for a seller to advertise using a comparison
bet ween t he s edplicecubently peing affered i ahdther seller for goods
or services unless the goods are comparable in quality, design, grade, material and
craftsmanship and the sellerbés price is at or
goods are being offeredcur r ent |y in the sellerds trade ar e.

other sellers in the same trade area, or another seller identified in the advertisement.

A. Any seller making price comparisons with another seller or sellers shall be
required to document the basis on which the comparisons are made. Such



documentation shall include identification of the seller(s) with whom goods and prices
are being compared, identification of the goods being compared and claimed to be the
comparable, a statement of the prices charged by each seller for the comparable goods
and the date(s) on which the comparison was made.

B. Any seller making price comparisons with another seller or sellers shall update
his or her records no less than every six months, and shall be required to retain the
documentation which form the basis of the price comparisons, as required by
Subsection A of 12.2.7.12 NMAC, for a period of no less than two years from the date of
the first advertisement which uses the price comparisons.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.12 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.12, 02/14/08]

12.2.7.13 UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICE TO ADVERTISE OR
OTHERWISE REPRESENT A SALE USING A FICTITIOUS REGULAR PRICE:

It is an unfair and deceptive trade practice to advertise or otherwise represent a sale or
bargain using a fraudulent regular or former price at which the seller never sold or could
not in good faith reasonably have expected to sell the good or service. A "fraudulent
regular or former price" is any price at which the seller did not offer the good openly and
honestly, in good faith, for a reasonably substantial period of time, and includes any
unreasonably inflated price at which a reasonable and prudent seller would not have
expected to sell the good. Example.Sel | er 6s cost for a rlaleischa be
the item with a price of $3,000, knowing that no reasonable buyer would pay that much
for this particular belt. Shortly thereafter, Seller then advertises a "70% discount” on the
belt, offering it for $900, which is the price she wanted from the beginning. This violates
the rule.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.13 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.13, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.14 PRICE NEGOTIATIONS:

A. Except as provided in this rule, a seller shall offer and sell goods at the marked
or labeled retail prices.

B. Itis an unfair and deceptive trade practice for a seller to mark and offer goods at
prices which he or she does not intend to sell them, for the purpose of being able to
negotiate price reductions off the marked or labeled prices, except that a seller may
routinely and regularly negotiate price reductions not to exceed 25%, so long as the
seller clearly and conspicuously discloses to the prospective purchasers that the prices
of the goods offered for sale are negotiable. A seller may, on an infrequent and non-
regular basis, accept more than a 25% price reduction as a result of negotiations with a
customer.

C. The disclosure that prices are negotiable shall be in writing and posted in a
conspicuous manner at each entrance to the se



cash register or other place where the seller accepts payment for goods. The disclosure
must be no less than 8 by 8 inches at any entrance, and no less than 6 by 8 inches at
any cash register or other place where the seller accepts payment for goods. The
disclosure must be in bold-face type of 26 point or greater font, and shall state as
follows:

PRICES ARE NEGOTIABLE

The prices of [specify goods for which prices are negotiable] are negotiable. The
marked or labeled prices of these items are initial asking prices only.

D. Subsection B of 12.2.7.14 NMAC shall not apply to reasonable discounts given to
consumers for good faith purchases of more than one object or article from the seller;
provided that the seller shall not engage in a pattern and practice of encouraging or
permitting a customer to purchase a second low-cost item in order to qualify for the
discount.

(1) Example: Consumer is interested in a three hundred dollar ($300)
necklace. Seller tells consumer that if she buys a pair of $10 earrings, he will give
consumer a 25% multiple purchase discount on the price of the necklace. This
transaction violates this rule because the seller-initiated offer of a multiple item discount
is intended to circumvent the requirement that merchandise be marked and sold at the
actual price.

(2) Example: Consumer asks about a $300 necklace and a $100 ring. Seller
tells consumer that she will give a 25% price reduction if consumer buys both items,
although any single item purchase will be at the labeled price. This transaction does not
violate the rule because the consumer-initiated purchase of more than one item is in
good faith and is not intended merely to obtain a price reduction.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.14 NMAC - Rn & A, 1 NMAC 2.7.14, 02/14/08]

12.2.7.15 BARGAIN OFFERS BASED ON THE PURCHASE OF OTHER GOODS
AND USE OF THE WORD "FREE":

A. ltis an unfair and deceptive practice to use the word "free" or words of similar
meaning, or to represent bargain offers, including "buy one - get one free," "buy one -
get one at half price," "two for one" and "one cent sale," when describing a good to be
given to a customer who purchases other goods, if the seller recovers, in whole or in
part, the cost of the free or bargain good by marking up the price of the item which must
be purchased, by substituting an inferior item, or otherwise.

B. Itis an unfair and deceptive practice to represent that another good is being
offered free or at a bargain price with the sale if the advertised good can be purchased
from the seller at a lesser price without the free or bargain good.



[7/15/98; 12.2.7.15 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.15, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.16 USE OF SALE TERMINOLOGY:

A. Itis an unfair and deceptive practice for a seller to use terms such as "sale,"
"sale price," "now only $ " or other words and phrases that imply a
price savings unless the price of the good is reduced by no less than 10% from the
former price of the good. If the seller reduces the price by 10% or more from the former
or regular price, a rebuttable presumption exists that the price reduction was of a
reasonable amount.

B. The term "sale” may be used in an advertisement where not all goods are offered
at a reduction from the former or regular price if the goods to which the sale applies are
clearly and conspicuously identified.

C. Itis an unlawful and deceptive trade practice for a seller to use such terms as
"sale" or "sale price," unless the goods offered have been offered to the public openly
and honestly, in good faith, for a reasonably substantial period of time, at a former price
of at least 10% more than the "sale price".

D. No sale which is legitimate under these rules shall exceed 30 consecutive days
in length, except for a going-out-of-business sale which complies with the requirements
of the New Mexico Distress Sales Act, Section 57-10-1 NMSA 1978 (1967) et seq.
Comment: Because other provisions of this rule require that sellers offer goods at the
regular retail price for a "reasonably substantial period of time" prior to placing them on
sale, an attempt to circumvent Subsection D of 12.2.7.16 NMAC, by offering goods at
the regular retail price for a short period of time (e.g., one week) following a sale, and
then putting them back on sale, will constitute a violation of this rule.

E. A seller who conducts a sale which complies with 12.2.7.16 NMAC herein shall
not be required to re-mark or relabel the prices of all items placed on sale (see
Subsection A of 12.2.7.8 NMAC) during the term of the sale; provided that, if, following
the completion of a legitimate sale, the seller wishes to permanently reduce the price of
sales merchandise which was not sold, the seller must re-mark and re-label all such
inventory to reflect the new, lower retail price.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.16 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.16, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.17 EVIDENCE OF ADVERTISED VALUE OR BARGAIN REQUIRED:

Any seller who makes a comparison price advertisement or other savings claim must
retain any and all documents evidencing the basis for the comparison or other savings
claim for a period of at least two years after the last date on which the advertisement
was made. It is an unfair or deceptive practice for any seller who advertises using a
reference or comparison price, or other savings claim, to fail to retain any and all



documents evidencing the basis for the comparison claim or other savings claim for a
period of not less than two years after the last date on which the claim is made.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.17 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.17, 02/14/08]

12.2.7.18 USE OF THE TERM "WHOLESALE":

It is an unfair and deceptive practice to advertise the phrase "wholesale to the public,”
or any similar term or phrase or to otherwise state or imply that the public is able to buy
merchandise at "wholesale" prices, unless the seller is, in fact, a wholesaler, and unless
the seller sells to the general public at exactly the same prices as he or she sells to
retailers who are buying merchandise intended for resale to the public at a higher retall
price.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.18 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.18, 02/14/08]

12.2.7.19 SEVERABILITY:

If any part of these regulations is held invalid, the remainder and the application thereof
shall not be affected.

[7/15/98; 12.2.7.19 NMAC - Rn, 1 NMAC 2.7.19, 02/14/08]
12.2.7.20 [RESERVED]
[7/15/98; 12.2.7.20 NMAC - Rn & Repealed, 1 NMAC 2.7.20, 02/14/08]

PART 8: CHARITABLE SOLICITATIONS REQUIREMENTS [RESERVED]

PART 9: NEGOTIATING A SALE IN A LANGUAGE OTHER THAN
ENGLISH [REPEALED]

[This part was repealed on August 30, 2012]

PART 10: EXTENSION OF CREDIT FOR SMALL LOANS [REPEALED]
[This part was repealed on August 31, 2006]

PART 11: AUTOMATIC RENEWAL OF SERVICE CONTRACTS
12.2.11.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General.

[12.2.11.1 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]



12.2.11.2 SCOPE:

Service contracts which contain automatic renewal clauses.

[12.2.11.2 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]

12.2.11.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

The New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, NMSA 1978, Section 57-12-1, et seq. (1967).
[12.2.11.3 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]

12.2.11.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.2.11.4 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]

12.2.11.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

September 15, 2009, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.2.11.5 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]

12.2.11.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this rule is to deter unfair and deceptive practices that result in
economic harm to consumers in transactions involving service contracts which contain
automatic renewal clauses.

[12.2.11.6 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]

12.2.11.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. "Automatic renewal provision" means a provision under which a service contract
is renewed for a specified period if:

(1) the renewal causes the service contract to continue in effect more than
two months after the end of the term of the original contract; and

(2) the renewal is effective unless the consumer gives notice to the seller of
t he ¢ ons ume roGesminat@étheesertice apmiract.

B. "Seller" means a person providing service, maintenance, or repair under a
service contract.



C. "Service contract" means any contract for service, maintenance or repair.
[12.2.11.7 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]
12.2.11.8 AUTOMATIC CANCELLATION PROVISIONS:

A. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any consumer service contract to
contain an automatic renewal provision unless the contract provision is set forth in a
clear and conspicuous manner in at least 10 point type and includes the notice
requirements and specific procedure by which the consumer may cancel the contract at
the end of the initial contract term and the terms of the automatic renewal in the event
that notice of cancellation is not given at the end of the initial contract term;

B. Itis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any consumer service contract to
contain an automatic renewal provision unless the seller provides the consumer written
notice prior to the end of the initial term of the contract or prior to the end of any renewal
term of the contract consistent with Subsection (C) of 12.2.11.8 NMAC herein.

C. Itis an unfair and deceptive trade practice for any service contract that contains
an automatic renewal provision to:

(1) fail to provide written notice to the consumer specifying the procedure by
which the consumer may cancel the contract and set forth in a clear and conspicuous
manner, in at least 10 point type, and served on the consumer either by certified mail or
on the first page of a monthly statement at least 30 days before the last day on which
the consumer may give notice of the consumerd
not sooner than 60 days before the last day on which the consumer may give notice;

(2) fail to allow a minimum of thirty (30) calendar days after the receipt of the
sellerés notice pursuant to Paragraph (1) of
the consumer to give notice of the consumer 6s
of the initial term or at the end of any additional renewal term;

(3) fail to honor a written notice sent via fax, U.S. mail, email or any other
means upon which a consumer can reasonably rely to deliver such notice and
postmarked, time stamped or otherwise electronically date stamped within the 30
calendar days provided for the consumer to give notice;

(4) fail to honor a written notice timely sent, mailed, emailed or otherwise
transmitted in a manner upon which the consumer can reasonably rely to deliver such
notice but received by the seller after the expiration of the notice period;

(5) fail to allow termination of the contract at the end of the initial term or at
the end of any additional renewal term without additional cost or penalty.

[12.2.11.8 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]



12.2.11.9 SEVERABILITY:

If any portion of this rule is held invalid, the remainder of the rule and application thereof
shall remain unaffected.

[12.2.11.9 NMAC - N, 9/15/09]

PART 12: COLLECTION OF TIME-BARRED DEBT

12.2.12.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General.

[12.2.12.1 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]

12.2.12.2 SCOPE:

Disclosure of time-barred debt.

[12.2.12.2 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]

12.2.12.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

The New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, NMSA 1978, Section 57-12-1, et seq. (1967).
[12.2.12.3 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]

12.2.12.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.2.12.4 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]

12.2.12.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

December 15, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.2.12.5 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]

12.2.12.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this rule is to ensure a uniform understanding and practice within the
debt collection industry regarding what information is required to be provided to
consumers when a debt that the debt collector, acting in the regular course of his or her

trade or commerce, is attempting to collect is unenforceable in judicial proceedings due
to the running of the applicable statute of limitation. The implementation of the notices



required in this rule will obviate an industry-wide practice that tends to or does mislead
or deceive by failing to provide material information to consumers. NMSA 1978, Section
57-12-2(D)(14).

[12.2.12.6 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]
12.2.12.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. "Collection of debt" means any effort by any person acting in the regular course
of his or her trade or commerce, including, but not limited to, the original lender or
obligee, or any assignee of the original lender or obligee, or any assignee of any owner
of the debt other than the original lender or obligee, or any third party attempting to
collect the debt on behalf of the debt owner, to obtain payment of all or any part of the
debt from the person who owes the debt.

B. "Clear and conspicuous" has the same meaning as the term "conspicuous”
defined at NMSA 1978, Section 55-1-201(b)(10) (1961), of the New Mexico Commercial
Code; EXCEPT that it shall exclude the requirement that all words be in capitalized
lettering.

C. "Debt" means any obligation owed or alleged to be owed by one person to
another.

D. "Debt collector" means any person who, intheregularc our se of the pers
trade or commerce, collects or attempts to collect a debt owed or alleged to be owed by
any person in New Mexico, including, but not limited to, the original lender or obligee,
any assignee of the original owner, and third party collectors who are "debt collectors"
as defined by the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 1692a(6).

E. "Good faith" means an honest, fair and reasonable belief that rests on a
reasonable assessment of those facts reasonably and fairly available, and not
necessarily limited only to those facts actually in possession. "Good faith" may require a
fair and reasonable inquiry of others in possession of information known or believed to
be relevant to the matter at issue. See, in part, State v. Sanchez, 88 N.M. 378, 382, 540
P.2d 858 (Ct.App. 1975); rev.o06d, other grds.,
1978, Section 55-1-201(b)(20) (1961).

F. "Least sophisticated consumer" means the standard for evaluating truth and
deception under the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 1692
et seq., as summarized in Jeter v. Credit Bureau, Inc., 760 F.2d 1168 (11th Cir. 1985).

G. "Person" means natural persons, corporations, trusts, partnerships, associations,
cooperative associations, clubs, companies, firms, joint ventures or syndicates.

H. "Statute of limitation" means the time period established by law in which an
aggrieved party may bring a cause of action in judicial proceedings; e.g., NMSA 1978,



Sections 37-1-3 (six years for written contracts), 37-1-4 (four years for unwritten
contracts and accounts), or 55-2-725 (four years for breach of contract for sale of
goods).

I. "Time-barred debt" means any debt that is not enforceable in a judicial
proceeding because the applicable statute of limitation has run.

[12.2.12.7 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]
12.2.12.8 DUTY TO DETERMINE IF DEBT IS TIME-BARRED:

Every debt collector attempting to collect a debt in the state of New Mexico has a duty
to determine, in good faith, whether each debt it is attempting to collect is or is not time-
barred.

[12.2.12.8 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]
12.2.12.9 UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE PRACTICES; REQUIRED DISCLOSURES:

A. ltis an unfair or deceptive trade practice for any debt collector acting in the
regular course of his or her trade or commerce, whether directly or indirectly, by letter,
telephone, electronically or by any other means, to collect or to attempt to collect from
any person any payment of any debt that the debt collector knows or has reason to
know is a time-barred debt, or to seek or obtain from any person any payment,
admission, affirmation, acknowledgement of a debt, or new promise to pay, or any
waiver of legal rights or defenses with regard to any debt, that the debt collector knows
or has reason to know is a time-barred debt unless the debt collector discloses the
following information:

(1) the disclosure is prefaced with the following statement: "We are required
by New Mexico Attorney General rule to notify you of the following information. This
information is not legal advice.";

(2)  either that the debt is unenforceable through a lawsuit because the time
for filing has expired, or that it may be unenforceable through a lawsuit because the
time for filing may have expired;

3) if the debt is time-barred, the person cannot be required to pay the debt
through a lawsuit;

(4) the person is not required by the law: to sign any admission, affirmation or
acknowledgement of, or new promise to pay the debt; or to make any payment on the
debt; or to waive any of his or her rights with regard to the effect of the running of the
applicable statute of limitation;



(5) an explanation of the consequences pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 37-
1-16, with regard to the revival of the statute of limitation resulting from: any payment on
the debt; any signed admission, affirmation or acknowledgement of the debt; any signed
new promise to pay the debt; any waiver
unenforceability of the debt due to the running of the applicable statute of limitation.

B. A debt collector who makes the following disclosure shall be deemed to have
complied with the requirements of Subsection A of 12.2.12.9 NMAC: "We are required
by New Mexico Attorney General rule to notify you of the following information. This
information is not legal advice: This debt may be too old for you to be sued on it in court.
I f it is too old, you canodt Yoecamrengwtherdebd
and start the time for the filing of a lawsuit against you to collect the debt if you do any
of the following: make any payment of the debt; sign a paper in which you admit that
you owe the debt or in which you make a new promise to pay; sign a paper in which you
give up ("waive") your right to stop the debt collector from suing you in court to collect
the debt."

C. The disclosures required by Subsection A of 12.2.12.9 NMAC shall be in plain
language, and shall be designed to reasonably and fairly inform the least sophisticated
consumer.

D. If the demand for payment is in a language other than English, the debt collector
shall give the disclosures required by Subsection A of 12.2.12.9 NMAC in that
language.

E. In the case of written communications, the disclosures required by Subsection A
of 12.2.12.9 NMAC or Subsection B of 12.2.12.9 NMAC shall be clear and conspicuous
and shall be placed on the front page.

F. In the case of oral communications, the disclosures required by Subsection A of
12.2.12.9 NMAC or Subsection B of 12.2.12.9 NMAC shall be made immediately before
or immediately after the first statement requesting payment, or, if no request for
payment is made, no later than immediately after reference to the debt is first made.

G. The disclosures required by Subsection A of 12.2.12.9 NMAC shall be given only
to those debtors whom the debt collector reasonably and in good faith determines owes
a debt that is time-barred.

H. It is a defense to the requirements of Subsection A of 12.2.12.9 NMAC,
Subsection B of 12.2.12.9 NMAC, and Subsection G of 12.2.12.9 NMAC if, in making
the erroneous determination, the debt collector exercised reasonable efforts to
determine whether the debt was time-barred or not and made the error in good faith, as
supported bythede bt col | ect or O0Tde absercaiomemyndocrnentation.
creates a rebuttable presumption of the lack of reasonable efforts and good faith.

[12.2.12.9 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]
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12.2.12.10 VIOLATION OF THE UNFAIR PRACTICES ACT:

Violation of this rule constitutes a violation of the New Mexico Unfair Practices Act,
NMSA 1978, Section 57-12-1 et seq.

[12.2.12.10 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]
12.2.12.11 SEVERABILITY:

If any portion of this rule is held invalid, the remainder of the rule and the applications
thereof shall remain unaffected.

[12.2.12.11 NMAC - N, 12/15/10]

PART 13: REQUIREMENTS FOR SPOT DELIVERY OF MOTOR VEHICLES
12.2.13.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the New Mexico Attorney General.

[12.2.13.1 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.1 NMAC, 8/1/2012]

12.2.13.2 SCOPE:

Motor vehicle dealers.

[12.2.13.2 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.2 NMAC, 8/1/2012]

12.2.13.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-1 NMSA 1978 et seq.
[12.2.13.3 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.3 NMAC, 8/1/2012]

12.2.13.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.2.13.4 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.4 NMAC, 8/1/2012]

12.2.13.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

August 1, 2012, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.2.13.5 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.5 NMAC, 8/1/2012]



12.2.13.6  OBJECTIVE:
A. The purpose of this rule is to accomplish two principal objectives:

Q) deter unfair business practices in the sale of motor vehicles that result in
economic harm, and

(2) provide clear legal standards for the sale of motor vehicles where the sale
of the vehicle is contingent upon approval of financing of the vehicle.

B.The attorney general s office has received
where the motor vehicle dealer asserts that the transaction is contingent upon financing
of the vehicle or approval of financing, but where adequate disclosure of this
contingency is not made in a timely manner, where the dealer asserts the right to cancel
the contract based on a failure of this contingency or right to unilaterally renegotiate the
terms of the sale, or where t-ihehideptter sel |l s
confirmation of financing and finalization of the transaction thus converting the use and
possession of the con s u me r 6-m vehiclea d e

[12.2.13.6 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.6 NMAC, 8/1/2012]

12.2.13.7 DEFINITIONS:

The following terms have the meanings set forth herein.
A. "Motor vehicle dealer" means:

(1) any person who sells or solicits or advertises the sale of new,
demonstration or used motor vehicles and who is licensed pursuant to the motor vehicle
code; or

(2)  any person who sells four or more motor vehicles in a calendar year
whether licensed or not.

B. "Motor vehicle" means every vehicle that is self-propelled and every vehicle that
is propelled by electric power obtained from batteries. This includes but is not limited to
automobiles, trucks of all varieties, motor cycles, recreational vehicles, reconstructed
motor vehicles, specialty constructed motor vehicles, road tractors, all of which may be
for personal, household, or commercial use.

C. "Purchase price" means the actual price before the deduction of the value of any
trade-in and shall not include such charges as taxes, registration fees, extended
warranties, service contracts, credit disability insurance, or any other charges incidental
to the purchase.



D. "Revocation" means the cancellation, voiding or annulment of the contract or
withdrawing of acceptance to purchase the motor vehicle.

E. "Spot delivery" means a contingent motor vehicle sale transaction by which the
buyer is allowed to take possession of the motor vehicle pending the finalization of
financing.

[12.2.13.7 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.7 NMAC, 8/1/2012]
12.2.13.8 SPOT DELIVERY GENERALLY:

In a sale conditioned on financing, it is an unfair trade practice for a motor vehicle dealer
who delivers a new, demonstration or used motor vehicle to a buyer to.

A. Orally or in writing represent to the buyer at the time of signing the purchase
order agreement or sales transaction document that the sale is final and complete if the
financing contingency is unmet.

B. Refuse to void and nullify the contract if financing is not finalized within 20
calendar days from the date of delivery of the motor vehicle.

C. Fail to return to the buyer, within a reasonable time, all sums of money paid or
collateral including a trade-in provided by the buyer and held by the motor vehicle
dealer.

D. Accept a trade-in and then sell or remove the trade-in from the lot where the
transaction occurred before the financing of the purchased motor vehicle has been
finalized and the sale completed.

E. Fail to pay the retail value of the trade-in vehicle or the assigned value of the
trade-in itself, as well as all other monies or things due the buyer should the motor
vehicle dealer sell or remove the trade-in from the lot before the financing has been
finalized. The risk of loss during the period shall be assessed against the motor vehicle
dealer.

F. Fail to timely pay the lender the monthly scheduled payment, should a payment
become due before the sale is final. The buyer will reimburse the dealer for such a
payment if the contract is rightfully revoked in accordance with this rule.

G. Charge the buyer for any costs associated with the refurbishing, repair or
maintenance of the trade-in or for any sums paid by the motor vehicle dealer to pay off
the outstanding debt owed on the trade-in. However, should the buyer rightfully revoke
the contract, buyer will reimburse the motor vehicle dealer for payments made on the
outstanding balance of the trade in.



H. Fail to include the following statement in no less than bold 12 point type,
conspicuously placed on the purchase order agreement or sales transaction document
and signed ONLY by the buyer subject to the financing contingency: SPOT DELIVERY:
Buyer has the right to void this purchase if financing is not approved within 20 calendar
days after delivery of vehicle. Buyer has the right to the return of any trade-in and all
money paid by buyer, if buyer voids this contract under this paragraph. To exercise
this right, buyer must return the vehicle to the dealer in the same condition as received
(normal wear and tear excepted), within 48 hours of receipt of notice that financing was
not approved. Dealer shall not charge any fees as long as the vehicle is returned as
provided in this paragraph.

I. Charge any usage fee or any other type of surcharge to the buyer in association
with the rightful revocation of the purchase order agreement or sales transaction
document as provided by this rule.

J. Fail to maintain for a period of three years in the dealer file jacket the following
documents regardless of whether the sales transaction is finalized:

(1) copies of all credit applications, transmittals sent to or received from any
lender, or any documents related to the approval or denial of financing, offers or
counteroffers of financing, or requests for additional information related to a request for
financing;

(2)  copies of every signed purchase agreement or sales transaction
document; and

(3) alog recording the date the dealership notified the buyer of the changes to
the contract, with a detailed description of the changes to the terms and conditions of
the sale of the vehicle, and the date upon which the purchaser agreed to each of the
changes.

K. Fail to provide a copy of every signed purchase order agreement or sales
transaction document to the buyer at the time of signing.

L. Make any statement or representation to the buyer, orally or in writing, either
before or after the purchase order agreement or sales transaction document is signed,
that misleads the buyer as to his rights of revocation under this rule, including but not
limited to, misrepresenting to the buyer his right to revoke acceptance of the contract
and "walk away" without incurring any legal obligation should the motor vehicle dealer
fail to meet the contingency financing agreement.

[12.2.13.8 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.8 NMAC, 8/1/2012]

12.2.13.9 SEVERABILITY:



If any portion of this rule is held invalid, the remainder of the rule and application thereof
shall remain unaffected.

[12.2.13.9 NMAC - Rp/E, 12.2.13.9 NMAC, 8/1/2012]

PART 14: MISREPRESENTATION OF AGE AND CONDITION OF MOTOR
VEHICLES

12.2.14.1 ISSUING AGENCY:
Office of the New Mexico Attorney General.
[12.2.14.1 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014]
12.2.14.2 SCOPE:
Misrepresentation of age and condition of motor vehicles.
[12.2.14.2 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014]
12.2.14.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:
The New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-13 NMSA 1978.
[12.2.14.3 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014; A, 8/31/2016]
12.2.14.4 DURATION:
Permanent.
[12.2.14.4 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014]
12.2.14.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:
April 1, 2014, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.2.14.5 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014]
12.2.14.6 OBJECTIVE:
A. This purpose of this rule is to:

Q) deter misrepresentation of the age or condition of used motor vehicles in
retail motor vehicle sale transactions;



(2) protect retail buyers in motor vehicle sale transactions through uniform
disclosure of material information concerning the age or condition of used motor
vehicles; Subsection A of Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978;

3) provide sellers clear legal standards as to what constitutes "to the best of
sel |l er 6s "wherosallingudeg enotor vehicles to retail buyers: Paragraph (2) of
Subsection B of Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978;

(4)  establish standards for used motor vehicle damage inspections; and

(5) establish standards for disclosure of used motor vehicle alteration or
damage inspection results to motor vehicle buyers.

B. This rule is not intended to restrict or limit claims to Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978
that may be alleged under other provisions of the Unfair Practices Act, Section 57-12-1
NMSA 1978 et seq.

C. The alteration or damage inspection and disclosure standards in this rule for
used motor vehicles are not intended to negate or limit obligations of sellers to disclose
damage to new motor vehicles. See Hale v. Basin Motor Co., 110 N.M. 314 (N.M.
1990).

D. Nothing in this rule is intended to increase, decrease or otherwise in any way
affect the rights or responsibilities of motor vehicle manufacturers or sellers under
federal motor vehicle safety laws or regulations, or under New Mexico or other state
products liability laws, principles or case law.

E. The attorney general has concluded that this rule is in the best interest of the
health, safety and general welfare of the citizens of New Mexico.

[12.2.14.6 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014; A, 8/31/2016]
12.2.14.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. "Alteration"s h a |l | mean damage to, repair or
cab, chassis, or body which materially diminishes the value of the motor vehicle; the
alteration may but need not necessarily be the result of wreck damage; goods are
altered if, as measured against reasonable expectations of a consumer, the
characteristics or value of a motor vehicle are diminished in a meaningful way. See Hale
v. Basin Motor Co., 110 N.M. 314 (N.M. 1990).

B. "Body" shall mean the external structure of the motor vehicle, exclusive of the
cab and chassis.

C. "Cab" shall mean the compartment of a motor vehicle where the driver and
passengers sit.

modi f



D. "Chassis" shall mean the frame, structural components of the motor vehicle and
suspension.

E. "Flat rate manual cost" shall mean estimated cost of repair as indicated by a
nationally recognized manual commonly used in the industry.

F. "Good faith estimate of cost" for alteration or repair shall mean a good faith
estimate of the flat rate manual cost of prior alteration or repair discovered in the used
motor vehicle alteration or damage inspection contemplated by this rule, and disclosed
in substantially the manner shown in the model inspection report which accompanies
this rule, but "good faith estimate of cost" shall not be interpreted as a warranty as to
actual cost which is unknown to the seller, nor is "good faith estimate of cost" intended
to be a substitute for disclosure of actual cost if known to the seller.

G. "Inspection” or "reasonable inspection” shall mean an investigation of the age
and condition of a motor vehicle for evidence of prior alteration or prior repair due to
alteration or wreck damage. Inspections shall be consistent with 12.2.14.10 NMAC.

H. "Inspection report" shall mean the inspection report provided for in 12.2.14.10
NMAC or equivalent form, including the model inspection report form which
accompanies this rule.

I. "Qualified person" shall mean a person who is qualified by an industry
recognized program or who possesses the requisite knowledge, skill or experience to
perform the used motor vehicle inspection required by this rule and by the
accompanying model inspection report form, in order to find evidence of:

(2) painting and refinishing;
(2)  structural and non-structural damage repair;
3) repair of motor vehicle, cab, chassis and body; or

(4) previous alteration.

J. "Repair or repairing”"s h a | | mean to restore or attempt
cab, chassis, or body to industry standards.

K. "Retail buyer" or "buyer" shall mean a person who is not in the business of
buying and selling motor vehicles and who buys or agrees to buy a motor vehicle from a
retail seller.

L. "Retail seller" or "seller" shall mean natural persons, corporations, trusts,
partnerships, associations, cooperative associations, clubs, companies, firms, joint
ventures or syndicates who is licensed pursuant to Section 66-4-1 NMSA 1978 or who



regularly and principally engages in the business of selling motor vehicles to retalil
buyers for profit, but does not include selling motor vehicles:

(1) to alessee pursuant to a purchase option under a motor vehicle lease
agreement;

(2)  to other motor vehicle dealers licensed with the New Mexico New Mexico
motor taxation and revenue department-motor vehicle division pursuant to Subsection A
of Section 66-4-1 NMSA 1978; or

(3) to persons, other than retail buyers, licensed or regulated by another state
or jurisdiction.

M. "Sales price" shall mean the actual stated price on the contract before the
deduction of the value of any trade-in and shall not include such charges as taxes,
registration fees, extended warranties, service contracts, credit of disability insurance,
or any other charges incidental to the sale.

N. "Unibody" shall mean a motor vehicle construction technique in which the body is
integrated into a single unit with the chassis rather than having a separate body-on-
frame.

0. "Used" motor vehicle shall mean a used motor vehicle as defined in 12.2.4.7
NMAC.

[12.2.14.7 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014; A, 8/31/2016]
12.2.14.8  AFFIDAVIT REQUIRED:

A. A seller of a motor vehicle shall furnish at the time of sale of a motor vehicle an
affidavit that states to the best of the sell
alteration or chassis repair due to wreck damage, except where not required.

Subsections B and C of Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978.

B. When a seller in good faith:

(1)  conducts a motor vehicle inspection in compliance with 12.2.14.10 NMAC,;
(2) completes an inspection report pursuant to 12.2.14.11 NMAC,;
3) provides the inspection report to the buyer; and

(4) maintainst he i nspection report in sellerods

the seller may be deemed to have complied with Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978.



C. When a seller determines that an affidavit is required pursuant to Subsection B of
Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978, the seller shall attach a report which substantially
complies with 12.2.14.11 NMAC to the affidavit to disclose the prior alteration or repair.

D. When unsafe alterations or repairs are identified or discovered by an inspector
during the inspection, the unsafe alterations or repairs shall be disclosed in the
inspection report provided for in 12.2.14.11 NMAC, and a copy of the inspection report
shall be provided to the buyer.

E. A seller shall not represent to the buyer that the absence of any information or
condition of the motor vehicle on a Carfax, Autocheck or other motor vehicle history
report is proof that the motor vehicle has never been altered or repaired.

F. When a seller determines that an affidavit is required pursuant to
Subsection B of Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978, a copy of the affidavit shall also be
maintained by the seller for four years.

G. Nothing in this regulation shall limit the obligation of a seller of a motor
vehicle to make required disclosures pursuant to Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978, of
alteration or chassis repair due to wreck damage discovered by or previously known to
the seller.

[12.2.14.8 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014; A, 8/31/2016]
12.2.14.9 [RESERVED]

[12.2.14.9 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014; Repealed, 8/31/2016]
12.2.14.10 REASONABLE INSPECTION:

The following motor vehicle inspection shall be conducted by qualified persons and shall
be deemed reasonable pursuant to Subsection B of Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978 by:

A. inspecting the motor vehicle for evidence of repainting such as:
(1) differences in paint color or texture;
(2)  mismatched sizes of metallic sparkle in the paint;
3) embedded dirt or deep scratches in the top coat of the paint; and
(4) uneven paint thickness;

B. inspecting the motor vehicle for evidence of any repair or alteration, with the
inspection involving only minimal disassembly, for:



(1)

uneven gaps between sheet metal panels;

(2)  differences between the headlamps;
3) paint overspray on moldings and trim;
4) paint tape edges in the jams;
(5) hammer damage;
(6) replaced body panels due to impact;
(7) holes drilled and plugged in jams or shell of the motor vehicle;
(8) damage inside the trunk or under the spare tire; and
(9)  signs of corrosion or lack of corrosion protection;
C. inspecting the motor vehicle chassis for evidence of such things as:
(1) pinched weld flange underneath the motor vehicle;
(2)  weld sites;
(3)  signs of repair to unibody structural parts;
(4)  signs of buckles or non-original equipment manufacturer ("OEM") welding
repair to unibody structural parts;
(5)  signs of corrosion, or lack of corrosion protection; and
(6) other non-OEM alteration or repair that may have been performed to the
chassis;
_ D._i nspect ing the motor vehi cldéférencegamdi! ki ng an
inconsistencies;
E.inspecting the motor vehicledbds identificat

F. inspecting the motor vehicle parts for labels that say replacement department of
transportation "(R-DOT)";

G. inspecting the motor vehicle for alterations or repairs not consistent with repair
industry standards; and



H. performing reasonable additional inspection or inquiry into the age and condition
of the motor vehicle when reasonably necessary to assure compliance with this rule.

[12.2.14.10 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014; A, 8/31/2016]

12.2.14.11 PREVIOUS WRECK DAMAGE OR ALTERATION INSPECTION
REPORT:

The sellerdéds inspection report shall be
rule and shall include the following information:

A.sell erds name;

B. address, including city, state, and zip code;

C. the year, make and model of the motor vehicle;

D. the motor vehicle identification number;

E. the exterior color of the motor vehicle;

F. an odometer reading of the motor vehicle;

G. a"yes" and "no" check box to indicate any discovered safety issues revealed by
the inspection; if "yes" is checked, the inspection report shall identify such issues with
particularity;

H. a"yes" and "no" check box to indicate any discovered chassis or structural
damage revealed by the inspection; if "yes" is checked, the inspection report shall
identify such damage with particularity;

I. a"yes"and "no" check box to indicate any discovered non industry-standard
repair revealed by the inspection; if "yes" is checked, the inspection report shall identify
such repair with particularity;

J. a"yes" and "no" check box to indicate any discovered unrepaired damage
revealed by the inspection; if "yes" is checked, the inspection report shall identify such
damage with particularity;

K. whether a good faith estimate of the cost of prior alteration or damage repair
discovered on inspection exceeds six percent of the estimated sales price of the motor
vehicle;

L. date of inspection;

M. cost for the inspection;



N. contact information for the business/individual who performed the inspection,
including city, state, and zip code and telephone number;

O. the printed or typed name of the qualified person who performed the inspection;
P. the signature of the qualified person who conducted the inspection; and

Q. a statement to the effect that "prior damage/repair inspection is based on good
faith observation, minimal disassembly and without use of computerized measuring
system(s)," that the inspection report is not a warranty, and containing a citation to this
rule, 12.2.14.1 NMAC;

R.the sellerds inspection report may al so in

(1) a statement whether the motor vehicle was placed on a lift to inspect the
chassis as part of the inspection;

(2) astatement whether a paint mil thickness gauge was used to measure
paint thickness as part of the inspection; or

3) reasonable additional detail about the condition of the chassis, body
panels and paint of the motor vehicle which was revealed by the inspection and is
believed by the inspector to be useful to a buyer.

[12.2.14.11 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014; A, 8/31/2016]

12.2.14.12 DISCLOSURE IN LIEU OF INSPECTION FOR HIGH MILEAGE/AGED
MOTOR VEHICLES:

In lieu of the used motor vehicle damage inspection contemplated by 12.2.14.9 NMAC
and the used motor vehicle damage inspection report contemplated by 12.2.14.11
NMAC, the seller of a motor vehicle which either: is 10 or more years old based on its
model year or has more than 125,000 odometer miles, may provide the buyer of such a
motor vehicle with a conspicuous written disclosure on a separate form containing a
statement to the effect that "because of age in excess of 10 years or mileage in excess
of 125,000 this motor vehicle has not received a used motor vehicle damage inspection
pursuant to 12.2.14.1 NMAC, et seq., and buyer may obtain an independent inspection
of the motor vehicle at buy erbdysrsmchoosee"x pense b
Seller of a motor vehicle subject to this section is nonetheless obligated to make
required disclosures pursuant to Section 57-12-6 NMSA 1978. Should the seller of such
a high mileage/aged vehicle nevertheless choose to obtain a damage inspection and
report on such a motor vehicle, the seller shall provide the inspection report and any
applicable affidavit to the buyer as with any other used motor vehicle.

[12.2.14.12 NMAC - N, 8/31/2016]



12.2.14.13 SEVERABILITY:

If any part of this rule is held invalid, the remainder of the rule and applications thereof

shall remain unaffected.

[12.2.14.13 NMAC - N, 4/1/2014; Rn, 12.2.14.12 NMAC, 8/31/2016]

12.2.14.14 USED MOTOR VEHICLE ALTERATION OR DAMAGE INSPECTION

FORM:

Seller Name and Contact Information:

Model

Odometer

Year Make

_Color

VIN
None
Noted Yes

page if needed).

DISCOVERED SAFETY ISSUES

CHASSIS OR STRUCTURAL DAMAGE

Describe, if yes (attach separate

NON INDUSTRY-STANDARD REPAIR

UNREPAIRED DAMAGE

CHASSIS INSPECTION None
Noted Yes

Frame/Unibody Repair/Welds

Location i Detalils, if yes

Frame Machine Pinch Marks




Other

BODY PANEL INSPECTION None
Noted Yes Location i Detalils, if yes

Replaced Body Panels

Damaged/Repaired Body Panels

Uneven Body Panel Gaps

Other

PAINT INSPECTION None
Noted Yes Location i Detalils, if yes

Difference in Paint Color/Texture

Uneven Paint Thickness

Aftermarket Overspray/Mask-lines

Other

Was motor vehicle placed on a lift to inspect chassis?__Yes_ No
Was a paint mil thickness gauge used to measure paint thickness? __Yes N
Other Inspection Comments:

(Note discovered damage, alterations or repairs not otherwise disclosed on this
form.)



Good faith estimate whether discovered prior alteration/damage/repair cost
exceeds six percent of sales_Price:__Yes_ No

Cost of Inspection: $ Date of
Inspection:

Inspector Name:

Inspector Contact
Information:

Inspector Signature:

PRIOR ALTERATION/DAMAGE/REPAIR INSPECTION IS BASED ON GOOD FAITH
OBSERVATION, MINIMAL DISASSEMBLY AND WITHOUT USE OF
COMPUTERIZED MEASURING SYSTEM(S). See NMAC 12.2.14.1, et seq., (NOT A
WARRANTY.)

[12.2.14.14 NMAC - N, 8/31/2016]

PART 15: SALE OF RECYCLED METALS

12.2.15.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

New Mexico Regulation and Licensing Department.

[12.2.15.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.2.15.1 NMAC, 8/12/12]

12.2.15.2 SCOPE:

This part sets forth definitions to the department pursuant to the Sale of Recycled
Metals Act, Sections 57-30-1 through 57-30-17 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.15.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.2.15.3 NMAC, 8/12/12]

12.2.15.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:



These rules are promulgated pursuant to the Sale of Recycled Metals Act, Sections 57-
30-1 through 57-30-17 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.15.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.2.15.2 NMAC, 8/12/12]

12.2.15.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.2.15.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.2.15.4 NMAC, 8/12/12]

12.2.155 EFFECTIVE DATE:

August 12, 2012 unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.2.15.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.2.15.5 NMAC, 8/12/12]

12.2.15.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this part is to define language required pursuant to Sale of Recycled
Metals Act, Sections 57-30-1 through 57-30-17 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.15.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.2.15.6 NMAC, 8/12/12]
12.2.15.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. Secondhand metal dealer: means a scrap metal processor in the business of
operating or maintain a scrap metal yard in a physical location in which scrap metal or
cast-off regulated material is purchased for shipment, sale or transfer.

B. Aluminum material: means a product made from aluminum, an aluminum alloy or
an aluminum byproduct. Aluminum material includes an aluminum beer keg but does
not include other types of aluminum cans used to contain a food or beverage.

C. Bronze material: means a cemetery vase, receptacle or memorial made from
bronze; bronze statuary; or material readily identifiable as bronze.

D. Copper or brass material: means insulated or noninsulated copper wire,
hardware or cable of the type used by a public utility, commercial mobile radio service
carrier or common carrier that consists of at least twenty-five percent copper; or a
copper or brass item of a type commonly used in construction or by a public utility,
commercial mobile radio service carrier or common carrier.

E. Business day: means any calendar day except Sunday and following holidays:
New Yeards day, Washingtonbs birthday,

Me mor i

Col umbus day, Veteransodo day, Thanksgiving day



A

Jr.0s birthday and any e stdieeorNew Megico lor the Uriitéddi ¢  h o |
States.

F. Department: means the regulation and licensing department.

G. Superintendent: means the superintendent of the regulation and licensing.

H. Peace officer: means any full-time salaried and commissioned or certified law
enforcement officer of a police or s h e r deapdrtientsthat is part of or administered by
the state or a political subdivision of the state.

|. Personal identification document means a driverds |icense; a
identification card; or a passport issued by the United States or by another country and
recognized by the United States.

J. Regulated material: means aluminum material; bronze material; copper or brass
material; steel material; a utility access cover; a water meter cover; a road or bridge
guard rail; a highway or street sign; a traffic directional or control sign or signal or a
catalytic converter that is not part of an entire motor vehicle.

K. Steel material: means a product made from an alloy of iron, chromium, nickel or
manganese, including stainless steel beer kegs.

[12.2.15.7 NMAC - Rp, 12.2.15.7 NMAC, 8/12/12]
PART 16: APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION
12.2.16.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

New Mexico Regulation and Licensing Department.
[12.2.16.1 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.16.2 SCOPE:

This part sets forth application procedures to the department pursuant to the Sale of
Recycled Metals Act, Sections 57-30-1 through 57-30-17 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.16.2 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]
12.2.16.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

These rules are promulgated pursuant to the Sale of Recycled Metals Act, Sections 57-
30-1 through 57-30-17 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.16.3 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]



12.2.16.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.2.16.4 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.16.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

August 12, 2012 unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.2.16.5 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.16.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this part is to register secondhand metal dealers pursuant to 57-30-14
NMSA 1978.

[12.2.16.6 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.16.7 DEFINITIONS:

[Reserved]

[12.2.16.7 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.16.8 APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS:

A. Effective July 1, 2012, all secondhand metal dealers shall not buy or sell
regulated material without a valid registration issued by the department.

B. Applications for registration shall be completed on a form provided by the
department.

C. Electronic signatures will be acceptable for applications submitted pursuant to
section 14-16-1 through section 14-16-19 NMSA 1978.

D. Information submitted shall include:
Q) the full name and business address of the applicant;

(2) a list of all locations at which the applicant engages or will engage in the
business of buying or selling regulated material;

3) a non-refundable registration fee as set forth in 12.2.16.9 NMAC;

(4) affirmation of compliance with all federal requirements;



(5) affirmation of registration with metal theft alert system as described in
Paragraph (3) of Subsection A of 12.2.18.8 NMAC.

[12.2.16.8 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]
12.2.16.9 FEES:
A. The fee for application registration is twenty-five dollars ($25.00).
B. The fee for renewal of registration is twenty-five dollars ($25.00).
[12.2.16.9 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]
12.2.16.10 RENEWAL REQUIREMENTS:

A. Original and renewed registrations shall be valid for a period of three years from
the date of issuance, unless the registration is suspended or revoked.

B. Prior to the expiration of the license, all registered secondhand metal dealers
shall apply for registration renewal and shall pay the renewal fee as set forth in
12.2.16.9 NMAC.

C. A current registration shall be posted in the business of operation.
[12.2.16.10 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

PART 17: REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
12.2.17.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

New Mexico Regulation and Licensing Department.
[12.2.17.1 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.17.2 SCOPE:

This part sets forth reporting procedures to the department pursuant to the Sale of
Recycled Metals Act, Sections 57-30-1 through 57-30-13 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.17.2 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]
12.2.17.3  STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

These rules are promulgated pursuant to the Sale of Recycled Metals Act, Sections 57-
30-1 through 57-30-13 NMSA 1978.



[12.2.17.3 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.17.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.2.17.4 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.17.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

August 12, 2012 unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.2.17.5 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.17.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this part is to standardize the reporting procedures to the department
required pursuant to 57-30-8 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.17.6 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.17.7 DEFINITIONS:

[Reserved]

[12.2.17.7 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.17.8 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS:

A. All secondhand metal dealers are required to report all transactions of regulated
material. Reports of such transaction shall be uploaded to the database maintained by
the department.

B. Reports shall be in English and shall include:

(1)  the place and date of the purchase;

(2) the name and address of each person from whom the regulated material
is purchased or obtained,;

3) the identifying number of the personal identification document of each
person from whom the regulated material is purchased or obtained,;

(4) the year, make, model and license plate number of the motor vehicle used
to transport the regulated material;



(5)  adescription made in accordance with the custom of the trade of the type
and quantity of regulated material purchased; and

(6) affirmation that the seller has signed a written statement that he or she is
the legal owner of or is lawfully entitled to sell the regulated material offered for sale as
required by Paragraph (2) of Subsection A of Section 4 (57-30-4 NMSA 1978) of the
Sale of Recycled Metals Act.

C. Electronic submission of data by secondhand metal dealers to the department
prior to January 2014 wil/l be done via the de
or other similar system maintained by the department in an excel or equivalent format.

D. After January 2014 secondhand metal dealers will be required to submit their
data in the format(s) specified by the department for direct loading into its database.

E. The department will specify the acceptable format(s) of data for electronic
submi ssion to the dEeamasubmited electiscallg aterdanary e .
2014 wi || be transferred directly into the de
other electronic system developed and maintained by the department.

F. Secondhand metal dealers will be responsible for correcting any formatting errors
or data validation errors that occur during the transfer of data or the loading of data into
the database. Secondhand metal dealers will be responsible for re-submitting corrected
data to the department.

G. A secondhand metal dealer shall comply with the waiting period for disposal of
regulated material.

(1) Secondhand metal dealer shall not process or permit regulated material to
be removed f r pmemitehunt at leastltwemtydfeur hours have elapsed
since the dealer acquired the regulated material.
(2) A person shall not with intent to deceive display to a secondhand metal
dealer a false or invalid personal identification document in connectionwi t h t he per so
attempted sale of regulated material.

H. A secondhand metal dealer may take a digital photograph, with a date and time
stamp, of:

(1)  the seller of the regulated material, and

(2)  the regulated material in the form in which it was purchased or obtained by
the secondhand metal dealer.

[12.2.17.8 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]



12.2.17.9 RESTRICTED TRANSACTIONS:

A. A secondhand metal dealer shall not purchase any of the following without
written documentation indicating that the seller is the rightful owner or has permission
from the rightful owner or that the material was otherwise lawfully obtained.

B. Infrastructure grade regulated material that has been burned to remove insulation
unless the seller can produce written proof that the regulated material was lawfully
burned.

C.Regul ated material where the manufacturerod
identification number or other identifying marks engraved or etched upon the material
have been conspicuously removed or altered.

D. Regulated material marked with the name initials or otherwise identified as the
property of an electrical company, telephone company, cable company, water company
or other utility company, a railroad or a governmental entity to include: a utility access
cover; a water meter cover; a road or bridge guard rail; a highway or street sign; a traffic
directional or control sign; a metal beer keg that is clearly marked as being the property
of the beer manufacturer; or a catalytic converter that is not part of an entire motor
vehicle.

E. An additional form will be required to be completed by all second hand metal
dealers who purchase material listed in 12.2.17.9 NMAC.

[12.2.17.9 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

PART 18: DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
12.2.18.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

New Mexico Regulation and Licensing Department.
[12.2.18.1 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.18.2 SCOPE:

This part sets forth application procedures to the department pursuant to the Sale of
Recycled Metals Act, Sections 57-30-1 through 57-30-17 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.18.2 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]
12.2.18.3  STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

These rules are promulgated pursuant to the Sale of Recycled Metals Act, Sections 57-
30-1 through 57-30-17 NMSA 1978.



[12.2.18.3 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.18.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.2.18.4 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.18.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

August 12, 2012 unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.2.18.5 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.18.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this part is to facilitate compliance of all registered secondhand metal
dealers pursuant to 57-30-1 through 57-30-17 NMSA 1978.

[12.2.18.6 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]
12.2.18.7 DEFINITIONS:
[Reserved]

[12.2.18.7 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]
12.2.18.8 DUTIES:

Effective July 1, 2012, all secondhand metal dealers shall maintain a valid registration
issued by the department.

A. A current registration certificate must be posted in the business of operation or
posted in a physical location of a registrant who maintains a scrap metal yard in which
scrap metal or cast-off regulated material is purchased for shipment, sale or transfer.

B. Comply with all federal requirements for scrap metal dealers, including maintain
storm water permits.

C. Register for the metal theft alert system, maintained by the institute of scrap
recycling industries or its successor organization.

[12.2.18.8 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.18.9 RESPONSIBILITIES:



A. A secondhand metal dealer who becomes aware that the dealer is in possession
of regulated material that was stolen or unlawfully obtained shall not remove the
material from the deal erdéds premises and shal/l
enforcement agency within twenty-four hours.
B. A secondhand metal dealer must inform all employees who are involved in the
purchasing or receiving of regulated material of alerts received on theft of regulated
material in the geographic area.
C. A secondhand metal dealer maintain an accurate and legible written record, in a
form approved by the department, of each purc
business of the following:
(1)  copper or brass material;
(2) bronze material;
(3)  aluminum material in excess of ten pounds;
(4)  steel material in excess of one ton, and
(5)  written record shall be kept of each purchase of a stainless steel beer keg.
D. The records shall be in English and shall include:

(1) the place and date of the purchase;

(2) the name and address of each person from whom the regulated material
is purchased or obtained;

(3) the identifying number of the personal identification document of each
person from whom the regulated material is purchased or obtained;

(4) the year make, model and license plate number of the motor vehicle used
to transport the regulated material;

(5)  adescription made in accordance with the custom of the trade of the type
and quantity of regulated material purchased.

E. A secondhand metal dealer may take a digital photograph with a date and time
stamp of:

(1) the seller of the regulated material;

(2) the regulated material in the form in which it was purchased or obtained by
the secondhand metal dealer.



[12.2.18.9 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]
12.2.18.10 RETENTION OF RECORDS:

A. A secondhand metal dealer shall preserve each record required until the first
anniversary of the date the record was made.

B. A secondhand metal dealer shall produce to a peace officer upon request the
requested record of purchase.

[12.2.18.10 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

12.2.18.11 CIVIL PENALTY, SUSPENSION OR REVOCATION OF
REGISTRATION:

A. A person who violates any provision of the Sale of Recycled Metals Act may be
assessed a civil penalty by the superintendent not to exceed one thousand dollars
($1,000) per violation.

B. The superintendent may suspend or revoke the registration of a secondhand
metal dealer when the superintendent finds that the dealer has intentionally violated a
provision of the Sale of Recycled Metals Act.

C. Prior to the imposition of a civil penalty or the suspension or revocation of a
registration, the superintendent shall provide notice and an opportunity to be heard
pursuant to the pertinent notice and hearing provisions of the Uniform Licensing Act.

[12.2.18.11 NMAC - N, 8/12/12]

CHAPTER 3: BUSINESS ASSOCIATIONS

PART 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS

12.3.1.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

New Mexico Public Regulation Commission.

[12.3.1.1 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.1.2 SCOPE:

This rule_applies to a_II domest_ic and fqreign corporati_on_s, limited liability compa}nis_as,
cooperative associations, sanitary projects act associations, water users associations,

waterworks corporations and foreign business trusts, unless exempted by law.

[12.3.1.2 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]



12.3.1.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

NMSA 1978 Sections 8-8-4, 14-15-1 to 14-15-6, 14-16-1 to 14-16-19, 39-3-1.1, 53-2-11,
53-18-1, and 53-19-66.

[12.3.1.3 NMAC - N, 7-15-05; A/E, 3-25-10]

12.3.1.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.3.1.4 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.1.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

July 15, 2005, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.3.1.5 NMAC - N, 7-15-05; A/E, 3-25-10]

12.3.1.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this rule is to set forth general provisions governing corporate and
certain legislatively mandated entities in New Mexico.

[12.3.1.6 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.1.7 DEFINITIONS:

In addition to the definitions in NMSA 1978 Sections 3-29-2, 53-4-1, 53-7-19, 53-8-2,
53-11-2, 53-19-2, 53-20-2, as used in these rules:

A. biennial means every other year;
B. bureau means the corporations bureau of the public regulation commission;
C. commission means the public regulation commission;

D. director means the director of the administrative services division or his
designee;

E. division means the administrative services division of the public regulation
commission;

F. person means an individual, general partnership, limited liability company,
limited partnership, trust, estate, association, corporation or any other legal entity;



G. these rules means the rules adopted by the commission in Title 12, Chapter 3 of
the New Mexico Administrative Code.

[12.3.1.7 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.1.8 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW:

All corporations and other regulated entities shall comply with these rules and all
applicable state laws and rules.

[12.3.1.8 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.1.9 REQUIREMENTS FOR FILED DOCUMENTS:

In addition to the requirements stated here, particular rules may include other filing
requirements. All documents required by these rules to be filed with the commission
shall be filed with the bureau as follows.

A. Address for filing documents.

(1) Documents filed by mail shall be sent to the New Mexico Public
Regulation Commission Corporations Bureau, P.O. Box 1269, Santa Fe, New Mexico
87504-1269.

(2)  Documents filed in person or by delivery service shall be delivered to the
New Mexico Public Regulation Commission, Corporations Bureau Filing Desk, P.E.R.A.
Building, Room 346, 1120 Paseo de Peralta, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501.

(3 The c¢ o mnsiofficialwebsitie shall include a list of the types of
documents that may be filed electronically and shall, when feasible, include forms for
such documents.

B. Required format. All reports, articles, applications and other documents filed
with the commission shall be typewritten, clearly legible, on good quality white paper 8
1/2 x 11 inches in size, have a 1 inch margin on each side and at least a one-inch
margin at the top and bottom of each page, and be signed or executed in black or blue-
black ink. The bureau will accept for filing documents or certificates provided by foreign
jurisdictions on paper that is of another size.

C. Good standing required. A corporation or other legal entity may not file, and the
bureau will not accept, any document unless the corporation or entity is in good
standing. For purposes of this subsection, good standing means the corporation or
entity has timely filed all required reports and has paid all assessed fees, penalties, and
interest.



D. Electronic filing and requests by facsimile. Documents filed electronically will
be accepted as | ong amstad hseincludesnthatygeofidocaniest we b
being filed electronically, the document being filed electronically originated as a form on
the commi ssi ondase,ofafnidcitahle webs ng i s made thro
official website, at www.nmprc.state.nm.us. Any person may obtain a current telephone
number for facsimile filing, and may make requests, by calling the bureau at 505-827-
4508. The bureau will accept documents filed by facsimile or electronic means in the
following situations:

(1) when a certificate of good standing and compliance is received from the
appropriate official of another state or country, for the purpose required by NMSA 1978
Sections 53-8-69, 53-17-6, and 53-19-48, provided that the certificate is sent directly to
the bureau by the appropriate official;

(2) requests for certificates, certified copies, or other documents pursuant to
12.3.1.13 NMAC; and

3) requests for forms pursuant to 12.3.1.10 NMAC.

E. Date of filing. The commission shall consider any document filed pursuant to
this rule as filed on the date it was received and stamped by the bureau, unless the
document is returned pursuant to 12.3.1.11 NMAC except that:

(1) ifareport required by the Corporate Reports Act, NMSA 1978 Sections
53-5-1 through 53-5-9, is mailed to the commission, the commission shall add three
days to the postmark date for purposes of NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-7; and

(2) if the commission receives a document after regular business hours, the
commission shall stamp and consider it received on the next regular business day.

F. Filing fees. The commission shall not accept any document for filing unless it is
accompanied by the appropriate filing fee, paid as required by 12.3.1.14 NMAC.

G. Expedited filing fees.

(1) Expedited request form required. Each application for expedited filing
shall be accompanied by an expedited request form provided by the bureau.

(2) Nonrefundable separate payment required. All expedited filing fees are
nonrefundable. Each nonrefundable expedited filing fee shall be paid by separate
payment in addition to all other filing fees required by law.

3) Expedited filing fee schedule. The commission shall accept applications
for expedited filing according to the following fee schedule.


http://www.nmprc.state.nm.us/

(a) Same business day filing. For a $150.00 expedited filing fee, the
commission shall process an application for an expedited filing on the same business
day the application is received by the bureau if the application is received by the bureau
before 2:00 p.m. If an application for an expedited filing fee is received by the bureau
after 2:00 p.m., the commission shall process the application for expedited filing by the
end of the next business day for the same $150.00 expedited filing fee.

(b) Two business days filing. For a $100.00 expedited filing fee, the
commission shall process an application for an expedited filing within two business days
of the date on which the application for expedited filing is received by the bureau.

4) Refund for failure to timely process. If the bureau is unable to provide
the requested expedited filing service, the bureau shall return the expedited filing fee to
the applicant for expedited filing services.

H. Required addresses. All reports filed by corporations and other regulated
entities shall include the street address of the registered office and addresses for each
of the entityds dherepod shallrclearlyandidate thé titles ofall s .
officers and directors.

I. Electronic signature. A person submitting an electronic filing shall verify at the
time of submission the complete name and title of the person filling out the form, a
statement that such person has lawful authority to submit the report, a statement that
the report is true and correct under penalty of perjury, and the date the report is
submitted.

[12.3.1.9 NMAC - N, 7-15-05; A, 12-15-09; A/E, 3-25-10; A, 11-30-11]
12.3.1.10 COMMISSION-PRESCRIBED FORMS:

A. Use required. The commission has prescribed forms required by law to carry out
certain requirements of these rules. The most current version of a commission-
prescribed form must be used when a form exists for that purpose, unless these rules
state otherwise or the commission waives this requirement. When a document is filed
electronically, the form provided by the commission on its website must be used.

B. Use optional. The commission has available for use optional forms that may be
used to comply with the requirements of these rules and strongly prefers the use of
such forms for ease and consistency of data entry. However, except when electronic
filing is used, a corporation or other entity may instead file the information and
documents required by these rules in the order in which they are listed in the applicable
statute or these rules.

C. How to obtain. Interested parties may obtain copies of commission-prescribed
forms and other optional forms:



(1) on the commi ss woawninprc.siaebm.ust e at

(2) by electronic request to the bureau on
clicking on "corporations" and then "corporations inquiry;"

(3) by calling the bureau at 505-827-4508; or

4) by writing to the New Mexico public regulation commission, corporations
bureau, P.O. Box 1269, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1269

[12.3.1.10 NMAC - N, 7-15-05; A/E, 3-25-10]
12.3.1.11 INCOMPLETE FILINGS:
A. Criteria. A filing will be considered incomplete if:
(1) it is unsigned;
(2) it omits any information required by law or commission rule or order;

3) it is not submitted on a commission-prescribed form and a form is required
for that purpose;

(4) it is not accompanied by the appropriate filing fee, paid as required by
12.3.1.14 NMAC; or

(5) the commission determines the filing is otherwise insufficient.

B. Return of incomplete filings. The director shall return an incomplete filing with
a statement indicating the nature of the insufficiency to:

(1) the address on any cover letter included with the form or document;

(2) if no cover letter was included, then to the return address on the envelope
in which the document or form was received;

3) if no cover letter or envelope return address were included, then to the
address on any check delivered with the form or document for filing; and

(4) if none of the above were included, then to any other address in the file for
the entity involved.

[12.3.1.11 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.1.12 REVIEW OF DOCUMENTS:


http://www.nmprc.state.nm.us/

Any person who wishes to inspect public records or other documents relating to
corporations or other regulated legal entities shall file a written request to the bureau as
provided in 12.3.1.9 NMAC. The request shall meet the requirements of the Inspection
of Public Records Act, NMSA 1978 Section 14-2-8 and shall follow the procedure
required by that law.

[12.3.1.12 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.1.13 REQUESTS FOR COPIES AND RECORD SEARCHES:
A. Types of documents available. The bureau may provide the following:
Q) a certificate of good standing and compliance;

(2) amiscellaneous certificate as requested by a corporation or other
regulated legal entity;

(3)  certified copies of reports, instruments or other documents relating to a
corporation or other regulated legal entity;

(4) non-certified copies of reports, instruments or other documents relating to
a corporation or other regulated legal entity; or

(5) reports of record searches for categories of documents or other types of
information.

B. Filing of request. A person shall make a request in writing for copies of a
document or a record search report and shall list all documents or information
requested. A request may be mailed or delivered to the bureau, or faxed or filed
electronically pursuant to 12.3.1.9 NMAC. If a person cancels a request within twenty-
four (24) hours, the bureau shall not assess any fees.

C. Estimate of fees. When the bureau receives a request, the bureau shall issue
an informal estimate of fees.

(1) The estimate of fees for copies shall be as prescribed in NMSA 1978
Section 53-2-1.

(2) The fee for a record search report shall be a minimum of sixty dollars
($60.00) pursuant to the fee schedule approved by the department of finance and
administration.

D. Completion of request.



(2) If the person approves the estimate, the bureau shall prepare the copies
or record search report within ten (1) business days. The director may approve
expedited requests on a showing of good cause.

(2)  When the requested documents are ready, the bureau shall provide a
written or electronic statement of fees due and shall release the copies or record search
report electronically, by email or in hard copy, as requested, upon payment of all fees
due.

[12.3.1.13 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.1.14 PAYMENT OF FEES:

A person shall pay fees charged by the commission by paper instrument or money

order, or electronic check, from funds on deposit with a United States financial

institution, made payable to the New Mexico public regulation commission. The

commission may permit, subject to appropriate approvals from the New Mexico state

treasurer or the New Mexico board of finance as appropriate, payments by debit card or

credit card, plus a convenience fee as may be required by law. Any convenience fee to

be charged to the commission by the commissi on
passed through to the person submitting the filing.

[12.3.1.14 NMAC - N, 7-15-05; A/E, 3-25-10]
12.3.1.15 PROCEDURES FOR CHOOSING A NAME:

Corporations and other regulated legal entities shall comply with statutory name
requirements, and may use the procedures in this section for checking the availability of
a name, reserving a name, or applying for a corporate or company name.

A. Informal inquiry about name availability. A corporation or other regulated legal
entity may informally request, orally or in writing, that the bureau determine whether a
proposed name is available. The bureau shall search its records to determine whether
the proposed name is the same as, or confusingly similar to, the name of another
corporation or other regulated entity previously on file, reserved, or registered with the
commission.

B. Formal application for a name. The bureau shall not make a final determination
of whether a proposed name is available until the corporation or other entity files with
the bureau an application to reserve a specified nhame, articles of incorporation, an
application for a certificate of authority, or other organizational documents.

C. Reserving a name. A corporation or other legal entity may file an application
with the bureau to reserve a proposed name. If the bureau determines the name is
available, it shall reserve the name for the corporation or other legal entity for one



hundred twenty (120) days. An applicant may not extend the time period of a name
reservation.

D. Registering a name. A foreign profit corporation may register its name by
complying with NMSA 1978 Section 53-11-9, and may renew its name registration by
meeting the requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-11-10.

E. Administrative revocation and reserving a name. If the commission
administratively revokes a corporation or other legal entity, it shall reserve its name for
the period allowed by law for reinstatement. If a corporation or other legal entity that has
been administratively revoked applies for reinstatement in compliance with applicable
requirements, the commission shall grant rei
exclusive right to its name.

F. Waiver of right to a name. A corporation or other legal entity may waive its right
to its name by filing a statement with the commission that the entity waives its exclusive
right to its name. Once the commission receives such a waiver, it may release the name
of the corporation or other legal entity for use by another. If the original corporation or
other legal entity then wants to reinstate, it must do so under another name.

[12.3.1.15 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.1.16 RULES OF PROCEDURE:

In all matters before the commission involving corporations or other legislatively
mandated entities, the commission shall follow the commission rules of procedure. A
specific provision in these rules shall control over a conflicting general provision in the
commission rules of procedure.

[12.3.1.16 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.1.17  APPEALS:

A person, corporation or other legal entity aggrieved by any decision of the bureau,
director, or commission made pursuant to these rules may appeal the decision to district
court in accordance with NMSA 1978 Section 39-3-1.1 except that appeals concerning
the Corporate Reports Act shall be made pursuant to NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-7.
[12.3.1.17 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

PART 2: PROFIT CORPORATIONS

12.3.2.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

New Mexico Public Regulation Commission.



[12.3.2.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.1 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.2 SCOPE:

This rule applies to all domestic and foreign profit corporations, unless exempted by
law.

[12.3.2.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.2 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:
NMSA 1978 Sections 8-8-4 and 53-18-1.
[12.3.2.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.3 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.3.2.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.4 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.25 EFFECTIVE DATE:

December 15, 2009, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.3.2.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.5 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this rule is to facilitate the formation and continuation of profit
corporations as provided by law.

[12.3.2.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.6 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.7 DEFINITIONS:

See 12.3.1.7 NMAC.

[12.3.2.7 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.7 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.8 DOMESTIC PROFIT CORPORATIONS:

A domestic profit corporation shall comply with the requirements of the Business
Corporations Act, NMSA 1978, Chapter 53, Articles 11 through 18.



A. Filing requirements. A domestic profit corporation shall file all documents
required by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions, and shall
pay all filing fees required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-2-1.

B. Name. A domestic profit corporation shall comply with the name requirements in
NMSA 1978 Section 53-11-7 and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15 NMAC for
inquiring about, reserving, formally applying for, or reinstating a name. A corporation in
existence on June 17, 1983 is deemed to be in compliance with the requirements of
NMSA 1978 Section 53-11-7 for a separate word or abbreviation describing the type of
corporation named.

C. Filing year. A domestic profit corporation shall file biennial reports and
supplemental reports with the bureau:

(1) for even-numbered taxable year ends if the last digit of its New Mexico
certificate of incorporation number is an even number;

(2)  for odd-numbered taxable year ends if the last digit of its New Mexico
certificate of incorporation number is an odd number;

(3) for the calendar year determined by the bureau if it was assigned a
duplicate number before 1980; the bureau shall notify the corporation of the appropriate
filing years.

D. Taxable year. For a new domestic corporation for which no taxable year period
hasbeen determined, the bureau will presume t h;
December 31. If a new domestic profit corporation selects a different end date for its
taxable year, it shall so inform the commission.

E. Required documents.

(1)  Atrticles of incorporation. A domestic profit corporation shall adopt and file
with the commission articles of incorporation that comply with NMSA 1978 Sections 53-
12-2 and 53-12-3. The corporation may amend or restate the articles as provided in
NMSA 1978 Sections 53-13-1 through 53-13-12.

(2)  Statement designating registered agent and office. A domestic profit
corporation shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a
registered agent and office that meet the requirements in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-11-
11, 53-11-12, and 53-11-13.

F. Merger and consolidation. Two or more domestic corporations may merge or
consolidate in compliance with the applicable requirements of NMSA 1978 Sections 53-
14-1 through 53-14-7 and shall file articles of merger, consolidation, or exchange as
required by NMSA 1978 Sections 53-14-4 and 53-14-5. Shareholders may convert a



domestic profit corporation into a limited liability company by complying with NMSA
1978 Section 53-19-60.

G. Dormant status. A domestic profit corporation that meets the requirements of
NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-9 for dormant status, may, in lieu of filing a required corporate
report, file a statement that it is no longer actively engaged in business in New Mexico.
A dormant corporation may extend its dormant status, or may be fully revived by
complying with NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-9.

H. Dissolution. A domestic profit corporation seeking voluntary dissolution shall
comply with the requirements for dissolution provided in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-16-1
through 53-16-24, and file a statement of intent to dissolve as required by NMSA 1978
Section 53-16-4, and articles of dissolution that comply with NMSA 1978 Sections 53-
16-11 and 53-16-12. A domestic profit corporation may revoke voluntary dissolution
proceedings as provided in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-16-7 and 53-16-8 by filing a
statement of revocation required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-16-9.

I. Administrative revocation and reinstatement. The commission may
administratively revoke a domestic profit corporation by issuing a certificate of
revocation under the circumstances and following the process provided in NMSA 1978
Section 53-11-12. A corporation may apply to the commission for reinstatement
following the process and within the time period provided in NMSA 1978 Section 53-11-
12.

[12.3.2.8 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.8 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.9 FOREIGN PROFIT CORPORATIONS:

A foreign profit corporation shall comply with the applicable requirements of the
Business Corporations Act, NMSA 1978, Chapter 53, Articles 11 through 18.

A. Filing requirements. A foreign profit corporation shall file all documents required
by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions, and shall pay all
filing fees required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-2-1.

B. Name. A foreign profit corporation shall comply with the name requirements in
NMSA 1978 Section 53-17-3 and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15 NMAC for
inquiring about, reserving, registering, formally applying for, or reinstating a name. A
corporation in existence on June 17, 1983 is deemed to be in compliance with the
requirement of NMSA 1978 Section 53-11-7 for a separate word or abbreviation
describing the type of corporation named.

C. Filing year. A foreign profit corporation shall file biennial corporate reports and
supplemental reports with the bureau:



(1) for even-numbered taxable year ends if the last digit of its New Mexico
certificate of authority number is an even number;

(2)  for odd-numbered taxable year ends if the last digit of its New Mexico
certificate of authority number is an odd number;

(3) for the calendar year determined by the bureau if it was assigned a
duplicate number before 1980; the bureau shall notify the corporation of the appropriate
filing years.

D. Taxable year. For a new foreign profit corporation for which no taxable year
period has been determined, the bureau wil/
ends December 31. If a new foreign profit corporation selects a different end date for its
taxable year, it shall so inform the commission.

E. Required documents.

(1) Certificate of authority. Before transacting business in New Mexico, a
foreign profit corporation shall obtain a certificate of authority from the commission
pursuant to NMSA 1978 Section 53-17-1 by filing an application containing the
information and supporting documents required in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-17-5
through 53-17-7. A foreign profit corporation shall amend its certificate of authority as
provided in NMSA 1978 Section 53-17-14.

(2) Statement designating registered agent and office. A foreign profit
corporation shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a
registered office and agent that meet the requirements of NMSA 1978 Sections 53-17-9
and 53-17-10.

F. Merger and conversion. A foreign profit corporation that is a party to a statutory
conversion or merger shall comply with, and file articles of merger or conversion as
required by, NMSA 1978 Section 53-17-13.

G. Dormant status. A foreign profit corporation that meets the requirements of
NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-9 for dormant status may, in lieu of filing a required corporate
report, file a statement that it is no longer actively engaged in business in New Mexico.
A dormant corporation may extend its dormant status, or may be fully revived by
complying with NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-9.

H. Withdrawal. A foreign profit corporation seeking to withdraw from doing business
in New Mexico may procure a certificate of withdrawal from the commission by filing an
application for withdrawal that complies with the requirements of NMSA 1978 Section
53-17-15 and 53-17-16.

I. Administrative revocation and reinstatement. The commission may revoke a
foreign profit cor por aorithemasas peoeided in IMSA at e of



1978 Section 53-17-17 by issuing a certificate of revocation pursuant to NMSA 1978
Section 53-17-18. A foreign profit corporation may apply to the commission for
reinstatement following the process and within the time period provided in NMSA 1978
Section 53-17-18.
[12.3.2.9 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.11 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.10 FIRST REPORT:
A domestic or foreign profit corporation shall file an initial report on the schedule
prescribed by and as required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-2 through 53-5-9 on the
commission-prescribed form described in this rule and available as provided in 12.3.1
NMAC.
[12.3.2.10 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.9 & 12.3.2.12 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.11 BIENNIAL REPORT AND SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT:
A domestic or foreign profit corporation shall file biennial and supplemental reports as
required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-2 through 53-5-9 on the commission-prescribed
form described in this rule and available as provided in 12.3.1 NMAC.
[12.3.2.11 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.10 & 12.3.2.13 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.2.12 REQUIRED FORMS:
A domestic or foreign profit corporation shall file initial, biennial and supplemental
reports as required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-5-2 through 53-5-9 on the commission-
prescribed form available as provided in 12.3.1 NMAC.
A. First reports, biennial reports and supplemental reports shall contain:

(1) exact corporate name and U.S. mailing address;

(2) principal place of business in New Mexico;

3) principal office outside of New Mexico for a foreign corporation;

(4) NMPRC certificate of incorporation/authority number;

(5)  for foreign corporations: registered place of business in New Mexico if
different from registered office;

(6)  state or country of incorporation;



(7 registered agent and office located within New Mexico for service or
process;

(8) names and addresses of all directors and officers;
(9) date and signature and title of an authorized officer or agent; and
(10) filing fees.
B. Filing fees, report due date, late filing penalty.
(1) Filing fees. A $25.00 filing fee is due and payable to the commission at
the time of filing of each domestic or foreign first report, biennial report and
supplemental report.

(2) Report due dates.

(a) First report. A domestic or foreign first report shall be filed within thirty
days of the date of incorporation or qualification in New Mexico.

(b) Biennial report. A domestic or foreign biennial report shall be filed on or
before the fifteenth day of the third month f
year. Biennial means every other year, not twice a year for filing purposes required
report based on the last digit of the number referred to in Paragraph (4) of Subsection A
of 12.3.2.12 NMAC, i.e., even number will file its biennial report for its even numbered
taxable year-end.

(c) Supplemental report. A domestic of foreign supplemental report shall be
filed within thirty days if, after the filing of the biennial report, a change is made in:

() the mailing address, street address, rural route number and box
number or the geographical location of its registered office in this state and the name of
the agent upon whom process against the corporation may be served;

(i)  the name or address or any of the directors of officers of the
corporation or the date when the term of office of each expires; or

(i) its principal place of business within or without the state.

3) Late filing penalty. A $200.00 late filing penalty is required if a report is
filed untimely.

C. Instructions.

(1)  Enter exact corporate name and complete mailing address must be given
to meet postal delivery requirements..



(2) Enter principal place of business in New Mexico. Enter "NONE," if
applicable.

3) Enter principal office outside of New Mexico, if different from the
registered office in state or country of incorporation. Enter "NONE," if applicable.

4) Enter original NMPRC certificate of incorporation/authority number issued
by the corporations bureau or as assigned by computer pre-printed information.

(5) Enter foreign corporationbs registered
incorporation which may be different from the address referred to in Paragraph (3) of
Subsection A of 12.3.2.12 NMAC on principal office outside of New Mexico.

(6) Enter corporationds state or-priotedomtry of
as corrected.

(7) Enter registered agent and address located in New Mexico. Each
corporation shall have and continuously maintain in New Mexico:

(a) a registered office which may be, but need not be, the same as its place of
business;

(b) a registered agent, which agent may be either an individual resident in
New Mexico whose business office is identical with the registered office, or a domestic
corporation, or a foreign corporation authorized to transact business in New Mexico
having a business office identical with the registered office; and

(c)anagent 6s address must be acceptable for
post office box is unacceptable.

(8)  Officers and directors are as set forth in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-18,
53-8-23, 53-8-83, 53-2-10, 53-11-35, and 53-11-48. Enter all officers and directors with
respective addresses. Each New Mexico corporation shall have officers, with titles and
duties as shall be stated in the bylaws or in a resolution of the board of directors which
is not inconsistent with the bylaws, and as many officers as may be necessary to enable
the corporation to sign instruments required under the Business Corporation Act.

(a) The number of directors of a New Mexico corporation shall consist of one
or more members.

(b) Each director shall hold office for the term for which he/she is elected and
until his or her successor has been elected and qualified.

(9) NMSA 1978 section 53-2-10 private remedy.



(a) Any person who suffers any loss of money or propery as a result of being
designated a director of a corporation without giving his consent may bring an action
against the designating corporation to recover actual damages or one thousand dollars
($1,000), whichever is greater.

(b) The court may award attorney s 6 f ees and costs to the
result of the director designation if he prevails. The court may award attor
the corporation charged if the court finds that the action brought against the corporation
was groundless.

(c) The relief provided in this section is in addition to remedies otherwise
available against the same conduct under the common law or other statutes of this
State.

(10) NMSA 1978 section 53-5-5 corporate reports, affirmation, penalty.

(a) All reports required to be filed with the commission pursuant to the
Corporate Reports Act shall contain the following affirmation: "Under penalties of
perjury, | declare and affirm that | have examined this report, including the
accompanying schedules and statement, and that all statements contained therein are
true and correct.”

(b) Any person who makes and subscribes any report required under the
Corporate Reports Act that contains a false statement, which statement is known to be
false by such person, is guilty of perjury and upon conviction shall be punished as
provided for in the perjury statutes of this state.

(c) The report shall be signed and sworn to by the chairman of the board,
president, vice president, secretary, principal accounting officer or authorized agent of
the corporation.

(11) Application for period extension. Any corporation may, upon application
to the commission by the due date upon which a report is required to be filed, petition
the commission for an extension of time. The commisison may, for good cause, extend
for no more than a total of twelve months the date on which the payment of any fee is
required. A copy of a commission extension shall be attached to the required report.

(12) Mandatory IRS extension. The commission shall, when an extension of
time has been granted a corporation under the United States Internal Revenue Code for
the time in which to file a report, grant the corporation the same extension of time
provided that a copy of the approved (signed) federal extension of time (IRS 7004 or
7005)isatt ached to the ¢Hoveverptheddreawwilléesknowleldge r t .
and approve the extension upon receiving a copy of a valid IRS extension prior to the
filing of a corporate report.

[12.3.2.12 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.2.10 & 12.3.2.13 NMAC, 12-15-09]



PART 3: NONPROFIT CORPORATIONS
12.3.3.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

New Mexico Public Regulation Commission.
[12.3.3.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.1 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.3.2 SCOPE:

This rule applies to all domestic and foreign nonprofit corporations, unless exempted by
law.

[12.3.3.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.2 NMAC, 12-15-09]

12.3.3.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

NMSA 1978 Sections 8-8-4, 3-29-20, 53-8-7, 53-8-7.1, 53-8-8, 53-8-9, 53-8-31, 53-8-
32, 53-8-35 through 53-8-45, 53-8-47 through 53-8-49, 53-8-50 through 53-8-54, 53-8-
60, 53-8-64, 53-8-66 through 53-8-69, 53-8-71, 53-8-72, 53-8-75 through 53-8-80, 53-8-
82, 53-8-83, 53-8-85, 53-8-88.1 and 53-19-60.

[12.3.3.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.3 NMAC, 12-15-09]

12.3.34 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.3.3.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.4 NMAC, 12-15-09]

12.3.35 EFFECTIVE DATE:

December 15, 2009, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.3.3.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.5 NMAC, 12-15-09]

12.3.3.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this rule is to facilitate the formation and continuation of nonprofit
corporations as provided by law.

[12.3.3.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.6 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.3.7 DEFINITIONS:

See 12.3.1.7 NMAC.



[12.3.3.7 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.7 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.3.8 DOMESTIC NONPROFIT CORPORATIONS:

A domestic nonprofit corporation shall comply with the applicable requirements of the
Nonprofit Corporation Act, NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-1 through 53-8-99.

A. Filing requirements. A domestic nonprofit corporation shall file all documents
required by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions, and shall
pay all filing fees required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-85.

B. Name. A domestic nonprofit corporation shall comply with name requirements of
NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-7 and 53-8-7.1, and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15
NMAC for inquiring about, reserving, formally applying for, or reinstating a name.

C. Taxable year determination.

(1) When a domestic nonprofit corporation has a taxable year which is less
than twelve (12) months, the corporation shall file satisfactory proof with, and notify the
bureau, of its 12-month taxable year reporting period for purposes of corporate reports.
Satisfactory proof shall include appropriately authenticated copies of internal revenue
service approval of the short taxwlwrkere year an

(2)  For a new domestic nonprofit corporation for which no taxable year period
has been determined, the bureau will presume
December 31 and that the corporation will report on a calendar-year basis. When a new
nonprofit corporation determines the end of its first taxable year, the corporation will
notify the bureau within thirty (30) days.

3) For a domestic nonprofit corporation, for which no taxable year has been
determined because it is exempt from reporting to the internal revenue service or
ot herwise, the bureau will presume that the ¢
purposes ends on December 31 and the corporation will report on a calendar-year
basis.

D. Documents required. All corporate reports shall include the street address of
the business office of the registered agent a
directors and officers.

(1)  Articles of incorporation. A domestic nonprofit corporation shall adopt
and file with the commission articles of incorporation that comply with NMSA 1978
Sections 53-8-31 and 53-8-32. The corporation may amend or restate its articles as
provided in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-35 through 53-8-39.

(2) Statement designating registered agent and office. A domestic
nonprofit corporation shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a



registered office and agent that meet the requirements of NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-8
and 53-8-9.

E. Merger and consolidation.

(2) Merger of domestics. Two or more domestic nonprofit corporations may
merge or consolidate in compliance with the applicable requirements of NMSA 1978
Sections 53-8-40 through 53-8-45 and shall file articles of merger or articles of
consolidation as required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-43.

(2) Merger or consolidation of foreign and domestic. One or more foreign
nonprofit corporations and one or more domestic nonprofit corporations may merge or
consolidate in compliance with the applicable requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-
8-45 and shall file articles of merger or articles of consolidation as required by NMSA
1978 Section 53-8-43.

3) Reorganization as sanitary projects act association. A nonprofit
corporation may reorganize under the Sanitary Projects Act by complying with NMSA
1978 Section 3-29-20.

F. Dormant status. A domestic nonprofit corporation that meets the requirements
of NMSA 1978 Section 5-8-88.1 for dormant status may, in lieu of filing a required
corporate report, file a statement that it is no longer actively engaged in business in
New Mexico. A dormant corporation may extend its dormant status, or may be fully
revived by complying with NMSA 1978 Section 5-8-88.1.

G. Dissolution. A domestic nonprofit corporation shall comply with the
requirements for dissolution provided in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-47 through 53-8-49
and file articles of dissolution that comply with NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-51 and 53-8-
52. A domestic nonprofit corporation may cancel voluntary dissolution proceedings as
provided in NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-50.

H. Administrative revocation and reinstatement. The commission may revoke a
domestic nonprofit corporationés certificate
NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-53, by issuing a certificate of revocation pursuant to NMSA
1978 Section 53-8-54. A nonprofit corporation may apply for reinstatement following the
process and within the time period provided in NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-54.

[12.3.3.8 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.8 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.3.9 FOREIGN NONPROFIT CORPORATIONS:

A foreign nonprofit corporation shall comply with the applicable requirements of the
Nonprofit Corporation Act, NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-1 through 53-8-99.



A. Filing requirements. A foreign nonprofit corporation shall file all documents
required by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions, and shall
pay all filing fees required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-85.

B. Name. A foreign nonprofit corporation shall comply with the name requirements
in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-66 and 53-8-67 and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15
NMAC for inquiring about, reserving, formally applying for, or reinstating a name.

C. Required documents.

(2) Certificate of authority. A foreign nonprofit corporation shall obtain a
certificate of authority from the commission pursuant to NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-64
before conducting affairs in New Mexico, by filing an application containing the
information and supporting documents required in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-68 and
53-8-69. A foreign nonprofit corporation may obtain an amended certificate of authority
by meeting the requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-76.

(2) Statement designating registered agent and office. A foreign nonprofit
corporation shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a
registered office and agent that meet the requirements of NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-71
and 53-8-72.

D. Merger. A foreign nonprofit corporation may merge in compliance with NMSA
1978 Section 53-8-75 and shall file articles of merger as required by NMSA 1978
Section 53-8-75.

E. Dormant status. A foreign nonprofit corporation that meets the requirements of
NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-88.1 for dormant status may, in lieu of filing a required
corporate report, file a statement that it is no longer actively engaged in business in
New Mexico. A dormant corporation may extend its dormant status, or may be fully
revived by complying with NMSA 1978 Section 53-8-88.1.

F. Withdrawal. A foreign nonprofit corporation seeking to withdraw from doing
business in New Mexico may procure a certificate of withdrawal from the commission by
filing an application for withdrawal that complies with the requirements of NMSA 1978
Sections 53-8-77 and 53-8-78.

G. Administrative revocation and reinstatement. The commission may revoke a
foreign nonpr of ifitate of @authorayrfoa the remsodsprovidedrin NMSA
1978 Section 53-8-79, by issuing a certificate of revocation pursuant to NMSA 1978
Section 53-8-80.

[12.3.3.9 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.11 NMAC, 12-15-09]

12.3.3.10 FIRST REPORT:



A domestic or foreign nonprofit corporation shall file an initial report complying with the
schedule and requirements of NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-82 and 53-8-83 on the
commission-prescribed form described in this rule and available as provided in 12.3.1
NMAC.
[12.3.3.10 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.9 &12.3.3.12 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.3.11  ANNUAL REPORT AND SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT:
A domestic or foreign nonprofit corporation shall file annual and supplemental reports as
required by NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-82 and 53-8-83 on the commission-prescribed
form described in this rule and available as provided in 12.3.1 NMAC.
[12.3.3.11 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.10 & 12.3.3.13 NMAC, 12-15-09]
12.3.3.12 REQUIRED FORMS:
A domestic or foreign nonprofit corporation shall file initial, annual and supplemental
reports as required by NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-82 and 53-8-83 on the commission-
prescribed form available as provided in 12.3.1 NMAC.
A. First reports, annual reports and supplemental reports shall contain:

(1) exact corporate name and U.S. mailing address;

(2) principal place of business in New Mexico;

3) principal office outside of New Mexico for a foreign corporation;

(4) NMPRC certificate of incorporation/authority number;

(5)  for foreign corporations: registered place of business in New Mexico if
different from registered office;

(6)  state or country of incorporation;

(7) registered agent and office located within New Mexico for service or
process;

(8) names and addresses of all directors and officers;
(9) date and signature and title of an authorized officer or agent; and
(20) filing fees.

B. Filing fees, report due dates, late filing penalty.



(2) Filing fees. A $10.00 filing fee is due and payable to the commission at
the time of filing of each domestic or foreign first report, annual report and supplemental
report.

(2) Report due dates.

(a) First report. A domestic or foreign first report shall be filed within thirty
days of the date of incorporation or qualification in New Mexico.

(b) Annual report. A domestic or foreign annual report shall be filed on or
before the fifteenth day of the fifth month f
year.

(c) Supplemental report. A domestic of foreign supplemental report shall be
filed within thirty days if, after the filing of the annual report, a change is made in:

() the mailing address, street address, rural route number and box
number or the geographical location of its registered office in this state and the name of
the agent upon whom process against the corporation may be served;

(i)  the name or address or any of the directors or officers of the
corporation or the date when the term of office of each expires; or

(i) its principal place of business within or without the state.

3) Late filing penalty. A $10.00 late filing penalty is required if a report is
filed untimely.

C. Instructions.

(1) Enter exact corporate name and complete mailing address must be given
to meet postal delivery requirements.

(2) Enter principal place of business in New Mexico. Enter "NONE," if
applicable.

3) Enter principal office outside of New Mexico, if different from the
registered office in state or country of incorporation. Enter "NONE," if applicable.

(4) Enter original NMPRC certificate of incorporation/authority number issued
by the corporations department or as assigned by computer pre-printed information.

(5) Enter foreign corporationbs registered
incorporation which may be different from item no. 3 on principal office outside of New
Mexico.



(6) Enter corporationds state or-priotedontry of
as corrected.

(7 Enter registered agent and address located in New Mexico. Each
corporation shall have and continuously maintain in New Mexico:

(a) a registered office which may be, but need not be, the same as its place of
business;

(b) a registered agent, which agent may be either an individual resident in
New Mexico whose business office is identical with the registered office, or a domestic
corporation, or a foreign corporation authorized to transact business in New Mexico
having a business office identical with the registered office; and

(c)an agentdés address must be accepimabl e f
post office box is unacceptable.

(8)  Officers and directors are as set forth in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-8-18,
53-8-23, 53-8-83 and 53-2-10. Enter all officers and directors with respective addresses.
Each New Mexico corporation shall have officers, with title and duties as shall be stated
in the bylaws or in a resolution of the board of directors which is not inconsistent with
the bylaws, and as many officers as may be necessary to enable the corporation to sign
instruments required under the Nonprofit Corporation Act.

(a) One of the officers shall have the duty to record the proceedings of the
meetings of the members and directors in a book to be kept for that purpose.

(b) In the absence of any provision, all officers shall be elected or appointed
annually by the board of the directors. If the bylaws so provide, any two or more offices
may be held by the same person.

(c) Officers and directors shall be identified accordingly, i.e., identified if an
officer is also a director to meet statutory requirements. Two authorized officers are
required to sign documents for filing purposes under the Nonprofit Corporations Act.

(d) The number of directors of a New Mexico corporation shall be not less
than three. Each director shall hold office for the terms for which he/she is elected and
appointed until his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified.

(9) NMSA 1978 section 53-2-10 private remedy.

(a) Any person who suffers any loss of money or property as a result of being
designated a director of a corporation without giving his consent may bring an action
against the designating corporation to recover actual damages or one thousand dollars
($1,000), whichever is greater.



(o) The court may award attorneyso6é6 fees and
result of the director designation if he prevails. The court may award attor
the corporation charged if the court finds that the action brought against the corporation
was groundless.

(c) The relief provided in this section is in addition to remedies otherwise
available against the same conduct under the common law or other statutes of this
State.

(10) NMSA 1978 section 53-8-9 corporate reports, affirmation, penalty.

(a) All reports required to be filed with the commission pursuant to the
Nonprofit Corporations Act shall contain the following affirmation: "Under penalties of
perjury, | declare and affirm that | have examined this report, including the
accompanying schedules and statement, and that all statements contained therein are
true and correct.”

(b) Any person who makes and subscribes any report required under the
Nonprofit Corporations Act that contains a false statement, which statement is known to
be false by such person, is guilty of perjury and upon conviction shall be punished as
provided for in the perjury statutes of this state.

(c) The report shall be signed and sworn to by any two of its directors or
officers. If the corporation is in the hands of a receiver or trustee, the report shall be
executed on behalf of the corporation by the receiver or trustee. A copy of the report
shall be maintained at the corporationds prin
report and shall be made available to the general public for inspection during regular
business hours.

(11) Application for period extension. Any corporation may, upon application
to the commission by the due date upon which a report is required to be filed, petition
the commission for an extension of time. The commission may, for good cause, extend
for no more than a total of twelve months the date on which the payment of any fee is
required. A copy of a commission extension shall be attached to the required report.

(12) Mandatory IRS extension. The commission shall, when an extension of
time has been granted a nonprofit corporation under the United States Internal Revenue
Code for the time in which to file a report, grant the corporation the same extension of
time provided that a copy of the approved (signed) federal extension of time (IRS 2758)
i s attached torepolhe corporationos
[12.3.3.12 NMAC - Rp, 12.3.3.10, 12.3.3.12 & 12.3.3.13 NMAC, 12-15-09]

PART 4. OTHER BUSINESS ENTITIES

12.34.1 ISSUING AGENCY:



New Mexico Public Regulation Commission.
[12.3.4.1 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.4.2 SCOPE:

This rule applies to certain legislatively mandated legal entities, unless exempted by
law.

[12.3.4.2 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.4.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

NMSA 1978 Sections 3-29-16, 3-29-17, 3-29-17.1, 3-29-17.2, 3-29-17.4, 3-29-17.5, 3-
29-19, 3-29-20, 8-8-4, 53-2-1, 53-4-5, 53-4-6, 53-4-6.1, 53-4-6.2, 53-4-7, 53-4-34
through 53-4-37, 53-4-40, 53-4-41, 53-7-35, 53-7-36, 53-7-39, 53-7-42, 53-19-66, 53-
20-3 through 53-20-15, 53-20-17, 62-2-1 through 62-2-3, 62-2-13, and 75-5-2 through
and 75-5-5.

[12.3.4.3 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.4.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.3.4.4 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.4.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

July 15, 2005.

[12.3.4.5 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.4.6 OBJECTIVE:

The purpose of this rule is to facilitate the formation and continuation of certain
legislatively mandated entities as provided by law.

[12.3.4.6 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.4.7 DEFINITIONS:
See 12.3.1.7 NMAC.

[12.3.4.7 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]



12.3.4.8 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS:

A business development corporation shall comply with the requirements of the Business
Development Corporation Act, NMSA 1978 Sections 53-7-18 through 53-7-46.

A. Filing requirements. A business development corporation shall file all
documents required by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General
Provisions, and pay all filing fees required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-2-1.

B. Documents required.

(1) Articles of incorporation. Stockholders and members shall file articles of
incorporation that meet the requirements for incorporation in NMSA 1978 Section 53-7-
23. The corporation may amend the articles by complying with NMSA 1978 Sections 53-
7-35 and 53-7-36.

(2) Reports. A business development corporation shall file annual reports on
its general financial condition with the director of the financial institutions division of the
regulation and licensing department and the commission, pursuant to NMSA 1978
Section 53-7-39.

C. Dissolution. Upon following dissolution requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-
7-42, the corporation may petition the director of the financial institutions division of the
regulation and licensing department for its dissolution. If the director of the financial
institutions division of the regulation and licensing department approves the petition, the
corporation may file with the commission documentation approving the petition.

[12.3.4.8 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.4.9 COOPERATIVE ASSOCIATIONS:

A cooperative association shall comply with the requirements of the Cooperative
Associations Act, NMSA 1978 Sections 53-4-1 through 53-4-45. Once properly formed,
a cooperative association shall be deemed a nonprofit corporation as provided in NMSA
1978 Section 53-4-1.

A. Filing requirements. A cooperative association shall file all documents required
by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions, and pay all filing
fees required.

B. Name. A cooperative association shall comply with the name requirements in
NMSA 1978 Section 53-4-37, and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15 NMAC for
inquiring about, reserving, formally applying for, or reinstating a name.

C. Documents required.



(1) Articles of incorporation. A cooperative association formed in
compliance with the Cooperative Associations Act, NMSA 1978 Sections 53-4-1 through
53-4-45, shall file articles of incorporation that meet the requirements of NMSA 1978
Section 53-4-5 with the fee required in NMSA 1978 Section 53-4-6. An association may
file amendments to its articles of incorporation with the filing fee as provided in NMSA
1978 Section 53-4-7.

(2) Certificate of authority. A foreign cooperative association that meets the
requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-4-41 may request that the commission issue a
certificate of authority to do business in New Mexico.

3) Statement designating registered agent and office. A cooperative
association shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a
registered agent and office that meet the requirements in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-4-6.1
and 53-4-6.2, and shall pay the fee provided in NMSA 1978 Section 53-2-1 for filing the
required notice.

(4) Reports. A cooperative association shall file annual reports and
supplemental reports and pay the filing fee as required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-4-34,
and is subject to the forfeiture and penalty requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-4-35
for failure to report.

D. Merger and conversion.

(1) Converting to cooperative association. Any group incorporated under
the laws of New Mexico may convert to a cooperative association by complying with,
and filing amended articles as required by, NMSA 1978 Section 53-4-40.

(2) Reorganizing under sanitary projects act. A cooperative association
may reorganize as a sanitary projects act association by complying with, and filing a
certificate of association as required by, NMSA 1978 Section 3-29-20.

E. Dissolution. A cooperative association may voluntarily dissolve by complying
with NMSA 1978 Section 53-4-36, and may file with the commission a statement
indicating compliance.

F. Administrative revocation and forfeiture. The commission may
administratively revoke a cooperative association by sending a notice of forfeiture under
the circumstances provided in, and following the requirements of, NMSA 1978 Section
53-4-35. If the commission administratively revokes a cooperative association, the
association may apply for reinstatement by complying with the applicable requirements
in NMSA 1978 Section 53-4-35.

[12.3.4.9 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.4.10 FOREIGN BUSINESS TRUSTS:



A foreign business trust shall comply with the requirements of the Foreign Business
Trust Registration Act, NMSA 1978 Sections 53-20-1 through 53-20-17.

A. Filing requirements. A foreign business trust shall file all documents required by
this section in compliance with the 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions, and shall pay
filing fees required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-20-17.

B. Name. A foreign business trust shall meet the requirements for names in NMSA
1978 Sections 53-20-4 and 53-20-5, and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15 NMAC
for inquiring about, reserving, formally applying for, or reinstating a name.

C. Documents required.

(1) Certificate of authority. In order to transact business in New Mexico, a
foreign business trust must obtain a certificate of authority by complying with the
application requirements and process in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-20-6 and 53-20-7. A
foreign business trust may amend or change its certificate of authority by filing the
documents required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-20-8.

(2) Statement designating registered agent and office. A foreign business
trust shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a registered
office and agent that meet the requirements in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-20-9, 53-20-10,
and 53-20-11.

D. Withdrawal. A foreign business trust authorized to do business in New Mexico
may withdraw by obtaining a certificate of withdrawal from the commission following the
process required by NMSA 1978 Sections 53-20-12 and 53-20-13.

E. Administrative revocation. The commission may revoke the certificate of
authority for a foreign business trust for the reasons listed and following the process
provided in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-20-14 and 53-20-15.

[12.3.4.10 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.4.11 DOMESTIC LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANIES:

A domestic limited liability company shall comply with the requirements of the Limited
Liability Company Act, NMSA 1978 Sections 53-19-1 through 53-19-74.

A. Filing requirements. A domestic limited liability company shall file all documents
required by this section in compliance with NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-9 and 12.3.1
NMAC, General Provisions, and pay applicable fees required in NMSA 1978 Section
53-19-63.

B. Name. A domestic limited liability company shall meet the requirements for
names in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-19-3 and 53-19-4, and may use the procedures in



12.3.1.15 NMAC for inquiring about, reserving, formally applying for, or reinstating a
name.

C. Documents required. A domestic limited liability company shall execute the
documents required by this section in compliance with the general provisions in NMSA
1978 53-19-12.

(1) Articles of organization. A person may form a limited liability company
by complying with the requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-7 and filing articles of
organization required by NMSA 1978 Sections 53-19-8, 53-19-9, and 53-19-10. A
domestic limited liability company may amend or restate its articles of organization by
complying with NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-11.

(2) Statement designating registered agent and office. A domestic limited
liability company shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a
registered agent and office that meet the requirements in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-19-5.

D. Conversion and merger.

(1) Converting to corporation, partnership, or limited partnership.
Members or managers may convert a domestic limited liability company to a
corporation, partnership or limited partnership by meeting the requirements in, and filing
a statement, articles of incorporation or a certificate as required by, NMSA 1978 Section
53-19-60.1.

(2)  Converting to limited liability company. Shareholders or partners may
convert a corporation, partnership, or limited partnership into a domestic limited liability
company by complying with, and filing articles of organization as required by, NMSA
1978 Section 53-19-60.

(3) Merging with other entities. A domestic limited liability company may
merge with or into one or more domestic limited liability companies, foreign limited
liability companies, corporations, foreign corporations, partnerships, foreign
partnerships, limited partnerships, foreign limited partnerships or other domestic or
foreign entities by meeting the requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-61 and 53-
19-62 and shall file articles of merger as required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-62.1.

E. Dissolution. A domestic limited liability company is dissolved when any of the
events listed in NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-39 occur. On dissolution, persons
designated with authority in NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-42 shall file, and may amend,
articles of dissolution as required by NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-41. A person authorized
in the articles of dissolution may revoke the articles of dissolution by filing a revocation
statement in compliance with NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-41.

F. Administrative revocation and reinstatement. The commission may
administratively revoke a domestic limited liability company by issuing a certificate of



revocation under the circumstances provided in NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-66.1. If the
commission administratively revokes a domestic limited liability company, it shall notify
the company of its right to reinstatement. A domestic limited liability company may apply
to the commission for reinstatement following the process, and within the time period
provided, in NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-66.2.

[12.3.4.11 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.4.12 FOREIGN LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANIES:

A foreign limited liability company shall comply with the applicable requirements of the
Limited Liability Company Act, NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-1 through 53-19-74.

A. Filing requirements. A foreign limited liability company shall file all documents
required by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions, and pay
applicable fees required in NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-63.

B. Name. A foreign limited liability company shall comply with name requirements in
NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-50, and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15 NMAC for
inquiring about, reserving, formally applying for, or reinstating a name.

C. Documents required.

(1) Certificate of registration. Before transacting business in New Mexico, a
foreign limited liability company shall register with the commission as required by NMSA
1978 Sections 53-19-48 and 53-19-49, and may amend its certificate of registration
pursuant to NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-51.

(2)  Statement designating registered agent and office. A foreign limited
liability company shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a
registered agent and office that meet the requirements in NMSA 1978 Sections 53-19-5.

D. Cancellation of registration. A foreign limited liability company may cancel its
registration by complying with the requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-52.

E. Merger and conversion. A foreign limited liability company may file with the
commission a certified copy of merger or conversion documents filed and approved in
its state of organization and the filing fee required in NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-63.

F. Administrative revocation and reinstatement. The commission may
administratively revoke a foreign limited liability company by issuing a certificate of
revocation under the circumstances provided in NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-66.1. If the
commission administratively revokes a foreign limited liability company, it shall notify the
company of its right to reinstatement. A foreign limited liability company may apply to
the commission for reinstatement following the process and within the time period
provided in NMSA 1978 Section 53-19-66.2.



[12.3.4.12 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.4.13 SANITARY PROJECTS ACT ASSOCIATIONS:

A Sanitary Projects Act association shall comply with the requirements of the Sanitary
Projects Act, NMSA 1978 Sections 3-29-1 through 3-29-20.

A. Filing requirements. A sanitary projects act association shall file all documents
required by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions.

B. Name. A sanitary projects act association shall not use a name that is the same
as, or confusingly similar to, the name of another association or corporation in New
Mexico, and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15 NMAC for inquiring about, reserving,
formally applying for, or reinstating a name.

C. Documents required.

(2) Certificate of association. A sanitary projects act association shall file a
certificate of association that meet the requirements of NMSA 1978 Sections 3-29-16
and 3-29-17 with a filing fee of twenty-five dollars ($25.00). A sanitary projects act
association may file amendments to its articles of incorporation as provided in NMSA
1978 Section 53-29-19 with a filing fee of twenty dollars ($20.00).

(2)  Statement designating registered agent and office. A sanitary projects
act association shall have and continuously maintain on file with the commission a
registered agent and office that meet the requirements in NMSA 1978 Sections 3-29-
17.1 and 3-29-17.2.

D. Dissolution. A sanitary projects act association may voluntarily dissolve by
complying with the requirements for amending its certificate of association provided in
Subsection C of this section.

[12.3.4.13 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

12.3.4.14 SANITARY PROJECTS ACT ASSOCIATION ANNUAL AND
SUPPLEMENT REPORT:

A sanitary projects act association shall file, together with a filing fee of ten dollars
($10.00), annual and supplemental reports as required by NMSA 1978 Sections 3-29-
17.4 and 3-29-17.5 on the following commission-prescribed form available as provided
in 12.3.1 NMAC.



RETURN TO: SANITARY PROJECTS ACT ASSOCIATION

NM PUBLIC REGULATION ANNUAL REPORT

COMMISSION
SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT

CORPORATIONS BUREAU
For taxable year ending / /

P.O. BOX 1269
SANTA FE NM 87504-1269

Please see instructions on back of page.

1 | State or country of incorporation

2
EXACT Name
ASSOCIATION
Address
NAME
AND City,
State, Zip
U.S. MAILING
ADDRESS

3 | REGISTERED AGENT AND OFFICE LOCATION WITHIN NEW MEXICO FOR
SERVICE OF PROCESS

(Filing corporation cannot be its own agent)

Name

Street
Address

City, Zip

4 | BRIEF STATEMENT OF CHARACTER OF AFFAIRS BEING CONDUCTED

5 | DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS List the names and addresses of ALL the directors
and officers and identify every title each directorholds. The associ at i
directors shall have 5 members.




Office/Title Name

Address

(optional)

Additional
Titles

Director

Director

President

Vice
President

Secretary-
Treasurer

Attach schedule of additional directors and officers if needed

that all statements contained therein are true an

d correct.

6 | SIGNATURES Under penalties of perjury, we declare and affirm that we have
examined this report, including the accompanying schedules and statements, and

Date Printed Name

Signature

Title

7 | PAYMENT OF FILING FEE AND LATE FILING
PENALTY

a | Report filing fee

10.00

b | Late filing penalty ($10.00)

IRS or PRC extension, if any, must be
submitted with this report

NMPRC USE ONLY

Amount
Remitted

Postmark
Date

c | TOTAL AMOUNT DUE with corporate report
(lines a + b)

PLEASE DO NOT SUBMIT CASH FOR
PAYMENT

INSTRUCTIONS

This report is required by, and must comply with the requirements of, NMSA 1978
Sections 3-29-17.4 and 3-29-17.5 and 12.3.4.14 NMAC. At the top right of the form,
indicate whether the report is an annual report or a supplemental report. If an annual
report, fill in the closing date of the taxable year for the report.

1. Indicate the state or country in which the Sanitary Projects Act association was
formed and filed its certificate of association. For further instructions regarding New




Mexico associations, consult NMSA 1978 Sections 3-29-15, 3-29-16, and 3-29-17.

2. Provide the exact name of the association. If available, attach a mailing label
from the Public Regulation Commission.

3. Indicate the address of the registered office of the association in New Mexico,
and the name of its registered agent at that address. For additional information on the
requirements for registered office and agent, see NMSA 1978 Sections 3-29-17.1 and
3-29-17.2. If within a municipality, the address must be a street address; if outside a
municipality, you must include geographic location, including well-known landmarks.

4. Provide a brief statement of the character of the affairs that the association is
actually conducting. Attach additional pages if necessary.

5. Indicate the names and respective addresses of the directors and officers of the

association. You must indicate who is the President, Vice President, and Secretary-

Treasurer.l f t he associati onds c-mwstconferiaddaidna titlesf a s s o
on the officers, you may provide these in the right column, but this is not required.

6. Any two of the members of the association, or a receiver or trustee if the
association is in the hands of a receiver or trustee, must sign and swear to the
statements in the report.

7. An annual report is due on or before the fifteenth day of the fifth month following

the end of the associationds taxable year; a
days of a change listed in NMSA 1978 Section 3-29-17.5. If not filed by this date, you

owe a late penalty of ten dollars ($10.00), unless the Commission granted an extension

pursuant to the terms of NMSA 1978 Section 3-29-17.5. If the report is late and the

Commission did not grant an extension, insert ten dollars ($10.00) into box 7b and total

the fees owed. Payment of fees must accompany this report or the Commission will not

accept it for filing. You may pay by check or money order made out to the New Mexico

Public Regulation Commission. If the Commission granted an extension, you must

attach at copy of the extension to this report.

[12.3.4.14 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.4.15 WATER USERS ASSOCIATIONS:

A water users association shall comply with the requirements in NMSA 1978 Sections
73-5-1 through 73-5-9.

A. Filing requirements. A water users association shall file all documents required
by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions.



B. Name. A water users association shall comply with the name requirements of
NMSA 1978 Section 73-5-2, and may use the procedures in 12.3.1.15 NMAC for
inquiring about, reserving, formally applying for, or reinstating a name.

C. Certificate of organization required. A water users association shall file a
certificate of organization that meets the requirements of NMSA 1978 Section 73-5-2 in
accordance with NMSA 1978 Section 73-5-3 with a filing fee of twenty-five dollars
($25.00). An association may file amendments to its certificate of organization as
provided in NMSA 1978 Section 73-5-5 with a filing fee of twenty dollars ($20.00).

D. Dissolution. A water users association may voluntarily dissolve by complying
with the requirements for amending its certificate of organization provided in Subsection
C of this section.

[12.3.4.15 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]
12.3.4.16 WATERWORKS CORPORATIONS:

A waterworks corporation shall comply with the requirements of NMSA 1978 Sections
62-2-1 through 62-2-22.

A. Filing requirements. A waterworks corporation shall file all documents required
by this section in compliance with 12.3.1 NMAC, General Provisions.

B. Required articles of incorporation. A waterworks corporation shall file articles
of incorporation that meet the requirements of NMSA 1978 Sections 62-2-1, 62-2-2, and
62-2-3 with the fees required in NMSA 1978 Section 53-2-1, which may be amended by
filing in the same manner as the original articles were filed.

C. Dissolution. A waterworks corporation shall comply with the requirements for
dissolution provided in NMSA 1978 Sections 62-2-13, and may file the court order or
decree of dissolution with the commission, for which no filing fee is required.

[12.3.4.16 NMAC - N, 7-15-05]

The material in this part was derived from that previously filed with the State Records
Center:

Docket No. 83-1-CORP, In the Matter of Rules and Regulations for the Corporation and
Franchise Tax Department, 2-22-83.

SCC-84-1-CF, Regulations of the Corporations and Franchise Tax Department, 3-15-
84.

SCC 84-3, In the Matter of the Amendment of Regulations of Corporations and
Franchise Tax Department, 11-8-84.



History of Repealed Material.

SCC-84-1-CF, Regulations of the Corporations and Franchise Tax Department (filed 3-
15-84), repealed 7-15-05.

SCC 84-3, In the Matter of the Amendment of Regulations of Corporations and
Franchise Tax Department (filed 11-8-84), repealed 7-15-05.

Other History.
Only those applicable portions of SCC-84-1-CF, Regulations of the Corporations and
Franchise Tax Department (filed 3-15-84) and SCC 84-3, In the Matter of the

Amendment of Regulations of Corporations and Franchise Tax Department (filed 11-8-
84) were replaced by 12.3.4 NMAC, Other Business Entities, effective 7-15-05.

CHAPTER 4: PARTNERSHIPS [RESERVED]
PART 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS [RESERVED]
PART 2: REGISTRATION OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS [RESERVED]

PART 3: REGISTRATION OF LIMITED LIABILITY PARTNERSHIPS
[RESERVED]

CHAPTER 5: COOPERATIVE ASSOCIATIONS
[RESERVED]

CHAPTER 6: BUSINESS PRACTICES - UNIFORM
COMMERCIAL CODE

PART 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS [RESERVED]
PART 2: FILING PROVISIONS

12.6.2.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the Secretary of State

[12.6.2.1 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.2 SCOPE:



All individuals or business entities who file or access Uniform Commercial Code (UCC)
records.

[12.6.2.2 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

Section 55-9-526 NMSA 1978 (Chapter 139, Laws of 2001).

[12.6.2.3 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.6.2.4 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

July 1, 2001.

[12.6.2.5 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.6 OBJECTIVE:

The objective of this rule is to establish standards for uniform requirements to file UCC
records. The office of the secretary of state recognizes that the administration of the
UCC has an important impact on the economy and upon the rights of the public, in this
state and in the United States. The volume of international, interstate and multi-state
transactions pursuant to the UCC requires that the administration of the UCC be
conducted in a manner that promotes both local and multi-jurisdictional commerce by
striving for uniformity in policies and procedures among the various states. As provided
in Section 55-9-526 NMSA 1978, the interpretation and implementation of the filing

of ficeds duties and responsibilities shal/l be

rules. Such rules have the following purposes:

A. to simplify and improve the administration of the UCC by promoting uniform UCC
filing procedures in this state and in the nation;

B. to simplify the public's ability to discover and understand the UCC filing
procedures of the various states by establishing a uniform framework for describing the
procedures;

C. to increase public access to information; and

D. to increase public accountability of the filing office.



[12.6.2.6 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.7 DEFINITIONS:

The following terms shall have the respective meanings provided in this rule. Terms not
defined in this rule which are defined in the UCC shall have the respective meanings
accorded such terms in the UCC.

A. "Amendment” means a UCC document that amends the information contained in
a financing statement. Amendments include assignments, continuations and
terminations.

B."Assignment" is an amendment that assigns
power to authorize an amendment to a financing statement.

C. "Continuation" means an amendment that continues the effectiveness of a
financing statement.

D. "Information statement" means a UCC document that indicates that a financing
statement is inaccurate or wrongfully filed.

E. "File number" means the unique identifying information assigned to a financing
statement by the filing officer for the purpose of identifying the financing statement and
UCC documents relating to the financing statement in the filing officer's information
management system. For a financing statement with an initial financing statement filed
prior to July 1, 2001, the file number consists of a 2 digit year, 2 digit month, 2 digit day,
and a 3 digit sequential number (yymmddXXX). For a financing statement with an initial
financing statement filed after June 30, 2001 but before March 26, 2003, the file number
consists of a 4 digit year, 2 digit month, 2 digit day, 3 digit sequential number, and 2
digit check number (yyyymmddXXXcc). For a financing statement with an initial
financing statement filed on or after March 26, 2003, the number includes three
segments; the year of filing expressed as a four digit number, followed by a unique
seven digit number assigned to financing statement by the filing office and ending with a
one digit verification alphabetic character assigned by the filing office but
mathematically derived from the numbers in the first two segments. The same file
format will be used for amendments as initial filing statements, including the verification
alphabetic character. Though the verification alphabetic character is not as important
here, it guarantees the integrity of the file number. The filing number bears no relation to
the time of filing and is not an indicator of priority.

F."Filing office"” and "filing officer"”™ mean
division.
G. "Filing officer statement" means a statemententer ed i nto the filing

information system to correct an error by the filing office.



H. "Financing statement” means a record or records composed of an initial financing
statement and any filed record(s) relating to the initial financing statement.

[. "Individual debtor name" means any name provided as a debtor name in a UCC
record in a format that identifies the name as that of a debtor who is an individual,
without regard to the nature or character of the name or to the nature or character of the
actual debtor.

J. "Initial financing statement" means a UCC document that does not identify itself
as an amendment or identify an initial financing statement to which it relates, as
required by Sections-55-9-512, 55-9-513, 55-9-514 or 55-9-518 NMSA 1978.

K. "Organization" means a legal person who is not an individual as defined in item H
of this section.

L. "Remitter" means a person who tenders a UCC document to the filing office for
filing, whether the person is a filer or an agent of a filer responsible for tendering the
document for filing. "Remitter" does not include a person responsible merely for the
delivery of the document to the filing office, such as the postal service or a courier
service but does include a service provider who acts as a filer's representative in the
filing process.

M. "Secured party of record"” means, with respect to a financing statement, a person
whose name is provided as the name of a secured party or a representative of the
secured party in an initial financing statement that has been filed. If an initial financing
statement is filed under Chapter 55, Article 9 Section 514(a) NMSA 1978, the assignee
named in the initial financing statement is the secured party of record with respect to the
financing statement. If an amendment of a financing statement which provides the name
of a person as a secured party or a representative of a secured party is filed, the person
named in the amendment is a secured party of record. If an amendment is filed under
Section 55-9-514(b) NMSA 1978, the assignee named in the amendment is a secured
party of record. A person remains a secured party of record until the filing of an
amendment of the financing statement which deletes the person.

N. "Termination" means an amendment intended to indicate that the related
financing statement has ceased to be effective with respect to the secured party
authorizing the termination.

0. "UCC" means the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted in this state and in
effect from time to time.

P. "UCC document" means an initial financing statement, an amendment, an
assignment, a continuation, a termination or a information statement. The word
"document” in the term "UCC document" shall not be deemed to refer exclusively to
paper or paper-based writings; it being understood that UCC documents may be
expressed or transmitted electronically or through media other than such writings.



(Note: this definition is used for the purpose of these rules only. The use of the term
"UCC document" in these rules has no relation to the definition of the term "document”
in Section 55-9-102(a)(30) NMSA 1978.)

[12.6.2.7 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003; A, 6/30/2011; A, 7/31/2013]

12.6.2.8 SINGULAR AND PLURAL FORMS:

Singular nouns shall include the plural form, and plural nouns shall include the singular
form, unless the context otherwise requires.

[12.6.2.8 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.9 PLACE TO FILE:

The filing office is the office for filing UCC documents relating to all types of collateral
except for timber to be cut, as-extracted collateral (Section 55-9-102(a)(6) NMSA 1978)
and, when the relevant financing statement is filed as a fixture filing, goods which are or
are to become fixtures. Regardless of the nature of the collateral, the filing office is the
office for filing all UCC documents where the debtor is a transmitting utility.

[12.6.2.9 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.10 FILING OFFICE IDENTIFICATION:

In addition to the promulgation of these rules, the filing office will disseminate
information of its location, mailing address, telephone and fax numbers, and its internet
and other electronic "addresses" through usual and customary means.

A. Addresses to file.

(1) Via postal service: Office of the Secretary of State, State Capitol North -
Suite 300, 325 Don Gaspar, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501.

(2)  Via courier service: Office of the Secretary of State, State Capitol North -
Suite 300, 325 Don Gaspar, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501.

B. On-line information service. The filing office offers on-line information services on
its web site at www.sos.state.nm.us.

[12.6.2.10 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003; A, 6/30/2011]
12.6.2.11  OFFICE HOURS:

Although the filing office maintains regular office hours, it receives transmissions
electronically and by telefacsimile 24 hours per day, 365 days per year, except for


http://www.sos.state.nm.us/

scheduled maintenance and unscheduled interruptions of service. Electronic
communications may be retrieved and processed periodically (but no less often than
once each day the filing office is open for business) on a batch basis.

[12.6.2.11 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.12 UCC DOCUMENT DELIVERY:
UCC documents may be tendered for filing at the filing office as follows:

A.Personal delivery, at the filing officebs
document delivered by this method is the time of delivery of the UCC document to the
filing office (even though the UCC document may not yet have been accepted for filing
and subsequently may be rejected). A UCC document delivered after regular business
hours or on a day the filing office is not open for business will be given the same file
time as UCC documents retrieved at the U.S. postal service on the next day the filing
office is open for business.

B.Courier delivery, at the filing officebds s
document delivered by this method is the time of delivery of the UCC document to the
filing office (even though the UCC document may not yet have been accepted for filing
and subsequently may be rejected). A UCC document delivered after regular business
hours or on a day the filing office is not open for business will be given the same file
time as UCC documents retrieved at the U.S. postal service on the next day the filing
office is open for business.

C.Postal service delivery, to the filing off
addressed to the filing office is not delivered by the U.S. postal service to the filing office
but must be retrieved by the filing office at the postal service, the file time for a UCC
document delivered by this method is 8:00 a.m. (even though the UCC document may
not yet have been accepted for filing and may be subsequently rejected). A UCC
document delivered after regular business hours or on a day the filing office is not open
for business will be given the same filing time as UCC documents retrieved at the U.S.
postal service on the next day the filing office is open for business.

[12.6.2.12 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003]

12.6.2.13  [RESERVED]

12.6.2.14  APPROVED FORMS:

National standard forms for UCC documents as approved by the international
association of corporation administrators (IACA) are designated as the standard forms
for filing a written financing statement and amendment. These standard forms are

provided in Section 55-9-521 NMSA 1978 and are available to the public at the filing
of ficebs web site at www.sos.state.nm. us.



[12.6.2.14 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]
12.6.2.15 [RESERVED]
12.6.2.16 FORMS SUPPLIERS:

The filing office will make lists of forms suppliers available to prospective filers and
remitters upon request.

[12.6.2.16 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.17 FILING FEES:

The fees to file UCC documents as set forth in Chapter 55, Article 9, Section 525 NMSA
1978 are as follows.

A. For UCC documents communicated in writing on a form prescribed by the filing
office, the fee for filing and indexing a UCC document of one, two or three pages is
$20.00. For a UCC document of at least 4 pages but no more than 25 pages, the fee is
$40.00. If the total number of pages exceeds 25 pages, the fee is $100.00 plus $5.00
for each page which exceeds 25 pages. For filings transmitted electronically, the fee is
$10.00 if the record consists of fifteen thousand or fewer bytes. If the record exceeds
fifteen thousand bytes, the fee is $20.00.

B. For UCC documents communicated in writing but not on a form prescribed by the
filing office, the fee is double those identified in Subsection A of this section for a record
of the same length.

C. Additional fees. In addition to the fees set forth in Subsections A and B of this
section, a fee of $100.00 shall be paid for an initial financing statement that indicates
that it is filed in connection with a manufactured-home transaction, and a fee of $100.00
shall be paid for an initial financing statement that indicates that a debtor is a
transmitting utility.

D. An information statement is treated as information to an initial financing
statement and is subject to the fees set forth in Subsections A, B and C of this section.

E. Copies. In addition to the fees identified in this section which are established by
statute, the fee for copies of UCC records ordered from and provided by the filing office
is $1.00 per page.

[12.6.2.17 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003; A, 6/30/2011; A, 7/31/2013]
12.6.2.18 [RESERVED]

12.6.2.19 METHODS OF PAYMENT:



Filing fees and fees for public records services may be paid by the following methods.

A. Cash. The filing officer discourages cash payment unless made in person at the
filing office.

B.Checks. Checks made payable to the o6o0ffice
checks in an amount to be filled in by a filing officer but not to exceed a particular
amount, will be accepted for payment. Although, if previous checks were returned
unpaid, future payments from the same party must be made by cashiers checks,
certified checks, or money orders.

C. Electronic funds transfer. The filing office will accept payment via electronic funds
transfer under national automated clearing house association ("NACHA") rules from
remitters who have entered into appropriate NACHA-approved arrangements for such
transfers and who authorize the relevant transfer pursuant to such arrangements and
rules.

D. Prepaid deposit account. A remitter may open an account for prepayment of filing
fees. The filing officer will issue an account number to be used by a remitter who
chooses to pay filing fees in advance. The filing officer shall deduct filing fees from the
remitterod6s prepaid deposit account when autho

[12.6.2.19 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003]
12.6.2.20 OVERPAYMENT AND UNDERPAYMENT POLICIES:
A. Overpayment. The filing office will not refund any amount of overpayment.

B. Underpayment. Upon receipt of a document with an insufficient fee, the filing
officer will do one of the following.

(1) A notice of the deficiency will be sent to the remitter and the document
shall be held for a period of 10 days from the date of the notice, in anticipation of receipt
of the fee. Upon receipt of the fee, the document will be filed as of the time and date of
receipt of the full filing fee. If the fee has not been received within 10 days of the date of
the notice, the document will be returned to the remitter with a written explanation for
the refusal to accept the document; or

(2) The document and the partial payment will be returned to the remitter as
provided in 12.6.2.31 NMAC. If necessary, a refund of a partial payment will be
delivered at a later date.

[12.6.2.20 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.21 PUBLIC RECORDS SERVICES:



Public records services are provided on a non-discriminatory basis to any member of
the public on the terms described in these rules. The following methods are available for
obtaining copies of UCC documents and copies of data from the UCC information
management system.

A. Individually identified documents. Copies of individually identified UCC
documents are available in the following forms.

(2) By written request identifying the file number (plus microfilm number for
records filed prior to January 1, 2001). The filing office will provide a form to request
copies of filings on its web site.

(2)  The filing office will provide scanned images of UCC records filed after
June 30, 1998 on its web site at no charge.

3) Bulk copies of documents. Bulk copies of UCC documents are available in
the following forms.

(a) TIF images of records filed after June 30, 1998 are available on CD-rom at
$100.00 per disc.

(b) Indexed data are available on disc at $.10 per record.

B. Data from the information management system. A list of available data elements
from the UCC information management system, and the file layout of the data elements,
is available from the filing officer upon request. Data from the information management
system is available as follows.

(1)  Full extract. A bulk data extract of information from the UCC information
management system is available on a monthly basis.

(2) Update extracts. Updates of information from the UCC information
management system are available on a monthly basis.

3) Format. Extracts from the UCC information management system are
available on CD-rom or on floppy disc for small data extracts.

[12.6.2.21 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 6/30/2011]

12.6.2.22 FEES FOR PUBLIC RECORDS SERVICES:

Fees for public records services are established as follows.
A. Paper copies of individual documents.

Q) Regular delivery method - $1.00 per page.



(2)  Faxdelivery - $1.00 per page.
B. Data from information management system.

(2) Full extract - $.10 per record on floppy disc or $100.00 for one month of
TIF images on CD-rom.

(2) Update extracts - $.10 per record on floppy disc or $100.00 for one month
of TIF images on CD-rom.

[12.6.2.22 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]

12.6.2.23 NEW PRACTICES AND TECHNOLOGIES:

The filing officer is authorized to adopt practices and procedures to accomplish receipt,
processing, maintenance, retrieval and transmission of, and remote access to, Article 9
filing data by means of electronic, voice, optical and/or other technologies, and, without
limiting the foregoing, to maintain and operate, in addition to or in lieu of a paper-based
system, a non-paper-based revised Article 9 filing system utilizing any of such
technologies.

[12.6.2.23 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.24 through 12.6.2.25 [RESERVED]

12.6.2.26  ACCEPTANCE AND REFUSAL OF DOCUMENTS - POLICY
STATEMENT:

The duties and responsibilities of the filing officer with respect to the administration of
the UCC are ministerial. In accepting for filing or refusing to file a UCC document
pursuant to these rules, the filing officer does none of the following:

A. Determine the legal sufficiency or insufficiency of a document.

B. Determine that a security interest in collateral exists or does not exist.

C. Determine that information in the document is correct or incorrect, in whole or in
part.

D. Create a presumption that information in the document is correct or incorrect, in
whole or in part.

[12.6.2.26 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.27 DUTY TO FILE:



Provided that there is no ground to refuse acceptance of the document as described in
12.6.2.28 NMAC, a UCC document is filed upon its receipt by the filing officer with the
correct filing fee and the filing officer will promptly assign a file number to the UCC
document and index it in the information management system.

[12.6.2.27 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.28 GROUNDS FOR REFUSAL OF UCC DOCUMENT:

The following grounds are the sole grounds for the filing officer's refusal to accept a
UCC document for filing. As used herein, the term "legible" is not limited to refer only to
written expressions on paper: it requires a machine-readable transmission for electronic
transmissions and an otherwise readily decipherable transmission in other cases.

A. Debtor name and address. An initial financing statement or an amendment that
purports to add a debtor shall be refused if the document fails to include a legible debtor
name and address for a debtor, in the case of an initial financing statement, or for the
debtor purporting to be added in the case of such an amendment. If the document
contains more than one debtor name or address and some names or addresses are
missing or illegible, the filing officer shall index the legible name and address pairings,
and provide a notice to the remitter containing the file number of the document,
identification of the debtor name(s) that was (were) indexed, and a statement that
debtors with illegible or missing names or addresses were not indexed.

B. Additional debtor identification. An initial financing statement or an amendment
adding one or more debtors shall be refused if the document fails to identify whether
each named debtor (or each added debtor in the case of such an amendment) is an
individual or an organization, if the last name of each individual debtor is not identified,
or if, for each debtor identified as an organization.

C. Secured party name and address. An initial financing statement, an amendment
purporting to add a secured party of record, or an assignment, shall be refused if the
document fails to include a legible secured party (or assignee in the case of an
assignment) name and address. If the document contains more than one secured party
(or assignee) name or address and some names or addresses are missing or illegible,
the filing officer shall refuse the UCC document.

D. Lack of identification of initial financing statement. A UCC document other than
an initial financing statement shall be refused if the document does not provide a file
number of a financing statement in the UCC information management system that has
not lapsed.

E. Identifying information. A UCC document that does not identify itself as an
amendment or identify an initial financing statement to which it relates, as required by
Chapter 55, Article 9, Sections 512, 513, 514 or 518 NMSA 1978, is an initial financing
statement.



F. Timeliness of continuation. A continuation shall be refused if it is not received
during the six month period concluding on the day upon which the related financing
statement would lapse. In the event that the day upon which the related financing
statement would lapse falls on a day on which the filing office is not open, the last day is
then the first business day immediately preceding the day that the office is closed. A
postmark stamped on an envelope by the U.S. postal service does not cause timely
filing of the continuation if the continuation is received by the filing office after the last
day upon which the related financing statement would lapse.

(2) First day permitted. The first day on which a continuation may be filed is
the date of the month corresponding to the date upon which the financing statement
would lapse, six months preceding the month in which the financing statement would
lapse. If there is no such corresponding date during the sixth month preceding the
month in which the financing statement would lapse, the first day on which a
continuation may be filed is the last day of the sixth month preceding the month in which
the financing statement would lapse, although filing by certain means may not be
possible on such date if the filing office is not open on such date.

(2)  Last day permitted. The last day on which a continuation may be filed is
the date upon which the financing statement lapses.

G. Fee. A document shall be refused if the document is accompanied by less than
the full filing fee tendered by a method described in 12.6.2.19 NMAC. In the event that
more than one filing is submitted with one payment for all filings and one or more filings
are refused pursuant to this rule, the filing office will file the accepted filings and receipt
the payment received (if the payment is not less than the full filing fee for the total of the
accepted filings) for the filings which were acceptable without a refund or credit for the
payment due for the unaccepted filing(s) unless the filer demonstrates that the rejected
filings should not have been refused under this rule. Otherwise, the filer must correct
and resubmit the rejected filing(s) with a new payment.

H. Means of communication. UCC documents communicated to the filing office by a
means of communication not authorized by the filing officer for the communication of
UCC documents shall be refused.

I. Non-UCC filings not accepted. Filings (such as those pursuant to the Farm
Products Secured Interest Act or federal tax liens) which are not included in Chapter 55,
Article 9 NMSA 1978 (Chapter 139, Laws of 2001) but submitted on forms prescribed in
12.6.2.14 NMAC will be refused and returned without processing.

J. Transmitting utility debtors. For records that contain a debtor identified as a

transmitting utility, the filing officer

as a transmitting utility.

[12.6.2.28 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003; A, 6/30/2011; A, 7/31/2013]

may



12.6.2.29 GROUNDS NOT WARRANTING REFUSAL.:

The sole grounds for the filing officer's refusal to accept a UCC document for filing are
enumerated in 12.6.2.28 NMAC. The following are examples of defects that do not
constitute grounds for refusal to accept a document. These are not a comprehensive
enumeration of defects outside the scope of permitted grounds for refusal to accept a
UCC document for filing.

A. Errors. The UCC document contains or appears to contain a misspelling or other
apparently erroneous information.

B. Incorrect names.
(1) The UCC document appears to identify a debtor incorrectly.

(2) The UCC document appears to identify a secured party or a secured party
of record incorrectly.

C. Extraneous information. The UCC document contains additional or extraneous
information of any kind.

D. Insufficient information. The UCC document contains less than the information
required by

Chapter 55, Article 9 NMSA 1978; provided that the document contains the information
required in Subsections A through E of 12.6.2.28 NMAC.

E. Collateral description. The UCC document incorrectly identifies collateral, or
contains an illegible or unintelligible description of collateral, or appears to contain no
such description.

F. Excessive fee. The document is accompanied by funds in excess of the full filing
fee.

[12.6.2.29 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.30  TIME LIMIT:

The filing officer shall determine whether criteria exist to refuse acceptance of a UCC
document for filing not later than the third business day after the date the document
would have been filed had it been accepted for filing and shall index a UCC document
not so refused within the same time period.

[12.6.2.30 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.31 PROCEDURE UPON REFUSAL.:



If the filing officer finds grounds under 12.6.2.28 NMAC to refuse acceptance of a UCC
document, the filing officer shall return the document, if written, to the remitter along
with the filing fee. The filing office shall send a notice that contains the date and time the
document would have been filed had it been accepted for filing (unless such date and
time are stamped on the document), and a brief description of the reason for refusal to
accept the document under 12.6.2.28 NMAC. The notice shall be sent to a secured
party or the remitter as provided in Subsection C of 12.6.2. 200 NMAC no later than the
third business day after the filing office receives the document.

[12.6.2.31 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.32 ACKNOWLEDGMENT:

The filing officer shall submit to the filer or remitter a filing acknowledgment which
contains the file number of the filing, the date and time of filing, the lapse date, and the
names and addresses for debtors and secured parties as data entered by the filing
officer.

[12.6.2.32 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003; A, 6/30/2011]
12.6.2.33 OTHER NOTICES:

Nothing in these rules prevents a filing officer from communicating to a filer or a remitter
that the filing officer noticed apparent potential defects in a UCC document, whether or
not it was filed or refused for filing. However, the filing office is under no obligation to do
so and may not, in fact, have the resources to do so or to identify such defects. THE
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE LEGAL EFFECTIVENESS OF FILING RESTS WITH
FILERS AND REMITTERS AND THE FILING OFFICE BEARS NO RESPONSIBILITY
FOR SUCH EFFECTIVENESS.

[12.6.2.33NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.34 REFUSAL ERRORS:

If a secured party or a remitter demonstrates to the satisfaction of the filing officer that a

UCC document that was refused for filing should not have been refused under 12.6.2.28

NMAC, the filing officer will file the UCC document as provided in these rules with a

filing date and time assigned when such filing occurs. The filing officer will also file a

filing officer statement (and such demonstration of error shall constitute the secured

partyés authorization to do so) that states t
date and time the UCC document was originally tendered for filing, and sets forth such

date and time.

[12.6.2.34 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.35 through 12.6.2.126  [RESERVED]



12.6.2.127 UCC INFORMATION MANAGEMENT SYSTEM - POLICY STATEMENT:

The filing officer uses an information management system to store, index, and retrieve
information relating to financing statements. The information management system
includes an index of the names of debtors named on financing statements which have
not lapsed. The rules in this section describe the UCC information management system.

[12.6.2.127 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.128 PRIMARY DATA ELEMENTS:

The primary data elements used in the UCC information management system are the
following.

A. ldentification numbers.

(1) Each initial financing statement is identified by its file number as described
in Subsection E of 12.6.2.7 NMAC. Identification of the initial financing statement is
entered on written UCC documents or otherwise permanently associated with the
record maintained for UCC documents in the UCC information management system. A
record is created in the information management system for each initial financing
statement and all information comprising such record is maintained in such system.
Such record is identified by the same information assigned to the initial financing
statement.

(2) A UCC document other than an initial financing statement is identified by a
unigue file number assigned by the filing officer. In the information management system,
records of all UCC documents other than initial financing statements are linked to the
record of their related initial financing statement.

B. Type of document. The type of UCC document from which data is transferred is
identified in the information management system from information supplied by the
remitter.

C. Filing date and filing time. The filing date and filing time of UCC documents are
stored in the information management system. Calculation of the lapse date of an initial
financing statement is based upon the filing date.

D. Identification of parties. The names and addresses of debtors and secured
parties are transferred from UCC documents to the UCC information management
system using one or more data entry or transmittal techniques.

E. Status of financing statement. In the information management system, each
financing statement has a status of active or inactive.



F. Page count. The total number of pages in a UCC document is maintained in the
information management system.

G. Lapse indicator. An indicator is maintained by which the information management
system identifies whether or not a financing statement will lapse and, if it does, when it
will lapse. The lapse date is determined as provided in 12.6.2.202 NMAC.

[12.6.2.128 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.129 NAMES OF DEBTORS WHO ARE INDIVIDUALS:

For the purpose of these rules, an "individual debtor name"is any name provided as a
debtor name in a UCC record in a format that indentifies the name as that of a debtor
who is an individual, without regard to the nature or character of the name or to the
nature or character of the actual debtor.

A. Individual name. Individual debtor names are stored in files that include only the
individual debtor names, and not organization debtor names. Separate data entry fields
are established for surnames (last or family names), first personal names (given), and
additional name(s) or initial(s) of individuals. The name of a debtor with a single name

(e.g.,"Cher) i s treated as a surname and shal/l be e
field. The filing officer assumes no responsibility for the accurate designation of the
components of a name but will accurately enterthedat a i n accordance wit |

designations.

B. Titles and prefixes before names. Titles and prefixes, such as "doctor,"
"reverend," "Mr.," and "Ms.," should not be entered in the UCC information management
system. However, as provided in Subsection B of 12.6.2.205 NMAC, when a UCC
document is submitted with designated name fields, the data will be entered in the UCC
information management system exactly as it appears.

C. Titles and suffixes after names. Titles or indications of status such as "M.D." and

"esquire" are not part of an individual s nam
UCC documents. Suffixes that indicate which individual is being named, such as
"senior,"” "junior,” "1," "II," and "lll," are appropriate. In either case, as provided in

12.6.2.205 NMAC, they will be entered into the information management system exactly
as received.

D. Extended debtor name field. If any portion of the individual debtor name is too
long for the corresponding field, the filer is instructed to check the box that indicates the
name was too long and enter the name in Item 10 of the addendum Form UCC1AD. A
filing officer shall not refuse to accept a f
identifying information, provided the record includes this information in an addendum
form.



E. Truncation - individual names. For records filed after June 30, 2001 but before
March 26, 2003, personal name fields in the UCC database are fixed in length. Although
filers provided full names on their UCC documents, a name that exceeded the fixed
length was entered as presented to the filing officer, up to the maximum length of the
data entry field. The length of data entry name fields are as follows.

(1) first name: 40 characters.
(2) middle name: 30 characters.
(3) last name: 80 characters.
(4) suffix: 10 characters.

F. For UCC records filed on or after March 26, 2003, name fields in the UCC data
base are not fixed in length.

[12.6.2.129 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003; A, 7/31/2013]
12.6.2.130 NAMES OF DEBTORS THAT ARE ORGANIZATIONS:

This rule applies to the name of an organization who is a debtor or a secured party on a
UCC document.

A. Single field. The names of organizations are stored in files that include only the
names of organizations and not the names of individuals. A single field is used to store
an organization name.

B. Truncation - organization names. The organization debtor field in the UCC
database is fixed in length. The maximum length is 160 characters. Although filers
should continue to provide full names on their UCC documents, a name that exceeds
the fixed length is entered as presented to the filing officer, up to the maximum length of
the data entry field.

[12.6.2.130 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]

12.6.2.131 COLLATERAL BEING ADMINISTERED BY ADECEDENT 6 S
PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE:

The debtor name to be provided on a financing statement when the collateral is being

admini stered by a decedentdés personal represe
decedent. In order for the information management system to function in accordance

with the usual expectations of filers and searchers, the filer should provide the debtor

name as an individual debtor name. However, the filing office will enter data submitted

by a filer in the fields designated by the filer exactly as it appears in such fields.



[12.6.2.131 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]
12.6.2.132 COLLATERAL HELD IN A TRUST:

The debtor name to be provided when the collateral is held in a trust that is not a

registered organization is the name of the trust as set forth in its organic record(s), if the

trust has such a name or, if the trust i s not
order for the information management system to function in accordance with the usual

expectations of filers and searchers, the name of a trust or of a settlor that is an

organization should be provided as an organization debtor name, in each case without

regard to the nature or character of the debtor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the filing

office will enter data submitted by a filer in the fields designated by the filer exactly as it

appears in such fields.

[12.6.2.132 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]
12.6.2.133 INITIAL FINANCING STATEMENT:

Upon the filing of an initial financing statement the status of the parties and the status of
the financing statement shall be as follows.

A. Status of secured party. Each secured party named on an initial financing
statement shall be a secured party of record, except that if the UCC document names
an assignee, the secured party/assignor shall not be a secured party of record and the
secured party/assignee shall be a secured party of record.

B. Status of debtor. The status of a debtor named on the document shall be active
and shall continue as active until one year after the financing statement lapses.

C. Status of financing statement. The status of the financing statement shall be
active. A lapse date shall be calculated, five years from the file date, unless the initial
financing statement indicates that it is filed with respect to a manufactured-home
transaction, in which case the lapse date shall be thirty years from the file date, or if the
initial financing statement indicates that it is filed against a transmitting utility, in which
case there shall be no lapse date. A financing statement remains active until one year
after it lapses, or if it is indicated to be filed against a transmitting utility, until one year
after it is terminated with respect to all secured parties of record.

[12.6.2.133 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 6/30/2011]
12.6.2.134 AMENDMENT:

Upon the filing of an amendment the status of the parties and the status of the financing
statement shall be as follows.



A. Status of secured party and debtor. An amendment shall affect the status of its
debtor(s) and secured party(ies) as follows:

(2) Collateral amendment or address change. An amendment that amends
only the collateral description or one or more addresses has no effect upon the status of
any debtor or secured party. If a statement of amendment is authorized by less than all
of the secured parties (or, in the case of an amendment that adds collateral, less than
all of the debtors), the statement affects only the interests of each authorizing secured
party (or debtor).

(2) Debtor name change. An amendment that changes a debtor's name has
no effect on the status of any debtor or secured party, except that the related initial
financing statement and all UCC documents that include an identification of such initial
financing statement shall be cross-indexed in the UCC information management system
so that a search under either the debtor's old name or the debtor's new name will reveal
such initial financing statement and such related UCC documents. Such a statement of
amendment affects only the rights of its authorizing secured party(ies).

(3)  Secured party name change. An amendment that changes the name of a
secured party has no effect on the status of any debtor or any secured party, but the
new name is added to the index as if it were a new secured party of record.

(4)  Addition of a debtor. An amendment that adds a new debtor name has no
effect upon the status of any party to the financing statement, except the new debtor
name shall be added as a new debtor on the financing statement. The addition shall
affect only the rights of the secured party(ies) authorizing the statement of amendment.

(5)  Addition of a secured party. An amendment that adds a new secured party
shall not affect the status of any party to the financing statement, except that the new
secured party name shall be added as a new secured party on the financing statement.

(6) Deletion of a debtor. An amendment that deletes a debtor has no effect on
the status of any party to the financing statement, even if the amendment purports to
delete all debtors.

(7) Deletion of a secured party. An amendment that deletes a secured party
of record has no effect on the status of any party to the financing statement, even if the
amendment purports to delete all secured parties of record.

B. Status of financing statement. An amendment shall have no effect upon the
status of the financing statement, except that a continuation may extend the period of
effectiveness of a financing statement.

C. Multiple actions are permissible on an amendment in any combination (such as a
debtor name change and a continuation) except for an amendment that is filed to



continue and terminate a filing. There is no additional fee for amendments with multiple
actions.

D. When an amendment is filed to change the name(s) of the debtor(s) and/or
secured party(ies) or their respective addresses, the filing office will add to the record
new debtor(s) or secured party(ies) as presented on the amendment. The filing office
will not change the spelling of a debtor(s) or secured party(ies) or addresses that exist
on the record to conform to the spelling presented on the amendment.

[12.6.2.134 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.135 ASSIGNMENT OF POWERS OF SECURED PARTY OF RECORD:

A. Status of the parties. An assignment shall have no effect on the status of the
parties to the financing statement, except that each assignee named in the assignment

shall become a secured party of record.

B. Status of financing statement. An assignment shall have no effect upon the
status of the financing statement.

[12.6.2.135 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.136 CONTINUATION:

A. Continuation of lapse date. Upon the timely filing of one or more continuations by
any secured party(ies) of record, the lapse date of the financing statement shall be

postponed for five years.

B. Status of parties. The filing of a continuation shall have no effect upon the status
of any party to the financing statement.

C. Status of financing statement. Upon the timely filing of a continuation statement,
the status of the financing statement remains active.

[12.6.2.136 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.137 TERMINATION:

A. Status of parties. The filing of a termination shall have no effect upon the status
of any party to the financing statement.

B. Status of financing statement. A termination shall have no effect upon the status
of the financing statement and the financing statement shall remain active in the
information management system until one year after it lapses, unless the termination
relates to a financing statement that indicates it is filed against a transmitting utility, in



which case the financing statement will become inactive one year after it is terminated
with respect to all secured parties of record.

[12.6.2.137 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.138 INFORMATION STATEMENT:

A. Status of parties. The filing of an information statement shall have no effect upon
the status of any party to the financing statement.

B. Status of financing statement. An information statement shall have no effect upon
the status of the financing statement.

C. Filing information not affected. An information statement is only made a part of
the record for informational purposes and cannot be used to amend or otherwise
change filing information.

[12.6.2.138 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]
12.6.2.139 PROCEDURE UPON LAPSE:

If there is no timely filing of a continuation with respect to a financing statement, the
financing statement lapses on its lapse date but no action is then taken by the filing
office. On the first anniversary of such lapse date, the information management system
renders or is caused to render the financing statement inactive and the financing
statement will no longer be made available to a searcher unless inactive statements are
requested by the searcher and the financing statement is still retrievable by the
information management system.

[12.6.2.139 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.140 through 12.6.2.166 [RESERVED]

12.6.2.167 XML DOCUMENTS:

A remitter may be authorized for XML transmission upon the written authorization of the
filing officer. The filing officer may authorize a remitter to engage in XML transmissions

if the remitter holds an account for the billing of fees by the filing officer and the filing
officer determines, after appropriate testing of transmissions in accordance with the

filing officer &ds s peciapabled transmittisg, XMl docurnents h e

in a manner that permits the filing officer to receive, index, and retrieve the XML
documents. The filing officer may suspend or revoke the authorization when, in the filing

r

em

of ficero6s sole disbaetaonemittiesddetenmsmedst

with the filing Areduestiebe duthorizeto tramsmg XML m .
documents shall be in writing and delivered to the filing officer. Upon receipt of a
request for authorization, the filing officer shall provide the remitter with necessary



information on the requirements for XML transmission, including format, address for
transmission, and other necessary specifications.

[12.6.2.167 NMAC - N, 7/1/2003]

12.6.2.168 through 12.6.2.175 [RESERVED]
12.6.2.176 through 12.6.2.195 EDI Documents:
[RESERVED]

12.6.2.196 through 12.6.2.198 Direct On-Line (Non-XML or EDI) Data Entry
Procedures:

[RESERVED]
12.6.2.199 POLICY STATEMENT:

Sections 12.6.2.199 NMAC through 12.6.2.215 NMAC contain rules describing the filing
procedures of the filing officer upon and after receipt of a UCC document. It is the policy
of the filing officer to promptly file a document that conforms to these rules. Except as
provided in these rules, data are transferred from a UCC document to the information
management system exactly as the data are set forth in the document. No effort is
made to detect or correct errors of any kind.

[12.6.2.199 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 6/30/2011]

12.6.2.200 DOCUMENT INDEXING AND OTHER PROCEDURES BEFORE
ARCHIVING:

A. Date and time stamp. The date and time of receipt are noted on the document or
otherwise permanently associated with the record maintained for a UCC document in
the UCC information management system at the earliest possible time.

B. Cash management. Transactions necessary to payment of the filing fee are
performed.

C. Document review. The filing office determines whether a ground exists to refuse
the document under 12.6.2.28.

(1)  File stamp. If there is no ground for refusal of the document, the document
is deemed filed and a unique identification number is entered on the document or
permanently associated with the record of the document maintained in the UCC
information management system. The sequence of the identification number is not an
indication of the order in which the document was received.



(2) Correspondence. If there is a ground for refusal of the document,
notification of refusal to accept the document is prepared as provided in 12.6.2.31
NMAC. If there is no ground for refusal of the document, an acknowledgment of filing is
prepared as provided in 12.6.2.31 NMAC. If the UCC document was tendered by EDI
transmission or on-line access, such notice or acknowledgment is transmitted to the
remitter by EDI transmission or on-line response by transmitting an identification known
to the remitter of the UCC document filed as well as the information required by
12.6.2.30 NMAC or 12.6.2.31 NMAC. Acknowledgment of filing or notice of refusal of a
UCC document tendered by means other than personal delivery, EDI transmission or
on-line transmission is sent to the secured party (or the first secured party if there are
more than one) named on the UCC document or to the remitter if the remitter so
requests by regular mail or by overnight courier if the remitter provides a prepaid wayhbill
or access to the remitter's account with the courier.

D. Data entry. Data entry and indexing functions are performed as described in
12.6.2.205 NMAC and 12.6.2.206 NMAC.

[12.6.2.200 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.201 FILING DATE AND FILING TIME:

The filing date and filing time of a UCC document is determined by 12.6.2.12 NMAC.
[12.6.2.201 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.202 LAPSE DATE AND TIME:

A lapse date is calculated for each initial financing statement (unless the debtor is
indicated to be a transmitting utility). The lapse date is the same date of the same
month as the filing date in the fifth year after the filing date or relevant subsequent fifth
anniversary thereof if a timely continuation statement is filed, but if the initial financing
statement indicates that it is filed with respect to a manufactured-home transaction, the
lapse date is the same date of the same month as the filing date in the thirtieth year
after the filing date. The lapse takes effect at midnight at the end of the lapse date. The
relevant anniversary for a February 29 filing date shall be the March 1 in the fifth year
following the year of the filing date.

[12.6.2.202 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 6/30/2011]
12.6.2.203 ERRORS OF THE FILING OFFICE:

The filing office may correct the errors of filing office personnel in the UCC information
management system at any time. If the correction is made after the filing office has
issued a through date for verification of the key entry that includes the filing date of a
corrected document, the filing office shall enter a record (such as a filing officer
statement) relating to the relevant initial financing statement which will be placed in the



UCC information management system stating the date of the correction and explaining
the nature of the corrective action taken. The record shall be preserved for so long as
the record of the initial financing statement is preserved in the UCC information
management system. When correcting errors made by filing office personnel, the filing
office will correct the error(s) that were brought to the attention of the filing office and
identify the error(s) which were corrected in the filing officer statement (the filing office
will not add new data to the record unless the error(s) brought forward to the filing office
was due to data not indexed which was included on the original financing statement or
an amendment).

[12.6.2.203 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.204 ERRORS OTHER THAN FILING OFFICE ERRORS:

An error by a filer is the responsibility of such filer. It can be corrected by filing an
amendment or it can be disclosed by an information statement.

[12.6.2.204 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]
12.6.2.205 DATA ENTRY OF NAMES - DESIGNATED FIELDS:

A filing should designate whether a name is a name of an individual or an organization
and, if an individual, also designates the in
additional name(s) or initial(s) and suffix. When this is done, the following rules shall

apply.

A. Organization names. Organization names are entered into the UCC information
management system exactly as set forth in the UCC document, even if it appears that
multiple names are set forth in the document or if it appears that the name of an
individual has been included in the field designated for an organization name.

B.Il ndividual names. On a form that designate
surname, first personal name, additional name(s) or initial(s) and suffix, the filing officer
enters the names i nt o stphezsonalmame addiiana hade(s) s ur nam

or initial(s) and suffix fields in the UCC information management system exactly as set
forth on the form.

C. Designated fields encouraged. The filing office encourages the use of forms that
designate separate fields for individual and organization names and separate fields for
individual 6s surname, first personal name, ad
Such forms diminish the possibility of filing
expectations are met. However, filers should be aware that the inclusion of names in an
incorrect field or failures to transmit names accurately to the filing office may cause
filings to be ineffective. All documents submitted through direct data entry or through
EDI will be required to use designated name fields.



[12.6.2.205 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]
12.6.2.206 DATA ENTRY OF NAMES NO DESIGNATED FIELDS:

A UCC document that is an initial financing statement or an amendment that adds a
debtor to a financing statement and that fails to specify whether the debtor is an
individual or an organization will be refused by the filing office. However, if it is accepted
for filing in error, the following rules shall apply.

A. Identification of organizations. When not set forth in a field designated for
individual names, a name is treated as an organization name if it contains words or
abbreviations that indicate status such as the following and similar words or
abbreviations in foreign languages: association, church, college, company, co., corp.,
corporation, inc., limited, Itd., club, foundation, fund, L.L.C., limited liability company,
institute, society, union, syndicate, GmBH, S.A. de C.V., limited partnership, L.P.,
limited liability partnership, L.L.P., trust, business trust, co-op, cooperative and other
designations established by statutes to indicate a statutory organization. In cases where
organization or individual status is not designated by the filer and is not clear, the filing
office will use its own judgment.

B. ldentification of individuals. A name is entered as the name of an individual and
not the name of an organization when the name is followed by a title substantially
similar to one of the following titles, or the equivalent of one of the following titles in a
foreign language: proprietor, sole proprietor, proprietorship, sole proprietorship, partner,
general partner, president, vice president, secretary, treasurer, M.D., O.D., D.D.S.,
attorney at law, Esq., accountant, CPA. In such cases, the title is not entered.

C. Individual and organization names on a single line. Where it is apparent that the
name of an individual and the name of an entity are stated on a single line and not in a
designated individual name field, the name of the individual and the name of the entity
shall be entered as two separate debtors, one as an individual and one as an entity.

D.Il ndividual names. The failure to designate
individual debtor in an initial financing statement or an amendment adding such debtor
to a financing statement will cause a filing to be refused. If the filing is accepted in error,
or if only the individual ds surname is design

Q) Freestanding initials. An initial in the first position of the name is treated as
a first personal name. An initial in the second position of the name is treated as
additional name(s) or initial(s).

(2) Combined initials and names. An initial and a hame to which the initial
apparently corresponds is entered into one name field only [e.g. "D. (David)" in the
name "John D. (David) Rockefeller" is entered as "John" (first personal name); "D.
(David)" (additional name(s) or inJtial (s));



3) Multiple individual names on a single line. Two individual names contained
in a single line are entered as two, different debtors on separate debtor lines [e.g. the
debtor name "John and Mary Smith" is entered as two debtors: "John Smith", and "Mary
Smith"]. Otherwise, more than one debtor in a single line will cause the filing to be
refused pursuant to Subsection A of 12.6.2.28 NMAC [e.g. the debtor names "John
Smith dba Smith Auto Sales"].

4 One word names. A one word name is ente
[e.g. "Cher"istreatedasaindivi dual 6s .sur name|]

(5) Nicknames. A nickname is entered in the name field together with the
name preceding the nickname, or if none, then as the first personal name (e.g., "William
(Bill) Jones").

[12.6.2.206 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]

12.6.2.207 VERIFICATION OF DATA ENTRY:

The filing officer uses the following procedures to verify the accuracy of data entry
tasks. Visual inspection and dual data entry of data entry is employed for data in the
following fields except that dual data entry is only utilized for debtor name fields.

A. Document identification fields.

B. Document type fields.

C. Name fields.

D. Address fields.

[12.6.2.207 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003]

12.6.2.208 INITIAL FINANCING STATEMENT:

A new record is opened in the UCC information management system for each initial
financing statement that bears the file number of the financing statement and the date
and time of filing.

A. The name and address of each debtor that are legibly set forth in the financing
statement are entered into the record of the financing statement. Each such debtor
name is included in the searchable index and is not removed until at least one year after
the financing statement lapses. The filing office may choose to make debtor names

which have lapsed by more than a year available in the search index.

B. The name and address of each secured party that are legibly set forth in the
financing statement are entered into the record of the financing statement.



C. The record is indexed according to the name of the debtor(s) and is maintained
for public inspection.

D. A lapse date is established for the financing statement, unless the initial financing
statement indicates it is filed against a transmitting utility, and the lapse date is
maintained as part of the record.

E. In accordance with this rule, a record that is presented for filing and is identified
as an "in lieu of" filing is processed the same as an initial financing statement.

[12.6.2.208 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.209 AMENDMENT:

A record is created for the amendment that bears the file number for the amendment
and the date and time of filing.

A. The record of the amendment is associated with the record of the related initial
financing statement in a manner that causes the amendment to be retrievable each time
a record of the financing statement is retrieved.

B. The name and address of each additional debtor and secured parties are entered
into the UCC information management system in the record of the financing statement.
Each such additional debtor name is added to the searchable index and are not
removed until at least one year after the financing statement lapses. The filing office
may choose to make debtor names which have lapsed by more than a year available in
the search index.

C. If the amendment is a continuation, a new lapse date is established for the
financing statement and maintained as part of its record.

[12.6.2.209 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.210 INFORMATION STATEMENT:

A record is created for the information statement that bears the file number for the
information statement and the date and time of filing. The record of the information
statement is associated with the record of the related initial financing statement in a
manner that causes the information statement to be retrievable each time a record of
the financing statement is retrieved.

[12.6.2.210 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]

12.6.2.211 GLOBAL FILINGS:

[RESERVED]



12.6.2.212 ARCHIVES T GENERAL.:
A. Paper UCC documents.

(1) Storage. Paper UCC records are stored offsite at the state records center
and archives.

(2) Retention. Six years after record is filed.
B. Reductions.
(2) Storage. Paper UCC records received prior to January 1, 2001 are
microfilmed. Paper UCC records received after June 30, 1998 are scanned to optical

disc.

(2) Retention. Filing office has a copy of all microfilm rolls created since 1986
as well as all optical discs created since July, 1998.

C. Databases. UCC data are copied to tape nightly and backup tapes are stored at
the state records center and archives.

[12.6.2.212 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 6/30/2011]

12.6.2.213 ARCHIVES - DATA RETENTION:

All active data in the UCC information management system relating to financing
statements is retained offsite at the state records center and archives and are
retrievable.

[12.6.2.213 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.214 ARCHIVAL SEARCHES:

All UCC data in the information management system is available for search on a
computer work station | ocated in the filing o
(www.sos.state.nm.us).

[12.6.2.214 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.215 NOTICE OF BANKRUPTCY:

The filing officer takes no action upon receipt of a notification, formal or informal, of a
bankruptcy proceeding involving a debtor named in the UCC information management

system. Accordingly, financing statements will lapse as scheduled unless properly
continued.



[12.6.2.215 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]
12.6.2.216 through 12.6.2.297 [RESERVED]
12.6.2.298 SEARCH REQUESTS AND REPORTS:

The filing officer maintains for public inspection a searchable index for all records of
UCC documents that provides for the retrieval of a record by the name of the debtor and
by the file number of the initial financing statement to which the record relates and
which associates with one another each initial financing statement and each filed UCC
document relating to the initial financing statement.

[12.6.2.298 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.299 SEARCHES OF UCC RECORDS NOT CONDUCTED BY FILING
OFFICE:

A. Search requests received by the filing office will be returned without processing.

B. The filing office will provide a search engine on its web site
(www.sos.state.nm.us) for use by anyone wanting a search of a record. There is no fee
for unlimited use of the search engine. The search logic utilized by the search engine is
provided in 12.6.2.300 NMAC and on the agency

C. The filing office also provides on its web site a search engine that provides non-
standard search options. This non-standard search engine and its search results do not
meet standard Revised Article 9 search logic and are merely provided for the
convenience of the searcher.

[12.6.2.299 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/1/2003]

12.6.2.300 RULES APPLIED TO SEARCH REQUESTS:

Search results are created by applying standardized search logic to the name entered
into the search program. Human judgment does not play a role in determining the
results of the search. The following, and only the following rules are applied to searches
conducted by the filing office search engine.

A. There is no limit to the number of matches that may be returned in response to
the search criteria.

B. No distinction is made between upper and lower case letters.

C. Punctuation marks and accents are disregarded.


http://www.sos.state.nm.us/

D. Words and abbreviations at the end of a name that indicate the existence or
nature of an organization as set forth in the "Ending Noise Words" list as promulgated
and adopted by the international association of corporation administrators as from time
to time, are disregarded (e.g., company, limited, incorporated, corporation, limited
partnership, limited liability company or abbreviations of the foregoing).

E. The word "the" at the beginning of the search criteria is disregarded.

F. All spaces are disregarded. For first personal name and additional name(s) or
initial(s) of individuals, initials are treated as the logical equivalent of all names that
begin with such initials, and no middle name or initial is equated with all middle names
and initials. For example, a search request for "John A. Smith" would cause the search
to retrieve all filings against all individual debtors with "John" or "J." as the first personal
name, "Smith"as t he individual 6s s'Atonamymame and wi t h t
beginning with "A" in the additional name(s) or initial(s) field. If the search request were
for "John Smith" (first and last names with no designation in the middle name field), the
search would retrieve all filings against individual debtors with "John" or "J." as the first
personal name, "Smith" as the surname and with any name or initial or no name or
initial in the middle name field.

G. After taking the preceding rules into account to modify the name of the debtor
requested to be searched and to modify the names of debtors contained in active
financing statements in the UCC information management system, the search will
reveal only names of debtors that are contained in active financing statements (unless
inactive records are requested) and, as modified, exactly match the name requested, as
modified.

[12.6.2.300 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001; A, 7/31/2013]

12.6.2.301 through 12.6.2.394 [RESERVED]

12.6.2.395 FILING OFFICE RULES:

The filing officer shall adopt rules of practice describing their objective, the nature and
requirements of formal and informal procedures to file UCC records, including an
identification of the forms required to file UCC documents, and methods available to
access UCC records.

[12.6.2.395 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.396 PROCEDURE FOR ADOPTION OF RULES:

Pursuant to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of these rules, the filing officer shall

comply with all rules and procedures promulgated by the New Mexico State Records
Center and Archives.



[12.6.2.396 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.397 AUTHORITY TO ADOPT RULES:

Rules on the administration of the UCC are adopted pursuant to Section 55-9-526
NMSA 1978 and are intended to implement Section 55-9-501 through Section 55-9-526
NMSA 1978.

[12.6.2.397 NMAC - N, 7/1/2001]

12.6.2.398 through 12.6.2.488 [RESERVED]

CHAPTER 7: COMMERCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
TRANSACTIONS

PART 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS [RESERVED]

PART 2: CENTRAL FILING OF SECURITY INTERESTS FOR
AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTS

12.7.2.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the Secretary of State.

[1/1/88; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.7.2.2 SCOPE:

Agricultural lenders and agricultural buyers.
[8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.7.2.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

Food Security Act (USDA), New Mexico Farm Products Secured Interests Act, Sections
56-13-1 to 56-13-14 NMSA 1978.

[8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.7.2.4 DURATION:
Permanent.

[8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]



12.7.2.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:
August 1, 1998, unless a different date is cited at the end of a section or paragraph.
[8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

[ Compi | eThéwords ar paegraph, above, are no longer applicable. Later dates
are now cited only at the end of sections, in the history notes appearing in brackets.]

12.7.2.6 OBJECTIVE:

The development of a statewide centralized system for the filing of effective financing
statements or notices of such financing statements with the office of the secretary of
state. As required by New Mexico law, the secretary of state shall design and implement
the central filing system and shall function as the system operator. Therefore, in
conjunction with the implementation of the central filing system and to ensure proper
usage and maintenance of the system (as intended by federal and state law), the
secretary of state issues the following rules and regulations.

[1/1/88, 8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.7.2.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. "Buyer in the ordinary course of business" means a person who, in the ordinary
course of business, buys farm products from a person engaged in farming operations
who is in the business of selling farm products.

B. "Central filing system" means the system for filing effective financing statements
established by the secretary of state pursuant to Section 4 [56-13-4 NMSA 1978] of the

Farm Products Secured Interest Act.

C. "Commission merchant" means any person engaged in the business of receiving
any farm product for sale, on commission or for or on behalf of another person.

D. "Crop year" for crops grown in soil is the year in which the crop(s) are harvested
or are to be harvested. The crop year for animals is the calendar year in which they are
born or acquired. The crop year for poultry and eggs is the year in which they are sold
or are to be sold.

E. "Debtor" means the person subjecting a farm product to a security interest.

F. "Effective financing statement"

Q) means a statement that:

(a) is an original or reproduced copy thereof;



(b) is signed and filed by the secured party in the office of the secretary of
state;

(c) is signed by the debtor;

(2)  An effective financing statement must include the following information:
(a) the name and address of the secured party;
(b) the name and address of the debtor;

(c) the social security number of the debtor or, in the case of a debtor doing
business other than as an individual, the internal revenue service taxpayer identification
number of such debtor;

(d) a description of the farm products subject to the security interest;

(e) a list of each county in New Mexico where the farm product is used or
produced or to be used or produced;

(f) the crop year unless every crop of the farm product in question, for the
duration of the effective financing statement, is to be subject to the particular security
interest;

(9) further details of the farm product subject to the security interest if needed
to distinguish it from other quantities of such product owned by the same person but not
subject to the particular security interest; and

(h) such other information that the secretary of state may require to comply
with Section 1324 of the Food Security Act of 1985, Public Law 99-198 [7 U.S.C.
Section 1631] or to more efficiently carry ou
Farm Products Secured Interest Act [56-13-1 to 56-13-14 NMSA 1978];

(3)  shall be amended in writing within three months, similarly signed and filed,
to reflect material changes;

(4) remains effective for a period of five years from the date of filing, subject
to extensions for additional periods of five years each by refiling or filing a continuation
statement within six months before the expiration of the five-year period;

(5) lapses on either the expiration of the effective period of the statement or
the filing of a notice signed by the secured party that the statement is terminated,
whichever occurs first;

(6) is accompanied by the requisite filing fee set pursuant to Section 6 [56-13-
6 NMSA 1978] of the Farm Products Secured Interest Act; and



(7)  substantially complies with the requirements of this section even though it
contains minor errors that are not seriously misleading; provided, however, for the
purpose of this paragraph, errors in social security numbers and internal revenue
service taxpayer identification numbers do not constitute minor errors. An effective
financing statement may for any given debtor cover more than one farm product located
in more than one county.

G. "Farm product" means an agricultural commodity, as species of livestock used or
produced in farming operations, or a product of such crop or livestock in its
unmanufactured state, that is in the possession of a person engaged in farming
operations and includes a list of farm products that are covered by this general definition
as prepared by the secretary of state.

H. "Person"” means any individual, partnership, corporation, trust or any other
business entity, and the singular includes the plural.

l. "Security interest” means an interest in farm products that secures payment or
performance of an obligation.

J. "Selling agent” means any person, other than a commission merchant, who is
engaged in the business of negotiating the sale and purchase of any farm product on
behalf of a person engaged in farming operations.

K. "System operator" means the operations division within the office of the secretary
of state.

[8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.7.2.8 FILING AN EFFECTIVE FINANCING STATEMENT:

A. An effective financing statement (form EFS-1) must be filed with the office of the
secretary of state. Upon receipt, the EFS-1 will be stamped with the date and time
received which will be used as the date of filing. The fee for filing an effective financing
statement is eleven dollars and fifty cents ($11.50) if filed on the form prescribed by the
secretary of state. The fee for the use of non-standard forms is an additional three
dollars ($3.00). In addition, the fee for attachments to an effective financing statement
submitted for filing is fifty cents ($.50) per page. An EFS-1 must be signed by the
debtor(s) and the secured party or parties.

B. Effective financing statements may only be used to file a security interest only on
a farm product(s) produced in New Mexico. The county in which the farm product(s) is
produced must be identified on the EFS-1. A code identifying the county must be
provided as well as the name of the county.

C. The crop year for each product must be identified on the EFS-1. If no crop year is
identified, then all years covered by the filing will be presumed.



[1/1/88, 8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.7.2.9 AMENDING AN EFFECTIVE FINANCING STATEMENT:

A. An existing EFS-1 may be amended by filing an amended effective financing
statement (form EFS-2) with the office of the secretary of state. The fee for filing form
EFS-2 is eleven dollars and fifty cents ($11.50) if the form prescribed by the secretary of
state is utilized. An additional three dollars ($3.00) will be charged for non-standard
forms. The fee for attachments filed with an EFS-2 is fifty cents ($.50) per page. An
amendment requires the signatures of the debtor(s) and the secured party or parties.

B. If a written explanation is not submitted with the amendment identifying what
portion of the original filing is being amended or the reason for the amendment, then the
amendment as submitted will replace the original filing in its entirety.

[1/1/88, 8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.7.2.10 CONTINUING OR TERMINATING AN EFFECTIVE FINANCING
STATEMENT:

A. Form EFS-3 (continuation or termination of an effective financing statement)
must be used to continue or terminate an existing effective financing statement.

B. An EFS-3 is filed with the office of the secretary of state and must include the
signatures of all secured party(ies) if filed to continue an existing financing statement.
The effectiveness of the original effective financing statement will be continued for five
(5) years from the last date to which the filing was effective.

C. The signatures of all secured parties are required if an EFS-3 is filed to terminate
an existing financing statement.

D. Continuation or termination fees are:

(1) the fee for filing a continuation or a termination is eleven dollars and fifty
cents ($11.50) if filed on the EFS-3 form prescribed by the secretary of state;

(2)  the use of a non-standard form is an additional three dollars ($3.00) or
fourteen dollars and fifty cents ($14.50) if an EFS-3 is not used;

(3) an additional fifty cents ($.50) per page for each additional page filed as
an attachment.

[1/1/88, 8/1/98, 7/1/99; Recompiled 10/15/01]

12.7.2.11 QUARTERLY REPORTS:



A. Each quarter, the secretary of state prepares listings of farm products as
requested by registered buyers. The listings are provided according to farm product;
and

(2) in alphabetical order according to the last name of the individual debtors
(for those debtors doing business other than as individuals, the first word in the name of
such debtor); or

(2) in numerical order according to the social security number of the debtor
(for those debtors doing business other than as individuals, the internal revenue service
taxpayer identification number); or

(3) geographically by county; or
4) by crop year.

B. The quarterly lists are distributed no later than the tenth day after the end of a
guarter. Quarters end on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each
year. All filings (effective financing statements, continuations, amendments or
terminations) received by the office of the secretary of state by the last business day of
a quarter will be included in the listings for that quarter. Quarterly lists will be distributed
by certified mail, return receipt requested.

C. The secretary of state will prepare special lists upon request. A special list is a
list limited to fewer than all counties or less than all crop years. Special lists are
prepared alphabetically or numerically.

D. The fees for quarterly lists are:

(1) allfilings for a farm product (paper) - $300.00 per product;

(2)  allfilings for a farm product (microfiche) - $150.00 per product;
(3)  special lists - $150.00 per product;

(4)  master list (all filings for all products) - $300.00.

E. The fees indicated above are for one year. The above fees will be pro-rated for
buyer registrations during a calendar year based on twenty-five percent (25%) of the
annual fee per quarter. A registrant must register before the last ten days of a quarter to
receive the listing for that quarter. The previous quarterly report will also be available for

twenty-five percent (25%) of the annual fee. The registration fee is not pro-rated.

F. Payments for fees pursuant to this act may be made in cash or by check or
money order made payable to the secretary of state.



[1/1/88, 8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.7.2.12 REGISTRATION:

A. Buyers of farm products, commission merchants, selling agents and other
persons must register with the secretary of state to receive the quarterly reports
identified in Section 11 [now 12.7.2.11 NMAC]. Registration is thirty dollars ($30.00)
annually and must be made on the form prescribed by the secretary of state (Form
EFS-4). The secretary of state will mail renewal notices to registrants of record at the
beginning of each calendar year.

B. Upon registering, the registrant must indicate the types of reports requested and
the desired medium (paper or microfiche). The type of sequence, whether alphabetical
or numerical, and the type of listing (regular, special or master) must also be indicated.
All fees (registration plus lists) must be paid at the time of registration by check or
money order made payable to the secretary of state.

C. Registrations are effective on the date that a properly completed form and all
required fees are accepted by the secretary of state. Fees for quarterly reports will be
pro-rated based on twenty-five percent (25%) of the annual fee for each report
requested. If a registrant registers before the last ten (10) days preceding the end of a
guarter, the fee paid will also include a charge for the most current quarterly listing for
the product(s) requested (at twenty-five percent (25%) of the annual fee per listing). The
registration fee is not pro-rated.

[1/1/88, 8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]
12.7.2.13 INQUIRIES:

A. Any person may request from the office of the secretary of state information
regarding particular debtors. The request may be made either in person, by telephone
or in writing. At the time the inquiry is made, the operations division staff will search the
computerized database of agricultural filing records and provide orally a preliminary
confirmation of the debtor(s). A written confirmation of the search and the information
provided will be mailed to the inquiring party before the end of the next business day.

B. Inquiries may be made Monday through Friday, with the exception of official state
holidays, between the hours of 8:30 a.m. to noon and 1:30 p.m. to 4:00 p.m. (mountain
time). If systems are down for any other unforeseen reason, the secretary of state will
suspend inquiries until the office is prepared to resume such functions.

C. The fee for each inquiry, which includes the oral response and the confirmation
notice, is fifteen dollars ($15.00) per debtor name or any variation of that name. A billing
of the inquiry will be included with the written confirmation, and payment must be made
within fifteen (15) calendar days. The inquiring party will be responsible for any
communication expenses.



[1//188, 8/1/98; Recompiled 10/15/01]

CHAPTER 8: TRADE PRACTICES AND REGULATIONS

PART 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS [RESERVED]

PART 2: MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR SURVEYING IN NEW MEXICO
12.8.2.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

New Mexico Board of Licensure for Professional Engineers and Professional Surveyors,
2550 Cerrillos Road, Santa Fe, NM 87507, telephone: (505) 476-4565, website:
www.sblpes.state.nm.us.

[12.8.2.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.1 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]

12.8.2.2 SCOPE:

Provisions for Part 2 apply to licensed professional surveyors engaging in the practice
of surveying and to licensed professional engineers who are authorized by the
Engineering and Surveying Practice Act.

[12.8.2.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.2 NMAC, 5/01/2007]

12.8.2.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

NMSA 1978, Section 61-23-10 (D) prescribes that "the professional surveying
committee shall adopt and promulgate rules of professional responsibility exclusive to
the practice of surveying. All such bylaws and rules shall be binding upon all individuals
licensed pursuant to the Engineering and Surveying Practice Act.”

[12.8.2.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.3 NMAC, 5/01/2007]

12.8.2.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.8.2.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.4 NMAC, 5/01/2007]

12.8.2.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

5/01/2007, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.8.2.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.5 NMAC, 5/01/2007]



12.8.2.6 OBJECTIVE:

The objective of part 2 is to define the types of surveying, and to establish a minimum
standard of professional competency and performance to govern the performance of
surveying and other survey-related services by licensed professional surveyors in New
Mexico. It is the responsibility of the licensee to meet or exceed the minimum standards
contained herein and to apply the technical knowledge and skill that would be applied
by other qualified licensees performing the same task in the same area at the same
time.

[12.8.2.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.6 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]
12.8.2.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. Professional competency and performance. A surveyor shall provide competent
representation to the client, their employer and the public interest. Competent surveying
practice requires the knowledge, skill, thoroughness, and preparation reasonably
necessary for the engagement including the assessment of which his/her skills,
knowledge and experience befits the needs of the client and to advise or otherwise
direct or decline the work based on that assessment of their personal and professional
competency.

B. Types of Surveying.

(1) Boundary surveying is the determination, description, portraying,
measuring or monumentation of the boundaries of a tract of land and reflecting the
relationship of the boundaries of the surveyed property (i.e. contiguity, gaps, or
overlaps) with its adjoiners, where ascertainable from record documents or from field
evidence gathered during the process of conducting the survey of the property being
surveyed. If the surveyed property is composed of multiple parcels, the extent of any
gaps or overlaps between those parcels shall be identified.

(2) Improvement location reporting is the preparation of a report which
complies with all of the requirements and limitations of an improvement location report
as set forth in 12.8.2.10 NMAC, and which is issued to a title, abstract or escrow
company or a lending institution for their exclusive use in determining such things as
insurability or value of a tract of land.

(3) Topographic surveying is the measurement and portrayal of the
configuration of the ground or the location and description of objects thereon. It can
include the plotting and description of property boundary monuments and property lines
on a topographic map. Unless a boundary survey is being conducted simultaneously,
only existing monuments found at the time of the survey are shown, and no boundary
monuments are set; and the following words are prominently shown on the topographic
map: THIS IS NOT A BOUNDARY SURVEY OR A RIGHT-OF-WAY SURVEY.
APPARENT PROPERTY CORNERS, RIGHT-OF-WAY LINES, OR PROPERTY LINES



AS SHOWN ARE DERIVED FROM RECORD SURVEY PLATS, RIGHT-OF-WAY
MAPS, OR DEEDS REFERENCED HEREON AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED OR TO
BE RELIED ON FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF PROPERTY LINES.

4) Easement surveying is the description, portrayal, or monumentation of
easement(s) only.

(5) Right-of-way surveying is boundary surveying of existing right-of-way
lines, which may include the boundary survey of adjoining property lines, for locating
existing or proposed right-of-way.

(6) Condominium surveying - when performing or preparing a survey that
falls under the Condominium Act (Article 7B), the survey requirements (Article 47-7B-9
or subsequent amendments) of said act shall be the standards to which the survey shall
be held.

(7 Preparation of legal descriptions - the preparation of legal descriptions
is a form of surveying and, other than the citing of a lot or parcel for reference or
identification purposes of a duly recorded plat, must be performed by a licensed
professional surveyor.

(8) An ALTA/ NSPS survey is a boundary survey. Therefore, a plat of survey
must be recorded. The filed survey can be a separate plat and need not include all the
detail of the ALTA/NSPS survey but only the improvements affecting the boundary are
required to be shown. (See Subsection J of 12.8.2.9 NMAC).

(9) Control surveying is the establishment of horizontal or vertical controls
which will be the basis for future phases of a project including, but not limited to:
extraction of geospatial data, engineering design projects, construction staking, surveys
to layout horizontal and vertical alignments, topographic surveys using field methods,
collection of topographic and planimetric data using photogrammetric methods and
construction surveys of engineering or architectural public works projects.

(10) Unclassified surveying is surveying not defined above.

C. Dimensions means the direction, expressed either as a bearing or an azimuth,
and the length of a survey line.

D. Easement means a right that the public, a person or an entity holds in the land of
another.

E. Monument means an object intended to mark a property boundary or a point of
reference.

F. Surveyor means a professional surveyor licensed under the Engineering and
Surveying Practice Act.



G. Tract or lot means a parcel of land in separate ownership, where a unique
parcel identification number(s) has been or will be assigned by the county in which the
tract or lot is situated. It can also be a leasehold set off for separate ownership or a
leasehold for other uses.

H. Supplemental surveying work means surveying work performed in order to
densify, augment and enhance previously performed surveying work or site information
but excludes the surveying of real property for the establishment of land boundaries,
rights of way, easements and the dependent or independent surveys or resurveys of the
public land system.

I. GPS is global positioning system, a.k.a. GNSS.
J. Classes of surveys.

(1) Urban means a survey within or adjoining a municipality or a survey,
regardless of location, of land zoned for or intended for use for multifamily, commercial
or industrial purposes.

(2)  Suburban means a survey, which is not an Urban survey, of land zoned
for or intended for use for residential purposes.

3) Rural means a survey, which is neither an Urban nor Suburban survey.

K. Positional error means the error inherent in setting or measuring from a
monument and is added to the error expressed as a ratio for a closed traverse.

L. Positional accuracy is an assessment of the closeness of the location of spatial
objects in relation to their true positions geospatially.

M. GNSS is global navigational satellite system, a.k.a. GPS or global positioning by
satellites.

N. Geospatial istherelatveposi ti on of features on, above,
surface defined by a localized or globalized system.

O. OPUS is the online positioning user service as provided by the national geodetic
survey, national oceanic atmospheric administration, United States (U.S.) government.

P. Digital geospatial data is data in addition to, or as an alternative to, written or
drawn media containing geospatially referenced electronic or computerized data,
including land information systems (LIS) and geographic information systems (GIS). It
includes data such as produced by optical and digital photographic comparison,
scanners, lidar or radar, laser, infrared or ultrasonic measuring and UAV/UAS/airborne
Sensors.



[12.8.2.7 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.7 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]
12.8.2.8 REQUIREMENTS:

Whenever a professional surveyor or a professional engineer undertakes any surveying
as authorized in the Engineering and Surveying Practice Act, the licensee shall
determine which type of surveying activity is being conducted from the definitions in
Subsection A of 12. 8.2.7 NMAC shall then conform to the requirements set forth in
12.8.2.9 NMAC through 12.8.2.14 NMAC for that type of surveying and must also
comply with accuracy standards in 12.8.2.16 NMAC when applicable. If the surveying is
not defined, then the surveyor shall conform to the requirements for unclassified
surveying set forth in 12.8.2.15 NMAC.

[12.8.2.8 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.8 NMAC, 5/01/2007]
12.8.2.9 BOUNDARY SURVEYING:

When performing a boundary survey, the surveyor shall be responsible for
accomplishing all of the following.

A. Obtain copies of relevant documents necessary to perform the survey.

B. Review recorded plats and plats known to and available to the surveyor that are
germane to the tract being surveyed.

C. Make a site visit and inspect the subject property and look for evidence of
existing monuments and for evidence of possession and usage.

D. Determine the relative location on the ground of all found existing monuments
which pertain to the survey using procedures which achieve the minimum accuracy
standards in 12.8.2.16 NMAC.

E. Tag found monuments which are accepted by the surveyor and pertain to the
boundary being surveyed with a metal tag, bea
attached to the monument with a metal wire or strap; monuments set by a government
agency which are clearly identified by their markings need not be tagged.

F. Set new monuments in conformance with 12.8.2.17 NMAC at all corners of the
tract being surveyed using procedures which achieve the minimum accuracy standards
in 12.8.2.16 NMAC, unless a permanent monument already exists.

G. Follow the rules and procedures, except for the accuracy and monumentation
standards, in the applicable manual of surveying instructions for the survey of the public
lands of the U.S., prepared by the United States bureau of land management, if the tract
being surveyed pertains to the United States survey of public lands in any way including
the following:



(2) is a section or an aliquot part of a section;

(2) is a small holding claim, private claim, land grant, mining claim or any
other tract described in the manual of instructions for the survey of the public lands of
the United States (manual of surveying instructions);

(3) has a boundary which is a boundary of a tract described in Subsection G
of 12.8.2.9 NMAC, paragraphs (1) or (2) above;

4) prior surveys and physical evidence within and adjacent to the section
being surveyed should be carefully considered as evidence of original corner locations.

H. Never move, remove nor obscure an existing monument unless it is first properly
referenced and all dimensions necessary to preserve its location are reported on a
recorded plat.

I. Updating a prior survey - If an existing survey is updated for any reason, the
surveyor shall comply with the minimum standards in effect at the time of the update
unl ess the update is only to correct a minor
bring the survey into compliance with the minimum standards and the location of the
boundary has not changed, remonumentation is not required unless the original
monumentation was not in compliance with the minimum standards in effect at the time
the original survey was performed.

J. Prepare a plat of the survey, unless the survey is only the re-monumentation of
corners of a tract, shown on a recorded plat, where some of the existing corners of the
tract are recovered, whose measured dimensions on the ground are reasonably close to
the record dimensions. A plat of survey must be recorded only if it is a survey of a
parcel for which no previously recorded plat exists or, in the case of remonumentation,
the surveyor finds that field measurements are significantly different from record
dimensions. The plat may contain as many sheets as required, which meet the size and
material requirements of the state statute and shall contain at least the following:

(1) the name, address and registration number of the surveyor responsible for
the survey;

(2)  acertificate followed by the dated signature and seal of the surveyor
responsible for the survey stating that the surveyor conducted an actual survey on the
ground and is responsible for the survey and that the survey and plat meet the minimum
standards for surveying in New Mexilshalt only o
appear on a plat; and the following model certification is considered to be an example of
the minimum that the surveyor should certify to:

L, _ _(surveyords name) , New Mexico P

(surveyor so | i c e nycertifynthamiseBoundary SuoveylPlatrar the
actual survey on the ground upon which it is based were performed by me or under my



direct supervision; that | am responsible for this survey; that this survey meets the
Minimum Standards for Surveying in New Mexico; and that it is true and correct to the
best of my knowledge and belief. | further certify that this survey is not a land division or
subdivision as defined in the New Mexico Subdivision Act and that this instrument is a
Boundary Survey Plat of an existing tract or tracts.

(Surveyords Name) PS No. Date

(3) atitle which shall include the county in which the survey is located and at
least the following:

(a) the lot, block or tract number and subdivision or district name if the survey
is within a subdivision or conservancy district;

(b) the city, grant, small holding, mining or private claim, or similar area in
which the survey is located;

(c) if neither subparagraph (a) nor (b) applies, then the section(s), township(s)
and range(s) in which the survey is located; if the survey is not within a section, then the
projected section(s) shall be stated and designated as such if required by the county
clerk;

(4) anorth arrow, equivalent scale and graphic scale for each sheet of the
main drawing;

(5) adescription of all monuments found or set, which shall include identifying
characteristics such as the material, shape and all pertinent information stamped or
printed on any cap or tag and the diameter (or the equivalent if other than round) when
possible; a found monument which the surveyor has rejected as a true property corner
shall be designated as such;

(6) the basis of bearings used in the survey which shall be based upon:
(a) New Mexico (NM) state plane coordinates with specifics to elevation,
vertical datum, horizontal datum, zone, mapping angle, ground to grid factor used if

using a modified ground system,;

(b) a specific line between two points either found or re-established set points
as shown on an existing filed plat;

(c) measured and published geodetic control values based upon an online
position user service (OPUS) solution or geodetic control stations;

(d) a longitudinal line is acceptable based off GPS observation or other
means for determining the longitude of a basis of bearings as long as the longitudinal



value is published on the survey with the method used in determining the longitude;
"GPS North" or similar notations without explanation as described above is
unacceptable; "assumed bearings" are prohibited.

(7)  adescription of pertinent documents, including filing information as
applicable, used to determine the boundaries and to prepare the plat of survey; if a
particular document is not of record, this fact shall be so stated and all information used
from the document shall be shown on the plat; if significant discrepancies exist between
the documents used to determine the boundaries, the surveyor shall disclose the same
and shall disclose which document was ultimately relied upon to determine the
boundaries;

(8) the boundary being surveyed including the dimensions as measured on
the ground and the record dimensions unless the two are equivalent in which case it
shall be so stated; all dimensions which pertain to the determination of the tract
boundaries, and a tie to a suitable, permanent, existing monument;

(9) all dimensions which pertain to the restoration of a lost or obliterated
corner or the subdividing of a section under Subsection G of 12.8.2.9 NMAC;

(10) the location and description of any evidence of a boundary or line of
occupation including such things as a fence, building, wall or the remains thereof which
is on a boundary or close enough to a boundary to be confused with the boundary;

(11) the location and description of all easements known or disclosed to the
surveyor which cross, adjoin or serve a surveyed tract together with the recording data
for the document that created the easement and the location and description of any
visible structures which encroach upon said easement;

(12) the radius, central angle, length and chord dimensions for all curves;

(13) the lot number, tract number, other designation or the apparent owner of
all adjoining tracts with the recording data of the last recorded plat;

(14) the relationship of the boundaries of the surveyed property (i.e. contiguity,
gaps, or overlaps) with its adjoiners, where ascertainable from record documents and
from field evidence gathered during the process of conducting the survey of the property
being surveyed; if the surveyed property is composed of multiple parcels, the extent of
any gaps or overlaps between those parcels shall be identified,;

(15) the location and description of any evidence of use by a nonowner of the
surveyed tract including such things as a road, trail, path, pipeline or utility which
crosses a boundary of the tract;

(16) a letter or number providing a unique designation of each surveyed tract
on a plat with more than one tract;



(17) access easement; if the surveyed tract is not contiguous to a public right-
of-way, any access easement of record which is known to the surveyor shall be
described on the plat and its location shall be determined; if no easement is known to
the surveyor, a note prominently shown shall disclose that fact;

(18) the area of each surveyed tract.

K. Record the plat prepared under Subsection J of 12.8.2.9 NMAC with the county
clerk of the county or counties in which the survey is located. A plat of survey must be
recorded only if it is a survey of a parcel for which no previously recorded plat exists or,
in the case of remonumentation, the surveyor finds that field measurements are
significantly different from record dimensions. The plat shall be recorded within sixty
days of completion. A plat which requires the approval of a government agency is
complete upon final approval. Any other plat is complete when the surveyor signs or
seals it.

[12.8.2.9 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.9 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]
12.8.2.10 IMPROVEMENT LOCATION REPORT:

A. Improvement location reporting is the preparation of an improvement location
report which is a narrative report, which may be accompanied by a sketch, and which is
issued only to a title, abstract or escrow company or a lending institution for their
exclusive use; it shall not be represented by the surveyor as being a property boundary
survey.

B. If the report contains a sketch, the sketch shall contain the following words which
are printed as large and as prominently as any other words upon the sketch: "This
report is not for use by a property owner for any purpose. This is not a boundary survey
and may not be sufficient for the survey exce
may not reveal encroachments, overlaps, conflicts in boundary lines, shortages in area,
or other matters which would be disclosed by an accurate boundary survey."

[12.8.2.10 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.10 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]

12.8.2.11  TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEYING:

On topographic surveys with contour lines, the vertical accuracy of ninety percent of the
points tested shall be within one half of the contour interval, unless otherwise stated on
the survey. Every topographic map shall comply with 12.8.2.14 and 12.8.2.16 NMAC.
[12.8.2.11 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.11 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]

12.8.2.12 EASEMENT SURVEYING:



A. When performing easement surveying, the surveyor shall use procedures in any
field measurements which achieve the minimum accuracy standards in 12.8.2.16
NMAC.

B. If the easement does not run parallel to a boundary of the tract in which it is
located, then the surveyor shall prepare a plat which shows the dimensions of the
easement and conforms with Paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (4), (5) and (6) of Subsection J of
12.8.2.9 NMAC, and complies with one of the following:

(1) shows ties to record monuments at the beginning and ending of the
easement and at least at every mile along the easement; or

(2)  shows the coordinates of the beginning, ending and all angle points in
accordance with the New Mexico coordinate system and shows the grid bearing and
ground distance between said points; or

(3) shows ties to existing corners of a subdivision in which the easement is
located.

C. These field procedures and subsequent plat preparation or legal description must
be conducted under the responsible charge of a professional surveyor.

D. Unless the easement runs parallel to the boundary of the tract, ties from points
on the easement to lot corners shall be shown for every tract the easement is affecting
so that when a subsequent survey is being prepared on the tract, the location can be
defined based upon the ties.

[12.8.2.12 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.12 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]
12.8.2.13 RIGHT OF WAY SURVEYING:
When performing right of way surveying, the surveyor shall do all of the following.

A. Obtain a copy of the last recorded deed for the tract(s) affected by the existing or
contemplated right of way and obtain copies of all existing right of way maps and
conveyance documents available.

B. Obtain a copy of all available, relevant recorded plats and all plats and maps
known to be available to the surveyor for the tract(s) affected by the existing or
contemplated right of way.

C. Make a diligent search on the ground, including the use of a metal detector, for

all existing monuments, which pertain to the property boundaries intersecting the public
highway right of way corridor being surveyed.



D. Determine the relative location on the ground of all found existing monuments,
which pertain to the survey using procedures to achieve the minimum accuracy
standards in 12.8.2.16 NMAC.

E. [RESERVED]

F. Set new monuments conforming to 12.8.2.17 NMAC on the right of way limit lines
at all changes in direction and at all points where property lines intersect, using
procedures which achieve the minimum accuracy standards in 12.8.2.16 NMAC, unless
a permanent monument exists; when monumenting existing right of way limit lines,
monuments at intersecting property lines need not be set.

G. Follow the rules and procedures, except for the accuracy and monumentation
standards, in the manual of instructions for the survey of the public lands of the United
States (manual of surveying instructions) prepared by the United States bureau of
land management, if the tract being surveyed pertains to the United States survey of
public lands in any way including the following:

(2) is a section or an aliquot part of a section;

(2) is a small holding claim, private claim, land grant, mining claim or any
other tract described in the manual of instructions for the survey of the public lands of
the United States (manual of surveying instructions);

3) has a boundary which is a boundary of a tract described in Subsection G
of 12.8.2.13 NMAC, paragraphs (1) or (2) above.

H. Whenever a tract of land is to be severed by right of way acquisition, the
surveyor shall locate property lines that intersect the right of way limits. The surveyor
shall use all available documents, field data, including parol evidence and land title
information to determine the length, location and bearing of the severed property line
relative to the right of way limits. This includes surveying as many additional parcel
boundaries as necessary which connect to the property lines intersecting the right of
way in order to accurately locate the property lines affected by the contemplated right of
way.

. [RESERVED]

J. Prepare a plat of survey, containing as many sheets as required, and which
contains at least the following:

(1) the name, address, and registration number of the surveyor responsible
for the survey;



(2) acertificate followed by the signature and seal of the surveyor responsible
for the survey and stating that the survey and plat meet the minimum standards for
surveying in New Mexico;

(3) atitle which shall include at least the following:
(a) the project number;
(b) the project's control number (PCN) of the project (if applicable);

(4) the section(s), township(s), range(s), grant or reservation, municipality,
and county(s) in which the project is located;

(5) anorth arrow, equivalent scale, graphic scale, date of the fieldwork and a
location/vicinity map showing where the project is located;

(6) adescription of all monuments found or set; a found monument, which the
surveyor rejected as a property corner, shall be designated as such;

(7)  the basis of bearing used shall comply with the requirement Paragraph (6)
of Subsection J of 12.8.2.9 NMAC,;

(8) adescription of all documents used to determine the boundary of any tract
surveyed and to prepare the plat of survey; the recording information shall be stated; if
the document is not of record, all information used from the document shall be shown
on the plat;

(9) the pertinent boundaries of the tract abutting the right of way being
surveyed including the dimensions as measured on the ground and the record
dimensions unless the two are equivalent;

(10) the location and description of any evidence of a boundary line shall
comply with Paragraph (10) of Subsection J of 12.8.2.9 NMAC;

(11) all dimensions which pertain to the restoration of a lost corner or the
subdivision of a section under Subsection G of 12.8.2.13 NMAC;

(12) the location of permanent improvements lying in close proximity to the
new right of way limit line and which may be affected by the contemplated acquisition of
land for public use;

(13) the radius, central angle, length and the chord bearing and dimension for
all curves;

(14) the lot number, tract number, other designation or the apparent owner of
all adjoining tracts with the recording data of the last recorded plat;



(15) the name of the owner of the parcel from which right of way is being
acquired;

(16) the location and description of all easements known or disclosed to the
surveyor which cross, or adjoin the right of way;

(17) aletter/number or combined letter and number designation of each parcel
acquired for right of way.

K. Record the plat prepared under Subsection J of 12.8.2.13 NMAC with the county
clerk of the county or counties in which the project is located. The plat shall be recorded
within sixty days of completion. The plat is considered complete when the surveyor
signs and seals it. For the New Mexico department of transportation (NMDOT) right of
way surveys, the plat(s) may carry multiple surveyor certifications, if necessary, in order
to reflect specific areas of individual responsibility when the scope, duration, or
complexity of a NMDOT right of way project so requires. Certifications of all other right
of way surveys shall carry a single signature and seal of the surveyor responsible for
the survey.

[12.8.2.13 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.13 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]
12.8.2.14 CONTROL SURVEYING REPORTING:

Whenever a professional surveyor undertakes control surveying as defined in 12.8.2.7
NMAC, where the coordinates and elevations of the control points established by the
survey will be relied upon by professionals other than the original surveyor for future
phases of the work, the licensee shall prepare a control survey report and shall provide
the report to the prime client and to any other person who makes a written submittal.
Alternatively, if the entire report is contained on the face of the work product no other
reporting is required. The report will contain the following information as appropriate to
work being performed.

A. A listing of the final adjusted coordinates and elevations for all points within the
control network along with a complete description of all monuments established or
recovered.

B. A complete description of the horizontal and vertical datum used including the
basis of bearings.

C. A complete description of the state plane or UTM zone used including all
pertinent metadata, if appropriate.

D. Units used for coordinates and elevations.

E. Description of monument(s) used to constrain the control network including the
reference coordinates and elevations used for said monument(s).



F. If the final adjusted coordinates are based on a modified (ground datum) state
plane coordinate system or a low-distortion local coordinate system (ground referenced)
derived from geospatial positions, a complete description of the method(s) used to
generate the modified coordinates shall be included in the report.

G. A brief description detailing the field methods and equipment used to conduct the
control survey.

H. The date when the control monuments were set, the date when the control
monuments were positionally observed, and the date of the final network adjustment.

I.  Nothing in this section dictates the spatial accuracy that will be required by any
specific project. It will be the responsibility of the individual licensee to determine the
appropriate level of accuracy for each project. However, the licensee shall report the
spatial accuracy in both the horizontal and vertical components.

J. A certificate followed by the dated signature and seal of the surveyor responsible
for the control survey stating that the surveyor conducted an actual survey on the
ground and is responsible for the survey. The following model certification is considered
to be an example of the minimum that the surveyor should certify to:

l, (sur veyor pNew Mexiooe)ofessional SurveyorNo. ( sur veyor 6s | i c
number), do hereby certify that this Control Survey Report was prepared by me or under

my direct supervision based on an actual survey on the ground as described herein;

that | am responsible for this survey; and that the survey and report meets the minimum

standards for surveying in New Mexico.

[12.8.2.14 NMAC - N, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]

12.8.2.15 UNCLASSIFIED SURVEYING:

When a surveyor does surveying of a type not described in these standards, the
surveyor shall do all that is necessary to fully determine and report all information which
is relevant to the project. The scope of the project may be stated and limited. The
surveyor shall not prepare or sign a document, which could mislead or misinform. If a
surveyor issues a plat with the surveyoro6s si
these minimum standards, the plat shall comply with the applicable portions of
Subsection J of 12. 8.2.9 NMAC.

[12.8.2.15 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.14 NMAC, 5/01/2007]

12.8.2.16  ACCURACY:

A. Topographic map accuracy standards.



(1) The required horizontal and vertical accuracy of a topographic map
produced by field procedures or photogrammetric methods shall be determined on a
project by project basis and shall meet the accuracy standards set forth in the current
American society for photogrammetry and remote sensing (ASPRS) positional accuracy
standards for digital geospatial data. accuracy testing and reporting shall be pursuant to

the current OASPRS positional accuracy standa
testingandrepor t i ng shall be pursuant to the curren
standards for digital geospatial datad as wel

(2) [RESERVED]
(3) [RESERVED]

(4)  Accuracy reporting - If testing by an independent source of higher
accuracy has not or cannot be followed, the final topographic map shall contain the
following statement: "This map has been produced according to procedures that have
been demonstrated to produce data that meets or exceeds the minimum standards for a
topographic map compiled at a scale of (insert map scale here) with a contour interval
of (insert contour interval here)." If testing by an independent source of higher accuracy
has been conducted pursuant to the guidelines contained herein, the final topographic
map shall contain the following statement: "This map has been tested from an
independent source of higher accuracy and meets the Minimum Standards for a
topographic map compiled at a scale of (insert map scale here) with a contour interval
of (insert contour interval here)."

(5) Alteration of original mapping (scale): When the presentation scale of a
map is other than that of the compilation scale, that fact shall be stated in the legend.
"This map is an enlargement of a 1:2,400 map" or "This map is a reductionofa1'=2 0 0 0
map."

B. Boundary surveying, easement surveying and right-of-way surveying accuracy
standards. The surveyor shall determine the class of a survey using the definitions in
Paragraphs (1) through (3) of Subsection | of 12.8.2.7 NMAC, and achieve the accuracy
specified for the class of survey. It is the responsibility of the surveyor to select the
appropriate procedures and equipment to obtain the accuracy required by the minimum
field accuracy standards below for boundary surveying, easement surveying and right-
of-way surveying:

Urban Suburban Rural
Unadjusted closure (Traverse) 1 partin 15,000 1 part in 10,000
1 partin 7,500
Positional accuracy 0.10 ft. 0.10 ft.
0.25 ft.
Location of improvements 0.15 ft. 0.25 ft.

1.0 ft.



C. [RESERVED]
[12.8.2.16 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.15 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]
12.8.2.17 MONUMENTS:

A. Except as prescribed in Subsections B and C of 12.8.2.16 NMAC, monuments
set by the surveyor shall be ferrous metal, at least one-half inch in diameter (or the
equivalent if other than round) and at least 16 inches long. They shall bear a metal or
plastic cap stamped with the surveyoroés | icen

B. Corners which fall upon a hard surface shall be monumented with a chiseled
cross or a nail in a disk or tag bearing the

C. When a corner is located at a place where it is not practical to set a monument or
a monument at the corner is likely to be destroyed, at least one reference monument
shall be set and dimensioned on the plat such that the location of the corner can be
reestablished.

D. Monuments for the exterior corners of a subdivision shall be set by the surveyor
who certified the plat of the subdivision prior to recordation of the subdivision plat. It is
the responsibility of the subdivider to ensure that interior corners of a subdivision are set
within 30 days of completion of the construction of infrastructure improvements but
within one year after recordation of the subdivision plat. The board of licensure may
elect to extend the time period upon the showing of good cause. The surveyor certifying
the subdivision plat shall be responsible for notifying the subdivider by either including a
statement regarding this responsibility in the executed contract for services or by letter
sent certified mail, return receipt requested. The requirements of this section are met if
any surveyor stakes the interior corners of the subdivision. If the subdivision is
developed in phases, the interior corners of each phase may be staked by separate
surveyors, provided the above stated time limits are met or extended by decision of the
board of licensure. Under this section, it is the responsibility of each surveyor who
stakes the interior corners of a subdivision to record an affidavit with the county clerk.
Said affidavit shall be signed and sealed by the surveyor and shall contain at least the
following: subdivision name as shown on the recorded plat, all recording information,
name of subdivider, type of monuments set and, if the surveyor is staking a phase of the
subdivision, the limits of responsibility. If the surveyor is required to record a plat of
survey under the requirements of Subsection J of 12.8.2.9 NMAC, the affidavit may be
included on said plat.

E. A surveyor shall perpetuate monuments established by the public land survey
system which the surveyor finds in need of rehabilitation or replacement. A description
of the monument as found and as restored or referenced and all available dimensions to
other monuments shall be reported on a recorded plat. Said plat may be a boundary
survey plat. If circumstances do not require a boundary survey plat, a plat depicting only
the rehabilitated or replaced monuments will satisfy the requirements of this section.



F. For monuments which pertain to the survey, a surveyor shall perpetuate those
monuments which the surveyor finds in need of rehabilitation or replacement. A
description of the monument as found and as restored or referenced and all available
dimensions to other monuments shall be reported on a recorded plat.

[12.8.2.17 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.16 NMAC, 5/01/2007; A, 7/24/2016]
12.8.2.18 GENERAL:

A. Authority. These rules are authorized by the Engineering and Surveying
Practice Act.

B. Penalties. The New Mexico board of licensure for professional engineers and
professional surveyors may take those actions prescribed in the Engineering and
Surveying Practice Act against any surveyor who has been found in violation of these
standards, or against non-licensed practitioners.

C. Disclaimers. Any disclaimer by a surveyor purporting to disavow compliance
with any of these standards is prohibited.

D. Certifications. Professional surveyors should be prepared to certify to those
things required in the execution of their duties and those mandated by law or rule. They
should be cautious, however, in certifying only to conditions and facts falling within their
areas of competency. Certification language that goes beyond the obligations
prescribed by law and the responsibilities assumed by the surveyor in the normal
course of boundary surveying should be carefully considered by the surveyor before
signing and sealing any document.

E. Interpretation. The words "offers surveying services to the public" as used in
Paragraph B of Section 61-23-27 (10), NMSA 1978, includes the certification by a
surveyor of a plat or map which may be used by the public.

F. Advisory Opinions. The surveying committee of the board of licensure may
issue its opinion explaining the application of these standards to a specific situation.

[12.8.2.18 NMAC - Rp, 12.8.2.17 NMAC, 5/01/2007]

CHAPTER 9: NOTARIES PUBLIC
PART 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS [RESERVED]

PART 2: PERFORMING ELECTRONIC NOTARIAL ACTS
129.2.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Office of the Secretary of State.



[12.9.2.1 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

129.2.2 SCOPE:

All notaries public who register to perform electronic notarial acts.

[12.9.2.2 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.2.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

14-9A-5 (C) NMSA 1978

[12.9.2.3 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

129.2.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.9.2.4 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.25 EFFECTIVE DATE:

May 30, 2008 unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.9.2.5 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.2.6 OBJECTIVE:

The objective of the rule is to establish standards, guidelines, procedures, fees and to
define the duties and responsibilities for notaries public electing to perform electronic
notarial acts. The office of the secretary of state recognizes that as technology has
advanced financial institutions, mortgage lenders, government and businesses are
turning to electronic documents in order to speed up communication and productivity.
[12.9.2.6 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.2.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. "Electronic" means relating to technology having electrical, digital, magnetic,
wireless, optical, electromagnetic, or similar capabilities.

B. "Electronic document” means information that is created, generated, sent,
communicated, received or stored by electronic means.

C. "Electronic notarial act" means an official act by a notary public on or involving an
electronic document and using means authorized by the secretary of state.



D. "Electronically enabled notary public* means a notary public who has registered
with the secretary of state the capability of performing electronic notarial acts.

E. "Electronic notary seal" and "official electronic seal" mean information within a
notarized electronic document that includes t
appointment, commission expiration date and generally corresponds to data in notary
public seals used on paper documents.

F. "Electronic signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to
or logically associated with an electronic document and executed or adopted by a
person with the intent to sign the electronic document or record.

G. "Electronic notarial certificate” means the portion of a notarized electronic
document that is completed by a notary public
electronic signature or official electronic seal, official title, commission expiration date,
and any required information concerning the date and place of the electronic
notarization, and states the facts attested to or certified by the notary public in a
particular electronic notarization.

H. "Notary electronic signature” means those forms of electronic signature, which
have been approved by the secretary of state as an acceptable means for an electronic
notary to affix the not atonicGesordtHatfisibeingal si gnat u
notarized.

I. "Physical appearance" and "appears before the notary" mean that the principal
and the notary public are physically close enough to see, hear, communicate with and
give documents to each other without reliance on electronic devices such as telephone,
computers, video cameras or facsimile machines.

J. "Unique to the notary public" and "under the sole control" mean with respect to
an electronic notarization that the signing device used to affix the electronic signature of
the notary public and to render the official electronic seal information tamper-evident
must be accessible by and attributable solely to the notary public to the exclusion of all
other persons and entities operating to effectuate the authorized electronic notarization.

K. "Acknowledgment" means a notarial act in which a person at a single time and
place appears in person before the notary public and presents a document; is
personally known to the notary public or identified by the notary through satisfactory
evidence; and indicates to the notary public that the signature on the document was
voluntarily affixed by the person for the purpose stated within the document and, if
applicable, that the person had due authority to sign in a particular representative
capacity.

L. "Affirmation” means a notarial act, that is legally equivalent to an oath and in
which a person at a single time and place appears in person before the notary public; is
personally known to the notary public or identified by the notary public through



satisfactory evidence; and makes a vow of truthfulness or fidelity on penalty of perjury,
based on personal honor and without invoking a deity or using any form of the word
"swear".

M. "Jurat" means a notarial act in which a person at a single time and place appears
in person before the notary public and presents a document; is personally known to the
notary public or identified by the notary public through satisfactory evidence; signs the
document in the presence of the notary public that the person is voluntarily affixing his
signature and vouching for the truthfulness or accuracy of the signed document.

[12.9.2.7 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]
12.9.2.8 PHYSICAL APPEARANCE REQUIREMENT:

A. A notary public shall not perform an electronic notarial act if the document signer
does not appear in person before the notary public at the time of notarization. Under no
circumstance shall a notary public base identification merely upon familiarity with a
signerb6s electronic signature or an electroni

signer 6s el erewhenahe signer & nogin thet physical presence of the
notary public.

B. The methods for identifying document signers for an electronic notarization shall
be the same as the methods required for a paper-based notarization.

[12.9.2.8 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]
12.9.2.9 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS:

A. Before performing any electronic notarial act(s), a notary public shall register the
capability to notarize electronically with the secretary of state on a form prescribed by

the secretary of state.

B. In registering the capability to perform electronic notarial acts, the notary public
shall provide the following information to the secretary of state, notary processing unit:

(1) theapplicantdés name as currently commi ssi
address;
(2) theexpiration date of the notary publ i cos

commissioned notary;

3) proof of successful completion of a course of instruction on electronic
notarization offered through an educational provider approved by the United States
department of education (ACCET) accrediting council for continuing education and
training;



4) theap p | i c-maill addrsss;e

(5) the description of the electronic technology or technologies to be used in
attaching an electronic notarial certificate to an electronic document;

(6) the description of the electronic technology or technologies to be used in
attaching the notaryodos el ectronic signature t

(7) an exemplar of the notaryods electronic
el ectronic seal, which shall/l contain the nota
techniques that allow the notaryos electronic
read;

(8) the name, address and phone number of the vendor issuing the electronic
notary seal; this vendor shall be registered in the state of New Mexico to transact
business;

9 the starting and expiration date of the
revocations, annulment, or other premature termination of any registered device of the
registrant that was due to misuse or compromise of the device, with the date, cause,
and nature of each termination explained in detail.

[12.9.2.9 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.2.10 TYPES OF ELECTRONIC NOTARIAL ACTS:
A. acknowledgments
B. jurats
C. oaths or affirmations

[12.9.2.10 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.2.11 FORM AND MANNER OF PERFORMING THE ELECTRONIC
NOTARIAL ACT:

A. When performing an electronic notarial act, a notary public shall apply an
electronic signature, which shall be attached to or logically associated with the
electronic document such that removal or alteration of such electronic signature is
detectable and will render evidence of alteration of the document containing the notary
certificate which may invalidate the electronic notarial act.

B. When performing an electronic notarial act, a notary public shall complete an
electronic notarial certificate, which shall be attached to or logically associated with the
electronic document such that removal or alteration of the electronic notarial certificate



is detectable and will render evidence of alteration of the document containing the
notary certificate which may invalidate the electronic notarial act.

C.The notary publicbdébs electronic signature i
requirements are met:

Q) it IS unique to the notary public;

(2) it is capable of independent verification;

3) iti s retained under the notary publicds
4) it is attached to or logically associated with the electronic document, and

(5) it is linked to the data in such a manner that any subsequent alterations to
the under |l yi ng d onotarial eentificats areedétextalieramm mayc
invalidate the electronic notarial act.

D. When performing an electronic notarial act, a notary public shall apply an
electronic seal, when required by law, which shall be attached to or logically associated
with the electronic document such that removal or alteration of such official electronic
seal is detectable and will render evidence of alteration of the document containing the
notary certificate which may invalidate the electronic notarial act.

A

E. The notary publicds electronic seal is dee
requirements are met:

(1) it is unique to the notary public,
(2) itis capable of independent verification,
3) itis retained under the notary publicds
(4) itis attached to or logically associated with the electronic document and
(5) it is linked to the data in such a manner that any subsequent alterations to
the underlying document or electronic notarial certificate are detectable and may
invalidate the electronic notarial act.

F. An electronic image of a seal need not accompany an electronic signature.

G.The notary publicds el ect rranicmnotarysealghallat ur e a
be used only for the purpose of performing electronic notarial acts.

[12.9.2.11 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]



12.9.2.12 FEES:
A. For acknowledgments, $10.00
B. For jurats, $10.00
C. For oaths or affirmations, $10.00

D. An employer shall not establish fees for electronic notarial services that are in
excess of those specified within this rule.

E. When performing an electronic notarial act, a notary public may charge the
maximum fee specified in this section, charge less than the maximum fee or waive the
fee.

[12.9.2.12 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.2.13 CHANGE OF E-MAIL ADDRESS:

Within five days after the change oralan
address, the notary shall electronically transmit to the secretary of state a notice of the
change, signed with the notary official electronic signature.

[12.9.2.13 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.2.14 LIABILITY, SANCTIONS AND REMEDIES RELATING TO IMPROPER
ELECTRONIC NOTARIZATIONS:

The liability, sanctions, and remedies for the improper performance of electronic notarial
acts are the same as described in the New Mexico notary handbook.

[12.9.2.14 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

12.9.2.15 VIOLATION BY PERSON NOT REGISTERED TO PERFORM
ELECTRONIC NOTARIZATIONS:

Performing an electronic notarization without registering with the secretary of state is
subject to sanctions as described in the New Mexico notary public handbook.

[12.9.2.15 NMAC - N, 5/30/2008]

CHAPTER 10: LOBBYISTS [RESERVED]
CHAPTER 11: SECURITIES

el ect



PART 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS

12.11.1.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.

[12.11.1.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.1 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.1.2 SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as a
broker-dealer, an investment adviser or an issuer of securities, and their representatives
and agents.

[12.11.1.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.2 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.1.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

Section 58-13C-605A NMSA 1978 authorizes the director to adopt, amend and repeal
rules necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act, Sections 58-13C-101 to 701 NMSA 1978, hereinafter referred to in this
Chapter 11 as the "New Mexico Uniform Securities Act".

[12.11.1.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.3 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.1.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.11.1.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.4 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.1.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.11.1.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.5 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.1.6  OBJECTIVE:

To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.

[12.11.1.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.6 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.1.7 DEFINITIONS:



The definitions in this section apply throughout the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act
and the rules in Title 12 Chapter 11 NMAC unless the context otherwise requires.

A. "Affiliate" means a person who directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with another
person.

B. "Bank" as defined in Section 58-13C-102B(3) is limited to institutions whose
deposits or share accounts are insured to the maximum amount authorized by statute
by the federal deposit insurance corporation, the national credit union share insurance
fund or a successor authorized by federal law.

C. "Branch office" means any location where one or more agents or investment
adviser representatives regularly conducts the business of effecting or attempting to
effect transactions in any security, or transacting investment advisory business, or is
held out as such, excluding:

(1) any location that is established solely for customer service and/or back
office type functions where no sales activities are conducted and that is not held out to
the public as a branch office;

(2) any location that is the agemddénge, or i nv
provided that:

(a) only one agent or investment adviser representative, or multiple such
agents or representatives who reside at that location and are members of the same
immediate family, conduct business at the location;

(b) the location is not held out to the public as an office and the associated
person does not meet with customers at the location;

(c) neither customer funds nor securities are handled at that location;

(d) the agent or investment adviser representative is assigned to a designated
branch office, and such designated branch office is reflected on all business cards,
stationery, advertisements and other communications to the public by such agent or
investment adviser representative;

(e)t he agent 6s or i nrregpsndance artd comohunicadians 6 s Cc o
with the public are subject to the firm's supervision;

(f) electronic communications (e.g., e-mail) are made through the firm's
electronic system,;

(9) all orders are entered through the designated branch office or an
electronic system established by the firm that is reviewable at the branch office;



(h) written supervisory procedures pertaining to supervision of sales activities
conducted at the residence are maintained by the firm; and

(i) alist of the residence locations is maintained by the firm;

(3) any location, other than a primary residence, that is used for securities
business for less than 30 business days in any one calendar year, provided that such
location complies with the provisions of Subparagraphs (a) through (h) of Paragraph (2)
of this subsection;

(4) any office of convenience, where agents or investment adviser
representatives occasionally and exclusively by appointment meet with customers,
which is not held out to the public as an office; and

(5) atemporary location established in response to the implementation of a
business continuity plan;

(6) notwithstanding the exclusions provided in Paragraphs (1) through (5) of
this subsection, any location that is responsible for supervising the activities of persons
associated with the member at one or more non-branch locations of the member is
considered to be a branch office.

D. "Broker-dealer" as defined in Section 58-13C-102C does not include:

(1) apension or profit sharing trust, when effecting transactions for its own
account; or

(2) aninvestment adviser registered under the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act or registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 when placing
orders for the accounts of its clients in accordance with rules prescribed by the director,
provided that no commission or other remuneration is received by the investment
adviser for placing orders.

E. "Control person" means an officer, director, managing partner or trustee,
manager of a limited liability company or person of similar status or function or any
security holder who owns beneficially or of record ten percent or more of any class of
securities of an issuer.

F. "CRD" means the internet-based central registration depository that is the
central licensing and registration system for broker-dealers, agents and regulators in the
United States.

G. "FDIC" means the federal deposit insurance corporation of the United States.

H. "FINRA" means the financial industry self-regulatory organization created in July
2007 through the consolidation of NASD and the member regulation, enforcement and



arbitration functions of the New York stock exchange. As the successor to NASD,
FINRA is the entity designated as the filing depository by the SEC for purposes of the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C section 80b-1 et seq.

. "Institutional investor" as defined Section 58-13C-102L includes but is not
limited to:

(1) an entity, other than a natural person, which is directly engaged in the
business of, and derives at least eighty percent of its annual gross income from,
investing, purchasing, selling or trading in securities of more than one issuer and not of
its own issue, and that has gross assets in excess of $10,000,000 at the end of its latest
fiscal year;

(2) astate, a political subdivision of a state or an agency or corporate or other
instrumentality of a state or a political subdivision of a state; or

(3) afederally recognized Indian tribe or pueblo that has total assets in
excess of $10,000,000 and that has obtained certification from the division that it is an
institutional investor.

J. "IARD" means the internet-electronic filing system for registration and
disclosures by investment advisers and their associated persons developed and
operated by FINRA according to the requirements of the syst e més sponsor s,
and NASAA.

K. "Investment contract” as used in Section 58-13C-102DD includes any
investment by which an offeree furnishes initial value to an offeror, and a portion of this
initial value is subjected to the risks of the enterprise, and the furnishing of the initial
value is induced by the offerorés promises
reasonable understanding that a valuable benefit of some kind over and above the initial
value will accrue to the offeree as a result of the operation of the enterprise, and the
offeree does not receive the right to exercise practical and actual control over the
managerial decisions of the enterprise.

L. "NASAA" means the North American securities administrators association,
www.nasaa.org. whose membership is comprised of securities administrators in the 50
states, the District of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, Puerto Rico, Canada, and
Mexico, and whose activities include among others development of model rules and
uniform forms for use by state regulatory agencies.

M. "NASD" was a self-regulatory organization commonly known as the national
association of securities dealers responsible for the operation and regulation of the
Nasdaq stock market and over-the-counter markets and consolidated into FINRA in July
2007.
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N. An "offer" is made within the meaning of Subsection O of Section 58-13C-202,
so far as the securities holders of an issuer are concerned, if there is submitted to the
vote of the securities holders a proposal, plan or agreement for:

(1) areclassification of securities of such issuer which involves the
substitution or exchange of a security for another security;

(2)  a statutory merger or consolidation in which securities of the issuer will
become or be exchanged for securities of another issuer;

(3) a transfer of assets of the issuer to another person in consideration of the
issuance of securities of the other person or any of its affiliates; or

(4) asale of securities of the issuer to another person in consideration of the
issuance or transfer to such issuer of securities of the other person or any of its
affiliates.

O. "Pledgee" within the meaning of Section 58-13C-202G of the New Mexico
Uniform Securities Act includes a "secured party" as that term is defined in Section 55-
9-102(a)(71) NMSA 1978.

P. "SEC" means the securities and exchange commission of the United States.
[12.11.1.7 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.7 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.1.8 [RESERVED]
12.11.1.9 FINDINGS OF THE DIRECTOR:

The director finds that adoption of these rules is in the public interest, appropriate for the
protection of investors and consistent with the purposes fairly intended by the policy and
provisions of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act.

[12.11.1.9 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.9 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.1.10 SEVERABILITY:

If any provision of these rules shall be determined to be invalid, such invalidity shall not
affect other provisions which can be given effect without the invalid provision, and to this
end the provisions of these rules are declared severable.

[12.11.1.10 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.10 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.1.11 FEES:



The fees set forth in this section do not include fees set by statute or as determined
elsewhere in these rules; are expressly prescribed for the expenses of various matters
arising pursuant to authority under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act; are
chargeable to the applicant or registrant; and unless otherwise provided, are payable at
the time an application or notice is filed. None of the fees paid are refundable.

A. Administrative fees.

(1) The fee for processing a name change in registration statements on file is
$50.00.

(2)  The fee for processing a name change for a registered broker-dealer or a
registered investment adviser is $50.00.

(3) The fee for an interpretative opinion, pursuant to Section 58-13C-605D, or
for a no action letter is $300.00.

B. Inspection fees. Broker-dealers and investment advisers registered or required
to be registered shall be charged a fee of $100.00 per examiner per day plus actual
costs of transportation and lodging where applicable for examinations conducted
pursuant to Section 58-13C-411D.

C. Successor firm fees.

(1)  An application for registration of a successor firm pursuant to Section 58-
13C-407A shall be accompanied by a fee of $300.00.

(2)  An application for registration of successor firms pursuant to Section 58-
13C-407A shall be accompanied by an administrative fee of $50.00 for each
representativebds registration which must be t
[12.11.1.11 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.11 NMAC, 1-1-2010; A, 7-1-2010]
12.11.1.12 ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE:

A. Application of rule. These rules govern proceedings conducted pursuant to
Section 58-13C-604B of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act.

B. Service. Service of subpoenas, notices of intent, summary orders, notices of
opportunity for hearing and final orders shall be made either:

Q) personally;

(2) by certified mail, return receipt requested, sent to the last known address
of the person; or



3) by such other means as are reasonably calculated to give actual notice.
C. Administrative conferences.
(1)  Any person entitled to a hearing pursuant to Section 58-13C-604B may

submit a written request to the director for an informal conference to discuss an order
issued or proposed to be issued by the director. A request for an informal conference

wi || not affect a personds right-13Co04B f or mall

provided that a proper request for a hearing is made pursuant to Section 58-13C-
604B(2). However, any person requesting an informal conference with the director must
specifically waive in writing the time deadlines for setting a formal hearing pursuant to
Section 58-13C-604B(2). Upon the granting of an informal conference, the formal
hearing will be indefinitely postponed pending the outcome of the informal conference.
A person who has formerly waived the right to have a hearing set within 60 days
pursuant to Section 58-13C-604B(2) may reinstate a request for a formal hearing by
written notice to the director.

2) The director may, at t haaequestfoeanot or 6 s

informal conference for the purpose of settlement or simplification of the issues.
Conduct and statements made during informal conferences are not admissible as
evidence to prove either liability or a violation of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act
or the rules thereunder. This rule does not require the exclusion of any evidence
otherwise discoverable merely because it is presented in the course of compromise
negotiations. This rule does not require exclusion when the evidence is offered for
another purpose, such as proving bias or prejudice of a witness, negativing a contention
of undue delay or proving an effort to obstruct a criminal investigation or prosecution.

3 If consistent with Section 58-13C-604B, the director may dispose of
proceedings pending pursuant to that section by stipulation, agreed settlement, consent
order or default.

D. Motions. Any motion made prior to the commencement of any hearing must be
made in writing to the director. Motions other than those for an extension of time or for
additional discovery must be accompanied by a memorandum of law and served on the
opposing party. Motions shall be a maximum of ten pages in length. The director may,
at the directorodéds sole discr et i duralordiscovery
motion not disposing of the merits of the proceeding. All motions not specifically acted
upon by the director shall be deemed denied upon the filing of the final order of the
director in the proceeding.

E. Discovery. Parties may, by motion to the director, request reasonable discovery
in addition to those procedures granted in Section 58-13C-604B(8). The director may, at
the directorés sole discretion, grant or
or conditions on discovery as may be necessary in the interests of economy and
expeditious decision making. Parties are encouraged to seek agreement on the scope
of discovery before presenting a motion for additional discovery to the director.
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F. Venue. All hearings conducted pursuant to Section 58-13C-604B shall be
conducted in the offices of the securities division or other convenient place within Santa
Fecounty. The director may, at the directordés disc
county of this state upon a finding that good cause exists to do so.

G. Evidence. In a proceeding held pursuant to Section 58-13C-604B, the formal
rules of evidence do not apply and the director or hearing officer may admit any
evidence and may give probative effect to evidence that is of a kind commonly relied on
by reasonably prudent people in the conduct of serious affairs.

H. Findings of fact and conclusions of law. The director or hearing officer may
require all parties of record to file proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law or final
orders at the close of the hearing.

I. Costs on appeal. The party seeking review pursuant to Section 58-13C-609
shall pay all costs of appeal, including the expenses of preparation of the record and
transcript.

J. Default orders.

(1) Arespondent that has received actual or constructive notice of the entry of
either a summary order or notice of intent, together with a notice of opportunity for
hearing, and fails to respond or appear within the time set forth in Section 58-13C-
604B(2) shall be deemed to have admitted the allegations set forth in the summary
order or notice of intent and shall be deemed to have consented to entry of a final order
as proposed in the summary order or notice of intent.

(2)  Arespondent that has received actual or constructive notice of a hearing
having been set and fails to appear, either in person or through counsel, at the time and
place set for such hearing shall be deemed to have admitted the allegations set forth in
the summary order or notice of intent that was entered in the matter before the hearing
officer and shall be deemed to have consented to entry of a final order.

[12.11.1.12 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.1.12 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.1.13 ADOPTION OF UNIFORM FORMS:

A. The following uniform forms promulgated by the SEC, including subsequent
amendments, are hereby adopted by reference for use in New Mexico:

(1) "Form ADV", uniform application for investment adviser registration;

(2) "Form ADV-E", uniform certificate of accounting of client securities and
funds in the possession or custody of an investment adviser;



3) "Form ADV-H", uniform application for a temporary or continuing
hardship exemption;

(4) "Form ADV-W", uniform notice of withdrawal from registration as
investment adviser;

(5) "Form BD", uniform application for broker-dealer registration;
(6) "Form BDW", uniform request for broker-dealer withdrawal; and
(7) "Form D", notice of sale of securities pursuant to regulation D.

B. The following uniform forms promulgated by FINRA and approved by the SEC,
including subsequent amendments, are hereby adopted by reference for use in New
Mexico:

(1) "Form BR", uniform branch office registration form;

(2) "Form U-4", uniform application for securities industry registration or
transfer; and

(3) "Form U-5", uniform termination notice for investment adviser registration.

C. The following uniform forms adopted by NASAA, including subsequent
amendments, are hereby adopted by reference for use in New Mexico:

(1) "Form NF", uniform investment company notice filing;
(2) "Form U-1", uniform application to register securities;
(3) "Form U-2", uniform consent to service of process;
(4) "Form U-2A", uniform corporate resolution; and

(5) "Form U-7", small company offerings registration;

[12.11.1.12 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]

PART 2: BROKER-DEALERS AND AGENTS

12.11.2.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.

[12.11.2.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.1 NMAC, 1-1-2010]



12.11.2.2 SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as
an investment adviser or an issuer of securities, and their agents.

[12.11.2.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.2 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:
Section 58-13C-605A NMSA 1978 authorizes the director to make, amend and rescind
rules as are necessary to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform Securities
Act, Sections 58-13C-101 to 701, hereinafter referred to in this Chapter 11 as the "New
Mexico Uniform Securities Act".
[12.11.2.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.3 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.4 DURATION:
Permanent.
[12.11.2.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.4 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:
January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.11.2.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.5 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.6 OBJECTIVE:
To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.
[12.11.2.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.6 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.7 DEFINITIONS:
[RESERVED]
12.11.2.8 APPLICATIONS FOR REGISTRATION:
A. Applications for registration by broker-dealers and agents who are members of

FINRA shall be filed with CRD on forms established for the CRD and, in addition
thereto, the broker-dealer shall file with the director a financial statement that is current



within 90 days of the date the application is received by the division, and a completed
affidavit of no sales or an explanation why such affidavit cannot be completed.

B. Applications for registration and annual reports of broker-dealers and agents not
members of the FINRA shall be filed with the director on forms BD, U-4, and affidavit of
no sales, as designated in 12.11.16 NMAC. If the applicant cannot complete the
affidavit of no sales, then the applicant shall file an explanation why such affidavit
cannot be completed.

C. An "application” for purposes of Section 58-13C-406A shall include any
information required by the director pursuant to Section 58-13C-406A(2).

D. Annual reports required by the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act or rules
promulgated thereunder shall be filed with the director on or before December 31 of
each year.

[12.11.2.8 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.8 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.29 REGISTRATION FEES:

A. Reqgistration fees required of broker-dealers and agents who are members of
FINRA shall be paid to CRD, in accordance with FINRA instructions. Annual renewal
fees shall be paid no later than December 31 of each year.

B. Registration fees required of broker-dealers and agents who are not members of
the FINRA shall be paid to the division. Annual renewal fees shall be paid to the division
on or before December 31 of each year.

[12.11.2.9 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.9 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.10 EXAMINATION REQUIREMENTS - AGENTS:

Each applicant for initial registration as a broker-dealer or agent is required to pass with
a grade of at least 70 percent, within two years prior to the date the application for
registration is filed in this state, the uniform securities agent state law examination
(series 63) or uniform combined state law examination (series 66), and one of the
general securities examinations in Subsection A below, unless the applicant's proposed
securities activities will be restricted, in which case the applicant is required to pass, in
addition to the series 63 or series 66 examination, each examination in Subsections B
to | of this section that relates to the applicant's proposed securities activities:

A. FINRA non-member general securities examination (series 2) or, in the case of
applicants registered with FINRA, the general securities registered representative
examination (series 7);



B. investment company products/variable contracts representative examination
(series 6);

C. limited registered representative examination (series 17);

D. direct participation program representative examination (series 22);
E. municipal securities representative examination (series 52);

F. corporate securities representative examination (series 62);

G. government securities limited representative qualification examination (series

H. Canada modules of the series 7 examination (series 37 and 38);
I. Japan module of the series 7 examination (series 47).
[12.11.2.10 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.10 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.11 EXAMINATION REQUIREMENTS WAIVER:

The examination requirement in 12.11.2.10 NMAC is waived for any applicant who
meets the criteria set forth in either Subsections A or B of this section.

A. The applicant has been registered, within two years prior to the date the
application for registration is filed in this state, as agents or as a broker-dealer under the
securities law of any other state that requires passing the uniform securities agent state
law examination or the uniform combined state law examination and has been
registered with FINRA, within two years prior to the date the application for registration
is filed, to engage in the type of business for which the applicant is applying for
registration.

B. The applicant has been registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act
within two years prior to the date the application is filed as an agent or broker-dealer to
engage in the type of business for which the applicant is seeking registration.

[12.11.2.11 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.11 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.12 EXAMINATION REQUIREMENTS - PRINCIPAL:

Prior to issuance of an initial registration as a broker-dealer, and at all times thereatfter,
at least one registered sales representative located at the principal office of the broker-
dealer, and, except as provided in 12.11.2.24 NMAC, at least one sales representative
located at each branch office in this state, who are so identified in the registration
application, shall be designated to act in a supervisory capacity in each such office.



Each supervisor designated in accordance with this section shall meet the examination
requirements specified in 12.11.2.10 NMAC for applicants whose securities activities
will not be restricted and shall pass with a grade of at least 70 percent the examination
in Subsection A of this section. If the broker-dealer's proposed securities activities will
be restricted, the designated supervisor is required to pass each examination in
Subsections B to D of this section that relates to the broker-dealer's proposed securities
activities:

A. general securities principal examination (series 24);

B. investment company products/variable contracts principal examination (series
26);

C. direct participation programs principal examination (series 39);

D. municipal securities principal examination (series 53).
[12.11.2.12 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.12 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.13 NOT COMPLETED AND WITHDRAWN APPLICATIONS:
Any application for registration which is not completed or withdrawn within six months
from the date it is initially received may be deemed materially incomplete, and the
director may issue an order denying the registration.
[12.11.2.13 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.13 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.14 AUTOMATIC EFFECTIVENESS:
Pursuant to Section 58-13C-406C, a registration becomes automatically effective 45
days after all requirements have been met and all requested information has been filed,
provided that no proceeding under Section 58-13C-412 has been instituted. A
registration may become effective sooner than 45 days after the filing of an application
if:

A. the director issues a registration before the expiration of 45 days; or

B. the director transmits approval of the registration status of an agent or broker-
dealer through the CRD of the FINRA.

[12.11.2.14 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.14 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.15 SECTION 202K EXEMPTION:

Persons effecting only transactions exempt pursuant to Section 58-13C-202K who are
duly licensed New Mexico real estate agents or duly registered under the New Mexico



Mortgage Loan Company and Loan Broker Act are exempt from the requirements of
Sections 58-13C-401A and 58-13C-402A.

[12.11.2.15 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.15 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.2.16 ISSUER AGENTS - SCOR OFFERINGS:

Persons acting for an issuer effecting offers and sales of securities registered pursuant
t0 12.11.10 NMAC, Small Company Offering Registration (SCOR), to whom no
commissions or other similar compensation is paid or given directly or indirectly for
effecting such transactions are exempt from the requirements of Sections 58-13C-401A
and 58-13C-402A.

[12.11.2.16 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.16 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.2.17 CANADIAN BROKER-DEALERS AND SALES REPRESENTATIVES
EXEMPTION:

A broker-dealer and its authorized agents are exempt from the registration requirements
of Sections 58-13C-401A and 58-13C-402A if:

A. the broker-dealer and its authorized agents are located in Canada;

B. the broker-dealer and its authorized agents are licensed or registered pursuant to
the laws of one or more Canadian provinces or territories;

C. the broker-dealer has no place of business in this state; and
D. the transactions in this state are limited to the following:

(1) transactions with a person who is temporarily in this state and with whom
the Canadian broker-dealer had a bona fide broker-dealer-client relationship before the
person entered the United States; or

(2) transactions with a person who is present in this state in relation to a self-
directed tax advantaged retirement plan in Canada of which the person is the holder or
contributor.

[12.11.2.17 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.17 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.2.18 NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS
LIMITATIONS:

A. Every broker-dealer, whether or not subject to Rule 15c¢3-1 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, shall maintain net capital in such minimum amounts as are
designated in that rule for the activities to be engaged in by a broker-dealer in this state.



B. The aggregate indebtedness of each broker-dealer whether or not subject to rule
15c¢3-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 shall not exceed the levels prescribed in
that rule.

C. If a broker-dealer is an individual, the person shall segregate from personal
capital in a separate account an amount sufficient to satisfy the net capital requirement,
and the amount so segregated shall be utilized solely for the business for which the
broker-dealer is registered.

D. The director may by order exempt any broker-dealer from the provisions of this
rule, either unconditionally or upon specified conditions, if by reason of the broker-
dealer's membership on a national securities exchange or the special nature of its
business and its financial position, and the safeguards that have been established for
the protection of customersd funds and securi
the public interest or for the protection of investors.

[12.11.2.18 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.18 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.19 FIDELITY BONDS:

A. Every broker-dealer shall file with the director a surety bond in the amount set by
the director, with a minimum of $100,000 and a maximum of $1,000,000, except as
provided in Subsections B and C of 12.11.2.19 NMAC. The bond shall comply with the
requirements of Subsection E of Section 411of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act.

B. Broker-dealers who are members of the securities investor protection corporation
will not be required to file the surety bond.

C. Broker-dealers who do not have custody of customer funds or securities will not
be required to file the surety bond.

D. Issuer agents shall file with the director a surety bond in the amount set by the
director, with a minimum of $10,000 and a maximum of $100,000.

[12.11.2.19 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.19 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.2.20 USE OF INTERNET FOR GENERAL DISSEMINATION OF
INFORMATION ON PRODUCTS AND SERVICES:

A. Broker-dealers and agents who use the internet to distribute information on
available products and services through communications made on the internet directed
generally to anyone having access to the internet and transmitted through internet
communications shall not be considered to be "transacting business" in this state for
purposes of Sections 58-13C-401A and 58-13C-402A of the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act based solely on that fact, provided that:



(1) the internet communication contains a legend in which it is clearly stated
that:

(a) the broker-dealer or agent in question may only transact business in this
state if first registered, excluded, or exempted from state broker-dealer or agent
registration requirements; and

(b) follow-up, individualized responses to persons in this state by the broker-
dealer or agent that involve either effecting or attempting to effect transactions in
securities, or rendering of personalized investment advice for compensation, will not be
made without compliance with broker-dealer or agent registration requirements, or an
applicable exemption or exclusion;

(2) the internet communication contains a mechanism which includes, but is
not limited to, technical "firewalls" or other implemented policies and procedures,
designed reasonably to ensure that before any subsequent, direct communication with
prospective customers or clients in this state, the broker-dealer and agent are first
registered in this state or qualify for an exemption or exclusion from the registration
requirement;

(3) the internet communication is limited to the dissemination of general
information on products and services and does not involve either effecting or attempting
to effect transactions in securities, or rendering personalized investment advice for
compensation in this state over the internet; and

(4)  with respect to broker-dealer or agent internet communications:

(a) the broker-dealer affiliation of the agent is prominently disclosed within the
internet communication;

(b) the broker-dealer with whom the agent is associated retains responsibility
for reviewing and approving the content of any internet communication by agent;

(c) the broker-dealer with whom the agent is associated first authorizes the
distribution of information on the particular products and services through the internet
communication; and

(d) when disseminating information through the internet communication, the
agent acts within the scope of the authority granted by the broker-dealer.

B. This rule extends to state broker-dealer and agent registration requirements only,
and does not excuse compliance with applicable securities registration, antifraud or
related provisions.

C. Nothing in this rule shall be construed to affect the activities of any broker-dealer
or agent engaged in business in this state that is not subject to the jurisdiction of the



director as provided in the National Securities Markets Improvements Act of 1996, as
amended.

[12.11.2.20 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.20 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.21 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS:

A. Each broker-dealer shall file with the director a copy of any complaint related to
its business, transactions or operations naming the broker-dealer or any of its partners,
officers, members, sales representatives or agents as defendants in any civil or criminal
proceeding, or in any administrative or disciplinary proceeding by any public or private
regulatory agency, within 20 days of the date the complaint is served on the broker-
dealer; a copy of any answer or reply thereto filed by the broker-dealer within ten days
of the date such is filed; and a copy of any decision, order or sanction made with
respect to any such proceeding within twenty days of the date the decision, order or
sanction is rendered.

B. Each broker-dealer shall file with the director a notice of transfer of control or
change of name not less than thirty days prior to the date on which the transfer of
control or change of name is to become effective or such shorter period as the director
may permit.

C. Except as otherwise provided in this section, all material changes in the
information included in a broker-dealer's most recent application for registration shall be
set forth in an amendment to form BD filed with the director within thirty days after the
change occurs.

D. Every broker-dealer shall file with the director the following reports concerning its
net capital and aggregate indebtedness:

(1) immediate facsimile, telegraphic or written notice whenever the net capital
of the broker-dealer is less than is required under 12.11.2.18 NMAC specifying the
respective amounts of its net capital and aggregated indebtedness on the date of the
notice; and

(2)  acopy of every report or notice required to be filed by the broker-dealer
pursuant to Rule 17a-11 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

E. Each broker-dealer shall give immediate written notice to the director of the theft
or disappearance of any New Mexico customers' securities or funds that are in the
custody or control of its offices, whether within or outside this state, stating all material
facts known to it concerning the theft or disappearance. However, if a broker-dealer
complies with the provisions of 17 C.F.R. 240.17(f)(1), such broker-dealer need not give
the notice required by this subsection.



F. Each broker-dealer shall file with the director a copy of any subordination
agreement relating to the broker-dealer, within ten days after the agreement has been
entered into, unless prior thereto the broker-dealer has filed a copy of the agreement
with a national securities exchange or association of which it is a member.

G. Each broker-dealer shall notify the director in writing at least ten days prior to
opening and not more than ten days after closing in this state any "branch office" as
defined in these rules. The notification shall include such information as the director
may request.

[12.11.2.21 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.21 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.22 FILING DOCUMENTS WITH THE DIRECTOR:

Broker-dealers and agents may satisfy filing requirements contained in these rules by
filing required documents with CRD where appropriate.

[12.11.2.22 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.22 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.23 DENIAL, SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION:

Any order denying, suspending, revoking, canceling or limiting the registration of, and
any order barring, a broker-dealer or agent may include such other sanctions as the
director finds appropriate.

[12.11.2.23 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.23 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.2.24 BRANCH OFFICE SUPERVISORY REQUIREMENTS:

Every registered broker-dealer must employ at its principal office and at each branch
office in this state at least one person designated to act in a supervisory capacity who is
registered as an agent in this state and has satisfied the supervisory examination
requirementin 12.11.2.12 NMAC. Designated supervisors must meet the requirements
of this section at the time that the principal or branch office located in this state opens
for business. Except as provided in Subsection A of 12.11.2.24 NMAC, the designated
supervisor must be physically located in the office that he or she supervises. After a
principal or branch office located in this state opens for business, if the designated
supervisor no longer meets the requirements of this section, the broker-dealer shall
have 90 days from the first date of noncompliance to meet the requirements of this
section, provided that the broker-dealer notifies the director in writing of the event of
noncompliance within five days of such event and further sets forth the method of
supervision pending the replacement of the designated supervisor.

A. For single agent branch offices, the supervisory requirement of this section shall
be satisfied if at least one person registered in this state who meets the examination



requirements of sections 12.11.2.10 NMAC and 12.11.2.12 NMAC is employed on a
full-time basis by the broker-dealer, and the broker-dealer shall:

(2) meet the supervisory requirements of FINRA;

(2)  conduct annual on-site field audits, by its compliance department, of each
single agent branch office, including, but not limited to, an examination for compliance
with books and records requirements, for evidence of outside business activity, and for
evidence that such activity was properly disclosed to and approved by the firm;

3) maintain in its principal office the results of all field audits conducted
pursuant to Paragraph (2) of this subsection;

(4)  contact annually either telephonically or in writing a random sampling of at
least 10 percent of the clients of each agent operating from single agent branch offices
to determine if such agents are complying with 12.11.4.16 NMAC, including, but not
limited to, whether agents are conducting any business with clients other than business
that has been disclosed to the broker-dealer; if clients are contacted telephonically the
broker-dealer shall maintain a written memorandum summarizing the questions asked
and the clients' responses; and

(5)  comply with any additional conditions that the director may by order
impose, if the director finds the issuance of such order is necessary or appropriate in
the public interest or for the protection of investors.

B. Branch office sales supervisors who have no supervisory or compliance
responsibility for net capital or investment banking functions may substitute the general
securities sales supervisor examination (series 8 or series 9/10) for the general
securities principal exam (series 24).

[12.11.2.24 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.2.24 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

PART 3: BROKER-DEALER AND AGENTS RECORDS
12.11.3.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.
[12.11.3.1 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.1.1, 1-1-2010]

12.11.3.2  SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as a
broker-dealer or an issuer of securities, and their agents.

[12.11.3.2 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.1.2, 1-1-2010]



12.11.3.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

Section 58-13C-605A NMSA 1978 authorizes the director to make, amend and rescind
rules as are necessary to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform Securities
Act Sections 58-13C-101 to 701 NMSA 1978, hereinafter referred to in this Chapter 11
as the "New Mexico Uniform Securities Act".

[12.11.3.3 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.1.3, 1-1-2010]

12.11.34 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.11.3.4 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.1.4 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.35 EFFECTIVE DATE:

January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.11.3.5 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.1.5, 1-1-2010]

12.11.3.6 OBJECTIVE:

To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.

[12.11.3.6 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.1.6, 1-1-2010]

12.11.3.7 DEFINITIONS:

[RESERVED]

12.11.3.8 BROKER-DEALERS REQUIRED BY FEDERAL LAW TO KEEP
RECORDS:

Every registered broker-dealer subject to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("the
1934 Act") and which is a member of a self-regulatory organization shall prepare and
keep current the records required by the 1934 Act and the appropriate self-regulatory
organization.

[12.11.3.8 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.6.1, 1-1-2010]

12.11.3.9 BROKER-DEALERS RECORDS:



Every registered broker-dealer not subject to 12.11.3.8 NMAC shall prepare and keep
current the following books and records relating to its business:

A. blotters (or other records of original entry) containing an itemized daily record of
all purchases and sales of securities, all receipts and deliveries of securities (including
certificate numbers), all receipts and disbursements of cash and all other debits and
credits; such records shall show the account for which each such transaction was
effected, the name and amount of securities, the unit and aggregate purchase or sale
price (if any), the trade date, and the name or other designation of the person from
whom purchased or received or to whom sold or delivered,;

B. ledgers or other records reflecting all assets and liabilities, income, expense and
capital accounts;

C. ledgers or other records reflecting securities in transfer, dividends and interest
received, securities borrowed and securities loaned, moneys borrowed and moneys
loaned (together with a record of the collateral therefor and any substitutions in the
collateral), and securities failed to receive and failed to deliver;

D. a securities record or ledger reflecting separately for each security as of the
clearance dates, all "long" or "short" positions (including securities in safekeeping)
carried by the broker-dealer for its account or for the account of its customers or
partners, and showing the location of all securities long and the offsetting position to all
securities short, and in all cases the name or designation of the account in which each
position is carried;

E. a memorandum of each order (order ticket), and of any other instruction given or
received for the purchase or sale of securities, whether executed or unexecuted; the
memorandum shall show the terms and conditions of the order or instruction; any
modification or cancellation thereof; the account for which entered; whether the
transaction was unsolicited; the time of entry; the price at which executed; and, to the
extent feasible, the time of execution or cancellation; orders entered pursuant to the
exercise of discretionary power by the broker-dealer, or any employee thereof, shall be
so designated; the term "time of entry" shall mean the time when the broker-dealer
transmits the order or instructions for execution or, if it is not so transmitted, the time
when it is received,;

F. a memorandum (order ticket) of each purchase and sale of securities for the
account of the broker-dealer showing the price and, to the extent feasible, the time of
execution;

G. copies of confirmations of all purchases and sales of securities, whether the
confirmations are issued by the broker-dealer or the issuer of the security involved, and
copies of notices of all other debits and credits for securities, cash and other items for
the account of customers and partners of the broker-dealer;



H. copies of all communications, correspondence and other records relating to
securities transactions with customers;

|. a separate file containing all complaints made or submitted by customers to the
broker-dealer or its agents relating to securities transactions; in this subsection,
"complaint” means any written or oral statement of a customer alleging a grievance
involving the activities of persons under the control of the broker-dealer in connection
with the solicitation or execution of any transaction or the disposition of any securities or
funds of that customer that would constitute a violation of the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act or any rule or order thereunder,

J. acustomer information form (new account information worksheet) for each
customer; if recommendations are to be made to the customer, the form shall include
information regarding the customer's name, address, telephone number, age,
occupation, annual income, net worth and investment objectives or, if the customer
refuses to provide the required information upon request, a notation to that effect;

K. for each cash and margin account established and maintained with the broker-
dealer, information setting forth the name and address of the beneficial owner of each
account, and copies of all guarantees of accounts and all margin, lending and option
agreements; in the case of joint, partnership, corporate and limited liability accounts, the
records required by this subsection must be executed by persons authorized to transact
business for the account;

L. copies of all powers of attorney and other evidence of the granting of any
discretionary authority with respect to a customer's account;

M. a record of the proof of money balances of all ledger accounts in the form of trial
balances;

N. all partnership agreements or, in the case of a corporation, all articles of
incorporation, by-laws, minute books and stock certificate books or, in the case of a
limited liability company, all articles of organization and operating agreements of the
broker-dealer;

O. a separate file containing copies of all advertising by the broker-dealer in the
conduct of its securities business; and

P. a computation made quarterly (on a calendar year basis) of its net capital and
ratio of its aggregate indebtedness to its net capital on form X-17A-5 of t he SECO6 s
FOCUS report as it may be amended from time to time.
[12.11.3.9 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.6.2, 1-1-2010]

12.11.3.10 BROKER-DEALERS PRESERVATION OF RECORDS:



Every registered broker-dealer not subject to 12.11.3.8 NMAC shall preserve for at least
five years, the most recent two years in an easily accessible place, all records required
under 12.11.3.9 NMAC except that records required under Subsections J and L of
12.11.3.9 NMAC shall be preserved by the broker-dealer for at least five years after the
closing of the account; and records required under Subsection N of 12.11.3.9 NMAC
shall be preserved by the broker-dealer for at least five years after withdrawal or
expiration of its registration in this state. After a record or other document has been
preserved for one year as required under this section, a microfilm copy thereof may be
substituted for the remainder of the required period.

[12.11.3.10 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.6.3, 1-1-2010]
12.11.3.11 BROKER-DEALER BRANCH OFFICE RECORDS:

Except as provided in Subsection E below, every branch office of a registered broker-
dealer not subject to 12.11.3.8 NMAC shall prepare and keep current the following
records:

A. copies of the records described in Subsections E, G, H, I, Jand O of 12.11.3.9
NMAC;

B. blotters (or other records of original entry) setting forth an itemized daily record of
all purchases and sales of securities; this requirement may be satisfied by maintaining a
unit filing system where the order ticket information (described in Subsection E of
12.11.3.9 NMAC) required in Subsection A of 12.11.3.11 NMAC is accumulated and
segregated on a daily basis;

C. blotters (or other records of original entry) setting forth an itemized daily record of
all receipts and deliveries of securities (including certificate numbers) and all receipts
and disbursements of cash;

D. copies of customer monthly or other periodic statements that are issued by the
broker-dealer or that are furnished to the broker-dealer by the issuer of a security
purchased by a customer of the broker-dealer; and

E. branch offices of broker-dealers engaged solely in the offer and sale of either
securities issued by open-end investment companies, face-amount certificate
companies or unit investment trusts registered under the Investment Company Act of
1940, or the securities of direct participation program issuers, or both, shall prepare and
keep current copies of those records described in Subsections C, E, H, | and J of
12.11.3.9 NMAC.

[12.11.3.11 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.6.4, 1-1-2010]

12.11.3.12 BROKER-DEALER PRESERVATION OF BRANCH OFFICE RECORDS:



The records required in 12.11.3.11 NMAC shall be preserved at the branch office for a
period of not less than five years, the most recent two years in an easily accessible
place, except that customer new account forms shall be preserved for a period of not
less than three years after the closing of the account. After a record or document has
been preserved for one year as required under this subsection, a microfilm copy thereof
may be substituted for the remainder of the required period.

[12.11.3.12 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.6.5, 1-1-2010]
12.11.3.13 RECORDS OF CLEARING BROKER-DEALER:

This part does not require a registered broker-dealer to make and keep such records of
transactions cleared for the registrant by another registered broker-dealer as are
customarily made and kept by the clearing broker-dealer.

[12.11.3.13 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.6.6, 1-1-2010]
12.11.3.14 DIRECTOR MAY ORDER EXEMPTION:

The director may by order exempt any broker-dealer from all or part of the requirements
of this part, either unconditionally or upon specified conditions, if by reason of the
special nature of its business, the director finds the issuance of the order is necessary
or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors.

[12.11.3.14 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.6.7, 1-1-2010]
12.11.3.15 AGENT RECORDS:

Every registered agent shall have and keep current the following records relating to
customer securities transactions, unless the director by order exempts an agent from all
or part of the requirements of this part:

A. the customer information form as set forth in Subsection J of 12.11.3.9 NMAC;

B. a securities holding record for each customer including the customer's name,
address, telephone number, age, occupation, investment objectives and a chronological
listing of the names and amount of all securities purchased or sold for the account of the
customer, including the date of each transaction, and the unit purchase or sale price;
and

C. the record requirements may not be satisfied by maintaining a file of
confirmations unless permitted by order of the director.

[12.11.3.15 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.2.7, 1-1-2010]



PART 4: BROKER-DEALER AND AGENTS RULES OF CONDUCT AND
PROHIBITED BUSINESS PRACTICES

12.11.4.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.
[12.11.4.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.1 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.4.2 SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as a
broker-dealer or an issuer of securities, and their agents.

[12.11.4.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.2 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.4.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

Section 58-13C-605A NMSA 1978 authorizes the director to make, amend and rescind
rules as are necessary to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform Securities
Act, Sections 58-13C-101 to 701 NMSA 1978, hereinafter referred to in this Chapter 11
as the "New Mexico Uniform Securities Act".

[12.11.4.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.3 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.4.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.11.4.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.4 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.45 EFFECTIVE DATE:

January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.11.4.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.5 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.4.6  OBJECTIVE:

To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.

[12.11.4.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.6 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.4.7 DEFINITIONS:



[RESERVED]
12.11.48  WRITTEN CONFIRMATIONS:

Except as provided in 12.11.4.9 NMAC, each broker-dealer shall give or send to the
customer a written confirmation, promptly after execution, and before settlement, of
each transaction. The confirmation shall set forth:

A. adescription of the security purchased or sold, the date of the transaction, the
price at which the security was purchased or sold and any commission charged,;

B. whether the broker-dealer was acting for its own account, as agent for the
customer, as agent for some other person, or as agent for both the customer and some
other person;

C. when the broker-dealer is acting as agent for the customer, either the name of
the person from whom the security was purchased or to whom it was sold, or the fact
that the information will be furnished upon the request of the customer, if the information
is known to, or with reasonable diligence may be ascertained by, the broker-dealer; and

D. whether the transaction was unsolicited.
[12.11.4.8 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.8 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.4.9 COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 10b-10:

If applicable, compliance with Rule 10b-10 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 shall
be deemed compliance with 12.11.4.8 NMAC.

[12.11.4.9 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.9 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.4.10 WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES:

Each broker-dealer shall establish and keep current a set of written supervisory
procedures and a system for applying such procedures, which may be reasonably
expected to prevent and detect any violations of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act
and rules and orders thereunder. The procedures shall include the designation by name
or title of a number of supervisory employees reasonable in relation to the number of its
registered agents, offices and transactions in this state. A complete set of the
procedures and system for applying them shall be kept and maintained at every branch
office.

[12.11.4.10 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.10 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.4.11 CONTRACT WAIVING RIGHTS PROHIBITED:



A broker-dealer shall not enter into any contract with a customer if the contract contains
any condition, stipulation or provision binding the customer to waive any rights under
the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act or any rule or order thereunder. Any such
condition, stipulation or provision is void.

[12.11.4.11 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.11 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.4.12 NET WORTH WITHDRAWALS PROHIBITED:

No broker-dealer shall permit or effect a withdrawal of any part of its net worth, including
subordinated indebtedness, whether by redemption, retirement, repurchase, repayment,
or otherwise, that would cause its net capital or its aggregate indebtedness to violate
Subsections A or B of 12.11.2.18 NMAC, without prior written approval of the director.

[12.11.4.12 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.12 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.4.13 CUSTOMER COPIES OF CONTRACTS:

Each broker-dealer shall provide each customer with a conformed copy of all contracts

or agreements between the broker-dealer and the customer, and a copy of the

customer information forms prescribed under Subsections J and K of 12.11.3.9 NMAC,

not laterthanl5days after the initial securities tran
account.

[12.11.4.13 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.13 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.4.14 BROKER-DEALER ASSOCIATION WITH A DEPOSITORY
INSTITUTION:

No broker-dealer may associate with a depository institution by contract, agreement or
other means unless promotional and account-establishing functions are performed or
supervised by persons registered as agents representing the broker-dealer.

[12.11.4.14 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.14 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.4.15 PROHIBITED BUSINESS PRACTICES BY BROKER-DEALERS:
The following are deemed to be unethical and dishonest conduct or practices by a
broker-dealer under Section 58-13C-412C(13) NMSA 1978 without limiting those terms
to the practices specified herein:

A. causing any unreasonable delay in the delivery of securities purchased by any of

its customers, or in the payment upon request of free credit balances reflecting
completed transactions of any of its customers;



B.inducing trading 1 n a sexgessivoimsize @ Sequercec ount w
in view of the financial resources and character of the account;

C. recommending to a customer the purchase, sale or exchange of any securities
without reasonable grounds to believe that the recommendation is suitable for the
customer on the basis of information furnished by the customer after reasonable inquiry
concerning the customerds investment objectiyv
other information known by the broker-dealer;

D. executing a transaction on behalf of a customer without authority to do so;

E. executing a transaction for the account of a customer upon instruction from a
third party without first obtaining written discretionary authority from the customer,
unless the discretionary power relates solely to the time or price for the execution of
orders, or both;

F.exercising any discretionary power in effe
account without first obtaining written discretionary authority from the customer, unless
the discretionary power relates solely to the time or price for the execution of orders, or
both;

G. extending, arranging for, or participating in arranging for credit to a customer in
violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the regulations of the Federal
Reserve Board,

H. executing any transaction in a margin account without obtaining from its
customer a written margin agreement not later than 15 calendar days after the initial
transaction in the account;

. failing to segregat e c usrities mneafekeéping;r ee secur
J. hypothecating a customeré6és securities with
written consent of the customer is first obtained, except as permitted by rules of the
SEC;

K. charging its customer an unreasonable commission or service charge in any
transaction executed as agent for the customer;

L. entering into a transaction for its own account with a customer with an
unreasonable markup or markdown;

M. entering into a transaction for its own account with a customer in which a
commission is charged;

N. entering into a transaction with or for a customer at a price not reasonably related
to the current market price;



O. executing orders for the purchase by a customer of securities not registered or
exempted unless the transaction is exempted under the New Mexico Uniform Securities
Act;

P. representing itself as a financial or investment planner, consultant, or adviser,
when the representation does not accurately describe the nature of the services offered,
the qualifications of the person offering the services and the method of compensation
for the services;

Q. violating any material rule of any securities exchange or national securities
association of which it is a member with respect to any customer, transaction or
business in this state;

R. failing to furnish to a customer purchasing securities in an offering, not later than
the date of confirmation of the transaction, either a final prospectus or a preliminary
prospectus and an additional document, which together include all information set forth
in the final prospectus;

S. introducing customer transactions on a "fully disclosed" basis to another broker-
dealer that is not registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act;

T. recommending to a customer that the customer engage the services of an
investment adviser that is not registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act
or the Investment Advisers Act of 1940; and

U. using in a misleading manner any term or abbreviation that states or implies that
a person has special expertise, certification, or training in financial planning, including
but not limited to, the misleading use of a senior-specific certification or designation as
set forth in 12.11.17 NMAC.

[12.11.4.15 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.15 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.4.16 PROHIBITED BUSINESS PRACTICES BY AGENTS:

The following are deemed to be unethical or dishonest conduct or practices by an agent
under Section 58-13C-412C(13) NMSA 1978 without limiting those terms to the

practices specified herein:

A. borrowing money or securities from, or lending money or securities to, a
customer;

B. acting as a custodian for money, securities or an executed stock power of a
customer;

C. effecting securities transactions with a customer not recorded on the regular
books or records of the broker-dealer which the agent represents, unless the



transactions are disclosed to, and authorized in writing by, the broker-dealer prior to
execution of the transactions;

D. effecting transactions in securities for an account operating under a fictitious
name, unless disclosed to, and permitted in writing by, the broker-dealer or issuer which
the agent represents;

E. sharing directly or indirectly in profits or losses in the account of any customer
without first obtaining written authorization of the customer and the broker-dealer which
the agent represents;

F. dividing or otherwise splitting commissions, profits or other compensation
receivable in connection with the purchase or sale of securities in this state with any
person not so registered as an agent for the same broker-dealer, or for a broker-dealer
under direct or indirect common control;

bing or rel ating

G.using advertis roi
C denti fi e-dealéerbre n a me

the advertising
issuer;
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H. misrepresenting the services of a registered investment adviser on whose behalf
the agent is soliciting business or accounts; and

|. engaging in any of the practices specified in Subsections B, C, D, E, F, G, H, O,
P,Q, R, Tand U of 12.11.4.15 NMAC.

[12.11.4.16 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.4.16 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

PART 5: INVESTMENT ADVISERS, INVESTMENT ADVISER
REPRESENTATIVES AND FEDERAL COVERED ADVISERS

12.11.5.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.
[12.11.5.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.1 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.2 SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as
an investment adviser and their representatives.

[12.11.5.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.2 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:



Section 58-13C-605A NMSA 1978 authorizes the director to adopt, amend and repeal
rules necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act, Sections 58-13C-101 to 701 NMSA 1978, hereinafter referred to in this
Chapter 11 as the "New Mexico Uniform Securities Act".

[12.11.5.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.3 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.54 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.11.5.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.4 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.55 EFFECTIVE DATE:

January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.11.5.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.5 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.6  OBJECTIVE:

To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.

[12.11.5.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.6 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.7 DEFINITIONS:

The following definitions apply throughout this part.

A. "Custody" means holding, directly or indirectly, client funds or securities, or
having any authority to obtain possession of them or having the ability to appropriate
them.

(1) Custody includes:
(a) possession of client funds or securities, unless received inadvertently and
returned to the sender promptly, but in any case within three business days of receiving

them;

(b) any arrangement (including a general power of attorney) under which the
investment adviser is authorized or permitted to withdraw client funds or securities

mai ntained with a custodian upodantahde advi ser o



(c) any capacity (such as a general partner of a limited partnership, managing
member of a limited liability company or a comparable position for another type of
pooled investment vehicle, or trustee of a trust) that gives the investment adviser, an
owner of the investment adviser, or a supervised person of the investment adviser legal
ownership of or access to client funds or securities.

(2) Receipt of checks drawn by clients and made payable to unrelated third
parties will not meet the definition of custody if forwarded to the third party within 24
hours of receipt and the adviser maintains the records required.

B. For purposes of 12.11.5 NMAC, an investment adviser shall not be deemed to be
exercising "discretion” or "discretionary authority” when it places trade orders with a
broker-dealer pursuant to a third party trading agreement if:

(1) the investment adviser has executed a separate investment adviser
contract exclusively with its client which acknowledges that a third party trading
agreement will be executed to allow the investment adviser to effect securities

transactions for t he -dedlerazcount; i n t he clientds b

(2) the investment adviser contract specifically states that the client does not
grant discretionary authority to the investment adviser and the investment adviser in fact
does not exercise discretion with respect to the account; and

(3) athird party trading agreement is executed between the client and a
broker-d eal er whi ch specificallyultihmirt $ yt h e
broker-dealer account to the placement of trade orders and deduction of investment
adviser fees.

[12.11.5.7 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.8 ELECTRONIC FILING WITH DESIGNATED ENTITY:

A. Designation. Pursuant to Section 58-13C-406A, the director designates the
IARD and the CRD to receive and store filings and collect related fees from investment
advisers and investment adviser representatives on behalf of the director.

B. Use of the IARD and the CRD. Unless otherwise provided, all investment
adviser and investment adviser representative applications, amendments, reports,
notices, related filings and fees required to be filed with the director shall be filed
electronically with and transmitted to the IARD or the CRD.

C. Electronic signature. When a signature or signatures are required by the
particular instructions of any filing made through the IARD or the CRD, the applicant or
a duly authorized officer of the applicant, as required, shall affix his or her electronic
signature to the filing by typing his or her name in the appropriate fields and submitting

t hee €



the filing to the IARD or the CRD. Submission of a filing in this manner shall constitute
evidence of legal signature by any individuals whose names are typed on the filing.

D. Non-IARD and non-CRD filings. Notwithstanding Subsection B of this section,
any documents or fees required to be filed with the director that are not permitted to be
filed with or cannot be accepted by the IARD or the CRD shall be filed directly with the
director.

E. Hardship exemptions. This subsection provides two "hardship exemptions"
from the requirements to make electronic filings.

(1) Temporary hardship exemption.

(a) Investment advisers registered or required to be registered under the New
Mexico Uniform Securities Act that experience unanticipated technical difficulties that
prevent submission of an electronic filing to the IARD may request a temporary hardship
exemption from the requirements to file electronically.

(b) To request a temporary hardship exemption, the investment adviser must:

() file the form ADV-H in paper format with the director no later than
one business day after the filing that is the subject of the form ADV-H was due; and

(i)  submit the filing that is the subject of the form ADV-H in electronic
format to the IARD no later than seven business days after the filing was due.

(c) The temporary hardship exemption will be deemed effective upon receipt
by the director of the complete form ADV-H. Multiple temporary hardship exemption
requests within the same calendar year may be disallowed by the director.

(2)  Continuing hardship exemption. The director may exclude, by order, an
investment adviser from the requirement to make electronic filings with the IARD. Such
order will be granted only if the director determines that such an exemption is consistent
with the public interest and the protection of investors.

[12.11.5.8 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.9  APPLICATION FOR INVESTMENT ADVISER REGISTRATION:

A. Initial application. The application for initial registration as an investment
adviser pursuant to Section 58-13C-406A shall be made by completing the form ADV in
accordance with the form instructions and by filing the form with the IARD. The

application for initial registration shall also include the following:

(1) afinancial statement demonstrating compliance with the requirements of
12.11.5.23 NMAC, if necessary;



(2) the fee required by Section 58-13C-410C;

(3)  for sole proprietors, proof of compliance by the applicant with the
examination requirements of 12.11.5.14 NMAC unless such proof is available to the
director through the CRD; and

(4)  any other information required by the director.

B. Annual renewal. Pursuant to Section 58-13C-406D, a registration is effective
until midnight on December 31st of the year for which the application for registration
was filed. An investment adviser may renew a registration through the IARD and shall
pay the fee required by Section 58-13C-410C.

C. Amendments.

(2) Pursuant to Section 58-13C-406B, if the information or record contained in
an application filed under this section is or becomes inaccurate or incomplete in a
material respect, the registrant shall promptly file a correcting amendment in
accordance with the instructions in the form ADV.

(2)  An amendment will be considered to be filed promptly if it is filed within 30
days of the event that requires the filing.

D. Completion of filing. An application for initial registration or renewal is not
considered filed for purposes of Section 58-13C-406 until the required fee and all
additional information requested by the director has been received by the director.

[12.11.5.9 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.8 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.10 APPLICATION FOR INVESTMENT ADVISER REPRESENTATIVE
REGISTRATION:

A. Initial application. The application for initial registration pursuant to Section 59-
13C-406A shall be made by completing form U-4 in accordance with the form
instructions and by filing the form U-4 with the CRD. The application for initial
registration shall also include the following:

(1)  proof of compliance by the investment adviser representative applicant
with the examination requirements set out in 12.11.5.14 NMAC unless such proof is
available to the director through the CRD; and

(2) the fee required by Section 58-13C-410D.

B. Annual renewal. Pursuant to Section 58-13C-406D, a registration is effective
until midnight on December 31st of the year for which the application for registration



was filed. An investment adviser representative registration may be renewed through
the CRD with payment of the fee required by Section 58-13C-410D.

C. Amendments.

(2) Pursuant to Section 58-13C-406B, if the information or record contained in
an application filed under this section is or becomes inaccurate or incomplete in a
material respect, the investment adviser or investment adviser representative shall
promptly file a correcting amendment in accordance with the instructions in the form U-
4. The investment adviser and the investment adviser representative are under a
continuing obligation to update information required by the form U-4 as changes occur.

(2)  An amendment will be considered to be filed promptly if the amendment is
filed within 30 days of the event that requires the filing.

D. Completion of filing. An application for initial registration or a renewal is not
considered filed for purposes of Section 58-13C-406 until the required fee and all
additional information and records requested by the director pursuant to Section 58-
13C-410D have been received.

[12.11.5.10 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.8 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.11 NOTICE FILING REQUIREMENTS FOR FEDERAL COVERED
INVESTMENT ADVISERS:

A. Notice Filing. The notice filing for a federal covered investment adviser under
Section 58-13C-405C of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act shall be filed with the
IARD on an executed form ADV. A notice filing shall be deemed filed when the fee
required by Section 58-13C-410E and the complete form ADV are filed with and
accepted by the IARD on behalf of the state.

B. Annual renewal. The annual renewal of the notice filing for a federal covered
investment adviser pursuant to Section 58-13C-405C shall be filed with the IARD. The
renewal of the notice filing for a federal covered investment adviser shall be deemed
filed when the fee required by Section 58-13C-410E is filed with and accepted by the
IARD on behalf of the state.

C. Updates and amendments.

(1) A federal covered investment adviser shall file with the IARD, in
accordance with the instructions in the form ADV, any amendments to the federal
covered investment adviserdéds form ADV by
90 days after the end of its fiscal year.

f



(2) In addition to filing its annual updating amendment, the federal covered
investment adviser shall amend its form ADV by filing additional amendments promptly
with the IARD if:

(a) information provided in response to items 1, 3, 9, or 11 of part 1A or items
1, 2.A through 2.F, or 2.1 or part 1.B of form ADV become inaccurate in any way;

(b) information provided in response to items 4, 8, 10 of part 1.A or item 2.G
of part 1.B of form ADV become materially inaccurate; or

(c) information provided in its brochure becomes materially inaccurate.

(3)  An amendment shall be considered to be filed promptly if filed within 30
days of the event that requires the filing of the amendment.

[12.11.5.11 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.16 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.12 INVESTMENT ADVISER BROCHURE RULE:
A. DEFINITIONS. For the purpose of this section:

(1)  “contract for impersonal advisory services" means any contract relating
solely to the provision of investment advisory services:

(a) by means of written material or oral statements which do not purport to
meet the objectives or needs of specific individuals or accounts;

(b) through the issuance of statistical information containing no expression of
opinion as to the investment merits of a particular security; or

(c) any combination of the foregoing services;

(2)  "entering into," in reference to an investment advisory contract, does not
include an extension or renewal without material change of any such contract which is
in effect immediately prior to such extension or renewal; and

(3) "investment company contract” means a contract with an investment
company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 which meets the
requirements of Section 15(c) of that act.

B. General Requirements. Unless otherwise provided in this section, an
investment adviser, registered or required to be registered pursuant to Section 403 of
the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act shall, in accordance with the provisions of this
section, furnish each advisory client and prospective advisory client with a written
disclosure statement which may be a copy of part Il of its form ADV or written



documents containing at least the information then so required by part Il of form ADV, or
such other information as the director may require.

C. Delivery.

(1) Aninvestment adviser, except as provided in Paragraph (2) of this
subsection, shall deliver the statement required by this section to an advisory client or
prospective advisory client:

(a) not less than 48 hours prior to entering into any investment advisory
contract with such client or prospective client; or

(b) at the time of entering into any such contract, if the advisory client has a
right to terminate the contract without penalty within five business days after entering
into the contract.

(2)  The delivery of the statement required by Paragraph (1) of this subsection
need not be made in connection with entering into:

(a) an investment company contract; or

(b) a contract for impersonal advisory services requiring a payment of less
than $200.00.

D. Offer to deliver.

(1) Aninvestment adviser, except as provided in Paragraph (2) of this
subsection, annually shall, without charge, deliver or offer in writing to deliver upon
written request to each of its advisory clients the statement required by this section.

(2)  The delivery or offer required by Paragraph (1) of this subsection need not
be made to advisory clients receiving advisory services solely pursuant to:

(a) an investment company contract; or

(b) a contract for impersonal advisory services requiring a payment of less
than $200.00.

(3)  With respect to an advisory client entering into a contract or receiving
advisory services pursuant to a contract for impersonal advisory services which requires
a payment of $200.00 or more, an offer of the type specified in Paragraph (1) of this
subsection shall also be made at the time of entering into an advisory contract.

(4)  Any statement requested in writing by an advisory client pursuant to an
offer required by this section must be mailed or delivered within seven days of the
receipt of the request.



E. Omission of inapplicable information. If an investment adviser renders
substantially different types of investment advisory services to different advisory clients,
any information required by part 1l of form ADV may be omitted from the statement
furnished to an advisory client or prospective advisory client if such information is
applicable only to a type of investment advisory service or fee which is not rendered or
charged, or proposed to be rendered or charged, to that client or prospective client.

F. Other disclosures. Nothing in this section shall relieve any investment adviser
from any obligation pursuant to any provision of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act
or the rules and regulations thereunder or other federal or state law to disclose any
information to its advisory clients or prospective advisory clients not specifically required
by this section.

[12.11.5.12 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.13 TERMINATION, TRANSFER AND WITHDRAWAL.:

A. Termination of investment adviserr e pr esent ati veds empl oy men
association. Pursuant to Section 58-13C-408A, if an investment adviser representative
registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act terminates employment by or
association with an investment adviser or a federal covered investment adviser or
terminates activities that require registration as an investment adviser representative,
the investment adviser or federal covered investment adviser shall complete the form U-
5 in accordance with the form instructions and promptly file the form with CRD. If the
investment adviser representative learns that the investment adviser or federal covered
investment adviser has not filed the form, then the investment adviser representative
shall promptly file it. The form will be considered to be filed promptly if it is filed within 30
days of the termination.

B. Transfer of investment adviser representat
association. Pursuant to Section 58-13C-408B, if an investment adviser representative
registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act terminates employment by or
association with an investment adviser or federal covered investment adviser and
begins employment by or association with another investment adviser or federal
covered investment adviser, an initial application for registration must by filed in
compliance with Section 58-13C-406 and 12.11.5.10 NMAC.

C. Withdrawal.

Q) The application for withdrawal of a registration by an investment adviser
pursuant to Section 58-13C-409 shall be made by following the instructions on form
ADV-W and filing the form ADV-W with the IARD.

(2) The application for withdrawal of registration as an investment adviser
representative pursuant to Section 58-13C-409 shall be made by following the
instructions on form U-5 and filing the form U-5 with the CRD.



[12.11.5.13 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.14 EXAMINATION REQUIREMENTS:

An individual applying to be registered as an investment adviser or investment adviser
representative under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act shall provide the director

with proof of obtaining a passing score on either:

A. the uniform investment adviser law examination (series 65 - post 1999 version);
or,

B. the general securities representative examination (series 7) and the uniform
combined state law examination (series 66 - post 1999 version).

[12.11.5.14 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.9 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.15 LIMITED REGISTRATION:

Any individual whose proposed advisory activities will be restricted shall provide the
director with proof of obtaining a passing score on the uniform combined state law
examination (series 66 - post 1999 version) and each examination in the following

paragraphs that relates to the applicantés

A. the investment company products/variable contracts representative examination
(series 6);

B. the limited registered representative examination (series 17);
C. the direct participation programs representative examination (series 22);
D

. the municipal securities representative examination (series 52);

m

the corporate securities representative examination (series 62);
F. the government securities limited representative examination (series 72);
G. the Canada modules of the series 7 examination (series 37 and 38);
H. the Japan module of the series 7 examination (series 47).

[12.11.5.15 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.10 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.16 EXAMINATION REQUIREMENTS WAIVER:

The examination requirement in 12.11.5.14 NMAC is waived for any applicant who
meets the criteria set forth in any one of the paragraphs in this section:

pr



A. the applicant has been licensed or registered within two years prior to the date
the application is filed as an investment adviser or investment adviser representative
under the securities law of another state requiring examinations equivalent to the
examinations designated in 12.11.5.14 NMAC;

B. the applicant has been licensed or registered within two years prior to the date
the application is filed as an investment adviser or investment adviser representative
under the securities law of another state requiring examinations equivalent to:

(1) either the uniform investment adviser law examination (series 65 - pre
2000 version) or the uniform combined state law examination (series 66 - pre 2000
version); and

(2)  either the national association of securities dealers non-member general
securities examination (series 2) or the general securities registered representative
examination (series 7);

C. the applicant has been registered or licensed as an investment adviser or an
investment adviser representative under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act or its
predecessor act within two years prior to the date the application is filed.

[12.11.5.16 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.11 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.17 PROFESSIONAL DESIGNATION WAIVERS:

The examination requirements of sections 12.11.5.14 NMAC and 12.11.5.18 NMAC
shall not apply to an individual who currently holds at least one of the following
professional designations:

A. chartered financial analyst certification (CFA);

B. chartered investment counselor certification (CIC);

C. certified financial planner designation (CFP);

D. chartered financial consultant certification (ChFC); or

E. certified public accountant with a personal financial specialist designation (PFS).
[12.11.5.17 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.12 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.18 EXAMINATION REQUIREMENTS - PRINCIPAL.:

Prior to initial registration as an investment adviser, and at all times thereatfter, the

applicant is required to have at least one designated supervisor who, in addition to
passing the examinations required in 12.11.5.14 NMAC, has passed, within two years



prior to the date the application for registration is filed in this state, the general securities
principal examination (series 24) or the general securities sales supervisor qualification
examination (series 9/10), unless waived under 12.11.5.17 NMAC. An investment
adviser which does not have more than one person associated with the firm who is
registered pursuant to the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act is not required to have a
designated supervisor and is not required pass examinations in addition to those
required in 12.11.5.14 NMAC.

[12.11.5.18 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.13 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.19 LIMITED REGISTRATION:

An applicant may apply for a limited registration to engage in activities limited to one or

more of the categories set forth in 12.11.5.15 NMAC, provided the applicant has passed

the examination in the category for which the applicant is applying and the applicant has
submitted a written statement to the director
will be limited in this state and, in the case of an investment adviser representative

seeking a limited registration, how the representative will be adequately supervised.

[12.11.5.19 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.14 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.20 SOLICITORS:
A. Definitions for purposes of this section:

(1)  "solicitor" means any individual, person or entity who, directly or indirectly,
receives a cash fee or any other economic benefit for soliciting, referring, offering or
otherwise negotiating for the sale or selling of investment advisory services to clients on
behalf of an investment adviser;

(2)  "client" includes any prospective client.

B. It shall be unlawful for any investment adviser, registered or required to be
registered, to pay a cash fee or any other economic benefit, directly or indirectly, in
connection with solicitation activities unless:

(1) the solicitor is registered as an investment adviser representative or is
exempt from registration as provided for in Subsection E of this section;

(2)  the solicitor to whom a cash fee or any other economic benefit is paid for
such referral is not a person described in Paragraphs (2) through (6), (8) or (11) through
(13) of Section 58-13C-412C of NMSA 1978;

(3) the cash fee or any other economic benefit is paid by the investment
adviser with respect to solicitation activities that are impersonal in nature in that they are
provided solely by means of:



(a) written material or oral statements which do not purport to meet the
objectives or needs of the specific client;

(b) statistical information containing no expressions of opinions as to the
merits of particular securities; or

(c) any combination of the foregoing services,

(4) the cash fee or any other economic benefit is paid pursuant to a written
agreement to which the investment adviser is a party and all of the following conditions
are met:

(a) the written agreement:

() describes the solicitation or referral activities to be engaged in by
the solicitor on behalf of the investment adviser and the cash fee or any other economic
benefit to be received for such activities;

(i)  contains an undertaking by the solicitor to perform its duties under
the agreement in a manner consistent with the instructions of the investment adviser
and the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act and rules thereunder; and

(iii)  requires that the solicitor, at the time of any solicitation or referral
activities for which a cash fee or any other economic benefit is paid or to be paid by the
investment adviser, providethec | i ent with a current copy of t
disclosure document required under rule 203(b)-1 and a separate disclosure statement
as described in Subsection C of this section;

(b) the investment adviser receives from the client, prior to or at the time of
entering into any written investment advisory contract, a signed and dated
acknowl edgement of receipt of the investment
and the solicitordés written disclosure docume

(c) the investment adviser makes a bona fide effort and has a reasonable
basis for believing that the solicitor has complied with the agreement; and

(d) the foregoing requirements in Subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c) of Paragraph
(4) of this subsection shall not apply where the solicitor is:

() a partner, officer, director or employee of such investment adviser;
or

(i) a partner, officer, director or employee of a person that controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with such investment adviser, provided the
status of the solicitor is disclosed to the client at the time of the solicitation or referral.



C. The separate written disclosure document required to be furnished by the
solicitor to the client pursuant to Item (iii) of Subparagraph (a) of Paragraph (4) of
Subsection B of this section shall contain the following information:

(1) the name of the solicitor;
(2) the name of the investment adviser;

(3) the nature of the relationship, including any affiliation, between the solicitor
and the investment adviser;

(4) astatement that the solicitor will be compensated for solicitation or referral
services by the investment adviser;

(5) the terms of the compensation arrangement including a description of the
cash fee or any other economic benefit paid or to be paid to the solicitor; and

(6) the amount of compensation the client will pay, if any, in addition to the
advisory fees, and whether the cash fee or any other economic benefit paid to the
solicitor will be added to the advisory fee, creating a differential with respect to the
amount charged to other advisory clients who are not subject to the solicitor
compensation arrangement.

D. Nothing in this rule shall be deemed to relieve any person of any fiduciary or
other obligation to which such person may be subject under any law.

E. A solicitor is not required to be registered as an investment adviser or as an
investment adviser representative if the solicitor is in compliance with all requirements
of Subsections B and C in this section, and the solicitor either:

(2) receives compensation that consists of a one-time payment only; or
(2) receives an order of the director waiving the registration requirement.
[12.11.5.20 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.21 NOT COMPLETED AND WITHDRAWN APPLICATIONS:
Any application for registration that is not completed or withdrawn within six months
from the date it is initially received may be deemed materially incomplete and the
director may issue an order denying the application.

[12.11.5.21 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.15 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.22 CUSTODY OF CLIENT FUNDS OR SECURITIES BY INVESTMENT
ADVISERS:



A. Section definitions. For purposes of this section:
(1) "independent representative” means a person who:

(a) acts as agent for an advisory client, including in the case of a pooled
investment vehicle, for limited partners of a limited partnership, members of a limited
liability company, or other beneficial owners of another type of pooled investment
vehicle, and by law or contract is obligated to act in the best interest of the advisory
client or the limited partners, members or other beneficial owners;

(b) does not control, is not controlled by, and is not under common control
with the adviser; and

(c) does not have, and has not had within the past two years, a material
business relationship with the adviser;

(2)  "qualified custodian™ means:

(a) a bank or savings association that has deposits insured by the FDIC under
the Federal Deposit Insurance Act;

(b) a registered broker-dealer holding the client assets in customer accounts;

(c) a registered futures commission merchant under Section 4f(a) of the
Commodity Exchange Act, holding the client assets in customer accounts, but only with
respect to clientsdéd funds and security future
transactions in contracts for the purchase or sale of a commodity for future delivery and
options thereon; and

(d) a foreign financial institution that customarily holds financial assets for its
customers, provided that the foreign financi a
assets in customer accounts segregated from its proprietary assets; and

(3)  "supervised person” means any partner, officer, director (or other person
occupying a similar status or performing similar functions), or employee of an
investment adviser, or other person who provides investment advice on behalf of the
investment adviser and is subject to the supervision and control of the investment
adviser.

B. General provision. It shall be unlawful and a fraudulent or deceptive act,
practice, or course of business for any investment adviser registered or required to be
registered in New Mexico to take or have custody of any securities or funds of any client
unless the investment adviser complies with the provisions of this section.



C. Notice to director. The investment adviser shall promptly notify the director in
writing that the investment adviser has or may have custody. Such notification is
required to be given on form ADV.

D. Qualified custodian. The funds and securities shall be maintained by a qualified
custodian:

(2) ina separate account for each client
(2) in accounts that contain only the
clients, under the adviserds name as agent

E. Notice to clients. When the investment adviser opens an account with a
gualified custodian for maintaining a cl

the client promptly in writing of the qual

manner in which the funds and securities are maintained. The adviser shall notify the
client promptly in writing of any changes to this information.

F. Account statements.
(1)  Account statements must be sent to clients, either by:

(a) a qualified custodian; the investment adviser must have a reasonable
basis for believing that the qualified custodian sends an account statement, at least
quarterly, to each client for which it maintains funds or securities, identifying the amount
of funds and of each security in the account at the end of the period and setting forth all
transactions during that period; or

(b) the investment adviser.

(2) If the investment adviser sends account statements to its clients, the
adviser must comply with the following requirements:

(a) the investment adviser shall send an account statement, at least quarterly,
to each client for whom the investment adviser has custody of funds or securities,
identifying the amount of funds and of each security of which the investment adviser has
custody at the end of the period and setting forth all transactions during that period;

(b) the investment adviser shall engage an independent certified public
accountant who shall verify all of those funds and securities by actual examination at
least once during each calendar year at a time chosen by the accountant without prior
notice or announcement to the adviser and that is irregular from year to year, and shall
file a certificate on form ADV-E, 17 C.F.R. Section 279.8, with the director within 30
days after the completion of the examination, stating that it has examined the funds and
securities and describing the nature and the extent of the examination; and
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(c) the terms of engagement of the independent certified public accountant
shall require that, upon finding any material discrepancies during the course of the
examination, such accountant shall notify the director within one business day of the
finding, by means of a facsimile transmission or electronic mail, followed by first class
mail, directed to the attention of the director.

(3) Limited partnerships and limited liability companies. If the investment
adviser is a general partner of a limited partnership (or managing member of a limited
liability company, or holds a comparable position for another type of pooled investment
vehicle), the account statements required under this subsection must be sent to each
limited partner (or member or other beneficial owner or their independent
representative).

(4) Revocable trusts. If an investment adviser, owner of an investment
adviser, or supervised person of an investment adviser is serving as trustee of a
revocable trust and the investment adviser acts as the investment adviser to that trust,
the account statements required under this subsection must be sent to the grantor of
the trust. If the trust assets are being maintained by a qualified custodian, the adviser
shall instruct the custodian to send the statements directly to the grantor and must have
a reasonable basis for believing the statements are being sent.

(5) Irrevocable trusts.

(a) If an investment adviser, owner of an investment adviser, or supervised
person of an investment adviser is serving as trustee of an irrevocable trust and the
investment adviser acts as the investment adviser to that trust, the investment adviser
shall send a notice annually to every beneficiary entitled to receive the annual report of
the trustee pursuant to Section 46A-8-813C, NMSA 1978. The investment adviser is not
required to send this notice to beneficiaries for whom the trustee is also the legal
guardian.

(b) The notice must state that:

(1) the investment adviser or one of its owners or supervised persons
is serving as the trustee for the trust;

(i)  the investment adviser is providing advisory services to the trust;
and

(ili)  the beneficiary may receive, upon request, a copy of the account
statements required by this subsection.

(c) The notice required by Subparagraph (a) of this paragraph may be sent
with the annual report of the trustee required by Section 46A-8-813C, NMSA 1978.



(d) The investment adviser shall arrange for the account statements to be
sent to each beneficiary requesting statements. If the trust assets are being maintained
by a qualified custodian, the adviser shall instruct the custodian to send the statements
directly to the requesting beneficiaries and must have a reasonable basis for believing
the statements are being sent. If more than three beneficiaries request statements, the
custodian may charge a fee, reflecting its actual costs of copying and mailing the
statements, to each beneficiary receiving them.

(6) Co-trustees. Compliance with Paragraphs (4) and (5) of this subsection is
not required if the trust has at least one co-trustee who is neither a relative of, nor within
the past three years has had a material business relationship with, the investment
adviser or any of i1ts owners or supervised
maintained by a qualified custodian who is sending a copy of the account statements
required by Paragraph (1) of this subsection directly to the co-trustee.

G. Independent representatives. A client may designate an independent
representative to receive, on his behalf, notices and account statements as required
under Subsections E and F of this section.

H. Direct fee deduction.

(1)  An adviser who has custody by virtue of having fees directly deducted
from client advisory accounts must also provide the following safeguards:

(a) the investment adviser must have written authorization from the client to
deduct advisory fees from the account with the qualified custodian; and

(b) each time a fee is directly deducted from a client account, the investment
adviser must concurrently:

(1) send the qualified custodian an invoice of the amount of the fee to
be deducted from the c¢clientds account; and

(i)  send the client an invoice itemizing the fee; itemization includes the
formula used to calculate the fee, the amount of assets under management the fee is
based on, and the time period covered by the fee; invoices need not be sent more
frequently than every quarter, provided that the invoice must show the calculation of
each fee deducted during the quarter.

(2)  Aninvestment adviser is not required to comply with Item (ii) of
Subparagraph (b) of Paragraph (1) of this subsection) for any client who waives in
writing the right to receive an itemized invoice. The waiver must describe the right being
waived and must be on a document that does not address any other matter.

3) Whenever account statements are required to be sent to a grantor or
beneficiary of a trust pursuant to Paragraphs 4 or 5 of Subsection F of this section, the

pe



adviser shall send to that person the itemized invoice required by Item (ii) of
Subparagraph (b) of Paragraph (1) of this subsection unless the person has executed a
waiver in accordance with this subsection.

(4)  The investment adviser must notify the director in writing that the
investment adviser intends to use the safeguards provided in Paragraph (1) of this
subsection. Such natification is required to be given on the form ADV.

(5)  Aninvestment adviser having custody solely by virtue of having fees
directly deducted from client advisory accounts and who complies with this subsection
and with Subsections D through G of this section is not required to:

(a) meet the financial requirements for custodial advisers set forth in
Subsection B of 12.11.5.24 NMAC; and

(b) file an audited balance sheet on form ADV, part I, Schedule G, unless
required for some reason other than having custody of client assets.

I. Mutual fund shares. With respect to shares of an open-end investment
company as defined in Section 5(a)(1) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, 15
U.S.C.Section80a-5(a) (1), an investment adviser
agent in lieu of a qualified custodian for purposes of complying with this section.

J. Certain privately offered securities.

(1)  Aninvestment adviser is not required to comply with this section with
respect to securities that are:

(a) acquired from the issuer in a transaction or chain of transactions not
involving any public offering;

(b) uncertificated, and ownership thereof is recorded only on books of the
issuer or its transfer agent in the name of the client; and

(c) transferable only with prior consent of the issuer or holders of the
outstanding securities of the issuer.

(2)  This subsection applies to securities held for the account of a limited
partnership (or limited liability company or other type of pooled investment vehicle) only
if the limited partnership is audited and the audited financial statements are distributed
as required by Subsection K of this section.

K. Limited partnerships subject to annual audit. An investment adviser is not
required to comply with Paragraph (3) of Subsection F of this section with respect to the
account of a limited partnership (or limited liability company or another type of pooled
investment vehicle) that is subject to audit at least annually and distributes its audited

may



financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles to all limited partners (or members or other beneficial owners) within 120 days
of the end of the fiscal year, or in the case of a fund of funds within 180 days of the end
of the fiscal year.

L. Registered investment companies. An investment adviser is not required to
comply with this section with respect to the account of an investment company
registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-1 to -64).

M. Client funds or securities not maintained with qualified custodian. An
investment adviser who intends to have custody of client funds or securities but is not
able to utilize a qualified custodian, as defined in this section, must:

(1) first obtain the written approval of the director, and

(2)  comply with Subsections C through G of this section, to the extent
applicable, including performing those functions that would otherwise be performed by
the qualified custodian.

N. Beneficial trusts. An investment adviser who has custody of client assets solely
because the investment adviser, an owner of the investment adviser, or a supervised
person of the investment adviser is a trustee for a beneficial trust and the beneficial
owner of the trust is a parent, grandparent, spouse, sibling, child or grandchild of the
trustee is not required to file an audited balance sheet on form ADV, part Il, schedule G
if the investment adviser complies with this section. These relationships include "step”
relationships.

[12.11.5.22 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.23 MINIMUM FINANCIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR INVESTMENT
ADVISERS:

A. All investment advisers. An investment adviser registered or required to be
registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act that shall maintain at all times
a minimum net worth of $5,000 or such amount as may be required by any other
applicable subsection of this rule, whichever requirement is higher.

B. Investment advisers with custody. An investment adviser registered or
required to be registered under the Act that has custody of client funds or securities
shall maintain at all times a minimum net worth of $2,000,000, or post a surety bond in
the amount set by order of the director up to a maximum of $2,000,000.

C. Investment advisers with discretionary authority. An investment adviser
registered or required to be registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act
that has discretionary authority over client funds or securities but does not have custody



of client funds or securities shall maintain at all times a minimum net worth of $10,000,
unless the director by order approves a lesser minimum net worth.

D. Net worth less than minimum requirement. Unless otherwise exempted, as a

condition of the right to transact business in this state, every investment adviser
registered or required to be registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act
shall by the close of business on the next business day notify the director if that
i nvest ment advisero6s net worth is |l ess than t
such notice, each investment adviser shall file by the close of business on the next
business day a report with the director of its financial condition, including the following:

(1) atrial balance of all ledger accounts;

(2) astatement of all client funds or securities which are not segregated;

(3) acomputation of the aggregate amount of client ledger debit balances;
and

(4) astatement as to the number of client accounts.
E. Section definition of net worth. For purposes of 12.11.5.23 NMAC, the term
"net worth" shall mean an excess of assets over liabilities, as determined by generally
accepted accounting principles.

(1) Net worth shall not include the following assets:

(a) prepaid expenses, except as to items properly classified as assets under
generally accepted accounting principles;

(b) deferred charges;

(c) goodwill;

(d) franchise rights;

(e) organizational expenses;

() patents;

(9) copyrights;

(h) marketing rights;

(i) debt discount and expense; and

() all other assets of intangible nature.



(2) In addition, for individuals, net worth shall not include home, home
furnishings, automobile(s) and any other personal items not readily marketable.

(3) In addition, for corporations and limited liability companies, net worth shall
not include advances or loans to stockholders, officers or members.

(4) In addition, for partnerships, net worth shall not include advances or loans
to partners.

F. Appraisal. The director may require that a current appraisal be submitted in
order to establish the worth of any asset.

G. Minimum capital requirement for investment advisers with principal place
of business out of state. Every registered investment adviser that has its principal
place of business in a state other than New Mexico shall maintain only such minimum
capital as required by such state, provided the investment adviser is licensed or
registered in such state and is in compliance
requirement.

[12.11.5.23 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.17 NMAC and 12.11.5.18 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.24 USE OF THE INTERNET FOR GENERAL DISSEMINATION OF
INFORMATION ON PRODUCTS AND SERVICES:

A. Investment advisers and investment adviser representatives who use the internet
to distribute information on available products and services through communications
made on the internet directed generally to anyone having access to the internet and
transmitted through internet communications shall not be considered to be "transacting
business" in this state for purposes of Section 58-13C-403A based solely on that fact,
provided that:

(1) the internet communication contains a legend in which it is clearly stated
that:

(a) the investment adviser or investment adviser representative in question
may only transact business in this state if first registered, excluded, or exempted from
state investment adviser or investment adviser representative registration requirements;
and

(b) follow-up, individualized responses to persons in this state by the
investment adviser or investment adviser representative that involve either effecting or
attempting to effect transactions in securities, or rendering of personalized investment
advice for compensation, will not be made without compliance with state investment
adviser or investment adviser representative registration requirements or an applicable
exemption or exclusion;



(2)  the internet communication contains a mechanism, which includes but is
not limited to, technical "firewalls" or other implemented policies and procedures,
designed reasonably to ensure that before any subsequent, direct communication with
prospective customers or clients in this state, the investment adviser and investment
adviser representative are first registered in this state or qualify for an exemption or
exclusion from the registration requirement; nothing in this paragraph shall be construed
to relieve a state registered investment adviser or investment adviser representative
from any applicable securities registration requirement in this state;

(3) the internet communication is limited to the dissemination of general
information on products and services and does not involve either effecting or attempting
to effect transactions in securities or rendering personalized investment advice for
compensation in this state over the internet; and

4) in the case of an investment adviser representative:

(a) the affiliation of the investment adviser representative with the investment
adviser is prominently disclosed within the internet communication;

(b) the investment adviser with whom the investment adviser representative is
associated retains responsibility for reviewing and approving the content of any internet
communication by an investment adviser representative;

(c) the investment adviser with whom the investment adviser representative is
associated first authorizes the distribution of information on the particular products and
services through the internet communication; and

(d) in disseminating information through the internet communication, the
investment adviser representative acts within the scope of the authority granted by the
investment adviser.

B. This rule extends to state investment adviser and investment adviser
representative registration requirements only, and does not excuse compliance with
applicable securities registration, antifraud or related provisions.

C. Nothing in this rule shall be construed to affect the activities of any investment
adviser or investment adviser representative engaged in business in this state that is
not subject to the jurisdiction of the director as a result of the National Securities
Markets Improvements Act of 1996, as amended.

[12.11.5.24 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.20 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.25 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS:

A. Each investment adviser shall file annually with the director at the time when the
renewal report and fee are due, a completed form ADV-E and a financial statement,



prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and certified by
an independent certified public accountant, showing the financial condition of such
investment adviser as of the most recent practicable date. Investment advisers who do
not retain custody of clientsd funds or
and need not file form ADV-E.

B. Each investment adviser shall file with the director a copy of any complaint
related to its business, transactions, or operations naming the investment adviser or any
of its partners, officers or investment adviser representatives as defendants in any civil
or criminal proceeding, or in any administrative or disciplinary proceeding by any public
or private regulatory agency, within 20 days of the date the complaint is served on the
investment adviser; a copy of any answer or reply to the complaint filed by the
investment adviser within ten days of the date the answer or reply is filed; and a copy of
any decision, order or sanction made with respect to any such proceeding within 20
days of the date the decision, order or sanction is rendered.

C. Each investment adviser, using the appropriate schedule to form ADV, shall file
with the director a notice of transfer of control or change of name not less than 30 days
prior to the date on which the transfer of control or change of name is to become
effective, or such shorter period as the director may permit.

[12.11.5.25 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.21 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.26 DENIAL, SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION:

Any order denying, suspending, revoking, canceling or limiting the registration of, and
any order barring, an investment adviser or investment adviser representative may
include such other sanctions as the director finds appropriate.

[12.11.5.26 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.22 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.5.27 WITHDRAWAL OF REGISTRATION:

A. An application for withdrawal of the registration of an investment adviser,
registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act, shall be filed by the registrant
on form ADV-W and shall include a report on the status of all customer accounts of the
registrant in this state and any additional information the director may require.

B. An application for withdrawal of the registration of an investment adviser
representative, registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act, shall be filed
with the director on form U-5 by the investment adviser within 15 days of the termination
of the representativebds empl oyment.
[12.11.5.27 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.23 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.5.28 BRANCH OFFICE SUPERVISORY REQUIREMENTS:

secur



Every registered investment adviser must employ at its principal office and at each
branch office in this state at least one person designated to act in a supervisory capacity
who is qualified as an investment adviser representative in this state and has satisfied
the principal s examinati on Theaepignatede me n t
supervisor must meet the requirements of this section at the time that the principal or
branch office located in this state opens for business. The designated supervisor must
be physically located in the office that he or she supervises. After a principal or branch
office located in this state opens for business, if the designated supervisor no longer
meets the requirements of this section, the investment adviser shall have 90 days from
the first date of noncompliance to meet the requirements of this section, provided that
the investment adviser provides the director with written notice of the event of
noncompliance within five days of such event and further sets forth the method of
supervision pending the replacement of the designated supervisor.

A. For single-representative offices, this section shall be satisfied if at least one
person who meets the requirements of 12.11.5.18 NMAC is employed on a full-time
basis by the investment adviser, and the investment adviser shall:

(1)  conduct annual on-site field audits, by a person who meets the
requirements of 12.11.5.18 NMAC, of each single-representative office, including but
not limited to an examination for compliance with books and records requirements, and
for compliance with the rules of conduct of 12.11.7 NMAC.

(2) maintain in its principal office the results of all field audits conducted
pursuant to Paragraph (1) of Subsection A of this section; and

(3) comply with any additional conditions that the director may by order
impose, if the director finds the issuance of such order is necessary or appropriate in
the public interest or for the protection of investors.

B. Branch office supervisors who have no supervisory or compliance responsibility
for net worth or investment banking functions may substitute the general securities
sales supervisor examination (Series 8) for the examination, programs or certifications
required in 12.11.5.18 NMAC.

[12.11.5.28 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.5.24 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

PART 6: INVESTMENT ADVISERS AND INVESTMENT ADVISER
REPRESENTATIVES RECORDS

12.11.6.1 ISSUING AGENCY:
Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.

[12.11.6.1 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
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12.11.6.2 SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as
an investment adviser and their representatives.

[12.11.6.2 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.6.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:
Section 58-13C-605A NMSA 1978 authorizes the director to adopt, amend and repeal
rules necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act, Sections 58-13C-101 to 701, hereinafter referred to in this Chapter 11 as
the "New Mexico Uniform Securities Act".
[12.11.6.3 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.6.4 DURATION:
Permanent.
[12.11.6.4 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.6.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:
January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.11.6.5 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.6.6  OBJECTIVE:
To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.
[12.11.6.6 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.6.7 DEFINITIONS:
For purposes of 12.11.6 NMAC:
A. "discretionary power" shall not include discretion as to the price at which or the
time when a transaction is or is to be effected if, before the order is given by the

investment adviser, the client has directed or approved the purchase or sale of a
definite amount of the particular security; and



B. "investment supervisory services" means the giving of continuous advice as
to the investment of funds on the basis of the individual needs of each client.

[12.11.6.7 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.6.8 RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS FOR INVESTMENT ADVISERS:

A. Recordkeeping requirements for all investment advisers. Every investment
adviser registered or required to be registered under the New Mexico Uniform Securities
Act shall make and keep true, accurate and current the following books, ledgers and
records:

(1) ajournal or journals, including cash receipts and disbursements records,
and any other records of original entry forming the basis of entries in any ledger;

(2)  general and auxiliary ledgers, or other comparable records, reflecting
asset, liability, reserve, capital, income and expense accounts;

B a record of the investment adviserods se
with the requirements of Subsection A of 12.11.6.9 NMAC,;

(4)  all checkbooks, bank statements, canceled checks and cash
reconciliations of the investment adviser;

(5) all bills or statements, or copies of bills or statements, paid or unpaid,
relating to the investment adviser's business as an investment adviser;

(6) all trial balances, financial statements prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and internal audit working papers relating to
the investment adviserds business as an inves
paragraph, "financial statements" shall mean a balance sheet prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, an income statement, a cash flow
statement and a net worth computation, if applicable, as required by 12.11.5.23 NMAC,;

(7) records of the investment adviserdés wri
with the requirements of Subsection B of 12.11.6.9 NMAC;

(8) alist or other record of all accounts which identifies the accounts in which
the investment adviser is vested with any discretionary power with respect to the funds,
securities or transactions of any client;

(9)  acopy of all powers of attorney and other evidence of the granting of any
discretionary authority by any client to the investment adviser;



(10) acopy in writing of each agreement entered into by the investment adviser
with any client and all other written agreements otherwise relating to the investment
adviserds business as an investment advi

(11) afile containing a copy of each notice, circular, advertisement, newspaper
article, investment letter, bulletin or other communication including by electronic media
that the investment adviser circulates or distributes, directly or indirectly, to two or more
persons, other than persons connected with the investment adviser; if the notice,
circular, advertisement, newspaper article, investment letter, bulletin or other
communication including by electronic media recommends the purchase or sale of a
specific security and does not state the reasons for the recommendation, the investment
adviser shall retain a memorandum documenting its reasons for the recommendation;

(12) records of transactions in securities in which the investment adviser or an
affiliated person has a beneficial ownership interest in accordance with the
requirements of Subsection C of 12.11.6.9 NMAC,;

(13) a copy of each written statement and each amendment or revision, given
or sent to any client or prospective client of the investment adviser in accordance with
the provisions of 12.11.5.12 NMAC, and a record of the dates that each written
statement and each amendment or revision was given or offered to be given to any
client or prospective client who subsequently becomes a client;

(14) all accounts, books, internal working papers and any other records or
documents that are necessary to form the basis for or demonstrate the calculation of the
performance or rate of return of all managed accounts or securities recommendations in
any notice, circular, advertisement, newspaper article, investment letter, bulletin or other
communication including but not limited to distribution by print and electronic media that
the investment adviser circulates or distributes, directly or indirectly, to two or more
persons, other than persons employed by or contracted with the investment adviser;
however, with respect to the performance of managed accounts, the retention of all
account statements, if they reflect all
account for the period of the statement and all worksheets necessary to demonstrate
the calculation of the performance or rate of return of all managed accounts, shall be
deemed to satisfy the requirements of this paragraph;

(15) afile containing a copy of all written communications received or sent
regarding any litigation involving the investment adviser or any investment adviser
representative or employee and regarding any written customer or client complaint;

(16) written information about each investment advisory client that is the basis
for making any recommendation or providing any investment advice to such client;

(17) written procedures to supervise the activities of employees and investment
adviser representatives that are reasonably designed to achieve compliance with
applicable securities laws and regulations;

ser ;
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(18) afile containing a copy of each document, other than any notices of
general dissemination, that was filed with or received from any state or federal agency
or self-regulatory organization and that pertains to the registrant or its investment
adviser representatives; the file shall at a minimum contain applications, amendments,
renewal filings, correspondence and any other applicable state, federal agency or self-
regulatory organization documents issued or received by the registrant or its investment
adviser representatives; and

(199 a record of the investment adviseros pr
sent to consumers or customers and the date such notices were sent.

B. Additional recordkeeping requirements for investment advisers that have
custody of client securities or funds. If an investment adviser subject to Subsection
A of 12.11.6.8 NMAC has custody or possession of securities or funds of any client, the
records required to be made and retained pursuant to Subsection A of this section shall
include:

(1) ajournal or other record showing all purchases, sales, receipts and
deliveries of securities, including certificate numbers, for all accounts and all other
debits and credits to the accounts;

(2)  aseparate ledger account for each client showing all purchases, sales,
receipts and deliveries of securities, the date and price of each purchase and sale, and
all debits and credits;

(3)  copies of confirmations of all transactions effected by or for the account of
any client; and

(4) arecord for each security in which any client has a position, which record
shall show the name of each client having any interest in each security, the amount or
interest of each client and the location of each security.

C. Additional recordkeeping requirements for investment advisers that render
investment management services. Every investment adviser subject to Subsection A
of this section that renders any investment supervisory or management service to any
client shall, with respect to the portfolio being supervised or managed and to the extent
that the information is reasonably available to or obtainable by the investment adviser,
make and keep true, accurate and current:

Q) records showing separately for each client the securities purchased and
sold, and the date, amount and price of each purchase and sale; and

(2) information from which the investment adviser can promptly furnish the
name of each client and the current amount or interest of the client for each security in
which any client has a current position.



D. Client codes or designations. Any books or records required by this section
may be maintained by the investment adviser in such manner that the identity of any
client to whom the investment adviser renders investment supervisory services is
indicated by numerical or alphabetical code or some similar designation.

E. Manner of record preservation. Every investment adviser subject to Subsection
A of this section shall preserve the following records in the manner prescribed:

(1) all books and records required to be made under the provisions of
Subsections A and B and Paragraph (1) of Subsection C of this section, except for
books and records required to be made under the provisions of Paragraphs (11) and
(14) of Subsection A of this section, shall be maintained and preserved in an easily
accessible place for a period of not less than six years from the end of the fiscal year
during which the last entry was made on record, the first two years of which shall be in
the principal office of the investment adviser;

(2)  partnership articles and any amendments, articles of incorporation,
charters, minute books and stock certificate books of the investment adviser and of any
predecessor shall be maintained in the principal office of the investment adviser and
preserved until at least six years after termination of the enterprise;

3) books and records required to be made under the provisions of
Paragraphs (11) and (14) of Subsection A of this section shall be maintained and
preserved in an easily accessible place for a period of not less than six years, the first
two years of which shall be in the principal office of the investment adviser, from the end
of the fiscal year during which the investment adviser last published or otherwise
disseminated, directly or indirectly, the notice, circular, advertisement, newspaper
article, investment letter, bulletin or other communication including by print and
electronic media;

F. Notwithstanding other recordkeeping requirements of this section, the following
records or copies shall be required to be maintained at the business location of the
investment adviser from which the customer or client is being provided or has been
provided with investment advisory services:

(1) records required to be preserved under Paragraphs (3), (7) through (10),
(13), and (15) through (17) of Subsection A and Subsections B and C of this section
inclusive; and

(2) records or copies required under the provision of Paragraphs (11) and
(14) of Subsection A of this section which records or related records identify the name
of the investment adviser representative providing investment advice from that business

| ocation, its business | ocationsd physical

address and telephone number.
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G. The records shall be maintained for the period described in Paragraphs (1), (2)
and (3) of Subsection E of this section.

H. Preservation of records upon cessation. An investment adviser subject to
Subsection A of this section, before ceasing to conduct or discontinuing business as an
investment adviser, shall arrange for and be responsible for the preservation of the
books and records required to be maintained and preserved under this section for the
remainder of the period specified in this section and shall notify the administrator in
writing of the exact address where the books and records will be maintained during the
period.

I. Preservation of records by alternative media.
(1)  The records required to be maintained and preserved pursuant to this
subsection may be immediately produced by any form of data storage, as provided

below, and maintained and preserved for the required time by an investment adviser on:

(a) micrographic media, including microfilm, microfiche or any similar medium;
or

(b) electronic storage media, including any digital storage medium or system
that meets the terms of this subsection.

(2)  The investment adviser must:

(a) arrange and index the records in a way that permits easy location, access
and retrieval of any particular record;

(b) provide promptly any of the following that the administrator may request:

(1) a legible, true and complete copy of the record in the medium and
format in which it is stored,;

(i)  alegible, true and complete printout of the record; and
(i)  means to access, view and print the records.

(c) store separately, for the time required for preservation of the original
record, a duplicate copy of the record on any medium allowed by this subsection.

3) In the case of records on electronic storage media, the investment adviser
may maintain and preserve records which, in the ordinary course of the investment
advisero6s business, are created by the invest
received by the investment adviser solely on electronic media or by electronic data
transmission. The investment adviser must establish and maintain procedures to:



(a) maintain and preserve the records so as to reasonably safeguard them
from loss, alteration or destruction;

(b) limit access to the records to properly authorized personnel and the
administrator, including examiners and other representatives; and

(c) reasonably ensure that any reproduction of a non-electronic original
record on electronic storage media is complete, true and legible when retrieved.

[12.11.6.8 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.3.6.1-10, 1-1-2010]
12.11.6.9 RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS CONTINUED:

A.Record of the investment adviserodos securit
pursuant to Paragraph (3) of Subsection A of 12.11.6.8 NMAC.

(1) The investment adviser shall prepare a memorandum setting forth:

(a) each order given by the investment adviser for the purchase or sale of any
security;

(b) any instruction received by the investment adviser from the client
concerning the purchase, sale, receipt or delivery of a particular security; and

(c) any modification or cancellation of any such order or instruction.
(2)  The memorandum shall:

(a) show the terms and conditions of the order, instruction, modification or
cancellation;

(b) identify the person connected with the investment adviser who
recommended the transaction to the client and who placed the order;

(c) show the account for which entered, the date of entry and the bank or
broker-dealer by or through which executed where appropriate; and

(d) identify orders entered pursuant to the exercise of discretionary power.

B.Records of the i nvest ment adviserodos writte
pursuant to Paragraph (7) of Subsection A of 12.11.6.8 NMAC.

Q) The investment adviser shall keep originals of all written communications
received and copies of all written communications sent by the investment adviser
relating to:



(a) any recommendation made or proposed to be made and any advice given
or proposed to be given;

(b) any receipt, disbursement or delivery of funds or securities; and
(c) the placing or execution of any order to purchase or sell any security.

(2)  The investment adviser shall not be required to keep any unsolicited
market letters and other similar communications or general public distribution not
prepared by or for the investment adviser.

3) If the investment adviser sends any notice, circular, or other advertisement
offering any report, analysis, publication or other investment advisory service to more
than ten persons, the investment adviser shall not be required to keep a record of the
names and addresses of the persons to whom it was sent. However, if the notice,
circular or advertisement is distributed to persons named on any list, the investment
adviser shall retain, with a copy of the notice, circular or advertisement, a memorandum
describing the list and its source.

C. Records of transactions in securities in which the investment adviser or an
affiliated person has a beneficial ownership interest required pursuant to
Paragraph (12) of Subsection A of 12.11.6.8 NMAC.

(2) For the purposes of this subsection, the following definitions apply:

(a) "affiliated person" with respect to another person means any person
directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the other
person; any officer, director or partner of the other person; or any spouse or relative, by
blood or marriage, of the other person;

(b) "control” means the power to direct or influence the management or
policies of a company through the ownership of voting securities by contract or
otherwise; any person who owns beneficially, either directly or through one or more
controlled companies, more than 25 percent of the voting securities of a company shall
be presumed to control such company; and

(c) "primarily engaged in a business or businesses other than advising
investment advisory clients" means an investment adviser that, for each of its most
recent three fiscal years or for the period of time since organization, whichever is less,
derived, on an unconsolidated basis, more than fifty percent of its total sales and
revenues and its income or loss before income taxes and extraordinary items from such
other business or businesses.

(2)  The investment adviser shall keep a record of every transaction in a
security in which the investment adviser, and any person described in Paragraphs (3) or



(4) of this subsection, whichever is applicable, has, or by reason of any transaction
acquires, any direct or indirect beneficial ownership of such security.

3) For all investment advisers except those that are primarily engaged in a
business or businesses other than advising investment advisory clients, records of
transactions shall include records of the transactions of:

(a) any partner, officer or director of the investment adviser;

(b) any employee who participates in any way in the determination of which
recommendations are made;

(c) any employee who, in connection with his duties, obtains any information
concerning which securities are being recommended prior to the effective dissemination
of the recommendations; and

(d) any person in a control relationship to the investment adviser, any
affiliated person of a controlling person and any affiliated person of any affiliated person,
who obtains information concerning securities recommendation being made by the
investment advisor prior to the effective dissemination of the recommendations.

4) For all investment advisers that are primarily engaged in a business or
businesses other than advising investment advisory clients, records of transactions shall
include records of the transactions of:

(a) any partner, officer, and director or employee of the investment advisor
who participates in any way in the determination of which recommendations are made,
or who, in connection with his functions or duties, obtains any information concerning
which securities are being recommended prior to the effective dissemination of the
recommendations; and

(b) any person in a control relationship to the investment adviser, any
affiliated person of a controlling person and any affiliated person of any affiliated person
who obtains information concerning securities recommendations being made by the
investment adviser prior to the effective dissemination of the recommendations or of
information concerning the recommendations.

(5) The investment adviser shall record each transaction no later than ten
days after the end of the calendar quarter in which the transaction was effected.

(6) The investment adviser is not required to keep records of transactions:
(a) effected in any account over which neither the investment adviser nor any

person described in Paragraphs (3) or (4) of this subsection has any direct or indirect
influence or control; and



(b) in securities which are direct obligations of the United States.
(7)  The record shall state:
(a) the title and amount of the security involved;

(b) the date and nature of the transaction, such as purchase, sale or other
disposition; and

(c) the name of the broker-dealer or bank with or through which the
transaction was effected.

(8) Aninvestment adviser shall not be deemed to have violated the provisions
of this subsection because of the failure to record securities transactions of any person
described in Paragraphs (3) and (4) of this subsection if the investment adviser
establishes that it instituted adequate procedures and used reasonable diligence to
obtain promptly reports of all transactions required to be recorded.

[12.11.6.9 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.6.10 DIRECTOR MAY ORDER EXEMPTION:

The director may by order exempt any investment adviser from all or part of the
requirements of this section, either unconditionally or upon specified conditions, if by
reason of the special nature of its business, the director finds that issuance of the order
is necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors.

[12.11.6.10 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.3.6.11, 1-1-2010]

12.11.6.11 EXEMPTION FOR PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN ANOTHER
STATE:

Every investment adviser that has its principal place of business in a state other than
New Mexico shall be exempt from the requirements of this section, provided the
investment adviser is licensed or registered in such state and is in compliance with such
stateds recordkeeping requirements.
[12.11.6.11 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.3.6.12, 1-1-2010]

PART 7: INVESTMENT ADVISERS AND INVESTMENT ADVISER
REPRESENTATIVES RULES OF CONDUCT AND PROHIBITED BUSINESS
PRACTICES

12.11.7.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.



[12.11.7.1 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.1 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.7.2 SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as
an investment adviser and their representatives. To the extent that the conduct alleged
constitutes fraud or deceit, the provisions of this section also apply to all other persons,
in addition to investment advisers and investment adviser representatives, who advise
others for compensation, either directly or indirectly or through publications or writings,
as to the value of securities or the advisability of investing in, purchasing or selling
securities or who, for compensation and as part of a regular business, issue or
promulgate analyses or reports relating to securities.

[12.11.7.2 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.2 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.7.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

Section 58-13C-605A NMSA 1978 authorizes the director to adopt, amend and repeal
rules necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act, Sections 58-13C-101 to 701 NMSA 1978, hereinafter referred to in this
Chapter 11 as the "New Mexico Uniform Securities Act".

[12.11.7.3 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.3 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.7.4 DURATION:

Permanent.

[12.11.7.4 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.4 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.7.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:

January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.

[12.11.7.5 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.5 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.7.6 OBJECTIVE:

To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.

[12.11.7.6 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.6 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.7.7 DEFINITIONS:



[RESERVED]
12.11.7.8  [RESERVED]
12.11.7.9 CONTRACT WAIVING RIGHTS PROHIBITED:

An investment adviser shall not enter into any contract with a customer if the contract
contains any condition, stipulation or provision binding the customer to waive any rights
under the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act, or any rule or order thereunder, or of the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940. Any such condition, stipulation or provision is void.

[12.11.7.9 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.3.9.2, 1-1-2010]
12.11.7.10 WRITTEN CONTRACT REQUIRED:

A. No registered investment adviser may enter into, extend or renew any investment
advisory contract with a customer in this state unless the contract is in writing and a
copy of the contract is given to the customer within 15 days after the execution of the
contract. Such contract shall disclose, in substance, the services to be provided, the
term of the contract, the advisory fee, the formula for computing the fee, the amount of
prepaid fee to be returned in the event of contract termination or non-performance,
whether the contract grants discretionary power to the adviser and that no assignment
of such contract shall be made by the investment adviser without the consent of the
other party to the contract.

B. Itis unlawful to enter into, extend or renew any investment advisory contract if
the investment advisory contract:

(1)  provides for compensation to the investment adviser on the basis of a
share of capital gains upon or capital appreciation of the funds or any portion of the
funds of the client unless such contract complies with rule 205-3 under the Investment
Advisors Act of 1940;

(2) fails to provide in substance, that no assignment of such contract shall be
made by the investment adviser without the consent of the other party to the contract; or

(3) fails to provide, in substance, that the investment adviser, if a partnership,
will notify the other party to the contract of any change in the membership of such
partnership within a reasonable time after such change.

C. Paragraph (1) of Subsection B of this section shall not:
Q) be construed to prohibit an investment advisory contract which provides

for compensation based upon the total value of a fund averaged over a definite period,
or as of definite dates, or taken as of a definite date; and



(2) apply to an investment advisory contract with a person who is not a
resident of the United States.

D.The director, by rule, upowoderdpen di rector 06s
application, may conditionally or unconditionally exempt any person or transaction, or
any class or classes of persons or transactions, from Paragraph (1) of Subsection B of
this section, if and to the extent that the exemption relates to an investment advisory
contract with any person that the director determines does not need the protections of
Paragraph (1) of Subsection B, on the basis of such factors as financial sophistication,
net worth, knowledge of and experience in financial matters, amount of assets under
management, relationship with a registered investment adviser or investment adviser
representative, and such other factors as the director determines are consistent with
this section.

[12.11.7.10 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.10 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.7.11 [RESERVED]

12.11.7.12 PROHIBITED BUSINESS PRACTICES BY FEDERAL COVERED
ADVISERS:

The provisions of 12.11.7.13 and 12.11.7.14 NMAC apply to federal covered advisers to
the extent that the conduct alleged is fraudulent, deceptive, or as otherwise permitted by
the National Securities Markets Improvement Act of 1996 (Pub. L. No. 104-290). An
investment adviser or a federal covered adviser is a fiduciary and has a duty to act
primarily for the benefit of its clients. While the extent and nature of this duty varies
according to the nature of the relationship between an investment adviser and its clients
and the circumstances of each case, an investment adviser or a federal covered adviser
shall not engage in any unlawful, unethical or dishonest conduct or practices.

[12.11.7.12 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.12 NMAC, 1-1-2010]
12.11.7.13 PROHIBITED BUSINESS PRACTICES BY INVESTMENT ADVISERS:

The following are deemed to be unlawful, unethical, or dishonest conduct or practice by
an investment adviser or investment adviser representative without limiting those terms
to the practices specified herein:

A. recommending to a client to whom investment supervisory, management or
consulting services are provided the purchase, sale or exchange of any security without
reasonable grounds to believe that the recommendation is suitable for the client on the
basis of information furnished by the client after reasonable inquiry concerning the
client's investment objectives, financial situation and needs, and any other information
known by the investment adviser;



B. exercising any discretionary power in placing an order for the purchase or sale of
securities for a client without obtaining written discretionary authority from the client
within ten business days after the date of the first transaction placed pursuant to oral
discretionary authority, unless the discretionary power relates solely to the price at
which, or the time when, an order involving a definite amount of a specific security shall
be executed, or both;

C. inducing trading in a client's account that is excessive in size or frequency in view
of the financial resources, investment objectives and character of the account;

D. placing an order to purchase or sell a security for the account of a client without
authority to do so;

E. placing an order to purchase or sell a security for the account of a client upon
instruction of a third party without first having obtained a written third-party trading
authorization from the client;

F. borrowing money or securities from a client unless the client is a broker-dealer,
an affiliate of the investment adviser, or a depository institution engaged in the business
of loaning funds;

G. loaning money to a client unless the investment adviser is a depository institution
engaged in the business of loaning funds or the client is an affiliate of the investment
adviser;

H. misrepresenting to any advisory client, or prospective advisory client, the
gualifications of the investment adviser or any employee of the investment adviser, or to
misrepresent the nature of the advisory services being offered or fees to be charged for
such service, or to omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made
regarding qualifications, services or fees, in light of the circumstances under which they
are made, not misleading;

I. providing a report or recommendation to any advisory client prepared by
someone other than the investment adviser without disclosing that fact; this prohibition
does not apply to a situation where the adviser uses published research reports or
statistical analyses to render advice or where an adviser orders such a report in the
normal course of providing service;

J. charging a client an unreasonable advisory fee;

K. failing to disclose to clients in writing before any advice is rendered any material
conflict of interest relating to the investment adviser or any of its employees which could
reasonably be expected to impair the rendering of unbiased and objective advice
including:



(1) compensation arrangements connected with advisory services to clients
which are in addition to compensation from such clients for such services; and

(2) charging a client an advisory fee for rendering advice when a commission
for executing securities transactions pursuant to such advice will be received by the
investment adviser or its employees;

L. guaranteeing a client that a specific result will be achieved (e.g. gain or no loss),
with advice which will be rendered;

M. publishing, circulating or distributing any advertisement which does not comply
with Rule 206(4)-1 under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940;

N. disclosing the identity, affairs, or investments of any client unless required by law
to do so, or unless consented to by the client;

O. taking any action, directly or indirectly, with respect to those securities or funds in
which any client has any beneficial interest, where the investment adviser has custody
or possession of such securities or funds and the adviser's action does not comply with
the requirements of Rule 206(4)-2 under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940;

P. failing to establish, maintain and enforce written policies and procedures
reasonably designed to prevent the misuse of material nonpublic information contrary to
the provisions of Section 204A of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 or any other
practice contrary to the provisions of Section 215 of the Investment Advisers Act of
1940;

Q. engaging in any act, practice or course of business which is fraudulent, deceptive
or manipulative, contrary to the provisions of or in violation of the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act or any other rule of the director;

R. engaging in conduct or any act, indirectly or through or by any other person,
which would be unlawful for such person to do directly under the provisions of the New
Mexico Uniform Securities Act or any rule or regulation thereunder;

S. using in a misleading manner any term or abbreviation that states or implies that
a person has special expertise, certification, or training in financial planning, including,
but not limited to, the misleading use of a senior-specific certification or designation as
set forth in 12.11.17 NMAC;

T. having custody of client funds or securities unless the investment adviser or
investment adviser representative complies with the provisions of 12.11.5.22 NMAC,;

U. failing to establish, maintain, and enforce written policies and procedures
reasonably designed to prevent the misuse of material nonpublic information by the



investment adviser, or any investment adviser representative or employee, taking into
consideration the nature of the investment ad

V. entering into, extending, or renewing any investment advisory contract that
violates the provisions of this subsection;

(2) it is unlawful to enter into, extend or renew any investment advisory
contract if the investment advisory contract:

(a) provides for compensation to the investment adviser on the basis of a
share of capital gains upon or capital appreciation of the funds or any portion of the
funds of the client unless such contract complies with rule 205-3 under the Investment
Advisors Act of 1940;

(b) fails to provide in substance, that no assignment of such contract shall be
made by the investment adviser without the consent of the other party to the contract; or

(c) fails to provide, in substance, that the investment adviser, if a partnership,
will notify the other party to the contract of any change in the membership of such
partnership within a reasonable time after such change;

(2)  Subparagraph (a) of Paragraph (1) of this subsection shall not:

(a) be construed to prohibit an investment advisory contract which provides
for compensation based upon the total value of a fund averaged over a definite period,
or as of definite dates, or taken as of a definite date; and

(b) apply to an investment advisory contract with a person who is not a
resident of the United States;

B the director, by rule, upon the directo
application, may conditionally or unconditionally exempt any person or transaction, or
any class or classes of persons or transactions, from Subparagraph (a) of Paragraph (1)
of this subsection, if and to the extent that the exemption relates to an investment
advisory contract with any person that the director determines does not need the
protections of Subparagraph (a) of Paragraph (1) of this subsection, on the basis of
such factors as financial sophistication, net worth, knowledge of and experience in
financial matters, amount of assets under management, relationship with a registered
investment adviser or investment adviser representative, and such other factors as the
director determines are consistent with this section;

W. failing or refusing to furnish a client, upon reasonable request, information to
which the client is entitled, or to respond to a formal written demand or complaint;

X. in connection with the offer, purchase or sale of a security, leading a client to
believe that the investment adviser or investment adviser representative is in



possession of material, non-public information that would affect the value of the
security;

Y. failing to comply with any securities-related arbitration award, unless a
proceeding to vacate or modify such award is pending or unless the time limit to
commence such a proceeding has not yet expired; and

Z. engaging in conduct or any act, indirectly or through or by any other person,
which would be unlawful for an investment adviser or investment adviser representative
to do directly under the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act, this
chapter or any other rule of the director.

[12.11.7.13 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.13 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

12.11.7.14 PROHIBITED BUSINESS PRACTICES LISTED ARE NOT EXCLUSIVE:
The conduct set forth in 12.11.7.13 NMAC is not exclusive. Engaging in other conduct
such as nondisclosure, incomplete disclosure or deceptive practices shall be deemed
an unethical business practice. The federal statutory and regulatory provisions
referenced herein shall apply to investment advisers and federal covered advisers, to
the extent permitted by the National Securities Markets Improvement Act of 1996 (Pub.
L. No. 104-290).

[12.11.7.14 NMAC - Rp, 12.11.7.14 NMAC, 1-1-2010]

PART 8: REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES - GENERAL PROVISIONS
12.11.8.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.

[12.11.8.1 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.1.1, 1-1-2010]

12.11.8.2  SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as a
broker-dealer, an investment adviser or an issuer of securities, and their representatives
and agents.

[12.11.8.2 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.1.2, 1-1-2010]

12.11.8.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

Section 58-13C-605A authorizes the director to adopt, amend and repeal rules
necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform



Securities Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 58-13C-101 to 701, hereinafter referred to in this
Chapter 11 as the "New Mexico Uniform Securities Act".

[12.11.8.3 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.1.3, 1-1-2010]
12.11.84 DURATION:
Permanent.
[12.11.8.4 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.1.4, 1-1-2010]
12.11.8.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:
January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.11.8.5 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.1.5, 1-1-2010]
12.11.8.6  OBJECTIVE:
To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.
[12.11.8.6 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.1.6, 1-1-2010]
12.11.8.7 DEFINITIONS:
[RESERVED]
12.11.8.8  GENERAL REGISTRATION PROVISIONS:
The following provisions shall apply generally to the registration of securities in New
Mexico in addition to any requirements found elsewhere in the New Mexico Uniform
Securities Act or these rules.
A. Registration statements.

(1)  Avregistration application will not be considered as filed unless form U-1,
uniform application to register securities, has been properly completed and endorsed, is
accompanied by a filing fee calculated in accordance with Section 58-13C-305B, and
applicable documents specified in form U-1. Checks are to be made payable to the New

Mexico securities division. Fees paid upon the filing of the registration statement are not
refundable.



(2) Issuers may satisfy filing requirements contained in these rules by filing
required documents and fees using an electronic filing system in such a manner as
approved by order of the director.

B. Consent to service of process. Applications to register securities shall be
accompanied by a properly prepared and endorsed form U-2, uniform consent to
service of process, and, in the case of corporations, a form U-2A, uniform corporate
resolution. Form U-2 shall specify the director of the New Mexico securities division as
the agent to receive service of process.

C. Registration effectiveness.

(2) If a registration application seeks to register only a portion of a larger
offering, the application shall be deemed effective only as to the securities specified to
be offered in this state.

(2) If it appears that a registration application is incomplete, inaccurate,
compromises investor protection, tends to work a fraud on investors or is in any other
way in violation of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act, the division may issue a
comment letter. Matters raised in the comment letter may be cause for issuance of a
stop order if not resolved.

D. Fees for amendments to increase amount of securities offered.

(1) Pre-effective amendments increasing the amount of securities to be
offered and sold are subject to additional fees of 1/10 of 1 percent of the amount of the
increase, provided that no additional fee is required if, as a result of the increase, the
total amount registered is less than $525,000.

(2) Pursuant to Section 58-13C-305J, post-effective amendments registering
additional securities become effective upon filing of the amendment and payment of
fees of 3/10 of 1 percent of the incremental amount of increase. Each increase will be
subject to a minimum fee of $525.00 and maximum of $2,500 unless the maximum fee
of $2,500 was previously paid in connection with such application for registration. If the
maximum fee of $2,500 was previously paid, then no further fee shall be required.

E. Confidentiality. Unless a valid claim of privilege or confidentiality is asserted
pursuant to Section 58-13C-607B(2) of the New Mexico Uniform Securities Act,
information contained in registration applications filed with the division is available for
public inspection.

F. Amendments.
(1) Amendments to the application for registration may be made by filing an

amended form U-1 plainly marked "Amendment" at the top of the form and
accompanied by a letter explaining the change.



(2)  The following will require an amended form U-1.:

(a) amendments to the name under which the issuer is doing or intends to do
business; amended form U-1 must include the former and current names and must be
accompanied by a fee of $50.00, an amended form U-2 and, if a corporation, form U-
2A:;

(b)changes to the | ocat ilbusinessfoffice éind,ifths suer 6 s
issuer is a foreign or territorial person, the name and address of its agent in the United
States authorized to receive notice or service of process;

(c) changes to the names and addresses of the underwriters;
(dychangestothe names and addresses of the 1issu
(e) changes to the amount of securities to be registered.

G. Multiple types of securities.

(1) A separate application and fee must be filed for each type of security
offered, unless such securities are sold as units.

(2) In the case of warrants and rights, the securities purchasable upon
exercise shall be registered together with the warrants and rights. In the case of
convertible securities, only the convertible security itself need be registered if no further
consideration is required for conversion other than the surrender of the convertible
security.

H. Sequential partnerships.

(1) Limited partnerships offered sequentially or simultaneously must be
registered individually in the name of each specific partnership and accompanied by the
proper fee even if multiple partnerships are registered in a single registration statement
with the security and exchange commission. If the issuer wishes to avoid the filing of
duplicate exhibits for each partnership within a series, all partnerships to be included
within a series must be identified to the division at the time of the initial filing.

(2)  As subsequent partnerships are sought to be declared effective, the
following must be filed with the division:

(a) form U-1;
(b) a copy of any supplement or any post-effective amendment filed with the

security and exchange commission; such supplement or post-effective amendment
must detail any material changes in any exhibit previously filed with the division and



must include any additional exhibits pertaining to a particular partnership within a series
that have not been previously filed;

(c) the appropriate filing fee; and

(d) in the absence of any material changes, subsequent partnerships within a
series will be declared effective upon receipt of notice of the offering commencement
date.

I. Renewal of permits. Permits authorizing the sale of securities registered by
filing, coordination or qualification are effective for one year from date of issuance. In
order to extend the permit, a new application must be filed on form U-1 together with the
latest amendment to the offering document. All previously filed exhibits may be
incorporated by reference. The application must be accompanied by a new filing fee
and must be received by the division no later than two weeks prior to the expiration of
the current permit.

J. Abandonment and withdrawal of registration statement. Any registration
statement filed by filing, coordination or qualification shall be considered abandoned
and withdrawn if there is no communication or activity regarding such filing for a period
of six consecutive months. Any registration statement that has been abandoned and
withdrawn may be re-filed by filing anew the appropriate documents and filing fee.

[12.11.8.8 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.1.8, 1-1-2010]
12.11.8.9 RESERVED.
12.11.8.10 REGISTRATION BY COORDINATION:

A registration statement under Section 58-13C-303(B) shall be submitted on form U-1,
shall contain the following information and be accompanied by the following documents,
in addition to the information specified in Section 58-13C-303B and Section 58-13C-
305C and the consent to service of process on form U-2 required by Section 58-13C-
303B(3):

A. copies of the articles of incorporation and by-laws or equivalents currently in
effect, any agreements with or among underwriters of the offering, any instrument
governing the issuance of the security to be registered, a specimen of the security and,
if the security to be registered is a note, bond, debenture or other evidence of
indebtedness, a trust indenture, unless the security is a face-amount certificate
registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 or unless the requirement to
furnish a trust indenture relating to the securities is waived by the director for good
cause shown; and

B. one copy of any other information or any documents required to be filed under
form U-1.



[12.11.8.10 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.3, 1-1-2010]
12.11.8.11 REGISTRATION BY QUALIFICATION:

A registration statement under Section 58-13C-304 shall be submitted on form U-1,
shall contain the following information and be accompanied by the following documents,
in addition to the information specified in Section 58-13C-304 and the consent to service
of process on form U-2 required by Section 58-13C-304B:

A. copies of the articles of incorporation and by-laws or equivalents currently in
effect, any agreements with or among underwriters of the offering, any instrument
governing the issuance of the security to be registered, a specimen of the security and,
if the security to be registered is a note, bond, debenture or other evidence of
indebtedness, a trust indenture unless the security is a face amount certificate
registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 or unless the requirement to
furnish a trust indenture relating to the securities is waived by the director for good
cause shown; and

B. one copy of any other information or any documents required to be filed under
form U-1.

[12.11.8.11 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.4, 1-1-2010]
12.11.8.12 PROSPECTUS REQUIREMENTS:

A. As a condition of registration, a prospectus, offering circular, or similar document
meeting the requirements of Subsections B, C and D of 12.11.8.12 NMAC shall be sent
or given to each person to whom an offer is made by or for the account of the issuer or
any other person on whose behalf the offering is made or by any underwriter or broker-
dealer who is offering part of an unsold allotment or subscription as a participant in the
distribution. The document shall be sent or given either before or concurrently with the
earlier of any of the following:

(1) any written offer made to the person, otherwise than by means of public
advertisement;

(2)  confirmation of any sale to the person;
3) payment pursuant to any sale to the person; or
(4) delivery of the security pursuant to any sale to the person.
B. The outside front cover of the prospectus, unless otherwise permitted by the

director, shall meet the requirements of any appropriate form under the Securities Act of
1933 or shall contain substantially the following information:



(2) name and location of issuer and its type of organization;
(2)  designation of securities offered,;

(3) per share or unit and aggregate public offering price, underwriting or
selling commissions and discounts and net proceeds to offeror;

4) name of managing underwriter or broker-dealer or statement that the
securities are being offered by the issuer;

(5) a statement describing the anticipated secondary market for the securities
being offered, including the identity of anticipated market makers;

(6)  date of prospectus;
(7) legends:

(a) the following legend, or its substantial equivalent, shall appear on the
cover of the prospectus in boldface type:

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF
THE NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF REGULATION AND LICENSING, NOR HAS
THE SECURITIES DIVISION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF
THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL
OFFENSE;

(b) the following information, to the extent appropriate, shall appear on the
cover page of any offering document utilized in connection with the offer and sale of
securities which are exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 as
amended, but subject to a filing requirement under a state securities law:

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
EXAMINATION OF THE ISSUER AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING
THE MERITS AND RISK INVOLVED. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN
RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR
REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES
HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF
THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL
OFFENSE;

(8) if the offering is exempt under Section (3)(a)(11) of the Securities Act of
1933, the following statement shall appear in boldface type: THESE SECURITIES ARE
OFFERED ONLY TO BONA FIDE RESIDENTS OF THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO;
and



(9)  such other information as the director may permit or require.

C. The prospectus shall contain a full disclosure of all material facts relating to the
issuer and the offering and sale of the registered securities. A prospectus meeting the
requirements of form S-1 under the Securities Act of 1933 is deemed to satisfy the
requirements of this subsection.

D. Unless otherwise permitted by the director, the body of the prospectus and all
notes to financial statements and other tabular data included therein shall be in times
new roman type or its substantial equivalent, at least as large and as legible as 10-point
modern type, except that financial statements and other tabular data, including tabular
data in notes, may be in times new roman type or its substantial equivalent, at least as
large and as legible as 8-point modern type. All such type shall be leaded at least two
points.

E. Atthe end of each period of not more than one year from the effectiveness of the
registration statement, or in the event of any material change relating to the issuer or
the securities subsequent to the filing of a prospectus, an amended prospectus shall be
filed reflecting any such changes, and a current disclosure of all material facts relating
to the issuer and the securities, including financial statements. No further solicitations or
sales of the securities may be made thereafter until such amended prospectus has
been filed with the director.

[12.11.8.12 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.5, 1-1-2010]

PART 9: STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO REGISTERED OFFERINGS
12.11.9.1 ISSUING AGENCY:

Regulation and Licensing Department - New Mexico Securities Division.

[12.11.9.1 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]

12.11.9.2  SCOPE:

All persons, whether natural or legal entities, that transact business in New Mexico as a
broker-dealer, an investment adviser or an issuer of securities, and their representatives
and agents.

[12.11.9.2 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]

12.11.9.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:

Section 58-13C-605A NMSA 1978 authorizes the director to adopt, amend and repeal
rules necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform



Securities Act, Sections 58-13C-101 to 701 NMSA 1978, hereinafter referred to in this
Chapter 11 as the "New Mexico Uniform Securities Act".

[12.11.9.3 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.94 DURATION:
Permanent.
[12.11.9.4 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.95 EFFECTIVE DATE:
January 1, 2010, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section.
[12.11.9.5 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.9.6  OBJECTIVE:
To implement new rules and revise existing rules to better reflect the realities of current
financial, commercial and regulatory principles and practices affecting the securities
markets.
[12.11.9.6 NMAC - N, 1-1-2010]
12.11.9.7 DEFINITIONS:
A. General: The definitions in this section apply to issuers and promoters of such
issuers, organized as limited liability companies, limited partnerships, limited liability
partnerships or other legal entities, as appropriate, even though 12.11.9 NMAC refers

only to corporate entities and their promoters.

B. Definitions: The definitions contained in this section apply to the terms used in
12.11.9 NMAC, except as otherwise provided.

(1) "Adjusted net earnings" are the issuer's net earnings after charges for
interest and dividends, adjusted on a pro forma basis to reflect:

(a) the elimination of any required charges for debt, debt securities or
preferred stock that are to be redeemed or retired from the proceeds derived from the
public offering of preferred stock;

(b) the effect of any acquisitions or capital expenditures that were made by
the issuer after its last fiscal year, or which are proposed or required to be made during
the current fiscal year, which materially affect the issuer's net earnings;



(c) the effect of any charges or dividends on debt, debt securities or preferred
stock issued after the issuer's last fiscal year;

(d) the effect of any charges or dividends on debt, debt securities or preferred
stock that were issued during the issuer's last fiscal year, but which were outstanding for
only a portion of such fiscal year, calculated as if charges or dividends, such debt, debt
securities or preferred stock had been outstanding for the entire fiscal year; and

(e) the effect of any other material changes to an issuer's future net earnings.

(2)  An "affiliate" is a person who, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with the person specified herein.

(3) "Aggregate revenues" is the aggregate amount of revenues a
promotional or development stage company has received within the last three
consecutive fiscal years immediately preceding the public offering plus revenues
received during the period covered by any interim period financial information included
in the prospectus. Revenues from interest and extraordinary items are to be excluded.

(4)  An"associate", when used to indicate a relationship with a person,
includes:

(a) corporations or legal entities, other than the issuer or majority-owned
subsidiaries of the issuer, of which a person is an officer, director, partner or a direct or
indirect legal or beneficial owner of five percent or more of any class of equity securities;

(b) trusts or other estates in which a person has a substantial beneficial
interest or for which a person serves as a trustee or in a similar capacity; and

(c) a person's spouse and relatives, by blood or by marriage, if the person is a
promoter of the issuer, its subsidiaries, its affiliates or its parent.

(5) "Average promotional price" is the average per share price paid for
promotional shares and other shares issued prior to the public offering which are of the
same class of shares being offered in the public offering as determined by reference to
the audited financial statements of the issuer included in the prospectus.

(6) "Cash analysis" is the issuer's net cash provided by operating activities
as reflected on the statement of cash flows and presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles. If debt securities are to be redeemed or retired from the
proceeds from the public offering, a pro forma adjustment for the elimination of the
related interest charges, net of applicable income taxes, must be made.

(7)  "Control" is the power to direct or influence the direction of the
management or policies of a person, directly or indirectly, through the ownership of
voting securities, by contract or otherwise.



(8) "Equity securities" include shares of common stock or similar securities
and convertible securities, warrants, options or rights that may be converted into, or
exercised to purchase, shares of common stock or similar securities.

(9)  An"escrow agent" is a financial institution whose principal place of
business and domicile are in the United States. It may not be affiliated with the issuer,
its promoters or associates. A financial institution may not be disallowed to act as an
escrow agent merely because the issuer, its promoters or associates are customers
thereof. An escrow agent may also include an attorney or certified public accountant,
provided that the attorney or certified public accountant is not affiliated with the issuer,
its promoters or associates, is licensed to do business in the state in which they practice
and can demonstrate that they are adequately insured or can provide a fidelity bond.

(10) An"impoundment agent” is a financial institution that is domiciled and
whose principal place of business is located in the United States and whose deposits
are insured by the FDIC.

(11) An"independent director" is a member of issuer's board of directors
who:

(a) is not an officer or employee of the issuer, its subsidiaries or their affiliates
or associates and has not been an officer, or employee of the issuer, its subsidiaries, or
their affiliates or associates within the last two years;

(b) is not a promoter as defined in Paragraph (15) of Subsection B of this
section; and,

(c) does not have a material business or professional relationship with the
issuer or any of its subsidiaries, affiliates or associates; for purposes of determining
whether or not a business or professional relationship is material, the gross revenue
derived by the independent director from the issuer, its subsidiaries, its affiliates and
associates shall be deemed material per se if it exceeds five percent of the independent
director's:

(1) annual gross revenue derived from all sources during either of the
last two years; or

(i) net worth, on a fair market value basis.

(12) "Lock-in agreement” is an agreement between an issuer and persons
who hold promotional shares wherein, those persons agree, as a condition of
registration, not to sell, pledge, hypothecate, assign, grant any option for the sale of, or
otherwise transfer or dispose of, whether or not for consideration, directly or indirectly,
promotional shares and all certificates representing stock dividends, stock splits,
recapitalizations and other capital changes, that are granted to or received by the
security holder for the period specified in the lock-in agreement.



(13) "Net earnings” are the issuer's after-tax earnings that are derived from its
normal operations, exclusive of extraordinary and nonrecurring items, determined
according to generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied.

(14) A "person”is an individual, a corporation, a limited liability company, a
partnership, a limited liability partnership, an association, a joint-stock company, a trust,
an unincorporated organization, a government or a political subdivision of a government
or any other legal entity.

(15) A "promoter" may include:

(a) a person who, alone or in conjunction with one or more persons, directly
or indirectly, took the initiative in founding or organizing the issuer or controls the issuer;

(b) a person who, directly or indirectly, receives as consideration for services
or property rendered, five percent or more of any class of the issuer's equity securities
or five percent or more of the proceeds from the sale of any class of the issuer's equity
securities;

(c) a person who receives securities or proceeds solely as underwriting
compensation, is excluded from the definition of promoter if that person falls outside the
definition of Subparagraphs (a), (d) and (e) of this paragraph;

(d) a person who is an officer or director of the issuer or anyone who legally
or beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, five percent or more of any class of the
issuer's equity securities; and

(e) a person who is an affiliate or an associate of a person specified in
Subparagraphs (a), (b) and (d) of this paragraph.

(16) "Pr omot er s6 e qulisthe tatahot cash et amgible assets
that has been contributed by the promoters to the issuer, provided that the value of the
tangible assets is accepted by the director. Pr omot er s6 contri butions o
may be considered as promotersd equity invest
been accepted by the director. Pr omot er sé equity investment ma)
i ssuer 6s ear ned sriortpthepublicioffanmg.di at el y p

(17) A"promotional or development stage company" may include an issuer
who is not listed on the New York stock exchange, the American stock exchange or the
NASDAQ national market system, and whose annual net earnings for each of the last
two consecutive fiscal years or whose average annual net earnings for the last five
fiscal years prior to the public offering have been less than five percent of the aggregate
public offering.

(18) "Promotional shares" are equity securities that are to be issued or were
issued:



(a) by an issuer which is a promotional or development stage company, to
promoters for cash or other consideration, including services rendered, patents,
copyrights and other intangibles (provided that the value thereof has been accepted by
the director), that will be or was less than 85 percent of the proposed public offering
price; or

(b) within three years prior to the filing of the registration statement to
promoters for cash or other consideration, including services rendered, patents,
copyrights and other intangibles (provided that the value thereof has been accepted by
the director), that will be or was less than 85 percent of the proposed public offering
price by a company which is not a promotional or development stage company.

(19) "Public offering price" is the per share price at which a promotional or
development stage company proposes to offer equity securities to the public.

(20) An "unaffiliated institutional investor" is:
(a) an unaffiliated bank or unaffiliated savings and loan company;

(b) an unaffiliated investment company registered under the Investment
Company Act of 1940;

(c) an unaffiliated business development company as defined in Section
2(a)(48) of the Investment Company Act of 1940;

(d) an unaffiliated small business investment company licensed by the U.S.
small business administration under Section 301 of the Small Business Investment Act
of 1958;

(e) an unaffiliated employee benefit plan, within the meaning of Title | of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, and state and local government
employees retirement and pension plans;

(f) an unaffiliated insurance company;
(9) an unaffiliated trust company;

(h) an unaffiliated private business development company, as defined in
Section 202(a)22 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, or a comparable business
entity that is engaged as a substantial part of its business in the purchase and sale of
securities, and which will own | ess than 20 p
completion of the public offering; or

(i) an unaffiliated qualified purchaser as defined under the National Securities
Markets Improvement Act of 1996.



(21) An "underwriter" is any person who has agreed with the issuer or other
person on whose behalf a distribution is to be made to:

(a) purchase securities for distribution;
(b) distribute securities for or on behalf of the issuer or other person; or

(c) manage or supervise a distribution of securities for or on behalf of the
issuer or other person.

[12.11.9.7 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.8.1, 1-1-2010]

12.11.9.8 ADOPTION OF NASAA STATEMENTS OF POLICY FOR
REGISTRATION OF CERTAIN TYPES OF SECURITIES:

In order to promote uniform regulation, the director adopts the following NASAA
statements of policy set out in CCH NASAA reports published by commerce clearing
house. An offering being registered pursuant to Sections 303 and 304 of the New
Mexico Uniform Securities Act must comply with the requirements of said statements of
policy or policies as adopted and as revised in subsequent amendments.

A. Asset-backed securities.

B. Cattle feeding programs.

Commodity pool programs.

o 0O

Equipment programs.

m

Mortgage programs.

F. Oil and gas programs.

G. Omnibus programs.

H. Real estate investment trusts.

|. Real estate programs.
[12.11.9.8 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.10, 1-1-2010]
12.11.9.9 IMPOUNDMENT OF PROCEEDS:

A. When an impoundment agreement ("agreement”) is necessary, the proceeds
from the sale of the securities must be deposited in an interest bearing escrow or trust



account with an impoundment agent. The impoundment agent may not be affiliated with
the issuer, its affiliates, its officers or directors, the underwriter or any promoter.

B. The agreement:

(1) asigned copy of the agreement must be filed with the director and shall
become part of the registration statement;

(2) the agreement must be signed by an officer of the issuer, an officer of the
underwriter (if applicable) and an officer of the impoundment agent; the aforesaid
individuals must have the authority to sign such documents;

(3) the agreement shall provide that the impounded proceeds (proceeds) are
not subject to claims by creditors of the issuer, affiliates, associates or underwriters until
the proceeds have been released to the issuer pursuant to the terms of the agreement;

(4) asummary of the principal terms shall be included in the registration
statement; and

(5) the agreement shall provide that the director has the right to inspect and
make copies of the records of the impoundment agent at any reasonable time wherever
the records are located.

C. The impoundment agent shall notify the director in writing upon the release of the
proceeds. If the proceeds are insufficient to meet the minimum requirements within the
time prescribed by the agreement:

(1) the impoundment agent must release and return the proceeds directly to
the investors; and

(2)  the proceeds shall be released and returned to the investors without
deduction for expenses including impoundment agent fees and shall include a pro rata
share of interest earned.

D. If a person who is an underwriter or an officer, director, promoter, affiliate or an
associate of the issuer purchases securities that are a part of the public offering being
sold pursuant to the registration statement and if the proceeds from that purchase are
used for the purpose of completing the impoundment requirements imposed under this
rule, the following conditions shall be met:

Q) the persons are purchasing the securities on the same terms as
unaffiliated public investors;

(2)  the prospectus contains a disclosure that such persons may purchase
securities of the issuer for purposes of completing the impoundment requirements
imposed by this rule; and



(3)  all securities so purchased will neither be defined as "promotional shares"
nor be a part of the calculation of the promotional shares subject to escrow under
12.11.9.13 NMAC; however, all such securities shall be immediately subject to the
escrow/lock-up provisions of 12.11.9.13 NMAC.

[12.11.9.9 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.8.2, 1-1-2010]
12.11.9.10 LOANS AND OTHER MATERIAL AFFILIATED TRANSACTIONS:

A. Where there have been or will be loans and other material affiliated transactions
as described in this section, the offer or sale of securities may be disallowed by the
director unless the issuer has, and represents in the prospectus or offering document
that it will maintain, at least two independent directors on its board of directors.

B. The offer or sale of securities may be disallowed by the director if the issuer or its
affiliates will have loans outstanding after the offering or intends to make loans to or
loan guarantees on behalf of its promoters, other than:

(1) advances to officers, directors and employees for travel, business
expenses and similar ordinary operating expenditures;

(2 | oans or | oan guarantees made for the p
by its officers, directors and employees, and loans for relocation of officers, directors
and employees, provided the loans or loan guarantees that are ongoing were approved
byamajor ity of the independent directors of the
have an interest in the transactions and who had access, at the issuer's expense, to
issuer's or independent legal counsel; or

3) loans made by an issuer or its affiliates whose primary business is that of
making loans, provided that:

(a) the loans will be evidenced by promissory notes naming the lender as

payee,

(b) the loans will bear interest at rates which are comparable to those
normally charged by other commerciallender s f or simil ar | oans made
locale;

(c) the loans will be repaid pursuant to appropriate amortization schedules
and contain default provisions comparable to those normally used by other commercial
l enders for similar sloceaens made in the I enderod

(d) the loans will be made only if credit reports and financial statements show
the loans to be collectible and the borrowers are satisfactory credit risks in light of the
nature and terms of the loans and other circumstances;



(e) the loans meet the loan policies normally used by other commercial
|l enders for similar | oans made in the | endero

(f) the purposes of the loans and the disbursements of proceeds will be
reviewed and monitored in a manner comparable to that normally used by other
commer ci al |l enders for similar | oans made 1in

(9) the loans will not violate the requirements of any banking or other financial
institutions regulatory authority.

C. Except for loans described in Subsection B of this section, all loans existing at
the time of the application for registration shall be repaid in full prior to the offering. The
director may waive this requirement if:

(1) repayment of the loans will be made pursuant to appropriate amortization
schedules; or

(2)  any portion of the offering is made on behalf of a promoter and the
promoter undertakes to immediately repay the loans from the proceeds of the offering.

D. The offer or sale of securities may be disallowed by the director if the issuer or its
affiliates have engaged in other material transactions with promoters unless the
prospectus discloses the terms of the transactions and indicates whether such terms
were as favorable to the issuer or its affiliates as those generally available from
unaffiliated third parties, and:

1) the transaction is ratified by a majori
directors who did not have an interest in the transactions and who had access, at the
i ssuerds expense, to issuerodos or independent

(2)  for transactions which were entered into and when there were less than
two such disinterested independent directors the prospectus discloses that the issuer
lacked sufficient disinterested independent directors to ratify the transactions at the time
the transactions were initiated.

E. The issuer shall disclose in the prospectus or offering document whether or not it
or its affiliates have made or will make loans to, have made or will make loan
guarantees on behalf of, or have engaged or will engage in material transactions with
promoters, and the terms and details relating thereto. If material affiliated transactions
or loans have been made, or may be made, the director may require the following
representations to appear in the prospectus or offering document:

Q) all future loans and other material affiliated transactions will be made or
entered into on terms that are no less favorable to the issuer than those that can be
obtained from unaffiliated third parties; and



(2)  all future loans and other material affiliated transactions, and any
forgiveness of loans, must be approved by a majority of the issuer's independent
directors who do not have an interest in the transactions and who had access, at the
i ssuerod6s expense, to issuerodos or independent

F. The issuer and its officers and directors should consider their due diligence and
other obligations to affirmatively demonstrate a reasonable basis for the representations
in Subsections D and E of this section. In particular, they should consider whether the
representations in Paragraph (1) of Subsection D and Paragraph (2) of Subsection E of
thissections houl d be embodied in-laws.e i ssuer d6s chart

G. Anissuer that engages in loans and other material affiliated transactions covered
by Paragraph (2) of Subsection B, Paragraph (1) of Subsection D and Paragraph (2) of
Subsection E of this section must have at least two independent directors on its board
of directors. In the event the issuer has only two independent directors on its board or
directors, both independent directors must be disinterested in and approve loans and
other material transactions covered by Paragraph (2) of Subsection B, Paragraph (1) of
Subsection D and Paragraph (2) of Subsection E of this section.

[12.11.9.10 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.8.3, 1-1-2010]
12.11.9.11 OPTIONS AND WARRANTS:

A. Options or warrants may be issued to underwriters as compensation in
connection with a public offering provided those options or warrants comply with the
requirements of 12.11.9.15 NMAC, underwriting expenses, under wr i t er 0s warr
selling expenses and selling security holders.

B. Options or warrants may be granted to unaffiliated institutional investors in
connection with loans if:

(1) the options or warrants are issued contemporaneously with the issuance
of the loan;

(2) the options or warrants are granted as the result of bona fide negotiations
between the issuer and unaffiliated institutional investor;

3) the exercise price of the options or warrants is not less than the fair
mar ket v al uessbhafes df toemmon stackivaderdying the options or warrants
on the date that the loan was approved; and

(4)  the number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options or warrants
multiplied by the exercise price thereof does not exceed the face amount of the loan.

C. Options or warrants may be issued in connection with acquisitions,
reorganizations, consolidations or mergers if:



(1) they are issued to persons who are unaffiliated with the issuer; and

(2) the earnings of the issuer at the time of issuance and after giving effect to
the acquisition, reorganization, consolidation or merger would not be materially diluted
by the exercise of the options or warrants.

D. Options and warrants may not be issued at an exercise price of less than 85
percentoffarmark et val ue of the issuerdés underl ying
date of grant. The issuer, its officers and directors should consider the advisability of
obtaining a concurrent appraisal by a qualified independent appraiser of the value of the
shares of common stock at the time of issuance as evidence of the fair market value.

E. The total number of options and warrants issued or reserved for issuance at the
date of the public offering, excluding those options and warrants that were issued or
reserved for issuance pursuant to Subsections C and D of this section, may not, for one
year following the effective date of the offe
shares of common stock outstanding at the date of the public offering plus the number
of shares of common stock being offered that are firmly underwritten or, in the case of
offerings not firmly underwritten, the number of shares of common stock required to be
sold in order to meet the minimum offering amount. In calculating the number of options
and warrants, the following are excluded:

(1) options and warrants that were issued or reserved for issuance pursuant
to Subsections B, C and D of this section;

(2)  options and warrants that were issued, or reserved for issuance, to
employees or consultants who are not promoters, in connection with an incentive stock
option plan qualified under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code; and

(3)  options and warrants that are exercisable at or above the public offering
price.

F. No options or warrants issued and outstanding at the date of the public offering,
excluding those options and warrants issued pursuant to an incentive stock option plan
qualified under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, may be exercisable more
than five years from the date of the public offering.

G. If the number of options and warrants that are issued and outstanding or
reserved for issuance is material, the final offering circular shall disclose the potential
dilutive effects of such options and warrants.

[12.11.9.11 NMAC - Rp, 12 NMAC 11.4.8.4, 1-1-2010]

12.11.9.12 PROMOTER'S EQUITY INVESTMENT:



A public securities offering by a promotional or development stage company may be
di sall owed by the director if the promoterso

A. ten percent of the first $1,000,000 of the aggregate public offering;
B. seven percent of the next $500,000 of the aggregate public offering;
C. five percent of the next $500,000 of the aggregate public offering; and

D. two and one-half percent of the balance exceeding $2,000,000 of the aggregate
public offering, which may include items submitted by the promoter to meet this
requirement whose value has been accepted by the director.

[12 NMAC 11.4.12.4, 12-30-95; 12 NMAC 11.4.8.5, 5-1-99; 12.11.9.12 NMAC - Rp, 12
NMAC 11.4.8.5, 1-1-2010]

12.11.9.13 PROMOTIONAL SHARES:

A. Escrow of promotional shares: The director may require that some or all of the
promoters deposit some or all of their promotional shares into an escrow account
("escrow") with an escrow agent according to the terms of an escrow agreement
("agreement”) as a condition to registering a public offering of equity securities. The
promoters, who are required to deposit some or all of their promotional shares into
escrow, are hereinafter collectively referred to as depositors. The director may, at his
discretion, require a lock-in agreement on substantially the same terms and conditions
as an agreement.

B. Release of promotional shares.

(1) The escrow agent shall release the promotional shares in the following
manner, if:

(a) the issuer's aggregate revenues are:

() $500, 000 or more, provided that neit
footnote to the issuerodos | atest audited finan
statement regarding the ability of the issuer to continue as a going concern; beginning
one year from the date the offering is declared effective, two and one-half percent of
promotional shares held in escrow may be released each quarter pro rata among the
depositors; all remaining promotional shares shall be released from escrow on the
second anniversary from the date the offering is declared effective; or

(i) less than $500,000; beginning two years from the date the offering
is declared effective, two and one-half percent of promotional shares held in escrow
may be released each quarter pro rata among the depositors; all remaining promotional



shares shall be released from escrow on the third anniversary from the date the offering
is declared effective;

(b) the public offering has been terminated and no securities were sold
pursuant thereto; or

(c) the public offering has been terminated and all of the gross proceeds that
were derived therefrom have been returned to the public investors.

(2) In the event of a dissolution, liquidation, merger, consolidation,
reorganization, sale or exchange of the issuer's assets or securities (including by way of
tender offer), or any other transaction or proceeding with a person who is not a
promoter which results in the distribution of the issuer's assets or securities
("distribution™), while this agreement remains in effect, the depositors agree that:

@al |l hol ders of the issuerds equity secu
per share basis in the distribution, in proportion to the amount of cash or other
consideration that they paid per share of equity securities (provided that the director has
accepted the value of the other consideration), until the public shareholders have
received, or have had irrevocably set aside for them, an amount that is equal to 100
percent of the public offeringbs price per sh
securities that they purchased pursuant to the public offering and which they still hold at
the time of the distribution, adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations
and the like;

(byal | hol ders of the issuerds equity secu
an equal, per share basis times the number of shares of equity securities they hold at
the time of the distribution, adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations
and the like; and

(c) a distribution may proceed on lesser terms and conditions than the terms
and conditions stated in Paragraph (1) of this subsection if a majority of the equity
securities that are not held by promoters or their associates or affiliates, vote or consent
by consent procedure, to approve the lesser terms and conditions at a special meeting
called for that specific purpose.

3) In the event of a dissolution, liquidation, merger, consolidation,
reorganizati on, sale or exchange of the 1Issue
tender offer) or any other transaction or proceeding with a person who is a promoter,
which results in a distribution while this agreement remains in effect, thedeposi t or s 6
promotional shares shall remain in escrow subject to the terms of the agreement.

(4) In the event securities in the escrow become "covered securities" as
defined in the National Securities Markets Improvement Act of 1996, all securities in the
escrow shall be released.



C. Documentation regarding the termination of the escrow agreement or the
release of promotional shares or both.

(1)  Arequest for the release of any of the promotional shares from escrow
shall be in writing and be forwarded to the escrow agent.

(2)  Theissuer shall provide to the escrow agent the documentation showing
that the requirements of Subsection B of this section have been met.

(3) The escrow agent shall terminate the agreement, or release some or all of
the promotional shares from escrow, or both, if all the applicable provisions of the
agreement have been satisfied. The escrow agent shall maintain all records relating to
the agreement for a period of three years following the termination of the agreement.
Copies of all records retained by the escrow agent shall be forwarded to the director
promptly upon written request.

D. Restrictions on the transfer, sale or disposal of promotional shares.

(1) Promotional shares may be transferred by will, the laws of descent and
distribution, operation of law or any court of competent jurisdiction and proper venue.

(a) The promotional shares of a deceased depositor may be hypothecated to
pay the expenses of the deceased depositoros
promotional shares shall remain subject to the terms of the agreement.

(b) No promotional shares may be transferred, sold or disposed of
("transferred") until the escrow agent has received a written statement signed by the
proposed transferee ("transferee") which states that the transferee has full knowledge of
the terms of the agreement, the transferee accepts the promotional shares subject to
the terms of the agreement, and the transferee realizes that the promotional shares
shall remain in escrow until they are released pursuant to Subsection B of this section.

(2)  With the exception of Subparagraph (a) of Paragraph (1) of this
subsection, promotional shares may not be pledged to secure a debt.

3) Promotional shares may be transferred by gifttothedepos i t or 6 s f ami | vy
members, provided that the promotional shares shall remain subject to the terms of the
agreement.

(4)  With the exception of Paragraph (1) of this subsection, no promotional
shares, any interest therein or any right or title thereto, may be transferred.

(5) In the case of a self-underwritten offering, notwithstanding the provisions
of Paragraph (1) of Subsection B of this section, promoters shall be prohibited from
selling any of the promotional shares that are not subject to escrow during the time that
the issuer is offering its securities to the public.



E. Terms of the escrow.

(2) Except as noted in Subparagraph (c) of Paragraph (2) of Subsection B,
depositors shall have the same voting rights as shareholders who purchased equity
securities pursuant to the public offering ("public shareholders™).

(2)  All certificates representing stock dividends and shares resulting from
stock splits of escrowed shares, recapitalizations and the like that are granted to or
received by depositors while their promotional shares are held in escrow shall be
deposited with and held by the escrow agent subject to the terms of the agreement. Any
cash dividends that are granted to or received by depositors while their promotional
shares are held in escrow, shall be deposited with and held by the escrow agent subject
to the terms of the agreement. The escrow agent shall invest such cash dividends as
directed by the depositors. The cash dividends and any interest earned thereon will be
disbursed in proportion to the number of shares released from the escrow.

3) Equity securities that are received by depositors as the result of the
conversion or exercise of convertible securities, warrants, options or rights to purchase
common stock or similar securities, while their promotional shares are in escrow, shall
be deposited with and held by the escrow agent subject to the terms of the escrow.

(4) A summary of the agreement shall be included in the prospectus and
subsequent amendments thereto, annual reports to shareholders, proxy statements and
other disclosure materials that are used to make investment decisions until the public
offering has been terminated.

(5)  The escrow agent shall be entitled to reasonable compensation from the
issuer for its services as set forth in the agreement. If the escrow agent is required to
render additional services that are not expressly provided for therein, or if it is made a
party to or intervenes in any action, suit or proceeding pertaining to the agreement, it
shall be entitled to receive reasonable compensation from the issuer and the depositors.
If additional services are provided, the escrow agent, after giving written notice to the
depositors and issuer, may deduct reasonable compensation from any cash dividends,
interest and other offering proceeds that are being held by it for distribution pursuant to
the agreement.

(6)  Theissuer and the depositors shall hold the escrow agent harmless from,
and indemnify it for, any cost or liability regarding any administrative proceeding,
investigation, litigation, interpretation, implementation or interpleading relating to the
agreement, including the release of promotional shares and the disbursement of
dividends, interest or other offering proceeds, unless the cost or the liability arises from
theescrow agentodés failure to abide by the

(7) The agreement shall be binding upon the depositors, their heirs and
assignees, and upon the issuer and escrow agent and their successors.

t er ms






